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This illustrative publication presents the sample annual financial reports of a fictitious investment fund, VALUE 
ACCOUNTS Unit Trust as well as VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust. It illustrates the financial reporting 
disclosure requirements that would apply to such trusts under Australian Accounting Standards on issue at 31 January 
2018. Supporting commentary is also provided. For the purpose of this publication, VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust is an 
unlisted managed investment scheme registered with ASIC.  

Reporting requirements include: 

 Australian Accounting Standards 

 Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Urgent Issues Group (UIG) 

 Corporations Act 2001 

 Releases by the Australian Securities & Investments Commission 

VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust as well as VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust is for illustrative purposes only 
and should be used in conjunction with the relevant legislation, standards and other reporting pronouncements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Disclaimer 

This publication has been prepared for general reference only and does not constitute professional advice. It is not intended 
to be and is not comprehensive in relation to its subject matter. This publication is not intended to cover all aspects of 
Australian Accounting Standards, or to be used as a substitute for reading any relevant accounting standard, professional 
pronouncement or guidance, the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) or any other relevant material. Specific entity structure, facts 
and circumstances will have a material impact on the preparation and content of financial reports. No person should 
undertake or refrain from any action based on this publication or otherwise rely on this publication. This publication should 
not be used as a substitute for consultation with a professional adviser with knowledge of information relevant to your 
particular circumstances. No representation or warranty (express or implied) is given as to the accuracy or completeness of 
the information contained in this publication. To the extent permitted by law PwC, its members, employees and agents do 
not accept or assume any liability, responsibility or duty of care for any use of or reliance on this publication. Any references 
in this publication to PwC providing, or agreeing to provide, any services to any entity are illustrative only and are not 
intended to reflect or summarise the terms of actual arrangements in respect of the provision of services. Accordingly, users 
of this publication should not rely on such references as reflecting or summarising actual terms. Legal advice should be 
obtained as to whether any such arrangements are required to be disclosed, and as to the form of any disclosure. 
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Foreword 
Welcome to the 2018 edition of the Investment Funds financial reporting publication in our VALUE ACCOUNTS series. 

This publication is designed to help you prepare financial statements for investment funds in line with Australian 
Accounting Standards. It illustrates the major elements of the financial statements and provides commentary on important 
items and required disclosures. 

The fictitious circumstances of our scenarios, VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust and VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled 
Superannuation Trust have been chosen to illustrate the most common and significant accounting matters and associated 
disclosures under Australian Accounting Standards. 

We have included a summary of other recent developments including Attribution Managed Investment Trust election, 
Regulatory Guide 259 and more. These are summarised in the “Other topical issues” section which begins on page 8. 

I trust this publication will help you work through the upcoming reporting season with success. 

Stephanie Smith 
National Asset Management Assurance Leader 
PwC 
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Introduction 
This publication presents illustrative general purpose annual financial statements (GPFS) for a fictitious managed 
investment scheme, VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust, and a fictitious pooled superannuation trust, VALUE ACCOUNTS 
Pooled Superannuation Trust. The financial statements comply with the Corporations Act 2001 and other authoritative 
pronouncements on issue at 31 January 2018 that will be operative for 30 June 2018 annual financial statements. 

The purpose of this publication is to highlight disclosure requirements and provide sample disclosures. The disclosures 
should be adapted to particular situations as required. Alternative disclosures, wording and forms of presentation may be 
used as long as they include the specific disclosures prescribed in the accounting and reporting pronouncements. 

Please note that the amounts disclosed in this publication are purely for illustrative purposes and may not necessarily be 
consistent throughout the publication.  

These example financial statements are not intended to illustrate all potential situations and related disclosures.  For 
example these illustrative financial statements do not contemplate the existence of any equity reserves such as foreign 
currency translation reserves, hedging reserves or asset revaluation reserves.  In addition, the sample disclosures presented 
in accordance with AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures reflect the particular circumstances of VALUE ACCOUNTS 
Unit Trust.  Accordingly, we strongly encourage tailoring of the disclosures for particular facts and circumstances as 
required.  

Commentary has been included which elaborates on the disclosure requirements as well as providing guidance on some of 
the matters that are not applicable to VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust, but may be applicable to other investment funds. 
Direct references to the source of disclosure requirements are included in the reference column on each page of the sample 
reports. 

The appendices provide further information on Australia’s financial reporting regime, including a list of accounting and 
reporting pronouncements on issue at 31 January 2018.  Abbreviations used in this publication are listed in Appendix F. 

New disclosures illustrated this year 

The financial statement of VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust illustrate the related disclosures applicable for a Fund that has 
opted into the new Attribution Managed Investment Trust (‘AMIT’) tax regime and is required to reclassify Trust units from 
liability to equity. Refer to page 8 for further details. 

Appendix E discusses the issues to be considered by investment funds when adopting AASB 9 and provides illustrative 
disclosures for a fund that has early adopted AASB 9 from 1 July 2017. 

VALUE ACCOUNTS structure and materiality  

The structure used in our VALUE ACCOUNTS for Investment Funds publication provides practical solutions that will help 
make your own financial reports less complex and more accessible.  The structure used will provide you with possible ideas, 
but there’s no “one size fits all” approach.  We recommend you engage with the stakeholders who use your financial reports 
to determine what’s most relevant to them. 

Our Value Accounts for Investment Funds publication is a reference tool, so we’ve included illustrative disclosures for as 
many common scenarios as possible rather than removing disclosures based on materiality. However, too much immaterial 
information can obscure the information that is actually useful to readers. We encourage users of the publication to consider 
carefully what to include and exclude, based on what is relevant to assisting investors’ decision making.  

Feedback 

We welcome your feedback on the Value Accounts Investment Funds format and content. Please contact us at IFRS 
Communications or speak to your usual PwC representative to let us know your thoughts. 
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VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust  

The following assumptions have been made in preparing the financial statements for the VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust 
(the Fund): 

 The Fund is a registered scheme (i.e. a Trust which has been registered as a managed investment scheme under 
Part 5C.1 of the Corporations Act 2001). 

 The Fund invests in Australian and International equity and fixed income instruments and employs the use of 
derivative financial instruments (but does not adopt hedge accounting). The underlying investee funds meet the 
definition of a structured entity. The illustrative example of structured entities applicable to VALUE ACCOUNTS 
Unit Trust can be found in Note 10 and further illustrative examples can be found Appendix D.  

 The Fund employs a long and short investment strategy. 

 The Fund has only one class of units. These are redeemable at the option of the unitholder, however, applications 
and redemptions may be suspended by the responsible entity if it is in the best interests of the unitholders. 

 The Fund has amended its constitution effective 1 July 2017 as part of a process to become eligible to elect into the 
new AMIT tax regime. The Fund’s previous constitution provided each unitholder with a present entitlement to 
trust income and contained an obligation to distribute income each year.  This obligation has been removed from 
the constitution and now the allocation of taxable income to unitholders is based on “attribution on a fair and 
reasonable basis”.   

 The Fund does not have control over any other entities which would require consolidation. 

 The Fund does not have significant influence over any of the entities it invests in. 

 The Fund has no reserves that would be classified as equity, and all valuation movements are recognised in profit 
or loss. 

 The Fund is a disclosing entity as it has more than 100 unitholders. 

 The Fund is not listed on the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX). 

 There is no material difference between the value of net assets attributable to unitholders based on the total 
number of units on issue multiplied by the redemption price, and the value based on deducting liabilities 
(excluding net assets attributable to unitholders) from total assets. 

As required under Australian Accounting Standards, the impact of standards and interpretations that have not been early 
adopted and that are expected to have a material effect on the Fund are disclosed within the accounting policy note.  
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VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust 

VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust presents illustrative general purpose financial statements for a pooled 
superannuation trust. It is closely based on VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust and hence only illustrates the key differences to 
VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust. 

The key differences are: 

 VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust has no contractual obligation to pay distributions and therefore 
classifies its unitholders’ funds as equity in accordance with the criteria for puttable instruments in AASB 132 
Financial Instruments: Presentation. 

 VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust includes disclosures required by AASB 112 Income Taxes. 

Applicable Guidance 

Superannuation Prudential Standard 114 Operational Risk Financial Requirement (ORFR) which became effective 1 July 
2013, requires Registered Superannuation Entity (RSE) licensees to determine a target amount of financial resources to 
address the operational risks of the RSE licensee’s business operations. The ORFR must reflect the size, business mix and 
complexity of the RSE licensee’s business operations and, at a minimum, include the cost of addressing the operational risks 
identified in the Trustee’s risk management framework.  

The financial resources held to meet the ORFR target amount must be held either as: 

 an operational risk reserve held within an RSE; 

 operational risk trustee capital held by the RSE licensee; or 

 a combination of both an operational risk reserve held within an RSE and operational risk trustee capital held by 
the RSE licensee. 

The RSE licensee of VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust has established an operational risk reserve within 
the Trust. The key disclosures associated with the establishment of an operational risk reserve in the Trust are illustrated in 
this publication. 
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Financial reporting developments 
The changes with the greatest impact on fund financial statements for 2018 are discussed below.  

AASB 9: Financial Instruments 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments amends the previous requirements in three main areas: (a) classification and measurement 
of financial assets, (b) impairment of financial assets, mainly by introducing a forward looking expected loss impairment 
model and (c) hedge accounting including removing some of the restrictions on applying hedge accounting in AASB 139.  
 
The mandatory date of application is annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.   
 
For funds 
 
AASB 9 is expected to have the largest impact on funds with the classification and measurements of debt instruments and 
investment in debt funds. Classification of debt assets will be driven by the entity’s business model for managing the 
financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the assets. Impacts on investments in equities and 
derivatives is expected to be minimal. 
 
The new standard will also impact funds which wish to or currently employ hedge accounting. More funds will be able to 
meet the hedge accounting rules under the new guidance. AASB 9 has changed the disclosure requirements of hedging 
instruments and entities should become familiar now with the new disclosures and ensure that the information required will 
be available at the time of adoption.  

Appendix E provides further information about the possible impact of AASB 9 on investment funds, and illustrative 
disclosures for a fund that has adopted AASB 9 early. 

AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, replaces existing accounting guidance and introduces a comprehensive 
revenue recognition model aimed at enhancing comparability of revenue recognition practices across entities, industries, 
jurisdictions and capital markets.  
 
The mandatory date of application is annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.   
 
For asset managers 

The areas which will be most affected by AASB 15 include, but are not limited, to upfront fees, upfront costs and 
performance fees of asset managers. Management will first need to determine whether the investor or the fund is the asset 
manager’s customer based on the facts and circumstances. This determination is important in identifying the performance 
obligation(s), assessing the timing of revenue recognition, and capitalising contract costs. 

To recognise revenue under the new standard, management must then assess and identify the different performance 
obligations it has to its customers and determine the transaction price. For example, where a distribution fee is charged to 
the customer, the asset manager must determine whether the distribution service is a separate and distinct performance 
obligation apart from the other services provided in exchange for the management fee. If it is a separate performance 
obligation, it will generally be satisfied upon the investor’s subscription and trigger immediate recognition of the revenue. 
However, if the distribution and management services are viewed as a single performance obligation, the distribution fee is 
viewed as an advance payment for future services and is recognised as revenue as the overall services are provided. 

Variable considerations such as performance-based fees are recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that there will 
be no significant reversal of the amount. Where the performance fee has a broad range of outcomes or is highly susceptible 
to external factors such as market risk, the recognition threshold will not likely be met until the uncertainty is resolved or 
almost resolved. However, management will need to determine if a portion or minimum amount of revenue would meet the 
threshold for recognition even if the entire amount would not.  

A fixed percentage asset-based management fee is also variable consideration that is subject to the above constraint. 
However, because the fee is calculated based on net assets under management, any uncertainty related to the variable 
consideration will be resolved as at the end of each reporting period. The asset manager will likely attribute the revenue 
from these management fees to the services provided during the period, because the fee relates specifically to the entity’s 
efforts to provide the services for that period. 

The accounting for upfront costs such as sales commissions or placement fees incurred by asset managers for the 
introduction of new investors depends on whether they are costs incurred to obtain a contract with a customer. If the 
investor is viewed as the customer, it is more likely that these types of costs are considered to be costs to obtain a contract, 
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in which case they would be recognised as an asset and amortised as the services are provided to the customer. The standard 
provides that such amounts are immediately expensed if the amortisation period is less than one year. However, if the asset 
manager views the fund as the customer, the costs are to be recognised as an expense when incurred. 

Asset managers should consider how this new standard will impact their results (e.g. for communication to investors and 
measuring employee performance) and whether they may need to change their policy and processes for accounting for 
revenue under the new rules.  Entities have a choice of full retrospective application, or prospective application with 
additional disclosures.  

For illustrative disclosures refer to Appendix I in VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings December 2017. 

AASB 16 Leases 

AASB 16 Leases, issued in February 2016, includes significant changes for lease accounting, particularly for lessees.  For 
lessees, almost all leases will now go on the balance sheet as the distinction between operating and financing leases has been 
removed.  Under the new standard, an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are 
recognised.  The only exemptions from this are short-term and low-value leases.  The accounting for lessors will not 
significantly change.  

This standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.  Early application is permitted 
for entities that apply AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers at or before the date of initial application of this 
standard.  While this standard is not expected to be relevant to investment funds, there may be a significant impact for asset 
managers.   

For illustrative disclosures refer to Appendix J in VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings December 2017. 

Other topical issues 
Attribution Managed Investment Trusts (AMIT) election 

Legislation was enacted receiving Royal Assent on 5 May 2016 introducing the Attribution Managed Investment Trust 
(‘AMIT’) Regime.  

An AMIT is a managed investment trust that meets the necessary qualification criteria and has chosen to apply the new 
AMIT regime. The AMIT regime intends to provide greater flexibility in the operation of AMIT’s tax affairs and to reduce 
administration costs. Qualifying AMITs can apply a more streamlined approach to distributing trust income to investors 
through the ‘attribution model’, which replaces the current ‘present entitlement’ model. 

The AMIT provisions are complex and far reaching in their impacts on fund managers, custodians and unit holders. 
Implementation of the new AMIT regime required changes to fund operations, service arrangements, reporting to investors 
and product planning and development.  

Amendment of Trust Deeds to qualify for AMIT regime 

From 22 June 2016, ASIC granted relief to assist responsible entities of registered schemes to make changes to their 
constitution and become AMIT without holding a members’ meeting. This assists the implementation of the new tax 
system for managed investment trusts should they make the choice to do so.  
 
A number of managed investment trusts have recently made amendments to their constitutions or issued a 
supplementary deed as part of a process to become eligible to elect into the AMIT tax regime. Having changed their 
constitution and removed the obligation to distribute trust income under the AMIT regime, these entities will need to 
reconsider whether their unitholder funds should still be classified as a liability under AASB 132 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation, paragraph 16A. 
 
The Fund in this illustrative financial report is based on an open-ended Fund which issues puttable instruments.  As an 
exception to the financial liability definition, AASB 132 requires certain puttable instruments to be classified as equity (see 
paragraph 16A). Previously the Fund’s units did not qualify for this exception because, in addition to a unitholder's right to 
put the unit back to the Fund, the constitution had provided each unitholder with a present entitlement to trust income and 
the Fund was obligated to distribute their income each year. As a result unitholders’ funds were previously classified as a 
financial liability. 
 
The Fund has amended its constitution effective 1 July 2017 as part of a process to become eligible to elect into the new 
AMIT tax regime and the allocation of taxable incomes to unitholders is now based on “attribution on a fair and reasonable 
basis”.   
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As a consequence of changing the constitution to remove the obligation to distribute trust income and the fund meeting the 
other conditions to adopt the AMIT tax regime, the criteria for the AASB 132.16A exception are now met and the Fund’s 
units will be reclassified from financial liability to equity on 1 July 2017.  

The disclosures in the financial statements show how a Fund might disclose the reclassification of its puttable shares from 
liabilities to equity in the financial statements and the associated notes. 

Tax Impact 

Some of the key tax features of the AMIT regime include: 
  

 Tax liabilities of the AMIT and its beneficiaries are determined under an “attribution model” rather than the 
previous “present entitlement” rules which may result in ‘attributable’ income exceeding the cash distributed to the 
unitholders of the AMIT fund.    

 In certain instances penalties may be applied to the RE of the fund where unders and overs are a result of 
intentional disregard of a tax law or recklessness.  

 Rules facilitating multi class funds which are treated as separate AMIT funds for income tax purposes only. 

 A mechanism to adjust the cost base of units (both downwards and upwards) where, broadly, the cash distribution 
differs from the amount of assessable or non-assessable non-exempt (‘NANE’) income attributed for income tax 
purposes. 

 Tax deferred and tax free distributions made by an AMIT to a member reduce the tax cost of the interests, rather 
than being treated as ordinary income on revenue account.  

 Other related amendments extend the definition of a MIT, and introduce a new non-arm’s length income (NALI) 
rule, which applies to both AMITs and MITs.  

 
Regulatory Guidance 259 Risk Management Systems of Responsible Entities 

ASIC published Regulatory Guide (RG) 259 Risk management systems of responsible entities after initial consultation 
through Consultation Paper (CP) 263 Risk management systems of responsible entities. RG 259 is relevant for Australian 
financial services (AFS) licensees that are responsible entities (REs). This document provides specific guidance on how REs 
may comply with their obligations under s912A (1)(h) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Following the release of RG259, REs have been undertaking a detailed gap analysis of their existing processes against the 
requirements of RG 259, with the following areas of focus identified: 
 

 Evidence that an organisation has adequate risk, governance and ongoing monitoring - organisations 
should have documented records showing clearly defined roles and responsibilities, regular monitoring and 
evidence of consideration of  risk appetite; 

 Capturing risk culture in a form that is meaningful - evidence of a strong senior risk culture can be 
demonstrated through having regular, well documented discussions around risk management as part of all key 
business decisions; and 

 Stress testing requirements under RG259 - liquidity stress testing at the scheme level is mandatory. The 
responsibility of stress testing for outsourced activities remains with RE. 

ASIC have indicated that they believe there to be a significant amount of non-compliance across the asset management 
industry.  Their surveillance program is starting from April 2018 and will be focusing on the mandatory elements of the 
guide. 

Regulatory Guide 97 Disclosing fees and costs in Product Disclosure Statements (PDS) and periodic 
statements 

In November 2015, ASIC amended the enhanced fee disclosure regulations and updated Regulatory Guide 97—Disclosing 
fees and costs in PDSs and periodic statements (RG 97) to provide additional guidance to issuers on how to disclose fees 
and costs. 

The purpose of the changes are to provide greater transparency and to promote the confidence of consumers/members by 
providing accurate and consistent disclosures of fees and costs.  
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The application of RG97 in PDS’ disclosures came into effect from 30 September 2017 for those participants that applied for 
deferral. For new funds established since 1 February 2017, RG97 is already in effect. 
 
It was contemplated that for periodic statements in respect of reporting periods from 30 June 2018, new requirements 
would apply in relation to superannuation and managed investment schemes disclosure. In addition, it was also 
contemplated that new requirements for the disclosure of property operating costs in superannuation PDSs would apply on 
and after 30 September 2018. ASIC has decided to extend these dates by one year.  
 
There are a number of complexities in RG97 and further guidance has been provided to issuers through ASIC questions and 
answers and guidance issued by industry participants and associations including the Financial Services Council and the 
Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees. While industries participants have updated their PDSs to meet the 30 
September 2017 deadline, there is still debate between ASIC and the industry in relation to the treatment required under 
RG97. Implementation of RG97 has increased the variability in reported fees and costs as entities interpret and apply the 
requirements of RG97 differently.  
 
Judgmental aspects of RG97 contributing to variability include: 

 Treatment of property costs and REITs as interposed vehicles versus final investments 
 Methodology used to determine the implicit transaction costs (bid/ask spread) for all types of investments 
 Determination of which costs can be included in the Indirect Cost Ratio (“ICR”) for a superannuation fund 
 Differing interpretations for treatment of borrowing costs for Management Investment Schemes (MIS) 
 Qualitative and quantitative materiality considerations in relation to inclusion or exclusion of fees and costs 
 Treatment of administrative fee for superannuation funds (grossed up or not for tax) 
 Lack of clarity in total fees paid by investor and inconsistencies between MIS and Super. 

ASIC has communicated its intention to assess industry participants’ compliance through an industry-wide review as well as 
on-site reviews. These reviews will commence post completion of the independent expert consultation process, which is 
expected around mid-2018. ASIC has communicated that entities should continue to comply with RG97 on a best 
endeavours basis. 

Changes resulting from the new Managed Discretionary Account Instrument 2016/968 and RG179 

On 29 September 2016, the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) released an updated Regulatory 
Guide RG 179 Managed discretionary account services (RG 179) and repealed Class Order [CO 04/194] Managed 
discretionary accounts, replacing it with ASIC Corporations (Managed Discretionary Accounts) Instrument 2016/968.  
This is the culmination of a consultation process which commenced in March 2013. 

This instrument impacts all present Managed Discretionary Accounts (‘MDA’) Operators and those advisers who provide 
MDA services to clients either though an MDA operator or a regulated platform and those that intend to provide MDA 
services in the future. 

The instrument and RG 179: 

 incorporate relief for MDAs operated on a regulated platform and MDAs provided to family members, with some 
changes from relief  

 implement new requirements to ensure MDA investors are adequately informed when the MDA provider has a 
discretion to invest in products where recourse is not limited (for example, contracts for difference) 

 require specific upfront disclosure around termination, fees and outsourcing arrangements 
 provide greater certainty on the scope and application of the MDA relief and about ASIC's expectations for 

managing conflicts of interest. 

MDA providers currently offering MDAs under ASIC's regulated platform no-action letter must comply with the new 
regulatory requirements by 1 October 2018 including the new requirement to apply to vary their licence.  New providers will 
need to first apply for an AFS licence with an authorisation to issue MDAs and other related authorisations.  Other existing 
MDA providers must comply with the revised requirements from 1 October 2017.   

Operational Due Diligence (ODD) reporting 

APRA has made it clear that it expects Registerable Superannuation Entities (RSEs) to perform operational due diligence on 
investment managers to understand the ability of each investment manager to adequately deliver on its representations, and 
hence to be able to fulfil its intended role in meeting the RSE licensee’s investment strategy and achieving its investment 
objectives.  
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In 2016 (and updated in 2017), the Australian Institute of Superannuation Trusts (AIST) released a Guidance Note as a 
framework encouraging the industry to develop a consistent approach to operational due diligence over investment 
managers of RSEs.  The Guidance Note includes specific considerations across 9 areas to be assessed and reported on in an 
Operational Due Diligence Report; 

 Organisation Structure 
 Personnel 
 Governance 
 Trading Processes & Operational Functions 
 Valuations 
 IT Systems and Security 
 Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery 
 Service Provider Oversight 
 Reporting 

The AIST’s goal is to promote a more consistent ODD process, and for investment managers to own the ODD process. The 
anticipated outcome is a singular report issued by each manager to all prospective and existing investors to supplement 
the RSEs own enquiries.  Previously, many Asset Managers did not have any ODD reporting done on their operations. 
Since the issuance of the Guidance Note there is a growing expectation on the part of RSEs that an Asset Manager issue an 
ODD report at least annually. Some RSEs have started to write such a requirement in to IMAs or make it a pre-condition 
to investment of new monies.  

There remains some inconsistency in the responses of Asset Managers to the Guidance Note with some adopting a wait-and-
see approach and simply doing nothing for now.  The format of reporting is typically an Advisory style report with 
observations and benchmarking to highlight areas in which the Asset Manager is particularly strong or weak compared to 
peers.  Over time, inclusion of details of key risks and controls with an Assurance overlay is likely to become a more popular 
option. 

Corporate Collective Investment Vehicles and the Asian Region Funds Passport 

As part of its ten year enterprise tax plan announced in the 2016 Federal Budget, the Federal Government has committed to 
the introduction of a new tax and regulatory framework for two new types of collective investment vehicles (CIVs) – a 
corporate CIV and limited partnership CIV. The introduction of these new vehicles brings Australia more closely in line with 
a number of other jurisdictions where these types of vehicles are a fairly common structure for collective investment. 

The introduction of both corporate and limited partnership CIVs, being more common types of investment vehicles that 
foreign investors generally understand and are more familiar with, removes a natural barrier for foreign investment and 
increases the attractiveness of inbound investment in Australian managed funds. While this is an obvious motive behind the 
introduction of the new CIVs, it is intended that they not be limited to attracting capital from only foreign investors. 

Introduction of the new CIV regime from 1 July 2018 is intended to align with the commencement of the Asia Region Funds 
Passport. This facilitates the cross-border offering of eligible collective investment schemes while ensuring investor 
protection in participating jurisdictions. 

RE’s compliance plans will need to be updated to incorporate controls relevant to the CCIV regime including: 

 Controls in place to cover individual risks relevant to specific product types 
 Controls over the composition and qualifications (skills and background) of Compliance Committee members 
 At the outset, controls to ensure the constitution includes the prescribed content requirement of the CIV regulatory 

framework. 

MiFID II 

The Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID II) is a regulatory framework of the European Union (EU) 
legislation for investment firms that provides certain services linked to “financial instruments” (e.g. shares, 
bonds, derivatives). Its aim is to improve the functioning of financial markets and strengthen investor protection. Non-
European Economic Area (EEA) institutions will be impacted both,  directly by virtue of having a licensed branch in 
the EEA, and indirectly through dealing with EEA parties, products and venues. In addition, branches of EEA firms 
operating in non-EEA countries will have to comply with certain MiFID II requirements. The deadline for compliance 
with MiFID II is 3 January 2018. 

Significant impacts of MiFID II on those asset managers in scope of the regulation include inducements in the area of 
research - investment firms will now be required to make explicit payments for investment research to demonstrate that 
they are not being induced to trade.  Another relevant area for asset manager is product governance, MiFID II introduces 
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a regime aimed at protecting investors from being missold financial instruments through more robust product approval 
processes and greater focus on product design and distributions to identified target markets.  

Design and Distribution Obligations 

The Government is committed to ensuring that all Australians are treated fairly and ethically by the financial system.  The 
Financial Systems Inquiry (FSI) identified that the existing regulatory framework could do more to improve outcomes for 
consumers.  As part of the Treasury’s response to the FSI, the government accepted the following recommendations in 
relation to Design and Distribution Obligations and Product Intervention Power: 

 Create new accountability obligations for entities that issue or distribute products 
 Strengthen consumer protection by introducing financial product intervention powers. 

The regulators and government are trying to achieve an alignment of consumer outcomes throughout the whole financial 
product life cycle. Following the consultation paper released in December 2016 and a draft bill was passed by government in 
December 2017. 

Financial products to retail clients will be affected, including: insurance, asset management, margin loans and derivatives. It 
does not affect ordinary shares, personal advice or National Consumer Credit Protection (‘NCCP’) regulated products e.g. 
credit cards and mortgages. 

Issuers are expected to identify appropriate target and non-target markets, select distribution channels and review 
arrangements to ensure they are still appropriate. Distributors will be expected to put effective controls in place and comply 
with reasonable requests for information from issuers related to any product reviews.  

Organisations should review their end to end products ensure the appropriateness of those products for their clients. 
Global & Australian CEO Survey 

Australian CEOs and their global counterparts are showing record levels of optimism about the year to come. But to ride 
that buoyant wave, organisations have some courageous decisions to make including:  

 how to align purpose and values to restore trust,  
 how to embrace the intelligence revolution to drive enhanced customer experience, and  
 how to reduce the gap between their current and future fit workforce.  

 
The outlook for Australian growth and investment 
 
Short-term optimism is high but due to business threats the road ahead is cloudy.  A record 59% believe global economic 
growth will improve over the next 12 months (36% last year).  But confidence about organisational growth over the next 
three years slows down.  Australia has dropped out of the top 10 as a destination for global capital.  With Australia now one 
of the highest taxing nations in the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (‘OECD’), the concern is 
without tax reform Australia’s relevance will continue to decline.  
 
Trust: the issue that still won't go away 
 
The concern for a lack of trust in business continues to rise for the sixth year: from 34% in 2013 to 65% this year.  Those 
looking to restore trust will need to adopt new business models, behaviours, new ways of working, and become more human 
to win in today’s market.  Trust in institutions such as banks, government, media and charities is at an all-time low, 
according to Edelman trust Barometer.  The most important job a CEO can do to contribute meaningfully to social progress, 
as well as business results, is to commit to a common purpose, a shared set of values and behaviours, and drive them 
through the organisation.  
 
Embrace the intelligence revolution to drive enhanced customer experience 
 
Technology is an enabler for enhanced customer experience but artificial intelligence and changes in technology require a 
consideration of: processes, systems, products and messages, along with the right skills and talent.  73% of Australian CEOs 
see speed of technology change as a top business threat to growth.  There is an opportunity for leaders to use technology to 
analyse data for customer insight, then tailor experiences, products and services to better serve needs. 
 
Reduce the skill gap in current and future fit workforce 
 
The gap between a current workforce and a future fit workforce is vast, leaders need to respond today to attract and develop 
the right talent.  75% of CEOs (Global 79%) are concerned about the availability of key skills.  The talent pool needs to be re-
skilled for future business needs and our educational systems need to equip and empower the workforce with the right skills 
to succeed.  There should be net job creation from technology, but it’s time to get practical about helping all workers adapt 
to the digital age. 
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ASIC Areas of Focus  

In December 2017, ASIC released their areas of focus for December 2017 year ends. Many of the areas of focus are 
consistent with last year. The key topics are impairment testing and asset values, off-balance sheet arrangements, revenue 
recognition, expense deferral, tax accounting, estimates and accounting policy judgements and the impact of the new 
revenue, financial instrument, leasing, and insurance standards. 
 

ASIC Area of Focus Nature Impact 

Impairment Testing 
and Asset Values 

ASIC will continue to focus on the 
recoverability of assets, such as by carefully 
reviewing the ability of poorly performing 
businesses to carry significant non-impaired 
assets at their stated carrying values. 

For investments funds that hold 
investments measured using a methodology 
other than fair value, management should 
assess whether the carrying values of these 
assets have been appropriately reviewed 
and considered. 

Revenue Recognition Revenue recognition policies should ensure 
that revenue is recognised in accordance 
with the substance of the transaction. This 
includes ensuring that: a) services to which 
the revenue relates have been performed; b) 
control of relevant goods has passed to the 
buyer; c) where revenue relates to both the 
sale of goods and the provision of related 
services, revenue is appropriately allocated 
to the components and recognised 
accordingly; d) assets are properly classified 
as financial or non-financial assets; and 
revenue is recognised on financial 
instruments on the basis appropriate for the 
class of instrument. 

 

Policies should be reviewed to ensure that 
revenue is recognised on an appropriate 
basis. 

Expense Deferral Expenses should only be deferred when 
there is an asset, as defined by the 
accounting standards, and it is probable that 
future economic benefit will arise. 

If funds have deferred expenses, a review 
should be untaken to assess future benefits. 

Off Balance Sheet 
Arrangements 

Management should carefully review the 
treatment of off-balance sheet arrangements 
and investments in joint arrangements. 

Any off balance sheet and structured 
arrangements which exists should be 
properly disclosed in the accounts of the 
reporting entity. For details on structured 
entities and their impact to funds, refer to 
Appendix D. 

Tax accounting ASIC expects management to have a 
thorough understanding of the temporary 
differences recognised, having taken into 
account the impact of any recent changes in 
legislation.  

Specific focus will be given to the 
recoverability of deferred tax assets. 

Responsible entities and Trustee’s should 
assess the need to involve tax experts to 
review the fund’s distribution, income taxes 
and any deferred taxes. 

Estimates and 
Accounting Policy 
Judgements 

Disclosures should be made about 
significant judgements in applying 
accounting policies, and any sources of 
estimation uncertainty that have a 
significant risk of material adjustment to 
assets and liabilities. 

Notes related to estimates and judgements 
should be specific to the asset, liability, 
income or expense and not standard or 
nonspecific disclosures. 

Impact of new revenue, 
financial instrument, 
leasing, and insurance  
standards 

Notes to the financial statements should 
disclose the expected impact of new 
requirements for recognising revenue and 
for valuing financial instruments. 

Please refer above for further detail on the 
impacts of AASB 9 Financial Instruments 
and AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers.  ASIC has reminded entities of 
the importance of planning for the new 
standards and informing the market of the 
impact on their reported results.  
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APRA Prudential Standards - Recent developments  

The Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) released in December 2017 a consultation package on measures 
aimed at assisting RSEs to be better positioned to deliver sound outcomes for their members. 
 
The package outlines proposed changes to the prudential framework designed to enhance strategic and business planning, 
oversight of fund expenditure and the assessment of outcomes for members.  
 
The proposed measures include: 

 changes to the existing prudential standard SPS 220 Risk Management relating to strategic and business planning 
and fund expenditure policies and processes; 

 a new prudential standard, SPS 225 Outcomes Assessment, requiring all RSE licensees to annually assess the 
outcomes provided to members using a broader range of measures;  

 new prudential practice guides to assist RSE licensees with their strategic and business planning and the outcomes 
assessment; and 

 amend SPS 250 Insurance in Superannuation to require RSE licensees to provide straight-forward processes for 
opting-out of all insurance products. 

The consultation period for this package closes on 29 March 2018, and APRA is proposing that final requirements will be 
released in mid-2018 and come into effect from 1 January 2019. 

Regulatory Tax Update  

Common Reporting Standard (CRS) 

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (‘OECD’) CRS is a single global standard in relation to the 
automatic exchange of tax information for the purposes of combatting the evasion of tax.  Legislation to implement the CRS 
in Australia was enacted on 18 March 2016, and the CRS has applied to Australian “Financial Institutions” (as defined in the 
CRS legislation) since 1 July 2017 with a first reporting deadline of 31 July 2018.   

CRS compliance obligations imposed on Australian Financial Institutions (which would generally include Australian 
investment funds) include: 

 implementing new customer on-boarding procedures; 
 conducting pre-existing customer due diligence; and 
 annual customer CRS reporting. 

 
Complying superannuation funds will be generally exempt from these obligations.   

It is expected that many Financial Institutions will leverage their FATCA compliance solution to meet their CRS obligations 
particularly with regard to their customer/account-opening procedures, although there are differences in both scope and 
procedure across the two regimes. 

Third Party Reporting 

Legislation requiring a range of third parties (including financial market participants, listed companies, trustees, 
administrators of payment systems and certain Government entities) to provide financial and transactional information to 
the ATO in order to assist with data matching and tax return pre-filling services was enacted on 1 December 2015.  

Entities affected by this regime (such as responsible entities of unit trusts) are required to report to the ATO on an annual 
basis information in relation to certain transactions that occurred in the previous financial year.  The obligations for trustees 
and custodians apply to relevant transactions which occurred on or after 1 July 2017. 
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  Australian registered scheme number (ARSN) 

CA601EB,601EC  All schemes registered with ASIC are given an Australian Registered Scheme Number 
(ARSN) by ASIC. This number must appear on all documents relating to the scheme that 
are filed with ASIC. 

CA601EC,1344  Registered schemes may use their Australian Business Numbers (ABNs) instead of their 
ARSN. This is conditional on the ABN including the ARSN as its last nine digits and it being 
quoted in the same way in which the Corporations Act registration number was previously 
quoted for the purposes of complying with the Act. 

ASIC-RG13  Guidance on issues relating to the use of ACNs is set out in ASIC Regulatory Guide 13. 
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10BDirectors' report1-26

CA299(2)(a) The directors of VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of VALUE 
ACCOUNTS Bank Limited), the responsible entity of VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust, present their 
report together with the financial statements of VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust ('the Fund') for the year 
ended 30 June 2018. 

CA299(1)(c)  Principal activities 
AASB101(138)(b) The Fund invests in equities and equity derivatives, unlisted unit trusts, money market securities and 

debt securities in accordance with the provisions of the Fund Constitution. 

The Fund did not have any employees during the year. 

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Fund’s activities during the year. 

CA300(1)(c) Directors 
 The following persons held office as directors of VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds Limited during 

the year or since the end of the year and up to the date of this report: 

 A Director (resigned 14 October 2017) 

 B Director 

 C Director 

 D Director (appointed 20 May 2018) 

CA299(1)(a) 
 

Review and results of operations4,5 
The broader share market, represented by the MSCI World Index returned 17.3% over the 2018 
financial year. The Fund outperformed the benchmark over the period by 1.1%. Key contributors to the 
performance over the 12 months to 30 June 2018 were overweight positions in ABC Limited and BCD 
Limited and an underweight position on CDE Limited. Key detractors from performance over the period 
were underweight positions in DEF Group and EFG Group. 

 The performance of the Fund, as represented by the results of its operations, was as follows: 

  Year ended 
 

 
30 June 

2018 
30 June

2017
 Operating profit/(loss) before finance costs attributable to unitholders 

($’000) 11,235 (3,775)
  

 Distribution paid and payable ($’000) 50 1,000
CA300(1)(a)(b) Distribution (cents per unit) 0.545 12.713
    

CA299(1)(b) Significant changes in state of affairs11 
 The Fund has amended its constitution to change the obligation to distribute trust income to unitholders 

effective 1 July 2017 as part of a process to become eligible to elect into the new AMIT tax regime. 

In the opinion of the directors, there were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Fund 
that occurred during the financial year. 

CA299(1)(d) Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 
 No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2018 that has significantly affected, or may 

significantly affect: 

  the operations of the Fund in future financial years, or 

  the results of those operations in future financial years, or 

  the state of affairs of the Fund in future financial years. 

CA299(1)(e) Likely developments and expected results of operations12,13 
 The Fund will continue to be managed in accordance with the investment objectives and guidelines as 

set out in the governing documents of the Fund and in accordance with the provisions of the Fund 
Constitution. 

 The results of the Fund's operations will be affected by a number of factors, including the performance 
of investment markets in which the Fund invests. Investment performance is not guaranteed and future 
returns may differ from past returns. As investment conditions change over time, past returns should not 
be used to predict future returns. 
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CA300(1)(g),(8)(b),(9)(a)(f) Indemnity and insurance of officers14-16 
 No insurance premiums are paid for out of the assets of the Fund in regards to insurance 

cover provided to either the officers of VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds Limited or the 
auditors of the Fund. So long as the officers of VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds 
Limited act in accordance with the Fund Constitution and the Law, the officers remain 
indemnified out of the assets of the Fund against losses incurred while acting on behalf of the 
Fund.  

 Indemnity of auditors 
 The auditors of the Fund are in no way indemnified out of the assets of the Fund. 

 
CA300(13)(a) 

Fees paid to and interests held in the Fund by the responsible entity or its 
associates17,18 

 Fees paid to the responsible entity and its associates out of Fund property during the year 
are disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.  

 No fees were paid out of Fund property to the directors of the responsible entity during the 
year. 

CA300(13)(b) The number of interests in the Fund held by the responsible entity or its associates as at the 
end of the financial year are disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements. 

 
Interests in the Fund17,18 

CA300(13)(c),(d),(f) The movement in units on issue in the Fund during the year is disclosed in note 11 to the 
financial statements. 

CA300(13)(e) The value of the Fund’s assets and liabilities is disclosed on the balance sheet and derived 
using the basis set out in note 2 to the financial statements. 

CA299(1)(f) Environmental regulation2 
 The operations of the Fund are not subject to any particular or significant environmental 

regulations under a Commonwealth, State or Territory law. 

ASIC2016/191 Rounding of amounts to the nearest thousand dollars19-21 
 Amounts in the directors’ report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars in 

accordance with ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 
2016/191, unless otherwise indicated. 

CA298(1)(c)  Auditor's independence declaration22,23 
 A copy of the Auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the 

Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 18. 

CA298(2)(a) This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

  

 

 

 

CA298(2)(c) B Director 

Not mandatory Sydney 

CA298(2)(b) 14 September 2018 

 
 



  
 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757 
One International Towers Sydney, Watermans Quay, Barangaroo, GPO Box 2650, Sydney, NSW 2001 
T: +61 2 8266 0000, F: +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au 
 
 
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

CA307C 
CA298(1)(c) Auditor’s independence declaration22,23 
 As lead auditor for the audit of VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust for the year ended 30 June 

2018, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief there have been: 

 no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001 in relation to the audit, and 

 no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

   

   

   

 A B Partner 
Partner 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Sydney 
14 September 2018 
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Directors’ report  

  

 Contents of directors' reports 

CA298(1)  The directors of the responsible entity of a registered scheme must prepare a directors’ report 
for each financial year. While this example directors’ report presents a typical report for a 
registered scheme, it is not an exhaustive illustration of all potential components of a directors’ 
report. For further details of the information required in various reporting scenarios refer to our 
VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings Limited Annual financial reporting December 2017 publication for 
the ‘Summary of content of directors’ report by classes of entities’ contained in the commentary 
to the directors’ report. 

  Where a disclosure requirement is not relevant to an entity (including a consolidated entity) for a 
particular financial year, PwC’s view is that it is not necessary to include a reference to the 
matter. However, it should be noted that, in respect of environmental reporting, ASIC 
recommends the inclusion of a comment that no significant environmental regulations apply. 
Where an item is significant and no comment is made in the directors’ report, the directors 
should consider specifically minuting their decisions at the directors’ meeting called to approve 
the directors’ report. 

 Disclosures required where additional information is included to give a true and fair view 

 

 

 

 

CA298(1A)(a) 

 

CA298(1A)(b) 

 If the financial statements for a financial year includes additional information under CA 295(3)(c) 
(information included to give a true and fair view of financial position and performance), the 
directors’ report for the financial year must:  

(a) set out the directors’ reasons for forming the opinion that the inclusion of that additional 
information was necessary to give the true and fair view required by CA 297, and 

(b) specify where that additional information can be found in the financial report. 

 This disclosure is not illustrated in the VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust directors’ report, as there 
is no additional information included under CA 295(3)(c). 

 Review and results of operations 

CA299(1)(a) 

CA299A(1) 

 CA 299(1)(a) requires all entities to present a review of the operations of the entity reported on 
and the results of those operations. In addition, under CA 299A(1) the directors’ report of a 
company, registered scheme or other disclosing entity that is listed must contain information 
that members of the company would reasonably require to make an informed assessment of: 

(a) the operations of the entity reported on 

(b) the financial position of the entity 

(c) the entity’s business strategies and its prospects for future financial years. 

 ASIC Regulatory Guide RG 247 Effective disclosure in an operating and financial review 
explains their expectations in relation to the disclosures contained in the operating and financial 
review (OFR) section of listed entities’ annual reports to satisfy the requirements in section 
299A. While unlisted entities do not have to comply with section 299A, they must still provide a 
review of operations and the results of these operations. The comments included in RG 247 in 
relation to the review of operations can provide these entities with insight into the type of 
information that ASIC expects to see in such a review (e.g. comments about the underlying 
drivers of the entity’s performance). We have provided an example of what we believe would be 
appropriate in the context of a fund such as VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust in our directors’ 
report. Depending on the circumstances, large or more diversified funds may need to provide 
more detailed disclosures. For detailed comments about the format and content of the review of 
operations, please refer to Appendix D of our VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings Limited December 
2017 publication. 

 Comparative figures 

  Comparative figures are not mandatory for directors' reports, but are recommended in the 
interest of more meaningful disclosure. 

 Non-mandatory disclosures 

  The Financial Services Council (FSC) (formerly known as the Investment and Financial 
Services Association (IFSA)) standards and industry practice suggest certain disclosures for the 
directors’ report that are not otherwise required either in the directors’ report or the financial 
statements. These disclosures are not made by VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust but have been 
illustrated below for consideration by preparers of investment funds’ financial statements.  
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Directors’ report 

  

 Fund performance  

FSC Standard 6.0 

[Not mandatory] 

 The table below demonstrates the performance of the Fund as represented by the total return, 
which is calculated as the aggregation of the percentage capital growth and percentage 
distribution of income. The total return is shown for the past five years to 30 June 2018 and 
assumes that all distributions were reinvested during that period. These are calculated in 
accordance with FSC Standard 6.0 Product Performance - calculation of returns. 

 

 
2018

%
2017

%
2016 

% 
2015 

% 
2014

%
 

  Capital growth 15.0 (6.5) 5.4 4.3 3.2
  Distribution of income 2.3 2.5 2.1 1.6 1.3
  Total return 17.3 (4.0) 7.5 5.9 4.5
  Benchmark (MSCI World Index) 16.2 8.5 7.3 5.8 4.2
         

  Consistent with our statements in the governing documents of the Fund, future performance is 
not guaranteed. Investors should exercise care in using past performance as a predictor of 
future performance. 

 Unit redemption prices 

 Unit redemption prices (quoted cum-distribution) are shown as follows: 

   
 

 

  
2018

$
2017

$
2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 
2014

$
 

 
 At 30 June 12.17 10.57 11.20 9.68 7.54

 
 High during year 12.22 10.95 11.21 9.74 7.54

 
 Low during year 9.40 10.00 9.68 7.54 7.01

         

 Differences between value for unit pricing and net assets attributable to unitholders 

  In addition where there are material differences between net assets for unit pricing purposes 
and net assets as reported in the financial statements, PwC suggests the following disclosure 
(for VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust this difference is not material). 

 “The key differences between net assets for unit pricing purposes and net assets as 
reported in the financial statements prepared under Australian Accounting Standards 
have been outlined below: 

   Year ended  

 30 June 
2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

 

  Redemption value of outstanding units 114,415 84,675
    
  Adjustment for differences in valuation inputs (2,760) (1,526)
 

 
Net assets attributable to unitholders – Equity (30 June 
2017: Liability) (111,655) (83,149)

     

 Significant changes in state of affairs  

CA299(1)(b)  CA299(1)(b) requires disclosure of any changes in the Fund’s state of affairs during the year, 
where these changes are significant. 



Directors’ report  

 
 
 

PwC VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds 2018 21 

 
Directors’ report 

  

CA299(1)(e) Likely developments and expected results of operations 

CA299(3)  The report may omit material on likely developments and expected results of operations if it is 
likely that its disclosure would result in unreasonable prejudice to the company, the 
consolidated entity or any entity that is part of the consolidated entity. ASIC Regulatory Guide 
247 Effective disclosure in an operating and financial review sets out ASIC’s view on when the 
exemption can be applied. According to the guide, an entity should:  

(a) identify the adverse consequences that are likely to occur 

(b) consider whether these consequences are reasonable, and 

(c) assess whether it is likely (more probable than not) that they will occur.  

 It will be difficult to demonstrate unreasonable prejudice if the relevant information has already 
been disclosed elsewhere, or can be inferred from information that is in the public domain. 
Where information has been omitted in reliance on the exemption, the entity must disclose this 
fact and should also provide a short, high level summary of the type of information that has 
been omitted and the reasons for the omission. ASIC further recommends that entities 
document their assessment in their working papers if they have relied on the exemption.  

 Indemnities and insurance premiums for officers and auditors 

CA300(8)  The directors’ report must disclose information about any: 

 (a) indemnity given to a current or former officer or auditor, and 

(b) premium paid, or agreed to be paid, for insurance against a current or former officer’s or 
auditor’s liability for legal cost 

to the extent the indemnities or insurance arrangements are not prohibited under CA 199A 
and CA 199B of the Corporations Act 2001. 

  If the Fund has agreed to indemnify the auditor under certain circumstances as permitted in the 
Corporations Act 2001, this fact must also be disclosed. Please note that the disclosure above 
within the directors’ report is purely illustrative and is not intended to reflect or summarise the 
terms of actual arrangements in respect of the provision of services. Accordingly, users of this 
publication should obtain legal advice as to whether their particular arrangement will require 
disclosure, and as to the form of any such disclosure. 

  See Appendix A for detailed commentary on the requirements for the disclosure of information 
on indemnities and/or insurance premiums for officers and auditors. The commentary includes 
illustrative wording for indemnities and indemnification agreements. 

 Special rules for registered schemes 

CA300(13)  The directors’ report for a registered scheme must also include details of: 

(a) the fees paid to the responsible entity and its associates out of scheme property during 
the financial year 

(b) the number of interests in the scheme held by the responsible entity or its associates as 
at the end of the financial year 

(c) interests in the scheme issued during the financial year 

(d) withdrawals from the scheme during the financial year 

 (e) the value of the scheme’s assets as at the end of the financial year, and the basis for the 
valuation, and  

(f) the number of interests in the scheme as at the end of the financial year. 

CA11  CA11 defines an associate of a body corporate as: 

(a) a director or secretary of the body corporate 

(b) a related body corporate, and 

(c) a director or secretary of a related body corporate. 

 It should be noted that the definition of an ‘associate’ under the Corporations Act 2001 differs 
from the definition under Australian Accounting Standards. 
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 Rounding of amounts 

ASIC2016/191  ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191 permits 
entities to round off as follows, subject to certain conditions and exceptions: 

 Assets greater than: Round off to nearest: 

 $10 million (but less than $1,000 million) $1,000 

 $1,000 million (but less than $10,000 million) $100,000 

 $10,000 million $1,000,000 

ASIC2016/191  Rounding to lower prescribed amounts is also permissible, as explained in Appendix A. 

  The following directors’ report disclosures must be shown to the nearest dollar by entities with 
assets (or consolidated assets) of less than $1,000 million, and may only be rounded  
to the nearest $1,000 by entities with assets (or consolidated assets) of more than  
$1,000 million: 

 Section Details 

 CA 300(1)(g),(8),(9) Indemnification/insurance of officers or auditors 

 CA 300(11B)(11C) 

CA 300A(1)(c),(1)(e) 

CA 300(13)(a) 

Non-audit services 

Remuneration of directors and executives 

          Fees paid to responsible entity and associates  

 Auditor’s independence declaration 

CA298(1AA)(c) 
CA307C 
ASIC2016/188 

 The directors’ report must include a copy of the auditor’s independence declaration made 
under CA307C in relation to the audit for the financial year. ASIC Corporations (Directors’ 
Report Relief) Instrument 2016/188 permits the declaration to be transferred to a document 
included with the directors’ report and financial statements. Where advantage is taken of this 
relief, the directors’ report must contain a clear cross reference to the page or pages 
containing the transferred information. 

CA307C  CA 307C(5A) provides that the declaration may be given to the directors before they pass their 
resolution in relation to the directors’ report and before the audit report is signed, provided that: 

(a) the declaration is given to the directors before the directors resolve to make the directors’ 
report 

(b) the directors’ report is signed within 7 days after the declaration is given 

(c) the auditor’s report is made within 7 days after the directors’ report is signed and includes 
a statement that:  

(i) either the declaration would be in the same terms if it was given to the directors at the 
time the auditor’s report is made, or 

(ii) circumstances have changed since the declaration was given to the directors and 
setting out how the declaration would differ if it was given to the directors at the time the 
auditor’s report is made. 

 Regulatory Guide 94 Unit Pricing: Guide to Good Practice (RG 94) 

RG94  RG 94 issued jointly by ASIC and APRA in August 2008 suggests that if a fixed dollar 
minimum is applied to compensation amounts in respect of a unit pricing error for exited 
unitholders, this information is included in the annual financial statements for the relevant 
Fund. VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust has no fixed dollar minimum applied to compensation 
amounts in respect of unit pricing errors for exited unitholders and no such disclosure is made. 

 Transfer of information from the directors’ report 

ASIC 2016/188  Entities may transfer certain information otherwise required to be included in the directors’ 
report to other parts of the annual report. Refer to VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings financial 
reporting December 2017 publication, page 44 for further guidance. 

 Modification of auditor rotation requirements 

CA300 (11A)  If a registered company auditor plays a significant role in the audit of a listed company or listed 
registered scheme for the financial year in reliance on a declaration made by ASIC under CA 
342A (i.e. modification of the auditor rotation requirements for listed companies), the directors’ 
report must include details of the declaration. This disclosure is not illustrated in the VALUE 
ACCOUNTS Unit Trust directors’ report, as it is assumed it is not applicable. 
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AASB101(51)(b) These financial statements cover VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust as an individual entity. 

AASB101(38)(a) The responsible entity of VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust is VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds 
Limited (ABN 11 222 333 444). The responsible entity’s registered office is: 

350 Harbour Street 

Sydney NSW 2000 
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 Financial statements 

  

 Accounting standard for financial statement presentation and disclosures 

AASB101(Aus1.1) 

 

 

 

 

AASB 2013-5 

 

 AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements applies to each entity which is required to 
prepare financial statements in accordance with Part 2M.3 of the Corporations Act 2001, 
general purpose financial statements of each reporting entity, and to financial statements that 
are, or are held out to be, general purpose financial statements. 

 VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds does not illustrate consolidated financial statements as 
it does not meet the consolidation requirements under AASB 10. However, if an investment 
entity meets the consolidation requirements, it is mandatory to adopt AASB 2013-5 which 
disallows consolidation of investment entity financial statements. 

 General requirements for financial statements 

AASB101(49),(50)  The financial statements shall be identified clearly and distinguished from other information in 
the same published document. Reports and statements presented outside the financial 
statements are outside the scope of Australian Accounting Standards.  

AASB101(51)  The entity shall clearly identify each financial statement and the notes. In addition, the following 
information must be prominently displayed and repeated when it is necessary for a proper 
understanding of the information presented: 

(a) the name of the reporting entity or other means of identification, and any change in name 
from the end of the preceding reporting period 

(b) whether the financial statements cover the individual entity or a group of entities 

(c) the date of the end of the reporting period or the period covered by the set of financial 
statements or notes 

(d) the presentation currency, as defined in AASB 121 The Effects of Changes in Foreign 
Exchange Rates 

(e) the level of rounding used in presenting amounts in the financial statements (refer to note 2 
to the financial statements). 

 General purpose financial statements vs. special purpose financial statements 

AASB101(7)  General purpose financial statements means financial statements intended to meet the 
information needs common to users who are unable to command the preparation of statements 
tailored so as to satisfy, specifically, all of their information needs. 

AASB1054(6)  Special purpose financial statements (SPFS) means financial statements other than general 
purpose financial statements. 

AASB1054(9)  An entity shall disclose in the notes a statement that the financial statements are general 
purpose financial statements, or if applicable, special purpose financial statements. 

 Materiality  

AASB101(7) 
AASB108(5),(6) 

 
 
 
 
 
IASB Update  
September 2013 

 Accounting standards only need to be complied with if the information resulting from their 
application is material. Materiality is judged by reference to the size and nature of the item. The 
deciding factor is whether the omission or misstatement could, individually or collectively, 
influence the economic decisions that users make on the basis of the financial statements. In 
particular circumstances either the nature or the amount of an item or an aggregate of items 
could be the determining factor. Preparers generally tend to err on the side of caution and 
disclose too much rather than too little. However, the IASB has expressed the view that too 
much immaterial information could obscure useful information and hence should be avoided. 

AASB101(29)  Each material class of similar items shall be presented separately in the financial statements. 
Items of a similar nature or function shall be presented separately unless they are immaterial. 

Primary financial statements should be read in conjunction with accompanying notes 

 VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds reminds readers by way of a footnote that the primary 
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. However, this 
is not mandatory and we note that there is mixed practice in this regard. 
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 Comparative information 

AASB101(38),(40A),(40B)  Except when an Australian Accounting Standard permits or requires otherwise, an entity shall 
disclose comparative information in respect of the previous period for all amounts reported in 
the current period’s financial statements. Comparative information shall be included for 
narrative and descriptive information when it is relevant to an understanding of the current 
period’s financial statements.  

AASB101(38)(b)  In some cases, narrative information provided in the financial statements for the previous 
period(s) continues to be relevant in the current period. For example, details of a legal dispute, 
the outcome of which was uncertain at the end of the immediately preceding reporting period 
and is yet to be resolved, are disclosed in the current period. Users benefit from information that 
the uncertainty existed at the end of the immediately preceding reporting period and about the 
steps that have been taken during the period to resolve the uncertainty. 

AASB101(41)  When the entity changes the presentation or classification of items in its financial statements, 
the entity shall reclassify comparative amounts unless the reclassification is impracticable. 
When comparative amounts are reclassified, an entity shall disclose:  

(a) the nature of the reclassification  

(b) the amount of each item or class of items that is reclassified  

(c) the reason for the reclassification. 

AASB101(42)  When it is impracticable to reclassify comparative amounts, an entity shall disclose:  

(a) the reason for not reclassifying the amounts 

(b) the nature of the adjustments that would have been made if the amounts had been 
reclassified. 

 Three balance sheets required in certain circumstances 

AASB101(40A),(40B) 

 

 

 

 

 

AASB101(41) 

AASB108 

 

AASB101(40C) 

 If an entity has  

(a) applied an accounting policy retrospectively, restated items retrospectively, or reclassified 
items in its financial statements, and 

(b) the retrospective application, restatement or reclassification has a material effect on the 
information presented in the balance sheet at the beginning of the preceding period, 

it must present a third balance sheet (statement of financial position) as at the beginning of the 
preceding period (e.g. 1 July 2016 for 30 June 2018 reporters). It must also provide appropriate 
explanations about the changes in accounting policies, other explanations or reclassifications, 
as required under AASB 101 paragraph 41 and AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors. However, the entity does not need to present the related 
notes to the opening statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period. 

 No financial statements prepared in the previous year 

AASB101(38)  Comparative information must be provided even if the entity did not prepare financial 
statements under the Corporations Act 2001 in the previous financial year. An example would 
be a company that was previously a small proprietary company and that became large or 
foreign controlled during the reporting period.  

 Prior period errors 

AASB108(42),(43)  An entity shall correct material prior period errors retrospectively in the first financial statements 
authorised for issue after their discovery by restating the comparative amounts for the prior 
period(s) presented in which the error occurred; or if the error occurred before the earliest prior 
period presented, restating the opening balances of assets, liabilities and equity for the earliest 
prior period presented. A prior period error shall be corrected by retrospective restatement 
except to the extent that it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific effects or the 
cumulative effect of the error.  

AASB108(44),(45)  When it is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects of an error on comparative 
information for one or more prior periods presented, the entity shall restate the opening 
balances of assets, liabilities and equity for the earliest period for which retrospective 
restatement is practicable (which may be the current period). When it is impracticable to 
determine the cumulative effect, at the beginning of the current period, of an error on all prior 
periods, the entity shall restate the comparative information to correct the error prospectively 
from the earliest date practicable. 
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AASB101(40A),(10)(f) 

 

 

AASB101(40C) 

 

 When an entity has corrected a prior period error retrospectively by restating the comparative 
information, it shall present a third balance sheet as explained in commentary paragraph 14 
above. Additional disclosures also apply which are illustrated in note 11 of our VALUE 
ACCOUNTS Holdings Limited December 2017 publication.  

 Consistency 

AASB101(45)  The presentation and classification of items in the financial statements shall be retained from 
one period to the next unless: 

(a) it is apparent, following a significant change in the nature of the entity’s operations or a review 
of its financial statements, that another presentation or classification would be more 
appropriate having regard to the criteria for the selection and application of accounting 
policies in AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, or 

(b) an Australian Accounting Standard requires a change in presentation. 

AASB101(41)  Where an entity has reclassified comparative amounts because of a change in presentation, it 
shall disclose the nature, the amount of each item or class of items that is reclassified and the 
reason for the reclassification in the notes. 
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 11BStatement of comprehensive income1-38   
   Year ended 
  

Notes

30 June 
2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

AASB101(82)(a) Investment income 

AASB7(20)(b)  
 

Interest income from financial assets not held at fair value 
through profit or loss32 947 549

AASB118(30) Dividend income 2,922 950
AASB118(30)  Distribution income 681 100
AASB7(20)(a)  
AASB101(35) 

Net gains/(losses) on financial instruments held at fair value 
through profit or loss28-31 6 8,158 (4,225)

 Other operating income 75 5
AASB101(85) Total net investment income/(loss) 12,783 (2,621)
  

AASB101(99) Expenses14,15  
 Responsible entity fees 17 803 684
AASB101(85) Custody fees 18 14
AASB1054(10) Remuneration of auditors 15 55 47
AASB139(43) Transaction costs33 438 200
 Registry fees 131 128
 Other operating expenses 16 103 81
 Total operating expenses 1,548 1,154
     

 Operating profit/(loss)22 11,235 (3,775)
  

AASB101(82)(b) Finance costs attributable to unitholders36 

AASB132(35) Distributions to unitholders 12 - (1,000)
AASB132(35) (Increase)/decrease in net assets attributable to unitholders 11 - 4,775
AASB101(81A)(a) 

New illustration 

Profit/(loss) for the period 
11,235 -

   
AASB101(81A)(b) Other comprehensive income4-10 - -
AASB101(81A)(c) Total comprehensive income for the period 11,235 -
     

Not mandatory The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 
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 Requirements for the presentation of a statement of comprehensive income 

AASB101(Aus1.1) 
AASB101(10) 

 Requirements for the presentation of a statement of comprehensive income are set out in 
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements. The standard applies to each entity which is 
required to prepare financial statements in accordance with Part 2M.3 of the Corporations Act 
2001, general purpose financial statements of each reporting entity, and financial statements 
that are, or are held out to be, general purpose financial statements. 

While the standard now refers to the statement as ‘statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income’, entities are permitted to retain the previous title of ‘statement of 
comprehensive income’.  

 One or two statements 

AASB101(10A)  Entities have a choice to present all items of income and expense recognised in a period either: 

(a) in a single statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (as done by VALUE 
ACCOUNTS Unit Trust), or 

(b) in two statements (as illustrated in our VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings publication): 

(i) a separate income statement which displays components of profit or loss, and 

(ii) a statement of comprehensive income which begins with profit or loss and displays 
components of other comprehensive income.  

Where an entity elects to prepare a separate income statement, it must present this income 
statement immediately before the statement of comprehensive income. 

 Materiality and aggregation 

AASB101(29)  Each material class of similar items shall be presented separately in the financial statements. 
Items of a dissimilar nature or function shall be presented separately unless they are 
immaterial. 

 In the statement of comprehensive income 

AASB101(82)  The income statement (profit or loss section of the single statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income) must include line items that present the following amounts for the 
period, in addition to items required by other accounting standards: 

(a) revenue 

(b) finance costs 

(c) share of the profit or loss of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity 
method 

(d) tax expense, and 

(e) a single amount for the total of discontinued operations. 

 While AASB 101 requires ‘revenue’ to be presented in the statement of comprehensive income, 
the format used by VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust aggregates items of revenue (i.e. interest, 
dividends, distributions) with other income amounts (i.e. gains and losses) to aggregate to ‘total 
net investment income’. This presentation is considered the most useful as it presents a single 
total of a meaningful aggregate for an investment fund. 

AASB10(B85C-E) 

 

 

AASB101(81B) 

 

 Where an investment fund cannot apply the exemption for investment entities and must prepare 
consolidated financial statements, it must also disclose the following information in the 
statement of comprehensive income: 

(a) profit or loss for the period attributable to (AASB 101 paragraph 81B(a)): 

(i) non-controlling interests; and 

(ii) owners of the parent; and 

(b) total comprehensive income for the period attributable to: 

(i) non-controlling interests; and 

(ii) owners of the parent. 
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  Income and expense items are not offset unless the criteria in AASB 101(32) are met, as 
discussed in paragraphs 26 and 27 below. 

AASB101(82A)  The other comprehensive income section of the statement of comprehensive income shall 
present line items for amounts of other comprehensive income in the period classified by 
nature. The items must be grouped into items that, in accordance with the standards: 

(a) will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss, and 

(b) will be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss when specific conditions are met. 

AASB133(Aus1.1)  Earnings per share information is not disclosed as VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust has no 
publically traded ordinary shares or units.  

  A distribution statement at the foot of the statement of comprehensive income is not considered 
necessary because distributions and undistributed income are recognised on the statement 
of comprehensive income as components of finance costs attributable to unitholders and further 
details on the distributions made during the year are disclosed in the notes. 

 The statement of other comprehensive income must further disclose sub-totals and totals for: 

(a) profit or loss 

(b) total other comprehensive income 

(c) comprehensive income for the period being the total profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income. 

 Either in the statement of comprehensive income or in the notes 

AASB7(20)  In addition to the disclosures required by AASB 101, AASB 7 lists further items that must be 
disclosed either in the statement of comprehensive income or in the notes, where applicable. 
They are: 

(a) net gains or net losses on: 

(i) financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, showing 
separately those on financial assets or financial liabilities designated as such upon 
initial recognition, and those on financial assets or financial liabilities that are classified 
as held for trading in accordance with AASB 139 

(ii) available-for-sale financial assets, showing separately the amount of gain or loss 
recognised in other comprehensive income during the period and the amount removed 
from equity and recognised in profit or loss for the period 

(iii) held to maturity investments 

(iv) loans and receivables, and 

(v) financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 

(b) total interest income and total interest expense (calculated using the effective interest 
method) for financial assets or financial liabilities that are not at fair value through profit 
or loss 

 (c) fee income and expense (other than amounts included in determining the effective interest 
rate) arising from: 

(i) financial assets or financial liabilities that are not at fair value through profit or loss, and 

(ii) trust and other fiduciary activities that result in the holding or investing of assets on 
behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans, and other institutions. 

(d) interest income on impaired financial assets accrued in accordance with paragraph AG93 
of AASB 139, and 

(e) the amount of any impairment loss for each class of financial instrument. 

AASB101(97)  When items of income and expense are material, their nature and amount must be disclosed 
separately either in the statement of comprehensive income or in the notes. 

AASB101(82A)  The statement of comprehensive income (other comprehensive income section of the single 
statement) shall present line items for amounts of other comprehensive income in the period, 
classified by nature (including the entity’s share of the other comprehensive income of equity-
accounted associates and joint ventures).  
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AASB 101 (81A) VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust has no components of ‘other comprehensive income’. However, 
to reflect the requirements above, an additional line item has been included with a nil balance. 

 Classification of expenses 

AASB101(99), (100)  An entity may classify expenses based on either the nature of expenses or their function, 
whichever provides information that is reliable and more relevant. An investment fund will 
typically classify its expenses by nature as it is more relevant. Entities are encouraged, but not 
required, to present the analysis of expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. 

AASB101(29-31) 
 

 Regardless of whether expenses are classified by nature or by function, materiality applies to 
the classification of expenses. Each material class should be separately disclosed and 
unclassified expenses (shown as ‘other expenses’) should be immaterial both individually and 
in aggregate.  

 Additional line items 

AASB101(85)  Additional line items, headings and subtotals shall be presented in the statement of 
comprehensive income and the income statement (where applicable) when such presentation 
is relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial performance. For example, a sub-total of 
operating profit (revenue from sales less cost of sales) should be included where expenses 
have been classified by function. 

Framework(QC4),(QC12) 
AASB-CF2013-1 

 However, additional sub-headings should be used with care. The Framework for the 
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements states that to be useful, information must 
be relevant and faithfully represent what it purports to represent. That is, it must be complete, 
neutral and free from error. The apparent flexibility in AASB 101 can, therefore, only be used to 
enhance users’ understanding of the company’s financial performance. It cannot be used to 
detract from the amounts that must be disclosed under Australian Accounting Standards 
(statutory measures). 

ASIC-RG230(28)-(30) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CA295(3)(c) 
CA298(1A) 

 ASIC Regulatory Guide 230 Disclosing non-IFRS financial information explains when and how 
entities may use non-IFRS financial information in financial reports. Non-IFRS financial 
information is financial information that is presented other than in accordance with all relevant 
accounting standards. It may exclude certain transactions or may have been determined by 
applying different recognition and measurement rules. Since the Corporations Act 2001 sets 
out an exhaustive list of what can be included in the primary financial statements, entities 
cannot include non-IFRS financial information in their financial statements and can only provide 
such information in the notes in the rare circumstances where it is necessary for the financial 
report to give a true and fair view. In these cases, the directors must explain in the directors’ 
report why they believe the additional information was necessary to give a true and fair view 
and specify where that additional information can be found (see commentary within the 
directors’ report for further information). 

  Amendments made to AASB 101 in January 2015 clarify that additional subtotals must: 

(a) be comprised of items that are recognised and measured in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards 

(b) be presented and labelled such that they are clear and understandable 

(c) be consistent from period to period 

(d) not be displayed with more prominence than the mandatory subtotals and totals. 

The amendments apply to annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2017. 

 

 In addition, we recommend that entities consider the following principles: 

(a) The subtotals should not introduce bias or overcrowd the statement of profit or loss. 

(b) It is generally not permissible to mix natural and functional classifications of expenses 
where these categories of expenses overlap (see paragraph 30 below). 

(c) Additional line items or columns should contain only contain revenue or expenses of the 
entity itself. 

(d) Additional line items, columns and subtotals should only be presented when they are used 
internally to manage the business. 

(e) The overall message of the statement of profit or loss should not be distorted or confused. 
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ASIC-RG230(29) 

 

 In relation to the inclusion of sub-totals and additional line items in the statement of 
comprehensive income, the guide reminds entities of the following principles in AASB 101: 

(a) a breakdown of individual items within their relevant category is permitted and even 
required in certain circumstances, but this doesn’t cover the inclusion of sub-totals that are 
non-IFRS measures (e.g. alternative profit figures). 

(b) the statement of comprehensive income must show total revenue and total income tax 
expense/benefit.  

(c) no items of income or expenditure can be presented as ‘extraordinary’, even if they are 
given a different name. 

(d) the statement of comprehensive income can only include revenue or expense items and 
items of other comprehensive income and the items must be measured in accordance with 
the accounting standards. It is therefore not appropriate, for example, to present an 
amount of revenue that is based on cash collections. 

 Operating profit 

IAS 1 (BC56)  An entity may elect to include a sub-total for its result from operating activities. While this is 
permitted, care must be taken that the amount disclosed is representative of activities that 
would normally be considered to be ‘operating’. Items that are clearly of an operating nature, 
e.g. a substantial fair value loss or impairment of receivables, must not be excluded simply 
because they occur infrequently or are unusual in amount. Similarly, expenses cannot be 
excluded on the grounds that they do not involve cash flows (e.g. amortisation). As a general 
rule, operating profit would be the subtotal after ‘other expenses’, i.e. excluding finance costs, 
share of profits of equity-accounted investments. 

 Re-ordering of line items 

AASB101(86)  Entities should re-order the line items and descriptions of those items where this is necessary 
to explain the elements of performance. However, entities are again governed by the overall 
requirement for a ‘fair presentation’ and should make any changes where there is a good 
reason to do so. 

 Extraordinary items not permitted 

AASB101(87)  An entity shall not present any items of income and expense as extraordinary items, either in 
the statement of comprehensive income or in the notes. 

 Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

UIG1031(6),(7)  UIG 1031 Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST) provides that revenues and 
expenses must be recognised net of the amount of GST, except where GST relating to 
expense items is not recoverable from the taxation authority, when it must be recognised as 
part of the item of expense. PwC recommends that entities not able to recover GST relating to 
particular expense items should include a policy note indicating which expense items disclosed 
in the financial statements are inclusive of non-recoverable GST. They could also amend the 
wording of specific disclosures (e.g. auditor’s remuneration) to make it clear that the amounts 
disclosed are inclusive of non-recoverable GST. 

 Set-off of income and expenses 

AASB101(32)  Income and expenses shall not be offset unless required or permitted by an Australian 
Accounting Standard. 

AASB101(35) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AASB139(46) 

 Examples of income and expense that are required or permitted to be offset, as applicable to 
investment funds, are gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions reported on 
a net basis, for example, foreign exchange gains and losses or gains and losses arising on 
financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss. However, an entity presents such 
gains and losses separately if material. 

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 

 After initial recognition, an entity shall measure financial instruments, including derivatives, at 
their fair values, without any deduction for transaction costs it may incur on sale or other 
disposal except for the following financial assets: 

(a) loans and receivables which shall be measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method 

(b) held-to-maturity investments which shall be measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method, and 
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 (c) investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active 
market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, and derivatives that are linked to 
such investments must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, which 
shall be measured at cost. 

  The accounting for financial instruments may change for certain funds if AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments is applicable.  

AASB139(55)  A gain or loss on a financial asset or financial liability classified as at fair value through profit or 
loss shall be recognised in profit or loss. Although not a requirement, the realised and 
unrealised portions of this item may be disclosed in the notes to the accounts as this provides 
useful information to users of the financial statements. 

AASB121(52)  An entity shall disclose the amount of foreign exchange differences recognised in profit or loss 
except for those arising on financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss in 
accordance with AASB 139. Accordingly, the entity need not isolate that portion of the results of 
operations resulting from changes in foreign exchange rates on trading securities from the 
fluctuations arising from changes in market prices of securities held. Such fluctuations are 
included within the gain or loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

 Interest income and expense 

AASB7(20)(b)  An entity shall disclose total interest income and interest expense (calculated using the 
effective interest method) for financial assets and financial liabilities that are not classified as at 
fair value through profit or loss. 

 Transaction costs 
AASB139 (43)  The initial measurement of financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss shall not 

include directly attributable transaction costs (e.g. fees and commissions paid to agents). Such 
transaction costs should be expensed as incurred. They should be separately disclosed, if they 
are material. In the case of a financial instrument not held at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial 
instruments should be included in the cost. 

 Withholding taxes 
AASB112(2),(77)  Dividends are recognised gross of any withholding taxes payable. Consideration should be 

given to the presentation of withholding taxes as a separate line item on the statement of 
comprehensive income, if material. 

 VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust does not recognise income tax expense as taxes are levied on 
unitholders. For investment companies, it is arguable that withholding taxes are within the 
scope of AASB 112 and therefore should be shown as part of the income tax expense.  

 Finance costs 
AASB101(82)(b)  Where unitholders’ funds are classified as a liability, the finance costs presented in the 

statement of comprehensive income include distributions to the unitholders during the period as 
well as changes in net assets attributable to unitholders (being the undistributed profit of the 
entity).  

 Changes in accounting estimates 
AASB108(36),(37)  The effect of a change in an accounting estimate shall be recognised prospectively by including 

it in profit or loss in the period of the change, if the change affects that period only, or the period 
of the change and future periods, if the change affects both. To the extent that a change in an 
accounting estimate gives rise to changes in assets and liabilities, or relates to an item of 
equity, it shall be recognised by adjusting the carrying amount of the related asset, liability or 
equity item in the period of the change. 

AASB108(39)  An entity shall disclose the nature and amount of a change in an accounting estimate that has 
an effect in the current period or is expected to have an effect in future periods, except for the 
disclosure of the effect on future periods when it is impracticable to estimate that effect. 

Refer to VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings Limited financial reporting 2017 publication, page 144 
for an example disclosure and further guidance. 
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 12BBalance sheet1-36   
   As at 
  

Notes

30 June 
2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

 Assets8-11 
AASB101(54)(i) Cash and cash equivalents12-15 13 3,620 1,325
 Margin accounts16 1,420 2,223
 Due from brokers - receivable for securities sold 24 1,962 984
AASB101(54)(h) Receivables 251 128
 Other assets 246 320
AASB101(54)(d) Financial assets held at fair value through profit  

or loss17-21 7 117,520 90,716
 Total assets 125,019 95,696
     

 Liabilities8-11  
AASB101(54)(k) Payables 76 68
 Due to brokers - payable for securities purchased 24 817 2,597
 Other liabilities 256 144
AASB101(54)(m) Financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or 

loss17-19,21 8 12,215 9,738
 Total liabilities (30 June 2017: excluding net assets 

attributable to unitholders) 13,364 12,547
   
New illustration Net assets attributable to unitholders – Liability*7,25-30  11 - 83,149
 Net assets attributable to unitholders – Equity* 11 111,655 -
     

 * Net assets attributable to unitholders are classified as equity at 30 June 2018 and as a financial 
liability at 30 June 2017.  Refer to note 1 for further detail. 
 

Not mandatory The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
  

 
Balance sheet  

  

 Requirements for the presentation of the balance sheet 

AASB101(Aus1.1) 
AASB101(10) 

 Requirements for the presentation of the balance sheet are set out in AASB 101 Presentation 
of Financial Statements. The standard applies to each entity which is required to prepare 
financial statements in accordance with Part 2M.3 of the Corporations Act 2001, general 
purpose financial statements of each reporting entity, and to financial statements that are, or 
are held out to be, general purpose financial statements. 

While the standard now refers to the balance sheet as ‘statement of financial position’, entities 
are permitted to retain the previous title of ‘balance sheet’.   

 Information to be disclosed 

 In the balance sheet 

AASB101(54)(55)  Paragraph 54 of AASB 101 sets out the line items that shall as a minimum be presented in the 
balance sheet. Additional line items, headings and subtotals shall be presented in the balance 
sheet when such presentation is relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial position. 
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AASB101(54)  As a minimum, the balance sheet shall typically include line items that present the following 
amounts (not all being applicable to a typical investment fund): 

(a) investment property 

(b) financial assets (excluding amounts shown under separate lines) 

(c) trade and other receivables 

(d) cash and cash equivalents 

(e) the total of assets classified as held for sale and assets included in disposal groups 
classified as held for sale in accordance with AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations 

(f) trade and other payables 

(g) provisions 

(h) financial liabilities (excluding amounts shown under separate lines) 

(i) liabilities and assets for current tax, as defined in AASB 112 Income Taxes 

(j) deferred tax assets and liabilities, as defined in AASB 112 

(k) liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale in accordance with AASB 5 

(l) non-controlling interest, and 

(m) issued capital, reserves and retained earnings attributable to owners of the parent. 

AASB101(77)(78)  An entity shall disclose, either in the balance sheet or in the notes, further sub-classifications of 
the line items presented, classified in a manner appropriate to the entity’s operations. The detail 
provided in sub-classifications depends on the requirements of Australian Accounting 
Standards and on the size, nature and function of the amounts involved. The balance sheet of 
VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust shows an immaterial amount of ‘other assets’ and ‘other 
liabilities’. However, if these were material, further details should be disclosed either in the 
balance sheet or in the notes.  

 Either in the balance sheet or in the notes 

AASB7(8)  The carrying amounts of each of the following categories shall be disclosed either on the face 
of the balance sheet or in the notes: 

(a) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, showing separately: 

(i) those designated as such upon initial recognition, and 

(ii) those classified as held for trading 

(b) held to maturity investments 

(c) loans and receivables 

(d) available-for-sale financial assets 

(e) financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, showing separately: 

(i) those designated as such upon initial recognition, and 

(ii) those classified as held for trading 

(f) financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 

  In addition to the above disclosures, AASB 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures provides 
further guidance on the disclosures that shall be included for assets and liabilities, as set out in 
the commentary to note 3 to the financial statements. 

 Net assets attributable to unitholders 

AASB101(80)  For the period ended 30 June 2017, VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust’s units were not classified 
as equity and paragraph 80 of AASB 101 only applies to equity interests. As the Corporations 
Act 2001 section 300(13)(c)(d)(e) requires the Directors’ report to disclose the movement in 
units, we have illustrated this disclosure in the Unitholders section to the financial statements 
(note 11) and referred to this disclosure in the directors’ report.  

Effective from 1 July 2017, the Fund's units have been reclassified from financial liability to 
equity. Refer note 1 and note 11 for further detail. 

 Current/non-current vs liquidity presentation 

AASB101(60)  An entity shall present current and non-current assets, and current and non-current liabilities, 
as separate classifications in its balance sheet except when a presentation based on liquidity 
provides information that is reliable and is more relevant. When the exception applies, all 
assets and liabilities should be presented broadly in order of liquidity. 
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AASB101(60)(61)(63)  An investment fund typically groups assets and liabilities by nature and presents them in 
decreasing order of liquidity, which may equate broadly to their maturities. This presentation 
is more relevant than distinguishing between current and non-current items as most assets 
and liabilities can be realised or settled in the near future.  

AASB101(61)  Whichever method of presentation is adopted, an entity shall disclose the amount expected to 
be recovered or settled after more than twelve months for each asset and liability line item that 
combines amounts expected to be recovered or settled: no more than twelve months after the 
reporting period and more than twelve months after the reporting period. 

  VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust expects that all asset and liability amounts will be recovered or 
settled no more than twelve months after the reporting period, except for financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss and net assets attributable to unitholders.  

In the case of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, the Fund will manage the 
portfolio of assets based on the economic circumstances at any given point in time, as well as 
to meet any liquidity requirements. As such, it is expected that a portion of the portfolio will be 
realised within 12 months, however, an estimate of that amount cannot be determined as at 
balance date.  

In the case of net assets attributable to unitholders, the units are redeemed on demand at the 
unitholder’s option. However, holders of these instruments typically retain them for the medium 
to long term. As such, the amount expected to be settled within 12 months cannot be reliably 
determined. This fact is explained in the basis of preparation note disclosure. 

 Cash and cash equivalents  

AASB107(6)  Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, demand deposits and other short-term 
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

AASB107(7)  Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than 
for investment or other purposes. Investments normally only qualify as cash equivalents if they 
have a short maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition.  

  Equity instruments can only be included if they are in substance cash equivalents, eg preferred 
shares with fixed redemption dates that are acquired within a short period of their maturity. 

  An investment in a cash management trust may meet the definition of a cash equivalent for 
statement of cash flow purposes where all investments held in the cash management trust 
qualify individually as cash and cash equivalents. 
However, ordinarily a cash management trust would not meet the above definition and could 
not be a cash equivalent and would typically be held at fair value through profit or loss. 

 Margin accounts 

AASB107(7)  Margin accounts represent restricted margin deposits for derivative financial instruments and/or 
for securities sold short. Only non-restricted margin accounts with short maturities should be 
included as part of cash and cash equivalents.  

 Financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

AASB139(9)  A financial asset or financial liability at fair value through profit or loss is a financial asset or 
financial liability that meets either of the following conditions:  

(a) it is classified as held for trading (as defined in the standard) 
(b) upon initial recognition it is designated by the entity as at fair value through profit or loss. 

An entity may use this designation only when permitted by the standard or when doing 
so results in more relevant information, because it either: 

(i) eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency 
that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains 
and losses on them on different bases, or 

(ii) a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both is managed and its performance 
is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management 
or investment strategy, and information is provided internally on that basis to the 
entity’s key management personnel. 

  An investment fund will typically designate its financial assets or financial liabilities as at fair 
value through profit or loss (with the exception of net assets attributable to unitholders and 
derivative financial instruments, see paragraph 21 and ‘Net assets attributable to unitholders’ 
section below) as they are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis. In 
addition it will reduce any measurement or recognition inconsistencies that would otherwise 
result by recognising the investments as one of the other categories available in AASB 139.  
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AASB139(9)(45)  An entity with redeemable units is unlikely to be able to classify any financial assets as held 
to maturity, as calls for redemption of units could compromise any ability to hold the securities 
to maturity. 

 Financial assets – reclassification 

AASB139(50) 

 

 

 

 

 

AASB139(50E) 

 Entities are only permitted to reclassify financial assets from one category to another in limited 
circumstances. For example: 

(a) Non-derivative financial assets (other than those designated at fair value through profit or 
loss by the entity upon initial recognition) can only be reclassified out of the fair value 
through profit or loss category in particular circumstances. 

(b) A financial asset that would have met the definition of loans and receivables (had it not 
been designated as available for sale) can be transferred from the available-for-sale 
category to the loans and receivables category, if the entity has the intention and ability to 
hold that financial asset for the foreseeable future. 

VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust has not reclassified any financial assets. It is expected that few 
investment funds would reclassify financial assets since most classify non-derivative financial 
instruments as designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. 

 Derivative financial instruments 

AASB139(9)(45)  Derivative financial instruments are categorised as held for trading within the financial asset or 
financial liability at fair value through profit or loss category. These illustrative financial 
statements do not contemplate the designation of derivatives as hedges in a hedging 
relationship. 

 Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability 

AASB132(42)  Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
Specific disclosures apply to financial assets and liabilities which are offset in the balance sheet 
(or could be potentially offset) to recognise the net exposure (when financial instruments are 
subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreements). Please see note 
4 to the financial statements for further information.  

AASB132(43)  In other circumstances, financial assets and financial liabilities are presented separately from 
each other. 

  Amounts due from/to brokers represent receivables for securities sold and payables for 
securities purchased that have been contracted for but that have not yet settled at year end. In 
certain circumstances a netting arrangement may exist with brokers to allow the netting of 
unsettled trades. 

 Net assets attributable to unitholders 

AASB132(16)  AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation defines a liability as a contractual obligation to 
deliver cash or another financial asset. If no contractual obligation to deliver cash or another 
financial asset exists, the financial instrument is classified as equity. The rules regarding 
puttables in AASB 132 may also impact on classification as equity. Refer to commentary within 
note 11 for further information on the puttables guidance. 

AASB132(18)  The substance of a financial instrument, rather than its legal form governs its classification on 
the entity’s balance sheet.  

AASB132(11)(19) 

 

 VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust has only one class of units. These are redeemable at the option 
of the unitholder. However, applications and redemptions may be suspended by the 
responsible entity if it is in the best interests of the unitholders. Until 30 June 2017, VALUE 
ACCOUNTS Unit Trust had a contractual obligation to distribute its distributable income in 
accordance with the Fund’s constitution. As a consequence, the net assets attributable to 
unitholders were classified as a financial liability in the prior period. However, effective from 1 
July 2017, the Fund's units have been reclassified to equity as a result of the Fund's election 
into AMIT. Refer to notes 1 and 11 for further detail. 

  The financial liability was recorded at the amount expected to be delivered in cash. For an 
investment fund this is measured with reference to the total number of units on issue at the 
redemption price at the end of each reporting period. This amount may differ from the result 
obtained by deducting liabilities, excluding net assets attributable to unitholders, from total 
assets. 
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  Where the changes in the valuation difference are material, this may further warrant separate 
disclosure either in the statement of profit or loss or in the notes. 

  It may also be appropriate to include the following additional disclosure in the accounting policy 
note on net assets attributable to unitholders (where classified as liability): 

“Because the Fund's redemption unit price is based on different valuation principles to those 
applied in the financial statements, a valuation difference exists, which has been treated as a 
separate component of net assets attributable to unitholders. Changes in the value are taken to 
profit or loss as they arise.” 

 Distributions payable 

  VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust is required to distribute its distributable income, in accordance 
with the Fund’s constitution. The financial statements illustrate a situation where distributable 
income was fully paid during the year, resulting in no distributions payable at the end of the 
reporting period. In the event that distributable income was not fully distributed, the Fund would 
disclose ‘Distributions payable’ in the balance sheet. 

 Equity reserves 

  Although not depicted for VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust, there may be circumstances where 
an investment fund must recognise changes in the fair value of its financial assets and liabilities 
through other comprehensive income rather than in profit or loss. Those changes are 
accumulated in equity reserves. Examples of equity reserves are foreign currency translation 
reserves, asset revaluation reserves, available for sale reserves and cash flow hedge reserves.  

  In our view, the standards are clear that such reserves continue to be classified as equity, albeit 
units on issue may be classified as a liability. 

  A movement in such a reserve is indicative of a change in the value of net assets that are 
attributable to unitholders. In other words, a movement in such a reserve results in a change in 
the value of the financial liability that is ‘Net assets attributable to unitholders’. AASB 139 
requires changes in the value of such a financial liability to be recognised as finance costs in 
profit or loss. This means that the statement of comprehensive income would show an amount 
of profit or loss and an offsetting amount of other comprehensive income. Total comprehensive 
income would, however, remain unchanged at nil. The statement of changes in equity would 
have to show movements in the revaluation reserve and retained earnings.  

  This can be relatively complicated accounting. In situations where investment funds have units 
classified as a liability with reserves which must be classified as equity, we recommend that 
management consult with their PwC representative. 

 Three balance sheets required in certain circumstances 

AASB101(40A),(40B) 

 

 If an entity has applied an accounting policy retrospectively, restated items retrospectively or 
reclassified items in its financial statements, it must provide a third balance sheet (statement of 
financial position) as at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented.  
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13BStatement of changes in equity1-6   

   Year ended 
  

Notes

30 June 
2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

New illustration Total equity at the beginning of the financial year - -
AASB101(80)(A) Reclassification due to AMIT tax regime implementation* 11 83,149 -
   
AASB101(106)(a) Comprehensive income for the year  
AASB101(106)(d)(i) Profit/(loss) for the year 11,235 -
AASB101(106)(d)(ii) Other comprehensive income - -
AASB101(106)(a) Total comprehensive income for the year 11,235 -
   
AASB101(106)(d)(iii) Transactions with unitholders  
AASB101(106)(d)(iii) Applications 26,991 -
AASB101(106)(d)(iii) Redemptions (9,670) -
AASB101(106)(d)(iii) Return of capital - -
AASB101(106)(d)(iii) Units issued upon reinvestment of distributions - -
AASB101(106)(d)(iii) Distributions paid and payable (50) -
 Total transactions with unitholders 17,271 -
   
 Total equity at the end of the financial year* 111,655 -
  
 * Effective from 1 July 2017, the Fund's units have been reclassified from financial liability to equity. 

Refer note 1 and note 11 for further detail. As a result, equity transactions, including distributions have 
been disclosed in the above statement for the year ended 30 June 2018. 

  
Not mandatory The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
  

 
Statement of changes in equity  

  

 Requirements for the presentation of a statement of changes in equity 

AASB101(Aus1.1) 

 

 Requirements for the presentation of a statement of changes in equity are set out in AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements. The standard applies to each entity which is required to 
prepare financial statements in accordance with Part 2M.3 of the Corporations Act 2001, 
general purpose financial statements of each reporting entity, and to financial statements that 
are, or are held out to be, general purpose financial statements. 

  A statement of changes in equity must be included in the financial statements even if there is 
no equity. Preferably, the statement should include the minimum line items that are required to 
be presented under AASB 101, with zero amounts for the current and comparative period. 
However, it may also be acceptable to replace the individual line items with an explanation that 
there was no equity during the current and previous financial years, provided this explanation is 
given under the heading of ‘statement of changes in equity’ and is presented as part of the 
financial statements, before the notes to the financial statements. 

 Information to be disclosed 

 In the statement 

AASB101(106) 

 

AASB101(106)(a) 

 

AASB101(106)(b) 

 
 
 
AASB101(106)(d)(i-iii) 

 An entity shall present a statement of changes in equity showing in the statement: 

(a) total comprehensive income for the period showing separately the total amounts 
attributable to owners of the parent and to non-controlling interest 

(b) for each component of equity, the effects of retrospective application or retrospective 
restatement recognised in accordance with AASB 108 Accounting Policies, changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors 

(c) for each component of equity, a reconciliation between the carrying amount at the 
beginning and the end of the period, separately disclosing changes from: 

(i) profit or loss 

(ii) other comprehensive income, and 
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 (iii) transactions with owners in their capacity as owners, showing separately contributions 
by and distributions to owners and changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries that 
do not result in the loss of control. 

  The Fund does not distinguish between different components of equity and hence only one 
column is presented in the statement of changes in equity.  However, a statement of changes in 
equity will need to present separate columns for separate equity items where applicable. Refer 
to VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings annual financial reporting December 2017 publication page 61 
for illustration and further information. 

 Reclassification of net assets attributable to unitholders from liabilities to equity 

AASB132(16A)  As at 30 June 2017, net assets attributable to unitholders were classified as a financial liability.  
Effective from 1 July 2017, the Fund’s units have been reclassified from financial liability to 
equity as they satisfied the following criteria in paragraph 16A of AASB 132 Financial 
instruments: Presentation: 

 the puttable financial instrument entitles the holder to a pro-rata share of net assets in the 
event of the Fund’s liquidation 

 the puttable financial instrument is in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other 
classes of instruments and class features are identical  

 the puttable financial instrument does not include any contractual obligations to deliver cash or
another financial asset, or to exchange financial instruments with another entity under 
potentially unfavourable conditions to the Fund, and it is not a contract settled in the Fund’s 
own equity instruments; and 

 the total expected cash flows attributable to the puttable financial instrument over the life are 
based substantially on the profit or loss. 

Refer to commentary within note 11 of this publication for further information.  

AASB101(80)(A)  Where the Fund changed its constitution and the other conditions to adopt the AMIT tax regime 
have been met during the year (rather than from 1 July 2017), the amount reclassified to equity 
will reflect the net assets attributable to unitholders on the day before the change become 
effective. As a consequence, application, redemptions, return of capital, units issued upon 
reinvestment of distributions and distributions paid and payable presented in the statement of 
changes in equity will only include transactions that occurred on or after the reclassification of 
units to equity. 
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14BStatement of cash flows1-20   

   Year ended 
  

Notes

30 June 
2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

AASB107(10)(21) Cash flows from operating activities11-13  
AASB107(15) Proceeds from sale of financial instruments held at fair value 

through profit or loss 9,223 7,188
AASB107(15) Purchase of financial instruments held at fair value through 

profit or loss (28,125) (16,337)
AASB107(31) Dividends received 2,935 664
AASB107(31) Interest received 781 482
AASB107(31) Distributions received 711 50
 Other income received 952 17
 Responsible entity's fees paid (633) (620)
 Payment of other expenses  (795) (346)

 Net cash outflow from operating activities 14(a) (14,951) (8,902)
  

AASB107(10)(21) Cash flows from financing activities17  
AASB107(17) Proceeds from applications by unitholders 26,991 12,902
AASB107(17) Payments for redemptions by unitholders (9,670) (2,165)
AASB107(17)(34) Distributions paid from operating activities (50) (1,000)
 Net cash inflow from financing activities 17,271 9,737
  

 Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,320 835
  

 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,325 481
  

AASB107(28) Effects of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash 
and cash equivalents18 (25) 9

 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4-8 13 3,620 1,325
     

AASB107(43) Non-cash financing activities19 14(b)
Not mandatory The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
  

 
Statement of cash flows  

  

 Requirements for the presentation of a statement of cash flows 

AASB101(10)(d)  AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements requires that the financial statements include a 
statement of cash flows. 

AASB107(Aus 1.1)  Requirements for the presentation of a statement of cash flows are set out in AASB 107 
Statement of Cash Flows. The standard applies to each entity which is required to prepare 
financial statements in accordance with Part 2M.3 of the Corporations Act 2001, general 
purpose financial statements of each reporting entity, and to financial statements that are, or 
are held out to be, general purpose financial statements. 

 Information to be disclosed  

AASB107(10)  The statement of cash flows shall report cash flows during the period classified by operating, 
investing and financing activities. 

 Cash and cash equivalents 

AASB107(45)  An entity shall disclose the components of cash and cash equivalents and shall present a 
reconciliation of the amounts in its statement of cash flows with the equivalent items reported in 
the balance sheet.  
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AASB107(46)  In view of the variety of cash management practices and banking arrangements between 
entities, financial statements should disclose the policy being adopted in determining the 
composition of cash and cash equivalents. 

AASB107(7)  In accordance with AASB 107, cash equivalents within the statement of cash flows can include 
short term maturing assets (three months or less) from the date of acquisition, provided they 
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. 

  Under Australian Accounting Standards, an investment in a cash management trust may meet 
the definition of a cash equivalent for statement of cash flows purposes (see the commentary 
on the Balance Sheet for further information). However, normally these would be disclosed as 
held at fair value through profit or loss.  

AASB107(8)  Bank borrowings are generally considered to be financing activities. However, bank overdrafts 
which are repayable on demand may form part of an entity’s cash management for unsettled 
trades or unsettled unit transactions. In these circumstances, bank overdrafts are included as a 
component of cash and cash equivalents (for statement of cash flows purposes). A 
characteristic of such arrangements is that the bank balance often fluctuates from being 
positive to overdrawn. For balance sheet presentation purposes it is appropriate to include an 
overdraft as a liability. 

 Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

UIG1031(10)(11)  UIG 1031 Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST) provides that cash flows shall be 
included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except that the GST relating to cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority shall be classified as operating cash flows. 

 Reporting cash flows  

 On a net basis 

AASB107(22) 

 

 

AASB107(23) 

 

 

AASB 107(24) 

 Cash flows arising from the following operating, investing or financing activities may be reported 
on a net basis: 

(a) cash receipts and payments on behalf of customers when the cash flows reflect the 
activities of the customer rather than those of the entity (e.g. funds held for customers by 
an investment entity); and 

(b) cash receipt and payments for items in which the turnover is quick, the amounts are large, 
and the maturities are short (e.g. the purchase and sale of investments). 

 Operating activities 

AASB107(18)  An entity shall report cash flows from operating activities using either: 

(a) the direct method, whereby major classes of gross cash receipts and gross cash payments 
are disclosed, or  

(b) the indirect method, whereby profit or loss is adjusted for the effects of transactions of a 
non-cash nature, any deferrals or accruals of past or future operating cash receipts or 
payments, and items of income or expense associated with investing or financing cash 
flows.  

AASB107(19)  However, AASB 107 encourages entities to use the direct method, as it provides information 
which may be useful in estimating future cash flows and which is not available under the 
indirect method. VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust therefore uses the direct method. 

AASB107(15)  An investment fund typically holds securities for dealing or trading purposes, which is the main 
income generating activity. Accordingly, cash flows arising from the purchase and sale of 
financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss are classified as operating 
activities.  

 Interest and dividends/distributions 

AASB107(31)  Cash flows from interest and dividends received and paid shall each be disclosed separately. 
Each shall be classified in a consistent manner from period to period as either operating, 
investing or financing activities. 

AASB107(33)  Interest paid and interest and dividends received are usually classified as operating cash flows 
for a financial institution. However, there is no consensus on the classification of these cash 
flows for other entities. Interest paid and interest and dividends received may be classified as 
operating cash flows because they enter into the determination of net profit or loss. 
Alternatively, interest paid and interest and dividends received may be classified as financing 
cash flows and investing cash flows respectively, because they are costs of obtaining financial 
resources or returns on investments. 
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AASB107(34)  Dividends or distributions paid may be classified as a financing cash flow because they are a 
cost of obtaining financial resources. Alternatively, they may be classified as operating cash 
flows to assist users to determine the ability of an entity to pay dividends or distributions out of 
operating cash flows. 

 Financing activities 

AASB107(17)  Cash flows arising from financing activities are cash flows to and from providers of capital (i.e. 
the unitholders).  

 Effects of exchange rate changes 

AASB107(28)  Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in foreign currency exchange rates are not 
cash flows. However, the effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents held 
or due in a foreign currency is reported in the statement of cash flows in order to reconcile cash 
and cash equivalents at the beginning and the end of the period. This amount is presented 
separately from cash flows from operating and financing activities and includes the differences, 
if any, had those cash flows been reported at end of period exchange rates. 

 Non-cash investing and financing transactions 

AASB107(43)  Investing and financing transactions that do not require the use of cash or cash equivalents 
should be excluded from a statement of cash flows. Such transactions should be disclosed 
elsewhere in the financial statements in a way that provides all the relevant information about 
these investing and financing activities. This is illustrated in note 14 to the financial statements. 

 Where no cash flows 

  A statement of cash flows must be included in the financial statements even if there are no 
cash flows (and no cash or cash equivalent balances). Preferably, the statement should include 
the minimum line items that are required to be presented under AASB 107 Statement of Cash 
Flows, with zero amounts for the current and comparative period. However, it may also be 
acceptable to replace the individual line items with an explanation that there were no cash flows 
during the current and previous financial years, provided this explanation is given under the 
heading of ‘statement of cash flows’ and is presented as part of the financial statements, before 
the notes to the financial statements. 
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Contents of the notes to the financial statements  

  

 Content 

AASB101(112)  The notes to the financial statements of an entity shall: 

(a) present information about the basis of preparation of the financial statements and the 
specific accounting policies used in accordance with paragraphs 117 - 124 of AASB 101 

(b) disclose the information required by Australian Accounting Standards that is not presented 
elsewhere in the financial statements, and 

(c) provide information that is not presented elsewhere in the financial statements, but is 
relevant to an understanding of them. 

 Systematic structure 

AASB101(113)  Notes shall, as far as practicable, be presented in a systematic manner, keeping in mind the 
understandability and comparability of the financial statements. Each item in the balance sheet, 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 
flows shall be cross referenced to any related information in the notes. 

AASB101(114)  Examples of systematic ordering of notes include: 

(a) giving prominence to the areas of the entity’s activities that are most relevant to an 
understanding of the financial performance and financial position, for example by grouping 
together information about particular operating activities  

(b) grouping together information about items that are measured similarly, for example assets 
measured at fair value, or  

(c) following the order of the line items in the financial statements, by disclosing  

(i) a statement of compliance with Australian Accounting Standards (refer to paragraph 
16 of AASB 101)  

(ii) a summary of significant accounting policies applied (paragraph 117 of AASB 101)  

(iii) supporting information for items presented in the balance sheet, statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows, 
in the order in which each statement and each line item is presented, and 

(iv) other disclosures, including: 

 contingent liabilities (AASB 137) and unrecognised contractual commitments, 
and 

 non-financial disclosures; for example, the entity’s financial risk management 
objectives and policies (AASB 7).  

AASB101(116)  Notes providing information about the basis of preparation of the financial statements and 
specific accounting policies may be presented as a separate component of the financial 
statements. 

AASB101(115) 

 

 

 

 

 

AASB101R(114) 

AASB2015-2(13) 

 Most financial reports currently use the above structure without considering whether a different 
structure could provide more relevant information and be more user-friendly. However, financial 
report preparers increasingly consider annual reports to be an important tool in the 
communication with stakeholders and not just a mere compliance exercise. As a consequence, 
there is a growing interest in alternative formats of the financial statements. 

 This trend is supported by the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative. As part of this project, the AASB 
made narrow-scope amendments to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements in 
January 2015. These provide preparers with more flexibility in presenting the information in 
their financial reports. Amongst others, the AASB has amended paragraph 114 of AASB 101, to 
clarify that the order shown in that paragraph is not a requirement but only one that is 
commonly used. Instead, entities should consider the effect on both understandability and 
comparability when determining the order of the notes to the financial statements. 

  In our illustrative Investment Fund financial report, we have presented information about 
specific aspects of the entity’s financial position and performance together. For example, 
information about the entity’s financial instruments and the entity’s management of financial 
risks is dealt with in notes 3 to 10 while information about unitholders and cash flow information 
is presented in notes 11 to 12 and notes 13 to 14 respectively. Colour coding helps to find 
relevant information quickly. 
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Contents of the notes to the financial statements  

  

 It is important to note that the structure used in this publication is not mandatory and is only one 
possible example of improved readability. In fact, our experience has shown that there is not 
one structure that is suitable for all entities. Rather, the appropriate structure depends on the 
entity’s business and each entity should consider what would be most useful and relevant for 
their stakeholders based on their individual circumstances.   

AASB101R(30A) 

AASB2015-2(13) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 When drafting the disclosures in the notes to the financial statements, also remember that too 
much immaterial information could obscure the information that is actually useful to readers. 
Some of the disclosures in this publication would likely be immaterial if VALUE ACCOUNTS 
Unit Trust was a ‘real life’ entity. The purpose of this publication is to provide a broad selection 
of illustrative disclosures which cover most common scenarios encountered in practice. The 
underlying story of the unit trust only provides the framework for these disclosures and the 
amounts disclosed are not always realistic. Disclosures should not be included where they are 
not relevant or not material in specific circumstances. 
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AASB101(138) 15B1 General information1-2 
AASB101(51)(b) 
AASB101(138(d) 

These financial statements cover VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust (the ‘Fund’) as an individual entity. 
The Fund was constituted on 1 July 1998. The Fund will terminate on 30 June 2078 unless terminated 
earlier in accordance with the provisions of the Fund Constitution. 

AASB101(138)(a) 
AASB101(51)(d) 

The responsible entity of the Fund is VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds Limited (the ‘responsible 
entity’). The responsible entity’s registered office is 350 Harbour Street, Sydney, NSW 2000. The 
financial statements are presented in the Australian currency. 

AASB101(138)(b) The Fund aims to generate significant medium-term capital growth within a rigorous risk management 
framework, in accordance with the objectives stated in the Product Disclosure Statement. It aims to 
achieve these objectives by trading a highly diversified portfolio of equity securities of Australian 
companies included in the ASX 300 index, equity securities listed on international exchanges, debt 
securities, related derivatives, and unlisted unit trusts. 

AASB110(17) 
 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors of the responsible entity on 14 
September 2018. The directors of the responsible entity have the power to amend and reissue the 
financial statements2. 

 
New Illustration   Reclassification of units from financial liability to equity  

 
On 5 May 2016, a new tax regime applying to Managed Investment Trusts (‘MITs’) was established 
under the Tax Laws Amendment (New Tax System for Managed Investment Trusts) Act 2016. The 
Attribution Managed Investment Trust (‘AMIT’) regime allows MITs that meet certain requirements to 
make an irrevocable choice to be an AMIT. In order to allow the Fund to elect into the AMIT tax regime, 
the Fund's constitution has been amended and the other conditions to adopt the AMIT tax regime have 
been met effective 1 July 2017. The responsible entity is therefore no longer contractually obligated to 
pay distributions. Consequently the units in the Fund have been reclassified from a financial liability to 
equity on 1 July 2017, see note 11 for further information. 

  

 General information  
  

 General information disclosures 
AASB 101(138)  An entity shall disclose the following, if not disclosed elsewhere in information published with 

the financial statements: 
(a) the domicile and legal form of the entity, its country of incorporation and the address of its 

registered office (or principal place of business, if different from the registered office) 
(b) a description of the nature of the entity’s operations and its principal activities 
(c) the name of the parent, responsible entity and the ultimate parent of the group, and 
(d) if it is a limited life entity, information regarding the length of its life. 

 Date of authorisation for issue 
AASB 110(17),(18)  An entity shall disclose the date when the financial statements were authorised for issue and 

who gave that authorisation. If the entity’s owners or others have the power to amend the 
financial statements after issue, the entity shall disclose that fact. It is important for users to 
know when the financial statements were authorised for issue, because the financial 
statements do not reflect events after this date. 

  

 
AASB101(10)(e) 16B2 Summary of significant accounting policies1-41 
AASB101(112)(a), (112)(b) The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 

below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated in 
the following text. 

AASB101(119) 

(a) Basis of preparation1 
AASB1054(7)-(9) These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Accounting Standards Board and the 
Corporations Act 2001 in Australia. VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust is a for-profit unit trust for the 
purpose of preparing the financial statements. 

AASB101(117)(a) The financial statements are prepared on the basis of fair value measurement of assets and liabilities 
except where otherwise stated. 

AASB101(60)-(61) The balance sheet is presented on a liquidity basis. Assets and liabilities are presented in decreasing 
order of liquidity and do not distinguish between current and non-current. All balances are expected to 
be recovered or settled within twelve months, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss and net assets attributable to unitholders. 
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 The Fund manages financial assets at fair value through profit or loss based on the economic 
circumstances at any given point in time, as well as to meet any liquidity requirements. As such, it is 
expected that a portion of the portfolio will be realised within 12 months, however, an estimate of that 
amount cannot be determined as at balance date.  

In the case of net assets attributable to unitholders, the units are redeemed on demand at the 
unitholder’s option. However, holders of these instruments typically retain them for the medium to 
long term. As such, the amount expected to be settled within 12 months cannot be reliably 
determined.  

 (i) Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards2,3 
AASB101(16) The financial statements of the Fund also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

 (ii) New and amended standards adopted by the Fund7-15 
 

 

 

 

Revised requirement 

There are no standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that are effective for the 
first time for the financial year beginning 1 July 2017 that have a material impact on the amounts 
recognised in the prior periods or will affect the current or future periods.  
 
The amendments made by AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard - Disclosure 
Initiative: Amendments to AASB 107 require disclosure of changes in liabilities arising from financing 
activities. The relevant information is provided in note 11. 

AASB7(21)  (b) Financial instruments26-28 

AASB139(9) (i) Classification 
 The Fund's investments are classified as at fair value through profit or loss. They comprise: 

  Financial instruments held for trading 
 Derivative financial instruments such as futures, forward contracts, options and interest rate swaps are 

included under this classification. The Fund does not designate any derivatives as hedges in a hedging 
relationship. 
 
The Fund makes short sales in which a borrowed security is sold in anticipation of a decline in the 
market value of that security, or it may use short sales for various arbitrage transactions. Short sales 
are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

AASB7(B5)(a)  Financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition 
 These include financial assets that are not held for trading purposes and which may be sold. These are 

investments in exchange traded debt and equity instruments, unlisted trusts and commercial paper. 
 Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception are those that are managed 

and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with the Fund’s documented 
investment strategy. The Fund’s policy is for the responsible entity to evaluate the information about 
these financial instruments on a fair value basis together with other related financial information.  

 
(ii) Recognition/derecognition 

AASB139(14) 

 

 

 

AASB139(17,20) 

The Fund recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes party to the 
contractual agreement (trade date) and recognises changes in the fair value of the financial assets or 
financial liabilities from this date. 

Investments are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the investments have expired 
or have been transferred and the Fund has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership. 

AASB139(9),(43),(45)  (iii) Measurement 
AASB7(21) 

Financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss 30 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

At initial recognition, the Fund measures a financial asset at its fair value. Transaction costs of financial 
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in the statement of comprehensive 
income. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial 
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’ category are presented in the statement 
of comprehensive income within net gains/(losses) on financial instruments held at fair value through 
profit or loss in the period in which they arise. This also includes dividend expense on short sales of 
securities, which have been classified at fair value through profit or loss. 

AASB7(21) For further details on how the fair values of financial instruments are determined please see note 5 to 
the financial statements. 



Summary of significant accounting policies

  
 

PwC VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds 2018 48 

 

AASB139(9) 
Loans and receivables 

AASB139(46)(a) Loan assets are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently amortised using 
the effective interest rate method, less impairment losses if any. Such assets are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. 

 If evidence of impairment exists, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. 

 If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss recognised on a financial asset carried at 
amortised cost decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the 
write-down, the write-down is reversed through profit or loss. 

AASB132(42) (iv) Offsetting financial instruments 
 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there 

is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Refer to note 4 to the financial 
statements for further information.  

AASB101(119) (c) Net assets attributable to unitholders 
AASB132(18)(b), (16A) 

 

 

 

 

AASB101(136A)(c),(d) 

 

 

 

New illustration  

AASB101(80)(A) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AASB132(16)(E) 

 

Units are redeemable at the unitholders' option, however, applications and redemptions may be 
suspended by the responsible entity if it is in the best interests of the unitholders.  

The units can be put back to the Fund at any time for cash based on the redemption price, which is 
equal to a proportionate share of the Fund’s net asset value attributable to the unitholders.  
 
The units are carried at the redemption amount that is payable at balance sheet date if the holder 
exercises the right to put the unit back to the Fund. This amount represents the expected cash flows on 
redemption of these units. 
 
Units are classified as equity when they satisfy the following criteria under AASB 132 Financial 
instruments: Presentation: 
 the puttable financial instrument entitles the holder to a pro-rata share of net assets in the event of 

the Fund’s liquidation  
 the puttable financial instrument is in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes 

of instruments and class features are identical  
 the puttable financial instrument does not include any contractual obligations to deliver cash or 

another financial asset, or to exchange financial instruments with another entity under potentially 
unfavourable conditions to the Fund, and it is not a contract settled in the Fund’s own equity 
instruments; and  

 the total expected cash flows attributable to the puttable financial instrument over the life are based 
substantially on the profit or loss. 
 

As at 30 June 2017, net assets attributable to unitholders are classified as a financial liability. Effective 
from 1 July 2017, the Fund's units have been reclassified from financial liability to equity as they 
satisfied all the above criteria. 

AASB101(119) (d) Cash and cash equivalents 
AASB107(6),(8),(46) For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes 

cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short term, highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank 
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in the balance sheet. 

 Payments and receipts relating to the purchase and sale of investment securities are classified as cash 
flows from operating activities, as movements in the fair value of these securities represent the Fund's 
main income generating activity. 

 
(e) Margin accounts 

AASB101(119) Margin accounts comprise cash held as collateral for derivative transactions and short sales. The cash 
is held by the broker and is only available to meet margin calls. 

 
(f) Investment income 29 

AASB118(30)(a) 

AASB7(20(c)),(B5)(e) 

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss for all financial instruments that are held at fair value 
through profit or loss using the effective interest method. Interest income on assets held at fair value 
through profit or loss is included in the net gains/(losses) on financial instruments. Other changes in fair 
value for such instruments are recorded in accordance with the policies described in note 2(b) to the 
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financial statements. 

AASB139(9) 

AASB139(AG58) 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or 
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
throughout the expected life of the financial instrument, or a shorter period where appropriate, to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Fund 
estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, 
prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or 
received between the parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
including transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. 

AASB118(30)(c) 

 

 

 

Dividend income is recognised on the ex-dividend date with any related foreign withholding tax 
recorded as an expense. The Fund currently incurs withholding tax imposed by certain countries on 
investment income. Such income is recorded gross of withholding tax in profit or loss. 

AASB118(30)(c) Trust distributions are recognised on an entitlements basis. 

AASB101(119) (g) Expenses 
 All expenses, including responsible entity’s fees and custodian fees, are recognised in profit or loss on 

an accruals basis. 

AASB101(119) (h) Income tax 
New illustration Under current legislation, the Fund is not subject to income tax provided it attributes the entirety of its 

taxable income to its unitholders.  

AASB101(119) (i) Distributions31,32 
New illustration Distributions are payable as set out in the Fund's product disclosure statement. Such distributions are 

determined by the responsible entity of the Fund.  Distributable income includes capital gains arising 
from the disposal of financial assets and liabilities held for trading. Unrealised gains and losses on 
financial assets and liabilities held for trading that are recognised as income are transferred to net 
assets attributable to unitholders and are not assessable and distributable until realised. Capital losses 
are not distributed to unitholders but are retained to be offset against any realised capital gains. 

AASB101(119) 
(j) Increase/decrease in net assets attributable to unitholders 

 Income not distributed is included in net assets attributable to unitholder. Where the Fund’s units are 
classified as liabilities, movements in net assets attributable to unitholders are recognised in profit or 
loss as finance costs. 

AASB101(119) (k) Foreign currency translation 
AASB121(9),(17),(18) 

(i) Functional and presentation currency 
 Items included in the Fund’s financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary 

economic environment in which it operates (the ‘functional currency’). This is the Australian dollar, 
which reflects the currency of the economy in which the Fund competes for funds and is regulated. The 
Australian dollar is also the Fund’s presentation currency. 

AASB121(21),(28),(32) 
(ii) Transactions and balances 

 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translations at year end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. 

AASB121(23)(c) Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and 
liabilities carried at fair value are reported in the statement of comprehensive income on a net basis 
within net gains/ (losses) on financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss.  

 
AASB101(119) (l) Due from/to brokers 
AASB7(21) 

AASB139(59) 

Amounts due from/to brokers represent receivables for securities sold and payables for securities 
purchased that have been contracted for but not yet delivered by the end of the year. Trades are 
recorded on trade date, and for equities normally settled within three business days. A provision for 
impairment of amounts due from brokers is established when there is objective evidence that the Fund 
will not be able to collect all amounts due from the relevant broker. Indicators that the amount due from 
brokers is impaired include significant financial difficulties of the broker, probability that the broker will 
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and default in payments. 

AASB101(119)  (m) Receivables 
AASB7(21) Receivables may include amounts for dividends, interest and trust distributions. Dividends and trust 
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distributions are accrued when the right to receive payment is established. Interest is accrued at the 
end of each reporting period from the time of last payment in accordance with the policy set out in note 
2(f) above. Amounts are generally received within 30 days of being recorded as receivables. 

 

 

AASB139(59) 

 

 

 

 

AASB139(AG84) 

 

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be 
uncollectable are written off by reducing the carrying amount directly. An allowance account (provision 
for impairment of trade receivables) is used when there is objective evidence that the Fund will not be 
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and 
default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the 
trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short term receivables are not discounted if the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.  

AASB7(B5)(d) The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss within other expenses. When a trade 
receivable for which an impairment allowance had been recognised becomes uncollectible in a 
subsequent period, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against other expenses in profit or loss. 

AASB101(119)  (n) Payables 
 Payables include liabilities and accrued expenses owing by the Fund which are unpaid as at the end of 

the reporting period. 

 As the Fund has a contractual obligation to distribute its distributable income, a separate distribution 
payable is recognised in the balance sheet as at the end of each reporting period where this amount 
remains unpaid as at the end of the reporting period.  

AASB101(119) (o) Applications and redemptions 
 Applications received for units in the Fund are recorded net of any entry fees payable prior to the issue 

of units in the Fund. Redemptions from the Fund are recorded gross of any exit fees payable after the 
cancellation of units redeemed. 

AASB101(119) (p) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
UIG1031 The GST incurred on the costs of various services provided to the Fund by third parties such as 

custodial services and investment management fees have been passed onto the Fund. The Fund 
qualifies for Reduced Input Tax Credits (RITC) at a rate of 55% or 75%; hence investment management 
fees, custodial fees and other expenses have been recognised in profit or loss net of the amount of 
GST recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). Accounts payable are inclusive of GST. 
The net amount of GST recoverable from the ATO is included in receivables in the balance sheet. Cash 
flows relating to GST are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. 

AASB101(119) (q) Use of estimates 
AASB101(122)  The Fund makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 

within the next financial year. Estimates are continually evaluated and based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

 For the majority of the Fund’s financial instruments, quoted market prices are readily available. 
However, certain financial instruments, for example over-the-counter derivatives or unquoted securities, 
are fair valued using valuation techniques. Where valuation techniques (for example, pricing models) 
are used to determine fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by experienced 
personnel of the responsible entity, independent of the area that created them.  

 Models use observable data, to the extent practicable. However, areas such as credit risk (both own 
and counterparty), volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates. Changes in 
assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.  
For more information on how fair value is calculated please see note 5 to the financial statements. 

AASB108(30) (r) New accounting standards and interpretations35-39 
 Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 

the 30 June 2018 reporting period and have not been early adopted by the Fund. The directors’ 
assessment of the impact of these new standards (to the extent relevant to the Fund) and 
interpretations is set out below: 

Revised requirement  

AASB9 

(i) AASB 9 Financial Instruments (and applicable amendments), (effective from 1 January 2018) 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of financial 
assets and financial liabilities. It has now also introduced revised rules around hedge accounting and 
impairment. The standard is not applicable until 1 January 2018 but is available for early adoption.  
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The directors have accessed the impact of AASB 9 on the Funds financial statements. Given no 
debt instruments are held by the Fund, which could result in a reclassification of the financial 
instruments to amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVOCI’), the 
adoption of AASB 9 is not expect to have a significant impact on the recognition and measurement 
of the Fund’s financial instruments.  

The derecognition rules have not been changed from the previous requirements, and the Fund 
does not apply hedge accounting.  

   

(ii) AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, (effective from 1 January 2018)  

The AASB has issued a new standard for the recognition of revenue. This will replace AASB 118 
which covers contracts for goods and services and AASB 111 which covers construction contracts. 

The new standard is based on the principle that revenue is recognised when control of a good or 
service transfers to a customer – so the notion of control replaces the existing notion of risks and 
rewards. 

The fund's main source of income are interest, dividends and gains on financial instruments held at 
fair value. All of these are outside the scope of the new revenue standard. As consequence, the 
directors do not expect the adoption of the new revenue recognition rules to have a significant 
impact on the Fund's accounting policies or the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

 

ASIC2016/191 (s) Rounding of amounts34 

AASB101(51)(e) The Fund is an entity of the kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ 
Reports) Instrument 2016/191, relating to the 'rounding off' amounts in the financial statements. 
Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 
otherwise indicated. 
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Summary of significant accounting policies  

  

 Basis of preparation 

 

AASB1054(7), 
(RDR7.1) 

 

AASB1054(8)(a) 

 

AASB1054(8)(b) 

 

 

AASB1054(9) 

 

AASB101(16) 

 

 
AASB101(114)(a) 

 The notes to the financial statements must include the following: 

(a) where applicable – a statement of compliance with Australian Accounting Standards or 
Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements 

(b) the statutory basis or other reporting framework, if any, under which the financial 
statements are prepared 

(c) whether the entity is a for-profit or a not-for-profit entity for the purposes of preparing the 
financial statements,  

(d) whether the financial statements are general purpose financial statements or special 
purpose financial statements, and  

(e) where applicable, a statement of compliance with IFRS (refer to paragraph 16 of 
AASB 101 and commentary 2 to 3 below). 

AASB 101 no longer prescribes where in the notes these statements should be disclosed. 
PwC recommends that they are disclosed at the beginning of the accounting policy note under 
the heading ‘Basis of preparation’. 

 Statement of compliance with IFRS 

AASB101(16)  An entity whose financial statements and notes comply with IFRS shall make an explicit and 
unreserved statement of such compliance in the notes. The financial statements and notes 
shall not be described as complying with IFRS unless they comply with all the requirements 
of IFRS. 

 Where compliance with Australian Accounting Standards does not lead to compliance 
with IFRS  

AASB101(Aus 16.2), 
(Aus16.3) 
AASB1053(9) 

 In some circumstances compliance with Australian Accounting Standards will not lead to 
compliance with IFRS. These circumstances include, for example, when the entity is a for-profit 
public sector entity to which AASB 1004 Contributions applies and the entity has applied a 
requirement in that standard that overrides the requirements in an Australian equivalent 
to IFRS. Other examples are special purpose financial statements of non-reporting entities and 
financial statements prepared under tier 2 of the reduced disclosure regime, as neither of these 
will include all of the disclosures required by full IFRS. Where the financial statements do not 
comply with IFRS, the statement of compliance must be omitted. Not-for-profit entities are not 
required to make a statement of explicit and unreserved compliance with IFRS. 

 Summary of accounting policies 

 Contents 

 

 
AASB101(117)(a) 

AASB101(117)(b) 

 A summary of significant accounting policies must include: 

(a) the measurement basis (or bases) used in preparing the financial statements, and 

(b) the other accounting policies used that are relevant to an understanding of the financial 
statements. 

 Separate components of financial statements 

AASB101(116)  The summary of accounting policies may be presented as a separate component of the 
financial statements. 

 Whether to disclose an accounting policy 

AASB101(119) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AASB107(46) 

 In deciding whether a particular accounting policy should be disclosed, management considers 
whether disclosure would assist users in understanding how transactions, other events and 
conditions are reflected in the reported financial performance and financial position. Disclosure 
of particular accounting policies is especially useful to users when those policies are selected 
from alternatives allowed in Australian Accounting Standards. Some Australian Accounting 
Standards specifically require disclosure of particular accounting policies, including choices 
made by management between different policies they allow. For example, AASB 107 
Statement of Cash Flows requires disclosure of the entity’s policy in determining the 
composition of cash and cash equivalents.  
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Summary of significant accounting policies  

  
 Changes in accounting policies and presentation 

 Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard 

AASB108(28)  When initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard has an effect on the current 
period or any prior period, or would have such an effect except that it is impracticable to 
determine the amount of the adjustment, or might have an effect on future periods, an entity 
shall disclose: 

(a) the title of the Australian Accounting Standard 

(b) when applicable, that the change in accounting policy is made in accordance with its 
transitional provisions 

(c) the nature of the change in accounting policy 

(d) when applicable, a description of the transitional provisions 

(e) when applicable, the transitional provisions that might have an effect on future periods: 

(i) for the current period and each prior period presented, to the extent practicable, the 
amount of the adjustment 

(ii) the reasons why applying the new accounting policy provides reliable and more 
relevant information 

(f) for the current period and each prior period presented, to the extent practicable, the 
amount of the adjustment: 

(i) for each financial statement line item affected, and 

(ii) if AASB 133 applies to the entity, for basic and diluted earnings per share 

(g) the amount of the adjustment relating to periods before those presented, to the extent 
practicable, and 

(h) if retrospective application is impracticable for a particular prior period, or for periods before 
those presented, the circumstances that led to the existence of that condition and a 
description of how and from when the change in accounting policy has been applied. 

 Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these disclosures. 

  AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors does not 
prescribe any format for these disclosures. For an illustrative disclosure, refer to Appendix F of 
VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings Limited Annual financial reporting December 2017 publication. 

 Impact of change on the current period 

AASB108(28)(f)  AASB 108 specifically requires disclosure of the effect of a change in accounting policy not only 
on prior periods but also on the current period, unless it is impracticable to determine the 
amount of the adjustment. To make this disclosure, entities will need to apply both the old 
accounting policy and the new policies parallel in the year of adoption. The standard includes a 
definition of impracticable and a set of criteria that must be satisfied for the exemption to be 
applied, setting quite a high hurdle for using this exemption. 

AASB101(38-40), (10)(f)  When an entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective 
restatement of items in its financial statements or when it reclassifies items in its financial 
statements, it shall present, as a minimum, three balance sheets, two of each of the other 
statements, and related notes. However, where the retrospective change in policy or the 
restatement has no effect on this earliest balance sheet, it would be sufficient for the entity to 
merely disclose that fact.  

 New or revised accounting standards and interpretations only need to be disclosed if they 
resulted in a change in accounting policy which had an impact in the current year or could 
impact on future periods. There is no need to disclose pronouncements that did not have any 
impact on the entity’s accounting policies and amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
Refer to Appendix C for the list of standards and interpretations that apply for the first time to 
financial reporting periods commencing on or after 1 July 2017. 
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Summary of significant accounting policies 

  
 Voluntary change in accounting policy 

AASB108(29)  When a voluntary change in accounting policy has an effect on the current period or any prior 
period, or would have an effect on that period except that it is impracticable to determine the 
amount of the adjustment, or might have an effect on future periods, an entity shall disclose: 

(a) the nature of the change in accounting policy 

(b) the reasons why applying the new accounting policy provides reliable and more relevant 
information 

(c) for the current period and each prior period presented, to the extent practicable, the 
amount of the adjustment: 

(i) for each financial statement line item affected, and 

(ii) if AASB 133 applies to the entity, for basic and diluted earnings per share 

(d) the amount of the adjustment relating to periods before those presented, to the extent 
practicable, and 

(e) if retrospective application is impracticable for a particular prior period, or for periods before 
those presented, the circumstances that led to the existence of that condition and a 
description of how and from when the change in accounting policy has been applied. 

 AASB108(28) Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these disclosures.  

 Impact of changes on prior interim financial reports 

AASB101(112)(c)  There is no longer an explicit requirement to disclose the financial effect of a change in 
accounting policy that was made during the final interim period on prior interim financial 
statements of the current annual reporting period. However, where the impact on prior interim 
reporting periods is significant, an entity should consider explaining this fact and the financial 
effect as part of the disclosures made under paragraphs 28 and 29 of AASB 108.  

 Early adoption of accounting standards 

CA334(5)  Entities wishing to adopt an accounting standard before its mandatory operative date must 
make a formal, written election to do so in accordance with CA 334(5) and disclose that fact in 
the notes.  

  The accounting policies have been prepared on the basis that VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust 
has not early adopted any standards. The impact of standards that have not been early 
adopted is disclosed in note 2(r). Refer to Appendix C for a list of standards that were available 
for early adoption as at 31 January 2018. 

 Inappropriate accounting policies not rectified by disclosure 

AASB101(18)  Inappropriate accounting policies cannot be rectified either by disclosure of the accounting 
policies used or by notes or explanatory material. 

 Where compliance with an Australian Accounting Standard is misleading 

AASB101(23)  In the extremely rare circumstances in which management concludes that compliance with a 
requirement in an Australian Accounting Standard would be so misleading that it would conflict 
with the objective of financial statements set out in the Framework, but the relevant regulatory 
framework prohibits departure from the requirement, the entity shall, to the maximum extent 
possible, reduce the perceived misleading aspects of compliance by disclosing: 

(a) the title of the Australian Accounting Standard in question, the nature of the requirement, 
and the reason why management has concluded that complying with that requirement is so 
misleading in the circumstances that it conflicts with the objective of financial statements 
set out in the Framework 

(b) for each period presented, the adjustments to each item in the financial statements that 
management has concluded would be necessary to achieve a fair presentation. 
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Summary of significant accounting policies 

 Going concern 

AASB101(25)  When preparing financial statements, management shall make an assessment of an entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. Financial statements shall be prepared on a going 
concern basis unless management either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so. When management is aware, in making its 
assessment, of material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt upon the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, those uncertainties shall be 
disclosed. When the financial statements are not prepared on a going concern basis, that fact 
shall be disclosed, together with the basis on which the financial statements are prepared and 
the reason why the entity is not regarded as a going concern. For example, funds that will be 
terminated 12 months from balance date are required to disclose that they are prepared on a 
liquidation basis in Note 1 of the financial statements. 

 Accrual basis of accounting 

AASB101(27)  An entity shall prepare its financial statements, except for cash flow information, using the 
accrual basis of accounting. 

 

AASB10(37) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AASB10(27) 

 

 

 

 

 

AASB10(28) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AASB10(31) 

 

 

AASB10(32) 

Investment entity exception 

 AASB 10 for investment entities includes an exception to the consolidation rules for those 
entities qualifying as “investment entities”. Subsidiaries of investment entities will be accounted 
for at fair value through profit or loss, in accordance with AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement (or AASB 9 Financial Instruments, as applicable). 

 A parent entity will need to make an assessment of whether it meets the definition of an 
investment entity. An investment entity is defined as an entity that: 

(a) obtains funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those investor(s) 
with investment management services; 

(b) commits to its investor(s) that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from 
capital appreciation, investment income, or both; and 

(c) measures and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its investments on a fair 
value basis. 

 A parent entity will also need to consider a set of typical characteristics. These, combined with 
the above definition, are intended to allow for an appropriate balance between creating a clear 
scope and allowing judgment in assessing whether an entity is an investment entity. The 
characteristics are: 

(a) holding more than one investment; 

(b) having more than one investor; 

(c) having investors that are not related parties of the entity; and 

(d) having ownership interests in the form of equity or similar interests. 

 Except as noted in paragraph 24 below, an investment entity shall not consolidate its 
subsidiaries or apply business combination accounting when it obtains control of another entity. 
Instead, an investment entity shall measure an investment in a subsidiary at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

 If an investment entity has a subsidiary that is not itself an investment entity and whose main 
purpose and activities are providing services that relate to the investment entity’s investment 
activities, it shall consolidate that subsidiary in accordance with AASB10. 

 VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust does not have subsidiaries and does not apply investment 
entity accounting. An illustrative policy for an entity which applies investment entity accounting 
could be disclosed as follows: 

The Fund has multiple investments which are controlled by it. However, the Fund has 
determined that it is an investment entity under the definition in AASB 10 as it meets the 
following criteria:  

(a) the Fund has obtained funds from unitholders for the purpose of providing them with 
investment management services; 

(b) the Fund’s business purpose, which it communicated directly to unitholders, is investing 
solely for returns from capital appreciation and investment income; and 

(c) the performance of investments made by the Fund are measured and evaluated on a fair 
value basis.  

The Fund also meets all of the typical characteristics of an investment entity. As the Fund 
measures all of its controlled entities at fair value through profit or loss, it only presents 
separate financial statements. 
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 Summary of significant accounting policies 

  
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

AASB139(9)  A financial asset or financial liability at fair value through profit or loss is a financial asset or 
financial liability that meets either of the following conditions: 

(a) it is classified as held for trading. A financial asset or financial liability is classified as held 
for trading if it is: 

(i) acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near 
term  

(ii) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for 
which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking 

(iii) a derivative (except for a derivative that is a designated and effective hedging 
instrument), or 

(b) upon initial recognition it is designated by the entity as at fair value through profit or loss. 
Financial assets or financial liabilities can only be designated at fair value through profit or 
loss if the conditions in AASB 139 paragraphs 9 or 11A are satisfied. 

AASB139(9),(11A)  Financial instruments can only be designated at fair value through profit or loss if permitted 
under paragraph 11A of AASB 139 (relating to contracts that contain embedded derivatives), or 
when doing so results in more relevant information because either:  

(a) it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency 
(sometimes referred to as ‘an accounting mismatch’) that would otherwise arise from 
measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different 
bases, or  

(b) a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both is managed and its performance is 
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or 
investment strategy, and information about the group is provided internally on that basis to 
the entity’s key management personnel (as defined in AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures): for example, the entity’s board of directors and chief executive officer. 

AASB101(117) 

AASB7(B5)(a) 

 An entity which has such instruments will need to provide disclosure of the related accounting 
policy in accordance with AASB 101. AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures states that this 
policy disclosure may include:  

(a) the nature of the financial assets or financial liabilities the entity has designated as at fair 
value through profit or loss  

(b) the criteria for so designating such financial assets or financial liabilities on initial 
recognition  

(c) how the entity has satisfied the conditions for such designation, and  

(d) a narrative description of:  

(i) the circumstances underlying the measurement and recognition inconsistency that 
would otherwise arise, or  

(ii) how designation as at fair value through profit or loss is consistent with the entity’s 
documented risk management or investment strategies.  

 Investment income 

AASB7(B5)(e)  The entity should specify how net gains or net losses on each category of financial instruments 
are determined. For example, the accounting policy should explain whether the net gains or net 
losses on items at fair value through profit or loss include interest or dividend income. 

 Fair value measurement 

AASB13(9) 

 

 The standard defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date (exit price). Refer to commentary within Note 5 for further details on fair value 
measurement. 
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  Distributions payable 

  VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust illustrates a situation where there are no distributions payable at 
year-end.  

  VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust's accounting policy notes 2(h) ‘Income Tax’ and 2(i) 
‘Distributions’ in the summary of significant accounting policies section of this document reflect 
the provisions of the fund constitution which deems unitholders to be presently entitled to the 
income of the fund (the ‘present entitlement’ clause). Where a Fund Constitution does not 
contain a present entitlement clause, accounting policies relating to ‘Income Tax’ and 
‘Distributions’ should explain how the fund discharges its liability for income tax (if any) and the 
basis for recognising distributions in the financial statements. 

 Segment information 

AASB8(Aus2.1(d))  VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust is outside the scope of AASB 8 because it does not have debt 
or equity instruments traded in a public market, or file its financial statements with a securities 
commission or other regulatory organisation for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments 
in a public market. The application of AASB 8 to managed funds should be considered on an 
individual basis with reference to specific facts and circumstances.  

 Rounding of amounts 

ASIC2016/191  See Appendix A for detailed commentary on rounding of amounts in financial statements. 
The commentary covers the requirements of ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/ 
Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191 which permits entities to round off as follows, subject 
to certain conditions and exceptions: 

  Assets greater than: Round off to nearest: 

  $10 million (but less than $1,000 million) $1,000 

 $1,000 million (but less than $10,000 million) $100,000 

 $10,000 million $1,000,000 

  Rounding to lower prescribed amounts is also permissible, as explained in Appendix A. 

 Australian Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective 

AASB108(30)  When an entity has not applied a new Australian Accounting Standard that has been issued but 
is not yet effective, the entity shall disclose: 

(a) this fact, and 

(b) known or reasonably estimable information relevant to assessing the possible impact that 
application of the new Australian Accounting Standard will have on the entity’s financial 
statements in the period of initial application. 

AASB108(31)  In complying with paragraph 35 above, an entity considers disclosing: 

(a) the title of the new Australian Accounting Standard 

(b) the nature of the impending change or changes in accounting policy 

(c) the date by which application of the Standard is required 

(d) the date as at which it plans to apply the Standard initially, and 

(e) either: 

(i) a discussion of the impact that initial application of the Standard is expected to have 
on the entity’s financial statements, or 

(ii) if that impact is not known or reasonably estimable, a statement to that effect. 

  The disclosures in paragraph 35 above must be made for all pronouncements that are 
expected to have material effect on the entity in the current period and on foreseeable future 
transactions. Where a pronouncement introduces a new accounting option that was not 
previously available, the entity should explain whether and/or how it expects to use the option 
in future. 

  For a complete listing of standards and interpretations that were on issue as at 31 January 
2018 but not yet mandatory please refer to Appendix C.  For an illustrative example of required 
disclosures if AASB 9 is early adopted, please refer to Appendix E. 
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 International accounting standards issued but not yet endorsed by the AASB 

  Entities wishing to state compliance with IFRS in their note 2 will also need to consider whether 
there are any international financial reporting standards and interpretations (or amendments 
thereof) that have not yet been endorsed by the AASB at the time of the completion of their 
financial report. If there are any such standards or interpretations and they are relevant to the 
entity, their impact on the entity’s financial statements should also be discussed in note 2. 

AASB3(B64–B65) Business combinations 

  Although not illustrated in VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust, an acquirer is required to disclose 
information that enables users of its financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial 
effect of business combinations effected during the reporting period and after the end of each 
reporting period but before the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

 Specific disclosures are required by paragraph 64 of AASB 3 Business Combinations for each 
material business combination effected during the reporting period. The information required by 
that paragraph shall be disclosed in aggregate for business combinations effected during the 
reporting period that are individually immaterial. More detailed commentary and illustrative 
disclosures are provided in the financial statements of VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings Annual 
financial reporting December 2017 publication. 
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2BFinancial instruments 

 

Not mandatory This section of the notes provides detailed information regarding the Fund’s financial 
instruments. It also discusses the Fund’s exposure to various risks arising from these 
financial instruments, how they could affect the Funds’ financial position and performance 
and how the entity manages these risks.  

 

3. Financial risk management 60

4. Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 74

5. Fair value measurement 77

6. Net gains/(losses) on financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss 88

7. Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss 89

8. Financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss 90

9. Derivative financial instruments 95

10. Structured entities 97
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17B3 Financial risk management1-39

AASB7(31),(32),(33) The Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including price risk, currency 
risk, and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.  

The Fund’s overall risk management programme focuses on ensuring compliance with the Fund’s 
Product Disclosure Statement. It also seeks to maximise the returns derived for the level of risk to which 
the Fund is exposed and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Fund’s financial 
performance. The Fund’s policy allows it to use derivative financial instruments to both moderate and 
create certain risk exposures.  

All securities investments present a risk of loss of capital. The maximum loss of capital on long equity 
and debt securities is limited to the fair value of those positions. On equities sold short, the maximum 
loss of capital can be unlimited. The maximum loss of capital on long futures and forward currency 
contracts is limited to the notional contract values of those positions. 

The management of these risks is carried out by the investment manager under policies approved by 
the Board of Directors of the responsible entity. The Board provides written principles for overall risk 
management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest 
rate risk, credit risk, the use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments 
and the investment of excess liquidity. 

AASB7(33) 

 

The Fund uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These 
methods are explained below.   

 
(a) Market risk6-10 

 
(i) Price Risk 

AASB7(33)(a),(b) 

 

The Fund is exposed to equity securities and derivative price risk. This arises from investments held by 
the Fund for which prices in the future are uncertain. Where non-monetary financial instruments are 
denominated in currencies other than the Australian dollar, the price in the future will also fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Paragraph (ii) below sets out how this component of 
price risk is managed and measured. 

The responsible entity mitigates price risk through diversification and a careful selection of securities and 
other financial instruments within specified limits set by the Board. Between 70% and 120% of the net 
assets attributable to unitholders are invested in equity securities and related derivatives.  

The majority of the Fund’s equity investments are publicly traded and are included in the ASX 200 Index, 
the NYSE International 100 Index or the FTSEurofirst 300 index. Compliance with the Fund’s Product 
Disclosure Statement and the Fund’s tracking error with reference to the MSCI World Index, which is the 
Fund’s target benchmark, is reported to the Board on a monthly basis. 

The Fund’s policy also limits individual equity securities to no more than 5% of net assets attributable to 
unitholders. The Fund had no concentrations in individual equity positions exceeding 3% (2017: 4%) of 
the net assets attributable to unitholders at 30 June 2018. 

AASB7(34) 

 

At 30 June, the fair value of equities and related derivatives exposed to price risk were as follows: 

  30 June 30 June
  2018 2017
  $’000 $’000
 Derivatives held for trading 700 600
 Equity securities designated at fair value through profit or loss 73,662 56,888
 Unlisted unit trusts designated at fair value through profit or loss 21,876 16,942
 Derivatives liabilities held for trading (705) (318)
 Listed equity securities sold short (11,100) (9,200)
 Total 84,868 65,392 
    

 At 30 June, the Fund’s overall exposure to price risk including the notional exposure on derivative 
contracts were as follows: 

  30 June 30 June
  2018 2017
  $’000 $’000
 Net equity securities 89,198 67,456
 Net notional exposure from futures contracts 22,000 16,250
 Total exposure to price risk from equities and equity related 

derivatives 111,198 100,706 
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 The below table is a summary of derivatives held which give rise to price risk:  

  30 June 30 June 
  2018 2017 
 Derivative type Contract 

Value 
Fair Value Contract Value Fair Value

 Futures     
 ASX 200  

NYSE International 100 Index 
FTSEurofirst 300 index 

15,000 
5,000 
2,000 

(2) 
(2) 
(1) 

11,080 
7,554 
5,151 

131 
90 
61 

 Total 22,000 (5) 16,250 282
 

The Fund also manages its exposure to price risk by analysing the investment portfolio by industrial 
sector and benchmarking the sector weighting to that of the MSCI World Index. The Fund’s policy is to 
concentrate the investment portfolio in sectors where management believe the Fund can maximise the 
returns derived for the level of risk to which the Fund is exposed. The table below is a summary of the 
significant sector concentrations within the equity portfolio, net of securities sold short. 
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AASB7(34)(B8)  30 June 2018 30 June 2017 
 Fund’s 

equity 
portfolio

MSCI 
benchmark 

allocation

Fund’s 
equity 

portfolio 

MSCI 
benchmark 

allocation
  (%) (%) (%) (%)
 Sector  
 Telecommunications services 2.9 3.1 1.9 3.6
 Materials 1.9 3.6 2.1 3.3
 Utilities 2.1 3.7 3.1 3.6
 Consumer discretionary 9.9 8.4 10.2 8.5
 Industrials 13.2 11.4 10.5 11.5
 Consumer staples  9.8 11.6 11.5 10.2
 Health care  12.8 12.9 11.2 12.0
 Energy  14.1 13.8 14.2 12.9
 Financial services  18.2 14.4 18.1 17.6
 Information technology  15.1 17.1 17.2 16.8
 Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0
      

AASB7(35) During the year ended 30 June 2018, the Fund’s exposure to various industry sectors was significantly 
different to the exposure as at 30 June 2017. Specifically, the Fund’s exposure to the financial services 
sector during the year averaged 18.2% (versus the MSCI average of 16.9%) of the Fund’s equity 
portfolio. The Fund moved to an overweight position in the financial services sector at 30 June 2018 
which was at the expense primarily of the ‘consumer staples’ and ‘information technology’ sectors 
which, while being in an overweight position during most of the period, moved to an underweight 
position at 30 June 2018.  

AASB7(33) The table in note 3(b) summarises the impact of an increase/decrease of the MSCI World Index on the 
Fund’s net assets attributable to unitholders. The analysis is based on the assumptions that the index 
increased by 7.5% (2017: 7.5%) and decreased by 15% (2017: 15%) with all other variables held 
constant and that the fair value of the Fund’s portfolio of equity securities and derivatives moved 
according to the historical correlation with the index. This represents management’s best estimate of a 
reasonable possible shift in the MSCI World Index, having regard to the historical volatility of the index. 
The impact mainly arises from the reasonably possible change in the fair value of listed equities, 
unlisted unit trusts and equity derivatives. 

AASB7(40) The investment manager uses the MSCI World Index as a reference point in making investment 
decisions. However, the investment manager does not manage the Fund’s investment strategy to track 
the MSCI World Index or any other index or external benchmark. The sensitivity analysis presented is 
based upon the portfolio composition as at 30 June and the historical correlation of the securities 
comprising the portfolio to the MSCI World Index. The composition of the Fund’s investment portfolio 
and the correlation thereof to the MSCI World Index, is expected to change over time. The sensitivity 
analysis prepared as of 30 June is not necessarily indicative of the effect on the Fund’s net assets 
attributable to unitholders of future movements in the level of the MSCI World Index.  
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(ii) Foreign exchange risk 25-28 

AASB7(33)(a)(b) The Fund operates internationally and holds both monetary and non-monetary assets denominated in 
currencies other than the Australian dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises as the value of monetary 
securities denominated in other currencies will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates. The foreign 
exchange risk relating to non-monetary assets and liabilities is a component of price risk not foreign 
exchange risk. However, management monitors the exposure on all foreign currency denominated 
assets and liabilities.  The table below distinguishes between monetary and non-monetary items to 
satisfy the requirements in AASB 7. 

AASB7(34)   

The Fund’s policy is to economically hedge up to 95% of the direct foreign currency exposure on both 
monetary and non-monetary financial assets and liabilities. However, for accounting purposes, the Fund 
does not designate any derivatives in a hedging accounting relationship, and hence these derivative 
financial instruments are classified as at fair value through profit or loss.  

When the investment manager formulates a view on the future direction of foreign exchange rates and 
the potential impact on the Fund, the investment manager factors that into its portfolio allocation 
decisions. While the Fund has direct exposure to foreign exchange rate changes on the price of non-
Australian dollar-denominated securities, it may also be indirectly affected by the impact of foreign 
exchange rate changes on the earnings of certain companies in which the Fund invests, even if those 
companies’ securities are denominated in Australian dollars. For that reason, the sensitivity analysis 
below may not necessarily indicate the total effect on the Fund’s net assets attributable to unitholders of 
future movements in foreign exchange rates. 

Compliance with the Fund’s policy is reported to the Board on a monthly basis. 

The table below summarises the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities, monetary and non-monetary, 
which are denominated in a currency other than the Australian dollar. 

  30 June 2018 30 June 2017 
  US Dollars Euro US Dollars Euro
 A$’000 A$’000 A$’000 A$’000
 Monetary   
 Cash and cash equivalents 77 - 60 -
 Margin accounts 212 130 190 126
 Non-monetary   
 Due from brokers - receivable for securities 

sold 220 224 100 224
 Financial assets held at fair value through 

profit or loss 20,988 8,524 7,389 15,605
 Due to brokers - payable for securities 

purchased - (167) (90) (150)
 Financial liabilities held at fair value through 

profit or loss (2,000) (1,010) (1,015) (905)
  19,497 7,701 6,634 14,900
 Net increase/(decrease) in exposure from 

foreign currency forward contracts   
 - Buy foreign currency 9,000 - 5,000 14,000
 - Sell foreign currency  (18,000) - (10,000) (28,000)
  10,497 7,701 1,634 900
  

AASB7(33)(b) In accordance with the Fund’s policy, the investment manager monitors the Fund’s foreign exchange 
exposure on a daily basis, and the Board of Directors of the responsible entity reviews it on a quarterly 
basis.  

AASB7(33) The table within note 3(b) summarises the sensitivities of the Fund’s monetary assets and liabilities to 
foreign exchange risk. The analysis is based on the assumption that the Australian dollar weakened and 
strengthened by 10% (2017: 10%) against the US dollar and weakened and strengthened by 10% 
(2017: 10%) against the Euro, being the material foreign currencies to which the Fund is exposed. 28 

This represents management’s best estimate of a reasonably possible shift in the foreign exchange 
rates, having regard to historical volatility of those rates. This increase or decrease in the net assets 
attributable to unitholders arises mainly from a change in the fair value of US dollar equity and debt 
securities and Euro equities that are classified as financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss. 
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(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 6,30 

AASB7(33)(a)(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AASB7(34) 

The Fund is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk on financial instruments with variable interest rates. 
Financial instruments with fixed rates expose the Fund to fair value interest rate risk. 

The Fund’s interest bearing financial assets expose it to risks associated with the effects of fluctuations 
in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows. The risk is 
measured using sensitivity analysis.  

The Fund’s policy is to hold between 10% and 20% of the net assets attributable to unitholders invested 
in debt securities. Compliance with the Fund’s policy is reported to the Board on a monthly basis. The 
Fund may also enter into derivative financial instruments to mitigate the risk of future interest rate 
changes. At year end, the Fund held International interest rate futures, as disclosed in note 9 to the 
financial statements. 

The Fund has direct exposure to interest rate changes on the valuation and cash flows of its interest 
bearing assets and liabilities. However, it may also be indirectly affected by the impact of interest rate 
changes on the earnings of certain companies in which the Fund invests and impact on the valuation of 
certain assets that use interest rates as an input in their valuation model. Therefore, the sensitivity 
analysis within note 3(b) may not fully indicate the total effect on the Fund’s net assets attributable to 
unitholders of future movements in interest rates. 

The table below summarises the Fund’s exposure to interest rate risk.  

 30 June 2018      
  

Floating 
interest rate

$’000

Fixed 
interest 

rate 
$’000 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

$’000 
Total
$’000

 Financial assets   
 Cash and cash equivalents 3,620 - - 3,620
 Margin accounts  1,420 - - 1,420
 Receivables - - 251 251
 Due from brokers – receivable 

for securities sold  - - 1,962 1,962
 Financial assets held at fair 

value through profit or loss - 20,382 97,138 117,520
    
 Financial liabilities   
 Payables  - - (76) (76)
 Due to brokers – payable for 

securities purchased  - - (817) (817)
 Financial liabilities held at fair 

value through profit or loss  - - (12,215) (12,215)
  5,040 20,382 86,243 111,665
 Net increase/(decrease) in 

exposure from interest rate 
futures (notional principal) (1,500) 1,500 - -

 Net exposure 3,540 21,882 86,243 111,665
  
 30 June 2017      
  Floating 

interest
rate

$’000

Fixed 
interest rate 

$’000 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

$’000 
Total
$’000

 Financial Assets   
 Cash and cash equivalents 1,325 - - 1,325
 Margin accounts  2,223 - - 2,223
 Receivables - - 128 128
 Due from brokers – receivable 

for securities sold  - - 984 984
 Financial assets held at fair 

value through profit or loss - 15,286 75,430 90,716
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 Financial liabilities   
 Payables  - - (68) (68)
 Due to brokers – payable for 

securities purchased  - - (2,597) (2,597)
 Financial liabilities held at fair 

value through profit or loss  - - (9,738) (9,738)
  3,548 15,286 64,139 82,973
 Net increase/(decrease) in 

exposure from interest rate 
futures (notional principal) (1,200) 1,200 - -

 Net exposure 2,348 16,486 64,139 82,973
  
AASB7(33) The table in section 3(b) summarises the impact of an increase/decrease of interest rates on the Fund’s 

operating profit and net assets attributable to unitholders through changes in fair value or changes in 
future cash flows. The analysis is based on the assumption that interest rates changed by +/- 75 basis 
points (2017: +/- 75 basis points) from the year end rates with all other variables held constant. The 
impact mainly arises from changes in the fair value of debt securities. 

 
(b) Summarised sensitivity analysis23,24 

AASB7(40) The following table summarises the sensitivity of the Fund’s operating profit and net assets attributable 
to unitholders to interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and price risk. The reasonably possible 
movements in the risk variables have been determined based on management’s best estimate, having 
regard to a number of factors, including historical levels of changes in interest rates and foreign 
exchange rates, historical correlation of the Fund’s investments with the relevant benchmark and 
market volatility. However, actual movements in the risk variables may be greater or less than 
anticipated due to a number of factors, including unusually large market movements resulting from 
changes in the performance of and/or correlation between the performances of the economies, markets 
and securities in which the Fund invests. As a result, historic variations in risk variables should not be 
used to predict future variations in the risk variables.  

  Price risk Interest rate risk Foreign exchange risk 
  Impact on operating profit/Net assets attributable to unitholders 
  -15% 

(MSCI 
Index) 

+15%
(MSCI 
Index) +75bps -75bps

-10%
USD

+10% 
USD 

-10%
Euro

+10%
Euro

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 30 June 2018 (12,666) 12,666 (125) 126 331 (331) (19) 19
 30 June 2017 (9,695) 9,695 (97) 97 36 (36) 1,380 1,380

 
 In determining the impact of an increase/decrease in net assets attributable to unitholders arising from 

market risk, the responsible entity has considered prior period and expected future movements of the 
portfolio information in order to determine a reasonably possible shift in assumptions. 

 
(c) Credit risk6,11,12 

AASB7(36)(a),(b) 

AASB7(34)(c) 

The Fund is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in 
full when they fall due, causing a financial loss to the Fund. 

The main concentration of credit risk, to which the Fund is exposed, arises from the Fund’s investment 
in debt securities. The Fund is also exposed to counterparty credit risk on derivative financial 
instruments, cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from brokers and other receivables. 

In accordance with the Fund’s policy, the investment manager monitors the Fund’s credit position on a 
daily basis and the Board of Directors reviews it on a quarterly basis. 

 
(i) Debt securities 

 The Fund invests in debt securities which have an investment grade categorisation as rated by XYZ 
Rating Agency Limited. For unrated assets a rating is assigned by the responsible entity using an 
approach that is consistent with the approach used by rating agencies. All debt securities must have an 
investment rating of BBB or higher as determined by the XYZ Rating Agency Limited. An analysis of 
debt by rating is set out in the following table. 
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Australian debt securities 

30 June 
2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

 Rating  
 AAA 9,836 6,833
 AA 3,184 1,534
 A 1,789 1,689
 BBB 395 845
 Total  15,204 10,901
    
 

International debt securities 

30 June 
2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

 Rating  
 AAA 4,524 3,825
 AA 654 560
 Total  5,178 4,385
 

 
 

(ii)  Derivative financial instruments 
AASB7(36) For derivative financial instruments, the responsible entity has established limits such that, at any time, 

less than 10% of the fair value of favourable contracts outstanding are with any individual counterparty 
and all contracts are with counterparties included in the Board’s Approved Counterparties list.  
The Fund also restricts its exposure to credit losses on the trading of derivative instruments it holds by 
entering into master netting arrangements with counterparties (approved brokers) with whom it 
undertakes a significant volume of transactions. Master netting arrangements do not result in an offset 
of balance sheet assets and liabilities, as transactions are usually settled on a gross basis. However, 
the credit risk associated with favourable contracts is reduced by master netting arrangement to the 
extent that if an event of default occurs, all amounts with the counterparty are closed and settled on the 
net basis. The Fund’s overall exposure to credit risk on derivative instruments subject to a master 
netting arrangement can change substantially within a short period, as it is affected by each transaction 
subject to the arrangements. Refer to note 4 to the financial statements for further analysis of the 
Fund’s master netting arrangements.  

 

(iii)  Settlement of securities transactions 
AASB7(36) All transactions in listed securities are settled/paid for upon delivery using approved brokers. The risk of 

default is considered low, as delivery of securities sold is only made once the broker has received 
payment. Payment is made once purchase on the securities have been received by the broker. The 
trade will fail if either party fails to meet its obligations. 

 

(iv)  Cash and cash equivalents 
AASB7(36) The exposure to credit risk for cash and cash equivalents is low as all counterparties have a rating of 

AA (as determined by the XYZ Rating Agency Limited) or higher.  
 

(v)  Other 
 The Fund is not materially exposed to credit risk on other financial assets. 
AASB7(36) 
 

The clearing and depository operations for the Fund’s security transactions are mainly concentrated 
with one counterparty, namely Custodian Limited. Custodian Limited is a member of a major securities 
exchange, and at 30 June 2018 had a credit rating of AA (2017: AA). At 30 June 2018, substantially all 
cash and cash equivalents, balances due from broker and investments are held in custody by 
Custodian Limited. 

 

(vi)  Maximum exposure to credit risk 
 The maximum exposure to credit risk before any credit enhancements at the end of each reporting 

period is the carrying amount of the financial assets. None of these assets are impaired nor past due 
but not impaired. 

 

(d) Liquidity risk13-15 
AASB7(33),(39) Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may not be able to generate sufficient cash resources to settle its 

obligations in full as they fall due or can only do so on terms that are materially disadvantageous. 
The Fund is exposed to daily cash redemptions of its units and daily margin calls on derivatives. Its 
policy is therefore to primarily hold investments that are traded in an active market and can be readily 
disposed. Only a limited proportion of its assets are held in investments not actively traded on a stock 
exchange. 
The majority of the Fund’s listed securities are considered readily realisable, as they are listed on the 
Australian Stock Exchange, the New York Stock Exchange or the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.  
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 The Fund may periodically invest in derivative contracts traded over the counter and unlisted equity 
investments that are not traded in an active market. As a result, the Fund may not be able to quickly 
liquidate its investments in these instruments at an amount close to their fair value to meet its liquidity 
requirements or to respond to specific events such as deterioration in the creditworthiness of any 
particular issuer or counterparty. No over-the-counter derivative contracts were held at year end. 
The Fund’s policy is to hold at least 60% of the net assets attributable to unitholders in liquid 
investments. The investment manager monitors liquidity on a daily basis.  
In order to manage the Fund’s overall liquidity, the responsible entity has the discretion to reject an 
application for units and to defer or adjust redemption of units if the exercise of such discretion is in 
the best interests of unitholders. The Fund did not reject or withhold any redemptions during 2018 
and 2017. 
Compliance with the Fund’s policy is reported to the Board on a monthly basis. 

 

(i) Maturities of non-derivative financial liabilities16-21 
AASB7(39), B11 The table below analyses the Fund’s non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings 

based on the remaining period at balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts in 
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Units are redeemed on demand at the 
unitholder’s option. However, the Board of Directors does not envisage that the contractual maturity 
disclosed in the table below will be representative of the actual cash outflows, as holders of these 
instruments typically retain them for the medium to long term.  

 At 30 June 2018     
  Less than 

1 month
$’000

1-6 months 
$’000 

6-12 months 
$’000 

1-2 years
$’000

 Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss 11,100 - - -

 Due to brokers 507 310 - -
 Payables - 70 - 6
 Net assets attributable to unitholders  111,655 - - -

 Contractual cash flows 
(excluding derivatives) 123,262 380 - 6

 
     

 At 30 June 2017     
  Less than 

1 month
$’000

1-6 months 
$’000 

6-12 months 
$’000 

1-2 years
$’000

 Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss 9,200 - - -

 Due to brokers 2,549 48 - -
 Payables 50 15 - 3
 Net assets attributable to unitholders  83,149 - - -
 Contractual cash flows 

(excluding derivatives) 94,948 63 - 3
  
AASB7(39)(b), B11 

(ii) Maturities of net settled derivative financial instruments  
AASB7(39)(b) The table below analyses the Fund’s net settled derivative financial instruments based on their 

contractual maturity. The Fund may, at its discretion, settle financial instruments prior to their original 
contractual settlement date, in accordance with its investment strategy, where permitted by the terms 
and conditions of the relevant instruments.  

  

 At 30 June 2018     
 Less than 

1 month
$’000

1-6 months
$’000

6-12 
months 

$’000 
1-2 years

$’000
 Net settled derivatives  
 Australian Share Price Index - (135) (225) -
   
 At 30 June 2017  
  Less than 1 month

$’000
1-6 months

$’000
6-12 months 

$’000 
1-2 years

$’000
 Net settled derivatives  
 Australian Share Price Index (53) (10) - -
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(iii) Maturities of gross settled derivative financial instruments  

 The table below analyses the Fund’s gross settled derivative financial instruments based on their 
contractual maturity. The Fund may, at its discretion, settle financial instruments prior to their original 
contractual settlement date, in accordance with its investment strategy, where permitted by the terms 
and conditions of the relevant instruments. 

 At 30 June 2018      
  Less than 

1 month
$’000

1-6 months
$’000

6-12 
months

$’000
1-2 years 

$’000 
Total 
$’000

 Foreign currency forward 
contracts  

 

 Inflows 7,000 1,500 500 - 9,000
 (Outflows)  (6,745) (1,080) (330) - (8,155)
 International interest rate 

futures  
 

 Inflows 900 600 - - 1,500
 (Outflows)  (1,113) (742) - - (1,855)
 

 

 At 30 June 2017      
  Less than 

1 month
$’000

1-6 months
$’000

6-12
months

$’000
1-2 years 

$’000 
Total 
$’000

 Foreign currency forward 
contracts  

 

 Inflows 3,000 1,000 - - 4,000
 (Outflows)  (2,250) (750) - - (3,000)
 International interest rate 

futures  
 

 Inflows 900 300 - - 1,200
 (Outflows)  (1,065) (355) - - (1,420)
 

 
Financial risk management  

  

 Accounting standard for presentation and disclosure of financial instruments 

AASB7(3)  AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures is applicable to all reporting entities and to all types 
of financial instruments except: 

(a) those interests in subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures that are accounted for under 
AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements; AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements or 
AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. However, in some cases, AASB 
10, AASB 127 or AASB 128 require or permit an entity to account for an interest in a 
subsidiary, associate or joint venture using AASB 9.  In those cases, entities shall apply the 
requirements of AASB 7 and, for those measured at fair value, the requirements of AASB 
13 Fair Value Measurement. Entities shall also apply this Standard to all derivatives linked 
to interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures unless the derivative meets the 
definition of an equity instrument in AASB 132 

(b) employers’ rights and obligations under employee benefit plans, to which AASB 119 
Employee Benefits applies 

(c) insurance contracts as defined in AASB 4 Insurance Contracts. However, AASB 7 applies 
to derivatives that are embedded in insurance contracts if AASB 139 requires the entity to 
account for them separately. It also applies to financial guarantee contracts if the issuer 
applies AASB 139 in recognising and measuring the contracts, but not if the issuer elects 
to apply AASB 1023 General Insurance Contracts (must provide disclosures under 
AASB 1023 instead) 
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 (d) financial instruments, contracts and obligations under share-based payment transactions to 
which AASB 2 Share-based Payment applies, except for contracts within the scope of 
paragraphs 5-7 of AASB 139 which must be disclosed under AASB 7 

(e) puttable financial instruments that are required to be classified as equity instruments in 
accordance with paragraphs 16A and 16B or 16C and 16D of AASB 132. 

AASB7(4)(5) AASB 7 applies to both recognised and unrecognised financial instruments, even if the financial 
instruments are not recognised under AASB 139. For example, some loan commitments are 
outside AASB 139’s scope but within the scope of AASB 7 because they expose an entity to 
financial risks such as credit and liquidity risk. 

AASB 132(11)  However, AASB 7 does not apply to the following items as they are not financial instruments as 
defined in paragraph 11 of AASB 132: 
(a) prepayments made/advances received (right to receive future good or service, not cash or 

a financial asset) 
(b) tax receivables and payables and similar items (statutory rights or obligations, not 

contractual), or 
(c) deferred revenue and warranty obligations (obligation to deliver good or service, not cash 

or financial asset) 
AASB7(Aus2.1) Parent entity disclosures 
  Where applicable, all disclosure requirements outlined in AASB 7 must be made for both the 

parent and consolidated entity when presenting both parent and consolidated information.  
AASB7(6),(B1)-(B3) Classes of financial instruments 
  Where AASB 7 requires disclosures by class of financial instrument, the entity shall group its 

financial instruments into classes that are appropriate to the nature of the information disclosed 
and that take into account the characteristics of those financial instruments. The entity shall 
provide sufficient information to permit reconciliation to the line items presented in the balance 
sheet. Guidance on classes of financial instruments and the level of required disclosures is 
provided in the Appendix of AASB 7. 

AASB7(34)(a) Level of detail and selection of assumptions – information through the eyes of management 
  The disclosures in relation to the financial risk management of an entity should reflect the 

information provided internally to key management personnel. As such, the disclosures that will 
be provided by an entity, their level of detail and the underlying assumptions used will vary from 
entity to entity. The disclosures in the illustrative financial statements are only one example of 
the kind of information that may be disclosed and you should consider carefully what may be 
appropriate in your individual circumstances. 

AASB7(31),(32) Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments 
  The financial statements shall include qualitative and quantitative disclosures that enable users 

to evaluate the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the entity is 
exposed at the end of each reporting period. These risks typically include, but are not limited to, 
credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. 

AASB7(33) Qualitative disclosures 
 The qualitative disclosures shall discuss for each type of risk: 

(a) the exposures to the risk and how they arise 
(b) the entity’s objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk and the methods used 

to measure the risk, and 
(c) any changes in (a) or (b) from the previous period. 

AASB7(32A)  They shall also enable users to form an overall picture of the nature and extent of risks arising 
from financial instruments by providing a link to related quantitative disclosures. 

AASB7(34)(a),(c)  An entity shall provide for each type of risk, summary quantitative data on risk exposure at the 
end of each reporting period, based on information provided internally to key management 
personnel and any concentrations of risk. This information can be presented in narrative form. 
Alternatively, entities could provide the data in a table which sets out the impact of each major 
risk on each type of financial instruments. This table can also be a useful tool for compiling the 
necessary information that must be disclosed under paragraph 34 of AASB 7. 

AASB7(34)(b)  If not already provided as part of the summary quantitative data, the entity shall also provide the 
information in paragraphs 11-34 below, unless the risk is not material. 
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AASB7(36) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Credit risk 

 For each class of financial instrument, the entity shall disclose: 

(a) the maximum exposure to credit risk (not required for instruments whose carrying amount 
best represents the maximum exposure to credit risk) 

(b) a description of collateral held as security and of other credit enhancements, and their 
financial effect, in respect of the amount that best represents the maximum exposure to 
credit risk (e.g. a quantification of the extent to which collateral and other credit 
enhancements mitigate credit risk) 

(c) information about the credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor 
impaired 

(d) an analysis of the age of financial assets that are past due but not impaired 
(e) an analysis of financial assets that are individually determined to be impaired. 

AASB7(34)(c),(B8)  Entities should also explain any concentrations of credit risk if they are not apparent from the 
other information provided. Concentrations of credit risks could arise from exposure to particular 
industry sectors or geographical region, from specific credit ratings or other measure of credit 
quality and from a limited number of individual counterparties or groups of closely related 
counterparties. 

AASB7(34)(a),(39) Liquidity risk 

 Information about liquidity risk shall be provided by way of: 

(a) a maturity analysis for non-derivative financial liabilities (including issued financial 
guarantee contracts) that shows the remaining contractual maturities 

(b) a maturity analysis for derivative financial liabilities (see ‘Maturity analysis’ section below 
for details), and 

(c) a description of how the entity manages the liquidity risk inherent in a and b. 
AASB7(B11E)  AASB 7 (B11E) requires an entity to disclose a maturity analysis of financial assets it holds for 

managing liquidity risk (for example, financial assets that are readily saleable or expected to 
generate cash inflows to meet cash outflows on financial liabilities), if that information is 
necessary to enable users of its financial statements to evaluate the nature and extent of 
liquidity risk. 

Financial institutions may use financial assets to manage their liquidity risk. In certain 
circumstances, the information is likely to be necessary to enable users of financial statements 
to evaluate the nature and extent of liquidity risk, in which case we would expect them to 
present a maturity analysis of financial assets. 

However, the disclosure requirements are not only relevant for financial institutions. Certain 
funds with significant trading activities (for example, actively managed funds) may hold financial 
assets to manage liquidity risk. Where such activities are a significant part of the entity’s 
business, they should consider including a maturity analysis for assets. 

AASB7(B11F)  In describing how liquidity risk is being managed, an entity should consider discussing  
whether it: 

(a) has committed borrowing facilities or other lines of credit that it can access to meet liquidity 
needs 

(b) holds deposits at central banks to meet liquidity needs 

(c) has very diverse funding sources 

(d) has significant concentrations of liquidity risk in either its assets or its funding sources 

(e) has internal control processes and contingency plans for managing liquidity risk 

(f) has instruments that include accelerated repayment terms (e.g. on the downgrade of the 
entity’s credit rating) 

(g) has instruments that could require the posting of collateral (e.g. margin calls for derivatives) 

(h) has instruments that allow the entity to choose whether it settles its financial liabilities by 
delivering cash (or another financial asset) or by delivering its own shares, or  

(i) has instruments that are subject to master netting agreements. 

 



Financial risk management

 

PwC VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds 2018 71 

 

 

 Financial risk management 

 Maturity analysis 
AASB7(B11B)  All financial liabilities must be included in the maturity analysis. The analysis should generally 

be based on contractual maturities. However, for derivative financial liabilities the standard 
provides entities with a choice to base the maturity grouping on expected rather than 
contractual maturities, provided the contractual maturities are not essential for an 
understanding of the timing of the cash flows. This could be the case for derivative contracts 
that are held for trading. However, for contracts such as interest rate swaps in a cash flow 
hedge of a variable rate financial asset or liability and for all loan commitments, the remaining 
contractual maturities will generally be essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash 
flows. These contracts would therefore be grouped based on their contractual maturities. 

AASB7(B11D)  The amounts disclosed should be the amounts expected to be paid in future periods, 
determined by reference to the conditions existing at the end of the reporting period. However, 
AASB 7 does not specify whether current or forward rates should be used. PwC recommends 
the use of forward rates as they are a better approximation of future cash flows. 

AASB7(B11C)(c)  The specific time buckets presented are not mandated by the standard but are based on what 
is reported internally to the key management personnel. For financial guarantee contracts, the 
maximum amount of the guarantee must be allocated to the earliest period in which the 
guarantee could be called. 

  As the amounts included in the maturity tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, 
these amounts will not reconcile to the amounts disclosed on the balance sheet, in particular 
as far as borrowings or derivative financial instruments are concerned. Entities can choose to 
add a column with the carrying amounts which ties in the balance sheet and a reconciling 
column if they so wish, but this is not mandatory. 

AASB7(B10A)  If an outflow of cash could occur either significantly earlier than indicated or be for significantly 
different amounts from those indicated in the entity’s disclosures about its exposure to liquidity 
risk, the entity shall state that fact and provide quantitative information that enables users of its 
financial statements to evaluate the extent of this risk. This disclosure is not necessary if that 
information is included in the contractual maturity analysis. 

  The net assets attributable to unitholders have been disclosed as having a maturity of less than 
one month as the Fund is subject to daily cash redemptions of its redeemable units. 

AASB107(50)(a) Financing arrangements 
 Committed borrowing facilities are a major element of liquidity management. Entities should 

therefore consider providing information about their undrawn facilities. AASB 107 Statement of 
Cash Flows also recommends disclosure of undrawn borrowing facilities that may be available 
for future operating activities and to settle capital commitments, indicating any restrictions on 
the use of these facilities. 

AASB7(40) 

AASB7(B27) 

Market risk – sensitivity analysis 
 Entities shall disclose a sensitivity analysis for each type of market risk (currency, interest rate 

and other price risk) to which an entity is exposed at the end of each reporting period, showing 
how profit or loss and equity would have been affected by ‘reasonably possible’ changes in the 
relevant risk variable, as well as the methods and assumptions used in preparing such an 
analysis. The estimation of a reasonably possible movement is subjective and must be made 
through the eyes of management. In this example, we have assumed that the impact on 
operating profit is the same as the impact on net assets attributable to unitholders on the basis 
that the impact on fair values of financial instruments are unrealised and therefore there will be 
no impact on distributable income and the quantum distributed to unitholders. Where an entity 
has many different types of financial instruments, it should consider disclosing the impact on a 
line by line basis. Where applicable, the disclosure should also distinguish between changes 
affecting profit or loss and those recognised directly in equity without going through profit 
or loss. 

  This example assumes that there has not been a change in the quantum of a reasonably 
possible change in the relevant index, the interest rate or foreign exchange rates from the 
previous period. If there have been any changes in methods and assumptions from the 
previous period, this must be disclosed together with the reasons for such a change. 

  



Financial risk management

 

PwC VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds 2018 72 

 Financial risk management 

 Foreign exchange risk 
AASB7(B23)  In accordance with paragraph B23 of AASB 7, foreign exchange risk arises on monetary items 

denominated in foreign currencies. 

 Monetary versus non-monetary assets 

The essential feature of a monetary item is a right to receive (or an obligation to deliver) a fixed 
or determinable number of units of currency. Examples include financial assets such as; cash, 
fixed income securities and receivables and financial liabilities such as debt. 

As a result of this definition, equity investments (being non-monetary items) are not treated as 
being subject to foreign currency risk. 

The risk exposure and sensitivity analysis for non-monetary assets are included in price risk. 
Equity investments such as shares and holdings in other pooled vehicles (e.g. in fund-of-fund 
arrangements) should be disclosed as part of price risk and, under the standard, do not have 
exposure to interest rate or foreign currency risk (even though there may be underlying 
economic exposure). 

However, as the AASB 7 disclosures are required to be presented based on the information 
provided to key management personnel, certain asset managers may view equity price risk and 
foreign exchange risk differently. In circumstances where management consider foreign 
currency risk to arise on equity securities and foreign currency risk is considered a component 
of price risk, it may be appropriate to present foreign currency risk on equity securities as part of 
foreign currency risk rather than price risk. The disclosures in note 3(a)(i) and (ii) have adopted 
this approach.  

AASB7(B23) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
AASB7(40)(c) 

 

 Under paragraph B23 of the appendix of AASB 7, foreign currency risk can only arise on 
financial instruments that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency in 
which they are measured. Translation related risks are therefore not included in the assessment 
of the entity’s exposure to currency risk. Translation exposures arise from financial and non-
financial items held by an entity (for example, a subsidiary) with a functional currency different 
from the fund’s presentation currency. However, foreign currency denominated inter-company 
receivables and payables which do not form part of a net investment in a foreign operation 
would be included in the sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk, because even though the 
balances eliminate in the consolidated balance sheet, the effect on profit or loss of their 
revaluation under AASB 121 is not fully eliminated.  

 The disclosures in note 3(a)(ii) assumes that there has not been a change in the quantum of a 
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates against each currency. If there have 
been any changes in methods and assumptions from the previous period, this must be 
disclosed together with the reasons for such a change. 

 
AASB7(40) 

 

Interest rate risk 

 Sensitivity to changes in interest rates is relevant to the cash flows of financial assets or 
financial liabilities bearing floating interest rates. Sensitivity will also be relevant to fixed rate 
financial assets and financial liabilities which are remeasured to fair value. 

 Foreign currency hedging 

 Where the economic exposure to currency risk has been hedged e.g. using forward foreign 
currency contracts, this creates a mismatch, as the risk exposure of the equity security is 
subject to price risk and the risk exposure of the hedge derivative is subject to foreign currency 
risk. 

This can result in presentation of financial information that shows a greater exposure to 
changes in foreign currency than is actually the case i.e. the foreign currency risk disclosure 
shows only the hedge, without the offsetting underlying exposure. 

Under such circumstances, management could consider including qualitative information as 
part of the foreign currency risk disclosures and sensitivity analysis, which explains this 
mismatch and the Fund’s net exposure to foreign currency risk. 
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 Financial risk management 

 Market risk exposures are not mutually exclusive 

 An investment fund’s financial instruments may need to be considered as subject to multiple 
market risks. For example, interest bearing securities are typically classified as subject to fair 
value or cash flow interest rate risk, however, their exposure to foreign currency should also be 
considered and, where appropriate, disclosed under foreign currency risk. 

 Market risk exposures for fund-of-fund arrangements 

 There are often different approaches to the application of AASB 7 to fund-of-fund 
arrangements. This is because AASB 7 requires disclosures based on the information provided 
to key management personnel i.e. the format will be influenced by the way in which the risks 
are managed internally. Whilst there is no explicit requirement in AASB 7 to ‘look through’ to 
underlying investment vehicles, the standard indicates that risk exposures should be presented 
consistent to the way which management manage and monitor risk exposures. The majority of 
investment funds tend to disclose their exposure to an underlying fund as solely subject to price 
risk, even if the underlying fund may have significant indirect foreign currency and interest rate 
risk exposure. However, if management ‘look through’ to the underlying funds’ exposures, for 
example, to monitor the Fund’s risks and returns when deciding which funds to invest in, the 
Fund should disclose relevant risks in a manner consistent with how they monitor them. 

 Additional information where quantitative data about risk exposure is unrepresentative 

AASB7(35) 

 
 If the quantitative data disclosed (as discussed in the above section) is unrepresentative of the 

entity’s exposure to risk during the period, the entity shall provide further information that is 
representative. If the sensitivity analyses are unrepresentative of a risk inherent in a financial 
instrument (e.g. the year-end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year), the entity 
shall disclose that fact and the reason why the sensitivity analyses are unrepresentative. Refer 
to note 3 for details. 

 Weighted average interest rates 

  The weighted average interest rate disclosures are no longer required, however some funds 
may continue to include this disclosure. 

 Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis 

  We have included sample sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk notwithstanding the Fund’s 
sensitivity to interest rates is immaterial in order to illustrate the disclosure.  

 Information duplicated in note 3 

  VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust has included information in this note for convenience 
notwithstanding some of the information is also disclosed in the accounting policies note. 
The repetition of this information is not required. 

AASB7(7),(31) Terms and conditions of financial instruments 

  Entities shall disclose sufficient information that enables users of its financial statements to 
evaluate the significance of financial instruments for its financial position and performance and 
the nature and extent of risks arising from these financial instruments. However, the intention of 
AASB 7 was to decrease the potentially voluminous disclosures that were required by AASB 
132 and replace them with shorter but more meaningful information. Under normal 
circumstances entities will therefore no longer need to disclose the significant terms and 
conditions for each of their major borrowings. Having said that, if an entity has a borrowing (or 
other financial instrument) with unusual terms and conditions, then some information should be 
provided to enable users to assess the nature and extent of risks associated with these 
instruments. 
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18B4 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities1-10 

AASB132(42) 

AASB7(13A),(13B) 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The gross and net positions of financial assets and 
liabilities that have been offset in the balance sheet are disclosed in the first three columns of the tables 
below. 

AASB7(13C) 

Financial assets 
Effects of offsetting on the 

balance sheet  Related amounts not offset 
 

 

Gross amounts 
of financial 

assets

Gross amounts 
set off in the 

balance sheet

Net amount of 
financial 

assets 
presented in 
the balance 

sheet

Amounts 
subject to 

master  
netting 

arrange- 
ments9 Net amount

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 2018  
 Derivative 

financial 
instruments (i) 1,600 - 1,600 (610) 990

 Total 1,600 - 1,600 (610) 990
  
 2017 
 Derivative 

financial 
instruments (i)  1,600 - 1,600 (538) 1,062

 Total 1,600 - 1,600 (538) 1,062
       
 Financial liabilities Effects of offsetting on the 

balance sheet 
Related amounts not offset 

 

 

Gross amounts 
of financial 

liabilities

Gross amounts 
set off in the 

balance sheet

Net amount of 
financial 
liabilities 

presented in 
the balance 

sheet

Amounts 
subject to 

master  
netting 

arrangements9 Net amount
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 2018  
 Derivative 

financial 
instruments (i) 1,115 - 1,115 (610) 505

 Total 1,115 - 1,115 (610) 505
   
 2017 
 Derivative 

financial 
instruments (i)  538 - 538 (538) -

 Total 538 - 538 (538) -
       
 

AASB7(13E),(B50) (i) Master netting arrangement – not currently enforceable 
 Agreements with derivative counterparties are based on the ISDA Master Agreement. Under the terms of 

these arrangements, only where certain credit events occur (such as default), the net position owing/ 
receivable to a single counterparty in the same currency will be taken as owing and all the relevant 
arrangements terminated. As the Fund does not presently have a legally enforceable right of set-off, these 
amounts have not been offset in the balance sheet, but have been presented separately in the above table. 
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Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 

  

 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 

AASB7(13B) 

 

 

AASB132(AG38A-F) 

 AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures requires additional disclosures about the effect or 
the potential effects of netting arrangements, including rights of set-off associated with an 
entity’s recognised financial assets and recognised financial liabilities, on the entity’s financial 
position. The new guidance in AASB 132 (applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2014) clarifies that the right of set-off must be available today (i.e. not 
contingent on a future event) and must be legally enforceable in the normal course of business 
as well as in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. 

AASB7(13A),(B40)  The disclosures are required for all recognised financial instruments that are set off in 
accordance with paragraph 42 of AASB 132. They also apply to recognised financial 
instruments that are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar 
agreements, irrespective of whether they are set off in accordance with paragraph 42 of 
AASB 132. 

AASB132(50)  The amendments do not provide a definition of ‘‘master netting arrangement’’. However, as per 
paragraph 50 of AASB 132, a master netting arrangement will commonly: 

(a) provide for a single net settlement of all financial instruments covered by the agreement in 
the event of default on, or termination of, any one contract 

(b) be used by financial institutions to provide protection against loss in the event of 
bankruptcy or other circumstances that result in a counterparty being unable to meet its 
obligations, and 

(c) create a right of set-off that becomes enforceable and affects the realisation or settlement 
of individual financial assets and financial liabilities only following a specified event of 
default or in other circumstances not expected to arise in the normal course of business. 

AASB7(B41)  The amendments do not impact arrangements, such as: 

(a) financial instruments with only non-financial collateral agreements 

(b) financial instruments with financial collateral agreements but no other rights of set-off, and  

(c) loans and customer deposits with the same financial institution, unless they are set off in 
the balance sheet 

  Because of the broad scope of the offsetting requirements, these disclosures are relevant not 
only to financial institutions but also corporate entities. The disclosures were introduced 
primarily to allow users of the financial statements to assess the impact of the different 
offsetting requirements under IFRS and US GAAP. They will therefore be particularly relevant 
for entities with US-based stakeholders, but less relevant for entities that operate exclusively in 
countries with IFRS or IFRS compliant standards. 

AASB2012-2(5),(7) 
AASB7(13B), 
(13C)(a),(c),(d),(e), 
(13E),(B40)-(B53) 

 Entities will need to disclose separately for recognised financial assets and recognised financial 
liabilities: 

(a) the gross amounts of the recognised financial assets and financial liabilities, the amounts 
that are set off and the net amounts presented in the balance sheet 

(b) the amounts subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement, 
including amounts related to recognised financial instruments that do not meet some or all 
of the offsetting criteria and amounts related to financial collateral 

(c) the net amount after deducting the amounts disclosed under (b) from the net amounts 
presented in the balance sheet (after set-off) in (a) 

(d) a description of the rights of set-off associated with financial assets and liabilities that are 
subject to enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements, and 

(e) a description of measurement differences between the set-off amounts (e.g. amortised cost 
vs fair value). 

AASB7(13C),(B51),(B52)  The quantitative information above may be grouped by type of financial instrument or 
transaction, or in some instances also by counterparty. It should be provided in tabular format 
unless another format is more appropriate. 

AASB7(13F)  Where the disclosures are provided in more than one note to the financial statements, cross 
references between the notes shall be included. 
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 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 

  
 Master netting 

AASB7(36)(a)  An entity may have entered into one or more master netting arrangements that serve to mitigate 
its exposure to credit loss but do not meet the criteria for offsetting. When a master netting 
arrangement significantly reduces the credit risk associated with financial assets not offset 
against financial liabilities with the same counterparty, the entity must provide additional 
information concerning the effect of the arrangement. 

 Collateral arrangements 

AASB7(13C)(d),(B41)  Where an entity has pledged financial instruments (including cash on margin accounts) as 
collateral, this is only required to be disclosed as part of the table where there are other set off 
arrangements currently in place. VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds Limited illustrates an 
example where there are no collateral arrangements requiring offsetting disclosure. As a result 
no such disclosures have been made.  
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19B5 Fair value measurement1-28 

AASB13(91) The Fund measures and recognises the following assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis5 

 Financial assets / liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) (see note 7 and 8) 

 Financial assets / liabilities held for trading (see note 7 and 8) 

 Derivative financial instruments (see note 9). 

AASB13(93)(a) The Fund has no assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis in the current 
reporting period. 

AASB 13 requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value hierarchy; 

 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1) 

 inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly (level 2); and 

 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)  
(level 3). 

 
(i)  Fair value in an active market (level 1) 

AASB13(91)(a) The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets is based on their quoted market prices 
at the end of the reporting period without any deduction for estimated future selling costs.   

The Fund values its investments in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 2 to the financial 
statements. For the majority of its investments, the Fund relies on information provided by independent 
pricing services for the valuation of its investments. 

The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Fund is the current bid price; the appropriate 
quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current asking price. When the Fund holds derivatives with 
offsetting market risks, it uses mid-market prices as a basis for establishing fair values for the offsetting risk 
positions and applies this bid or asking price to the net open position, as appropriate.  
A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly 
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those 
prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. 

 
(ii)  Fair value in an inactive or unquoted market (level 2 and level 3) 

AASB13(91)(a) 

AASB13(93)(d) 

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market is determined using 
valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, reference to the 
current fair value of a substantially similar other instrument, discounted cash flow techniques, option pricing 
models or any other valuation technique that provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained in actual market 
transactions. 

 Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are based on management’s 
best estimates and the discount rate used is a market rate at the end of the reporting period applicable for an 
instrument with similar terms and conditions. 

 For other pricing models, inputs are based on market data at the end of the reporting period. Fair values for 
unquoted equity investments are estimated, if possible, using applicable price/earnings ratios for similar 
listed companies adjusted to reflect the specific circumstances of the issuer. 

 The fair value of derivatives that are not exchange traded is estimated at the amount that the Fund would 
receive or pay to terminate the contract at the end of the reporting period taking into account current market 
conditions (volatility and appropriate yield curve) and the current creditworthiness of the counterparties. The 
fair value of a forward contract is determined as a net present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at appropriate market rates as at the valuation date. The fair value of an option contract is 
determined by applying the Black Scholes option valuation model. 

  Investments in other unlisted unit trusts are recorded at the redemption value per unit as reported by the 
investment managers of such funds. The Fund may make adjustments to the value based on considerations 
such as; liquidity of the Investee Fund or its underlying investments, the value date of the net asset value 
provided, or any restrictions on redemptions and the basis of accounting.  

Some of the inputs to these models may not be market observable and are therefore estimated based on 
assumptions. The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that cannot be 
determined with certainty, and valuation techniques employed may not fully reflect all factors relevant to the 
positions the Fund holds. 
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  Recognised fair value measurements 
AASB13(C3)  The following table presents the Fund’s assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value as at 30 

June 20187-10 

AASB13(93)(a)(b) At 30 June 2018     
 

 
Level 1

$’000
Level 2 

$’000 
Level 3 

$’000 
Total
$’000

 Financial assets   
 Financial assets held for trading:   
 Derivatives   
   Foreign currency forward contracts 255 590 - 845
   Australian share price index futures 345 - - 345
   International share price index futures - 355 - 355
   International interest rate futures - 55 - 55
 Financial assets designated at fair value through 

profit or loss:   
 Equity securities   
   Australian equity securities  55,003 - - 55,003
   International equity securities 18,659 - - 18,659
 Debt securities   
   Australian fixed interest securities  11,781 3,423 - 15,204
   International fixed interest securities  938 2,559 1,681 5,178
 Unlisted unit trusts   
   Units in Australian property trusts 1,678 9,010 - 10,688
   Units in Australian equity trusts 5,454 469 - 5,923
   Units in International equity trusts 2,423 2,842  5,265

 
Total  96,536 19,303 1,681 117,520

    
 Financial liabilities   
 Financial liabilities held for trading:   
 Listed equity securities sold short   
   Australian equity securities  8,500 - - 8,500
   International equity securities 2,600 - - 2,600
 Derivatives   
   Australian share price index futures 705 - - 705
   International interest rate futures 410 - - 410
 Financial liabilities designated at fair value 

through profit or loss:   
 

Total  12,215 - - 12,215

 

 

 At 30 June 2017     
 

 
Level 1

$’000
Level 2 

$’000 
Level 3 

$’000 
Total
$’000

 Financial assets   
 Financial assets held for trading:   
 Derivatives   
   Foreign currency forward contracts 805            195  - 1,000
   Australian share price index futures 255 - - 255
   International share price index futures - 345 - 345
   International interest rate futures   0
 Financial assets designated at fair value through 

profit or loss: 
  

 Equity securities   
   Australian equity securities  39,808 - - 39,808
   International equity securities 17,080 - - 17,080
 Debt securities - - 
   Australian fixed interest securities  2,180 8,721 - 10,901
   International fixed interest securities  926 3,092 - 4,385
 Unlisted unit trusts   
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   Units in Australian property trusts 684 7,263 - 7947
   Units in Australian equity trusts 855 6,956 - 7811
   Units in International equity trusts 216 968 367 1184

 
Total  62,809 27,540 367 90,716

    
 Financial liabilities   
 Financial liabilities held for trading:   
 Listed equity securities sold short   
   Australian equity securities  7,500 - - 7,500
   International equity securities 1,700 - - 1,700
 Derivatives   
   Australian share price index futures 318 - - 318
   International interest rate futures 220 - - 220
 Financial liabilities designated at fair value 

through profit or loss: 
  

 
Total  9,738 - - 9,738

 

  

AASB13(95) The Fund’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the 
reporting period. 

 
Transfers between levels 

 The following table presents the transfers between levels for the year ended 30 June 2018. 

AAASB(93)(c) At 30 June 2018    

   Level 1
$’000

Level 2 
$’000 

Level 3
$’000

 Transfers between levels 1 and 2:    

 Debt securities 1,012 (1,012) -
 Transfers between levels 2 and 3:  
 Debt securities - (600) 600
 Unlisted unit trust - 426 (426)
      

 The debt securities transferred into level 1 relate to non-US sovereign obligations for which significant trading 
activity existed on 30 June 2018 but which were only thinly traded on and around 30 June 2017.  

The transfer from level 2 to level 3 relates to a single corporate debt security whose issuer experienced significant 
financial difficulty during the year. This ultimately resulted in a halt in trading activity on all of its issued debt 
instruments. Accordingly, the valuation inputs for this security were not based on market observable inputs and 
therefore resulted in the reclassification to level 3. 

At 30 June 2017 the level 3 investment (which was transferred to level 2 in the current year) consisted of a single 
unlisted unit trust (the suspended fund) which was fair valued with reference to its net asset value as reported by 
the suspended fund’s administrator, adjusted to take into account restrictions applicable to redemptions which were 
introduced prior to 30 June 2017.  

Management of the suspended fund lifted their suspension in January 2018 resulting in monthly unit holder activity 
resuming. This event resulted in a transfer to level 2.  

The model used to fair value the investment in the suspended fund was based on the investment managers’ best 
estimate of the net asset value of the fund, adjusted for other relevant factors considered appropriate by the 
responsible entity. For the suspended fund classified under level 3 at 30 June 2017, if the valuation model was 
increased/decreased by 1% this would have resulted in an immaterial increase/decrease in the fair value of the 
Fund’s investment in the suspended fund. 

AASB13(93)(c) At 30 June 2017    
 Level 1

$’000
Level 2 

$’000 
Level 3

$’000
 Transfers between levels 2 and 3:  
 Unlisted unit trust - (377) 377
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Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

 The following table presents the movement in level 3 instruments for the year ended 30 June 2018 by class of 
financial instrument.

  

AASB13(93)(e) At 30 June 2018   
  

Debt securities 
$’000 

Unlisted unit 
trust

$’000
 Opening balance - 367
 Purchases 1,304 -
 Sales (100) -
 Transfers into/(out) from level 3 600 (426)
 Gains and losses recognised in profit or loss (123) 59
 Closing balance 1,681 -
AASB13(93)(f) *includes unrealised gains or (losses) recognised in profit or loss attributable 

to balances held at the end of the reporting period (100) 50
 The following table presents the movement in level 3 instruments for the year ended 30 June 2017 by class of 

financial instrument. 

  

 At 30 June 2017  
 

AASB13(93)(e)  

 Unlisted unit 
trust

$’000
 Opening balance -
 Purchases -
 Sales -
 Transfers into/(out) from level 3 377
 Gains and losses recognised in profit or loss (10)
 Closing balance 367
AASB13(93)(f) *includes unrealised gains or (losses) recognised in profit or loss attributable to balances held at 

the end of the reporting period (10)
   

 Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value14 
AASB13(93)(d) 
(99) 

The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in 
level 3 fair value measurements. See (i) and (ii) above for the valuation techniques adopted. 8-10 

AASB13(93)(d),
(h) 

AASB13(93)(i), 
(ii) 

Description 

Fair 
value at 
30 June 
2018 
$000 

Unobservable inputs 
* 

Range of inputs 
(probability-weighted 
average) 

Relationship of unobservable 
inputs to fair value 

 

Debt 
securities  

1,681 

Cost of capital 10.5 % - 14% (12%) 

Increased / (decreased) cost of 
capital  (+/-50 basis points (bps)) 
would (decrease) / increase fair 
value by $70,000 
 
Higher (lower) probability of 
default (+/-100 bps) would 
(decrease) / increase fair value by 
$80,000. 

Probability of default 9% - 11% (10%) 

 

Description 

Fair 
value at 
30 June 
2017 
$000 Unobservable inputs * 

Range of inputs 
(probability-weighted 
average) 

Relationship of unobservable 
inputs to fair value 

 
Unlisted unit 
trusts 

367 Redemption price 10.14 – 12.78 
Higher (lower) redemption price 
(+/-10%) would (decrease) / 
increase fair value by $37,000. 

AASB13(93)(h) 
(i) 

* There were no significant inter-relationships between unobservable inputs that materially affect fair values. 
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AASB13(93)(g) Valuation processes 
 The Responsible Entity has a team that performs detailed monthly valuations of the financial instruments required 

for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values. Discussions of valuation processes and results are 
held at least once every six months, in line with the Fund’s half-yearly reporting dates. 

AASB13(91)(b) The main level 3 inputs used by the Fund are derived and evaluated as follows: 

 Discount rates (cost of capital) for financial assets are determined using a capital asset pricing model to 
calculate a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money. 

 The probability of default is determined based on historical default statistics for assets of a similar nature 
alongside current economic data 

Changes in level 2 and 3 fair values are analysed at each reporting date during the half-yearly valuation discussion 
between the Chief Financial Officer, Audit Committee and the valuation team. As part of this discussion the team 
presents a report that explains the reason for the fair value movements. 

 
Fair value of financial instruments not carried at fair value 19,20 

AASB7(29)(a) The carrying value of trade receivables and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values.  

Net assets attributable to unitholders’ carrying value differs from its fair value (deemed to be redemption price for 
individual units) due to differences in valuation inputs. This difference is not material in the current or prior year. 
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Fair value measurement 

 Fair value measurements 

AASB13  AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement explains how to measure fair value and aims to enhance fair 
value disclosures; it does not change when an entity is required to use fair value to measure an asset 
or liability. The standard defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid 
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date 
(exit price). It also provides guidance on how fair value should be measured. Preparers of financial 
reports will need to review their fair value measurements and determine whether any of the 
techniques used may have to change as a result of the guidance. 

 The disclosure requirements of AASB 13 are similar to those that were already included in AASB 7 
Financial Instruments: Disclosures, but apply now to all assets and liabilities measured at fair value, 
not just financial ones. For the purpose of this illustrative we have combined all fair value disclosures 
in one note. The Fund does not hold any non-financial assets or liabilities.  

AASB13(9) Determining Fair Values 

  Hedge accounting may be impacted by the adoption of AASB 13 as a result of incorporating credit 
risk into the valuation of financial instruments. Generally credit risk is not designated as part of the 
risk being hedged, thus creating a mismatch between the hedged item and hedging instrument. The 
impact on an entity’s hedging relationships should be analysed by management to determine whether 
it will give rise to ineffectiveness. 

 AASB 13 does not require the bid/ask prices for actively quoted financial instruments. Rather the 
most representative price within the bid/ask spread is used. The Fund has elected to retain the use of 
bid/ask prices to fair value actively quoted financial instruments. Where management elects to use an 
alternative basis, such as last traded price or mid-point, it should describe this change as part of its 
accounting policies. 

 Where last traded price is used by an entity, management should ensure at balance date that last 
traded price falls within the bid/ask spread as at that date. Where it falls outside the bid/ask spread, 
an alternative basis most representative of fair value within the bid/ask spread, must be used. 

 For more detailed explanations of AASB 13, please refer to our practical guide 
http://www.pwc.com/us/en/cfodirect/assets/pdf/accounting-guides/pwc-fair-value-measurement-
2015.pdf  

AASB13(91) Disclosure objectives 

  AASB 13 requires disclosure of information that helps users of financial statements to assess: 

(a) for assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring or non-recurring basis after 
initial recognition, the valuation techniques and inputs used to develop those measurements 

(b) for recurring fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3), the effect of 
the measurements on profit or loss or other comprehensive income for the period. 

AASB13(93)(a)  AASB 13 distinguishes between recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements. Recurring fair 
value measurements of assets or liabilities are those that other accounting standards require or 
permit at the end of each reporting period. Non-recurring fair value measurements are those that 
other standards require or permit in certain circumstances (e.g. when an entity measures an asset 
held for sale at fair value less costs to sell in accordance with AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations). VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust does not have any non-recurring 
fair value measurements. 

AASB13(92)  Entities shall consider what level of detail is necessary to satisfy the above disclosure objectives, how 
much emphasis needs to be placed on each of the requirements, to what extent information should 
be aggregated or disaggregated and whether any additional information is necessary to meet those 
objectives. 

AASB13(99)  The information should be presented in tabular format unless another format is more appropriate 

 Fair value hierarchy 

AASB13(72)-(90)  Entities shall classify all fair value measurements, including those that are only disclosed but not 
recognised, using a fair value hierarchy based on types of inputs used in making the measurements. 
The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 
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Fair value measurement 

 (a) level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

(b) level 2: inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(e.g. as prices) or indirectly (e.g. derived from prices), and 

(c) level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 

The appropriate level is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement. 

 Information about valuation techniques 

AASB13(93)(d)  Entities must describe the valuation technique(s) and inputs used in the fair value measurement for 
all recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements of financial instruments that are categorised 
within level 2 and level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 

AASB13(93)(d)  For fair value measurements categorised within level 3 of the hierarchy, the entity must also provide 
quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used, unless quantitative inputs are 
not developed by the entity when measuring fair value (e.g. if the entity uses prices from prior 
transactions or third-party pricing information without adjustment). 

 Sensitivity 

AASB13(93)(h)  For all recurring fair value measurements that are classified as ‘level 3’ entities must provide 
information about the sensitivity of the fair value measurement to changes in unobservable inputs: 

(a) For all such measurements: a narrative description of the sensitivity if a change in unobservable 
inputs could result in significantly higher or lower fair values and a description of any 
interrelationships between those inputs and other unobservable inputs and how these 
interrelationships could magnify or mitigate the effect of changes in the inputs. 

(b) For financial assets and financial liabilities, if changing one or more unobservable inputs would 
change fair value significantly, entities shall disclose the effect of reasonably possible changes in 
assumptions and how the effect was calculated. 

 Classes of assets and liabilities 

AASB13(94)  The disclosures in AASB 13 must be made separately for each class of assets and liabilities. Entities 
shall determine appropriate classes of assets and liabilities by considering: 

(a) the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability, and 

(b) the level of the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised. 

AASB13(94)  A class of assets and liabilities will often require greater disaggregation than the line items presented 
in the balance sheet. The number of classes may also need to be greater for fair value 
measurements categorised within level 3 of the hierarchy, as those measurements have a greater 
degree of uncertainty and subjectivity. Entities shall disclose sufficient information to allow a 
reconciliation back to the line items disclosed in the balance sheet. 

AASB13(93)(f)  AASB 13 does not provide any guidance on how to calculate the unrealised gains and losses for 
recurring level 3 measures. A similar requirement previously existed under US GAAP where three 
methods are acceptable. In our view, either of these methods would be acceptable under IFRS 
provided they are consistently applied. The methods are: 

(a) Balance sheet view: determine unrealised gains and losses as the fair value of the security less 
its amortised cost base. Under this view, gains and losses are realised at maturity or sale date. 
Therefore the entire gain or loss is considered unrealised until maturity. 

(b) Income statement view: determine unrealised gains and losses as the total gains and losses 
during the period less the cash received or paid for those items. Under this view each cash 
receipt or settlement represents a realised gain or loss in its entirety. 

(c) Cash flow view: first determine any realised gains or losses as the difference between the 
expected cash flows at the beginning of the period and the actual cash flows at the end of the 
period. Then, determine unrealised gains or losses for items still held at the reporting date as the 
remaining expected cash flows for future periods at the end of the period less the remaining 
expected cash flows for future periods at the beginning of the period. 
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 Fair value disclosed, but not recognised 

AASB13(97),(93)(a)  Entities must also provide information about the fair value hierarchy of fair value measurements that 
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, but where the assets and liabilities are not 
measured at fair value in the balance sheet. For fair value measurements that are classified as ‘level 
2’ or ‘level 3’, entities must further disclose: 

AASB13(97),(93)(d) (a) a description of the valuation technique(s) and the inputs used in the fair value measurement 

AASB13(97),(93)(i) (b) if the highest and best use of a non-financial asset differs from its current use, that fact and why 
the asset is being used in a manner that differs from its highest and best use. 

 Fair value disclosures: Financial instruments carried at other than fair value 

AASB7(25),(29)  An entity shall disclose the fair value for each class of financial assets and financial liabilities in a way 
that permits it to be compared with its carrying amount. Fair values do not need to be disclosed for 
the following: 

(a) where the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value 

(b) investments in equity instruments (and derivatives linked to such equity instruments) that do not 
have a quoted market price and that are measured at cost in accordance with AASB 139 
because their fair value cannot be measured reliably 

(c) a contract containing a discretionary participation feature (as described in AASB 4 Insurance 
Contracts) where the fair value of that feature cannot be measured reliably. 

AASB7(B51-B52)  The information about the fair values can be provided either in a combined financial instruments note 
or in a separate note. However, fair values must be separately disclosed for each class of financial 
instrument which means that each line item in the table would have to be broken down into individual 
classes. Refer to the appendix of AASB 7 for further details. For that reason, VALUE ACCOUNTS 
Unit Trust has chosen to provide the information in a separate note.   

 Carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of fair value 

  A statement that the carrying amount of financial assets or financial liabilities is a reasonable 
approximation of their fair value should only be made if it can be substantiated. That is, entities must 
have made a formal assessment of the carrying amounts of their financial assets and liabilities in 
comparison to their fair values and documented this assessment. If the fair values are not a 
reasonable approximation of the carrying amounts, the fair values must be disclosed. 

 Fair value determined using valuation technique - difference on initial recognition 

AASB7(28)  If the market for a financial instrument is not active its fair value must be determined using a valuation 
technique. In these circumstances, there may be a difference between the fair value at initial 
recognition (established based on the transaction price) and the amount that would be determined at 
that date using the valuation technique. If there is such a difference an entity shall disclose (by class 
of financial instrument) the accounting policy for recognising that difference in profit or loss (see 
AASB 139 paragraph AG76b). 

 Fair value of liabilities with third-party credit enhancements 

  For liabilities measured at fair value and issued with an inseparable third-party credit enhancement, 
an issuer shall disclose the existence of that credit enhancement and whether it is reflected in the fair 
value measurement of the liability. 

 Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with offsetting positions 

  If an entity has applied the exception in AASB 13 paragraph 48 and measured the fair value of a 
group of financial assets or financial liabilities on the basis of the price that it would receive to sell a 
net long position (asset) or pay to transfer a net short position (liability) for a particular risk exposure, 
it shall disclose that fact. 
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AASB7(30) Financial instruments measured at cost where fair value cannot be determined reliably 

  If the fair value of investments in unquoted equity instruments, derivatives linked to such equity 
instruments or a contract containing a discretionary participation feature (as described in AASB 4 
Insurance Contracts) cannot be measured reliably the entity must disclose: 

 (a) the fact that fair value information has not been disclosed because it cannot be measured 
reliably 

(b) a description of the financial instruments, their carrying amount and an explanation of why fair 
value cannot be measured reliably 

(c) information about the market for the instruments 

(d) information about whether and how the entity intends to dispose of the financial instruments 

(e) if the instruments are subsequently derecognised, that fact, their carrying amounts at the time of 
derecognising and the amount of gain or loss recognised. 

 Fair value hierarchy – Further guidance 

  Set out in the following table are some examples of inputs that may be considered appropriate for the 
levels indicated. However the facts and circumstances applicable to the individual security should 
always be assessed. 

 

 Description of level in  
the fair value hierarchy 

Financial instruments commonly 
classified in this level 

Sources of pricing inputs 
commonly classified in this level 

 

Le
ve

l 1
 

 Inputs must be quoted prices 
in an active market. The 
quoted prices must be readily 
and regularly available and 
the prices must represent 
actual and regularly occurring 
market transactions on an 
arm’s length basis. 

 ASX listed equities and other 
listed equities in active 
markets. 

 Government bonds that are 
actively traded. 

 Listed corporate bonds. 

 Exchange traded futures 
contracts. 

 Listed unit trusts. 

 Items traded on an exchange 
or active index/market location 
(e.g. the ASX, NYSE). 

 

Le
ve

l 2
 

 Inputs that are observable 
(directly or indirectly) in the 
market. 

 Certain corporate bonds 
where interest rate and credit 
risk inputs are observable. 

 Government bonds that are 
not actively traded. 

 Some interest rate swaps 
based on the BBSW swap 
rate. 

 Foreign currency forward 
contracts where the 
evaluation is based on quoted 
benchmark data and observed 
credit spread. 

 Some listed securities that are 
not traded in an active market. 

 Unlisted unit trusts holding 
level 1 or 2 investments and 
which are open for 
applications and redemptions 
on a regular basis. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Quoted prices for similar 
instruments in active markets. 

 Posted or published clearing 
prices, if corroborated by 
observable market data 
through correlation or by other 
means (market-corroborated 
inputs). 

 Broker quotes corroborated by 
observable market data. 

 Dealer quotes for non-liquid 
securities provided the dealer 
is standing ready and able to 
transact. 

 Most inputs, other than quoted 
prices that are observable on 
the market (e.g. interest rates, 
yield curves observable at 
commonly quoted intervals). 
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Fair value measurement 

 

Le
ve

l 3
 

 Inputs that are not observable 
in the market, which may 
include information that is 
derived through extrapolation 
and which is not corroborated 
by observable market data. 

 Level 3 inputs generally 
reflect the entity’s own 
assumptions about how a 
market participant would 
reasonably be expected to 
determine the price of a 
financial instrument. 

 Some long-dated interest rate 
options. 

 Long-dated foreign currency 
derivatives. 

 Unlisted equity investments 
where the valuation is 
determined using 
management’s financial 
forecasts. 

 Long-dated corporate bonds 
with few contributors to 
consensus pricing. 

 Listed securities where the 
market is inactive (where the 
quoted price isn’t current, little 
information is publicly 
available, price quotations 
vary substantially over time or 
among market makers, or 
management’s assumptions 
are used). 

 Long dated energy 
derivatives. 

 Investments in property, 
private equity or infrastructure 
type funds where the fund is 
closed, and therefore 
valuation is not based on 
observable inputs. 

 Unlisted unit trusts which 
themselves hold significant 
investments in level 3 assets 
(eg. unlisted property, 
infrastructure, or private 
equity). 

 Unlisted unit trusts which have 
gates or other restrictions on 
redemptions. 

 Inputs from broker quotes that 
are indicative (i.e. not 
transacted upon) or not 
corroborated by observable 
market data. 

 Models incorporating 
management’s assumptions, 
which are not corroborated by 
observable market data. 

 Interim financial statements 

AASB134(16A)(j) 

AASB13(91)-(93)(h), 

(94)-(96),(98),(99) 

AASB7(25),(26), 

(28)-(30) 

 Entities must provide detailed information about the fair value measurements of their financial 
instruments, regardless of whether there have been significant changes or transactions during the 
interim period. This includes information about: 

(a) the recognised fair value measurements at the end of the interim period 

(b) for financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value – the fair value 
such that it can be compared with the carrying amount  

(c) for non-recurring fair value measurements, the reason for the measurement  

(d) the level of the fair value hierarchy within which the measurements are categorised 

(e) the amount of transfers between level 1 and level 2 of the hierarchy, the reasons for those 
transfers and the entity’s policy for determining when transfers have occurred 

(f) for level 2 and level 3 measurements a description of the valuation techniques and inputs used, 
changes in the valuation techniques used and reasons for changes. For level 3 measurements 
also quantitative information about significant unobservable inputs used. 

(g) for level 3 measurements a reconciliation from opening to closing balances, showing separately 
a number of specifically identified items 

(h) for recurring level 3 measurements, the amount of unrealised gains or losses for the period that 
is attributable assets and liabilities held at the end of the reporting period 

(i) for level 3 measurements, a description of the valuation processes used by the entity  
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Fair value measurement 

(j) for recurring level 3 measurements, a narrative description of the sensitivity of the fair value to 
changes in unobservable inputs and the effect of changes to unobservable inputs if such 
changes have a significant effect on the fair value 

(k) the existence of inseparable third-party credit enhancements. 

 

Note that AASB 134 only requires this information for financial instruments, not for non-financial 
assets and liabilities. 

 Comparative information should be provided where it is necessary to provide context for the 
information disclosed for the current interim period. For example, if there have been significant 
movements in the fair value hierarchy in the current period, in particular in levels 1 and 2, information 
about the classification of the financial instruments as at the previous reporting date will allow users 
to assess the magnitude of these changes. However, roll-forward information such as changes in 
level 3 items during the interim period will not need to be provided for the comparative interim period, 
unless this information is necessary to understand the movements in the current year. 
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20B6 Net gains/(losses) on financial instruments held at fair value 

through profit or loss1-3 
 Net gains/(losses) recognised in relation to financial assets and financial liabilities held at fair value 

through profit or loss: 

  Year ended 
 

 

30 June 
2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

 Financial assets  
AASB7(20)(a) Net gain/(loss) on financial assets held for trading 2,647 410
AASB7(20)(a) Net gain/(loss) on financial assets designated as at fair value through 

profit or loss 4,429 (3,227)
 Net gain/(loss) on financial assets held at fair value through profit or 

loss 7,076 (2,817)
  

Not mandatory Net realised gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through  
profit or loss 1,400 (1,545)

 Net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets held at fair value 
through profit or loss 5,676 (1,272)

 Net gain/(loss) on financial assets held at fair value through  
profit or loss 7,076 (2,817)

  

 Financial liabilities  
AASB7(20)(a) Net gain/(loss) on financial liabilities held for trading 1,082 (1,408)
 Net gain/(loss) on financial liabilities held at fair value through  

profit or loss 1,082 (1,408)
  

Not mandatory Net realised gain/(loss) on financial liabilities at fair value through  
profit or loss 700 (773)

 Net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial liabilities held at fair value 
through profit or loss 382 (635)

 Net gain/(loss)on financial liabilities held at fair value through  
profit or loss 1,082 (1,408)

  

 Total net gain/(loss) on financial instruments held at fair value 
through profit or loss 8,158 (4,225)

    

 
Net gains/(losses) on financial instruments held at fair value through profit 
or loss  

  

AASB7(20)(a)(i)  AASB 7 requires net gains or losses on financial assets and financial liabilities designated as at 
fair value through profit or loss to be separately disclosed. 

  Australian Accounting Standards do not mandate disclosure of the split of the movement in fair 
value between realised and unrealised, however this information is generally considered 
relevant to the users of the financial statements and is presented here as best practice. 

 For purposes of this disclosure, realised gains and losses are realised are recorded using 
historical cost information (identified cost method). 
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AASB7(8)(a) 
21B7 Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss1-19 

  30 June 
2018 

Fair value 
$’000 

30 June
2017

Fair value
$’000

AASB7(8) Held for trading1   
 Derivatives (note 9) 1,600 1,600
 Total held for trading 1,600 1,600
    

AASB7(8) Designated at fair value through profit or loss1  
 Equity securities 73,662 56,888
 Fixed interest securities 20,382 15,286
 Unlisted unit trusts 21,876 16,942
 Total designated at fair value through profit or loss 115,920 89,116
    
 Total financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss 117,520 90,716
    

 Comprising:   

AASB101(77) Derivatives  
 Foreign currency forward contracts 845 1,000
 Australian share price index futures 345 255
 International share price index futures 355 345
 International interest rate futures 55 -
 Total derivatives 1,600 1,600
    

AASB101(77) Equity securities   

 Australian equity securities  55,003 39,808
 International equity securities 18,659 17,080
 Total equity securities 73,662 56,888
    

AASB101(77) Fixed interest securities   

 Australian fixed interest securities  15,204 10,901
 International fixed interest securities  5,178 4,385
 Total fixed interest securities 20,382 15,286
    

AASB101(77)  Unlisted unit trusts   

 Units in Australian property trusts 10,688 7,947
 Units in Australian equity trusts 5,923 7,811
 Units in International equity trusts 5,265 1,184
 Total unlisted unit trusts 21,876 16,942
    

 Total financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss 117,520 90,716
    

AASB7(31) An overview of the risk exposures and fair value measurements relating to financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss is included in note 3 and note 5 to the financial statements. 
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AASB7(8)(e) 
22B8 Financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss1-19 

  

30 June 
2018 

Fair value 
$’000 

30 June
2017

Fair value
$’000

AASB7(8)(e) Held for trading1 

 Derivatives (note 9) 1,115 538

 Listed equity securities sold short 11,100 9,200

 Total held for trading 12,215 9,738

  
 Total financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss 12,215 9,738

 
 

 Comprising: 

AASB101(77) Derivatives 

 Australian share price index futures 705 318
 International interest rate futures  410 220

 Total derivatives 1,115   538

  

AASB101(77) Listed equity securities sold short 

 Australian equity securities  8,500 7,500
 International equity securities  2,600 1,700

 Total listed equity securities sold short 11,100 9,200

  

 Total financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss 12,215 9,738

    

 An overview of the risk exposures and fair value measurements relating to financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss is included in note 3 and note 5 to the financial statements. 
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Financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss  

  

 Definition 

AASB139(9)  A financial asset or financial liability held at fair value through profit or loss is a financial asset or 
financial liability that meets either of the following conditions: 

(a) it is classified as held for trading. A financial asset or financial liability is classified as held 
for trading if it is:  

(i) acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near 
term 

(ii) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for 
which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking, or 

(iii) a derivative (except for a derivative that is a designated and effective hedging 
instrument), or 

(b) upon initial recognition it is designated by the entity as at fair value through profit or loss. 
An entity may use this designation only when permitted by paragraph 11A of AASB139, or 
when doing so results in more relevant information, because either: 

(i) it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency 
(sometimes referred to as ‘an accounting mismatch’) that would otherwise arise from 
measuring assets and liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on 
different bases, or 

(ii) a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both is managed and its performance 
is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management 
or investment strategy, and information is provided internally on that basis to the 
entity’s key management personnel (as defined in AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures). 

 Classification illustrated 

AASB139(9)(a)(iii) 
 
 
 
 
AASB139(50) 

 VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust has designated all financial assets and liabilities as at fair value 
through profit or loss, with the exception of net assets attributable to unitholders and derivative 
financial instruments which, by definition, are classified as held for trading.   

VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust has not reclassified any financial assets out of the held-for-
trading category in the limited circumstances permitted in AASB 139.  

  No financial instruments are illustrated as designated in a hedging relationship as this is unlikely 
to be relevant in an investment fund which is managed on a fair value basis. 

AASB128(18) VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust does not have any investments over which it can exert 
significant influence. Where an investment fund does have significant influence over an 
investee as defined in AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, it may still 
account for these investments as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, rather than 
applying the equity method of accounting. This is due to the exemption in AASB 128 which 
provides that investments held by mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities need not be 
accounted for using the equity method. 

AASB7(3)(a) 

AASB12(6)(d) 

 

 Entities that do apply the scope exclusion should note in addition to the disclosures required 
under AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, that they will still need to disclose information 
required by AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, including information about the 
nature, extent and financial effects of its interests in its associates and the nature of the risks in 
that investment.   

 Listed investment fund 

ASX(4.10.20)  If a listed entity is an investment fund (as defined in the ASX Listing Rules) it shall disclose in its 
financial statements: 

(a) a list of all investments held by it and its child entities at the balance date 

(b) the total number of transactions in securities during the reporting period, together with the 
total brokerage paid or accrued during the period, and 

(c) the total management fees paid or accrued during the reporting period, together with a 
summary of any management agreement. 

As VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust is not listed, these disclosures are not included. 
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Financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss  

  
 Presentation of investments 

AASB7(6)  When required by AASB 7, an entity shall group financial instruments into classes that are 
appropriate to the nature of the information disclosed. The characteristics of those financial 
instruments shall also be taken into account. An entity shall provide sufficient information to 
permit reconciliation to the line items presented in the balance sheet. 

 VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust illustrates an example presentation of its investments according 
to their classification under AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
and according to the major asset class. The standards do not prescribe presentation formats. 
Accordingly, an entity may choose an alternative presentation format which suits the nature and 
extent of its financial instruments. 

 Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit of loss 

AASB7(10) 

AASB7(26) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 If an entity has designated a financial liability as at fair value through profit or loss on initial 
recognition, it shall disclose:  

(a) the carrying amount separately from other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss (held for trading or derivatives)  

(b) the amount of change in its fair value during the period and cumulatively, that is attributable 
to changes in a credit risk  

(c) the difference between its carrying amount and the amount the entity would be 
contractually required to pay at maturity to the holder of the obligation. 

In the case of the Fund both (b) and (c) are immaterial and have not been disclosed. However 
each client should assess their own circumstances to understand if it is material and requires 
disclosure. 

AASB7(11)  The entity shall further disclose the methods used to determine the amount disclosed in 
paragraph 8 (b) above. If the entity believes that the disclosure it has provided does not 
faithfully represent the change in the fair value of the financial liability attributable to changes in 
its credit risk, it shall further disclose the reasons for reaching this conclusion and the factors it 
believes are relevant. 

 Set-off of assets and liabilities 

AASB132(42)  A financial asset and a financial liability shall be offset and the net amount presented in the 
balance sheet when, and only when, an entity: 

(a) currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and 

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 

AASB7(13A-13F)  AASB 7 has been amended in the current year to require more extensive disclosures about 
offsetting arrangements. As such, where an entity has offset financial assets and financial 
liabilities on the face of the balance sheet, AASB 7 will require disclosure of the gross amounts 
in certain circumstances. Refer to note 4 to the financial statements for illustrative disclosures of 
the requirements.   
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Financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss  

  
AASB7(14,15) Stock lending activities 

  While not illustrated in VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust, some investment funds enter into stock 
lending agreements with their custodians that permit the custodian to lend specified assets to 
third parties, subject to a stock lending agreement. An example of the suggested disclosure of 
this fact and the impact on the entity is set out below:  

 “Securities Lending 
The Fund has entered into securities lending arrangements with Custodian Nominees Limited 
under which legal title to some of the Fund’s assets may be transferred to another entity. The 
securities are loaned by Custodian Nominees Limited, as agent of the Responsible Entity, to 
certain brokers and other financial institutions (the ‘Borrowers’). The Borrowers provide cash, 
securities, or letters of credit as collateral against loans in an amount between XXX% and 
XXX% of the fair value of the loaned securities. Cash collateral provided by the Borrowers is 
invested in the VALUE ACCOUNTS Securities Lending Trust (‘Securities Lending Trust’). The 
investments of the VALUE ACCOUNTS Securities Lending Trust includes medium term, highly 
rated, floating rate securities. 
The total net fair value of assets subject to securities lending arrangements at the end of each 
reporting period, and which are included in the above, amounts to $XXX (2017: $XXX). The 
total value of securities on loan at 30 June 2018 which are recognised as an asset in the 
balance sheet, amounted to $XXX (2017: $XXX).  
During the year ended 30 June 2018, the gross earnings on securities lending collateral were 
$XXX (2017: $XXX) and the amounts paid to borrowers were $XXX (2017: $XXX). These 
amounts were received and paid on behalf of the Fund and have been recognised in profit 
or loss.  
During the year ended 30 June 2018, the Fund paid fees to the Custodian Nominees Limited in 
the amount of $XXX (2017: $XXX) for acting as lending agent.  
Risks and Indemnification 
The risks and benefits of ownership of the loaned assets remain with the Fund. Consistent with 
the accounting policy note for recognition/derecognition of financial instruments, because the 
Fund continues to enjoy the risks and benefits of ownership, assets that have been loaned have 
not been derecognised (i.e. treated as having been sold), although they have been separately 
classified as Loaned equity securities listed on prescribed stock exchanges.  
Custodian Nominees Limited, as lending agent, indemnifies the Fund for replacement of any 
loaned securities (or, in certain circumstances, return of equivalent cash value) due to a 
Borrower default on a security loan. The Fund is also exposed to the benefits or losses of the 
collateral investment in the Securities Lending Trust and consequently recognises as an asset 
in Contractual right to the Securities Lending Trust.”  
This should be tailored to the specific circumstances relevant to the entity (for example the 
values of lent securities, the collateral held, and the parties to the agreements). 
Unit trusts with stock lending activities will also need to consider the disclosures for the transfer 
of financial assets – see paragraphs 13 to 19 below. 

 Transfer of financial assets 

AASB7(42A) 

 

 

 

 

AASB7(42B) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AASB7(42A) 

 

 If the entity has transferred all or part of a financial asset and it: 

(a) is not able to derecognise the financial asset under AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, or 

(b) has any continuing involvement in the asset (see paragraph 42C of AASB 7), 

the entity must provide information in a single note that enables users of its financial 
statements to:  

(a) understand the relationship between the transferred financial assets that are not 
derecognised in their entirety and the associated liabilities, and 

(b) evaluate the nature of, and risk associated with, the entity’s continuing involvement in 
derecognised financial assets. 

 For the purpose of these disclosure requirements, an entity has transferred all or part of a 
financial asset if, and only if, it either  

(a) transferred the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of that financial asset, or 

(b) retained the contractual rights to receive the cash flows, but assumed a contractual 
obligation to pay the cash flows to one or more recipients in an arrangement. 
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Financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss  

  
 Transferred financial assets that are not derecognised in their entirety 

AASB7(42D)  If an entity has transferred financial assets (refer to paragraphs 15 - 32 of AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement) in such a way that part or all of the financial assets 
do not qualify for derecognition, it shall disclose for each class of such financial assets: 

(a) the nature of the assets 

(b) the nature of the risks and rewards of ownership to which the entity is exposed 

(c) a description of the nature of the relationship between the transferred assets and the 
associated liabilities (including restrictions on the entity’s use of the assets) 

(d) if the counterparty to the associated liabilities has recourse only to the transferred assets, a 
schedule that sets out the fair value of the assets and the associated liabilities and the net 
position (difference) between the two 

(e) when the entity continues to recognise all of the asset, the carrying amounts of the asset 
and of the associated liability 

(f) when the entity continues to recognise the assets to the extent of its continuing 
involvement, the total amount of the original assets, the carrying amount of the assets that 
the entity continues to recognise and the carrying amount of the associated liabilities. 

 Transferred assets that are derecognised in their entirety – continuing involvement 

AASB7(42E)  When an entity derecognises transferred financial assets but has continuing involvement in 
them, the entity shall disclose for each type of continuing involvement: 

(a) the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities that represent the entity’s continuing 
involvement and the line items in which they are recognised 

(b) the fair value of the assets and liabilities that represent the entity’s continuing involvement 

(c) the amount that best represents the entity’s maximum exposure to loss from its continuing 
involvement, and information how the maximum exposure is determined 

(d) the undiscounted cash outflows that would or may be required to repurchase derecognised 
financial assets, or other amounts payable to the transferee in respect of the transferred 
assets (for variable cash outflows determine the disclosed amount based on the conditions 
that exist at the reporting date) 

(e) a maturity analysis of the undiscounted cash outflows from (d) above, showing the 
remaining contractual maturities of the entity’s continuing involvement 

(f) qualitative information that explains and supports the quantitative disclosures in (a) – (e) 
above. 

AASB7(42F)  If the entity has more than one type of continuing involvement in a derecognised asset, it can 
aggregate the information in paragraph 16 above in respect of the particular asset. 

AASB7(42G)  In addition to the information provided under paragraph 16 above, the entity shall also disclose 
the following for each type of continuing involvement: 

(a) the gain or loss recognised at the date of transfer of the assets 

(b) income and expenses recognised, both in the reporting period and cumulatively, from the 
entity’s continuing involvement in the derecognised financial assets 

(c) if the total amount of proceeds from transfer activity in a reporting period is not evenly 
distributed throughout the reporting period: 

(i) when the greatest transfer activity took place within that reporting period 

(ii) the amounts recognised from transfer activity (e.g. related gains/losses), and 

(iii) the total amount of proceeds from transfer activity in that part of the period. 

  Entities must disclose additional information, where this is necessary to satisfy the overall 
objective set out paragraph 16 (a) to (f) above. 
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23B9 Derivative financial instruments1-2 

AASB7(31) In the normal course of business the Fund enters into transactions in various derivative financial 
instruments which have certain risks. A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract which is 
settled at a future date and whose value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, 
financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating 
or credit index or other variable. 

 Derivative financial instruments require no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is 
smaller than would be required for other types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar 
response to changes in market factors. 

 Derivative transactions include many different instruments such as forwards, futures and options. 
Derivatives are considered to be part of the investment process and the use of derivatives is an 
essential part of the Fund’s portfolio management. Derivatives are not managed in isolation. 
Consequently, the use of derivatives is multifaceted and includes: 

  hedging to protect an asset or liability of the Fund against a fluctuation in market values or to 
reduce volatility 

  a substitution for trading of physical securities 

  adjusting asset exposures within the parameters set in the investment strategy, and adjusting the 
duration of fixed interest portfolios or the weighted average maturity of cash portfolios. 

 While derivatives are used for trading purposes, they are not used to gear (leverage) a portfolio. 
Gearing a portfolio would occur if the level of exposure to the markets exceeds the underlying value of 
the Fund. 

 The Fund holds the following derivative instruments: 

 
(a) Futures 

 Futures are contractual obligations to buy or sell financial instruments on a future date at a specified 
price established in an organised market. The futures contracts are collateralised by cash or marketable 
securities. Changes in futures contracts’ values are usually settled net daily with the exchange. Interest 
rate futures are contractual obligations to receive or pay a net amount based on changes in interest 
rates at a future date at a specified price, established in an organised financial market. 

 
(b) Options 

 An option is a contractual arrangement under which the seller (writer) grants the purchaser (holder) the 
right, but not the obligation, either to buy (a call option) or sell (a put option) at or by a set date or during 
a set period, a specific amount of securities or a financial instrument at a predetermined price. The 
seller receives a premium from the purchaser in consideration for the assumption of future securities 
price risk. Options held by the Fund are exchange-traded. The Fund is exposed to credit risk on 
purchased options to the extent of their carrying amount, which is their fair value. Options are settled on 
a gross basis. 

 
(c) Forward currency contracts 

 Forward currency contracts are primarily used by the Fund to economically hedge against foreign 
currency exchange rate risks on its non-Australian dollar denominated trading securities. The Fund 
agrees to receive or deliver a fixed quantity of foreign currency for an agreed upon price on an agreed 
future date. Forward currency contracts are valued at the prevailing bid price at the end of each 
reporting period. The Fund recognises a gain or loss equal to the change in fair value at the end of 
each reporting period. 

 
(d) Warrants 

 Warrants are an option to purchase additional securities from the issuer at a specified price during a 
specified period. Warrants are valued at the prevailing market price at the end of each reporting period. 
The Fund recognises a gain or loss equal to the change in fair value at the end of each reporting 
period. 

 (e) Swaps 
 Swaps are derivative instruments in which two counterparties agree to exchange one stream of cash 

flow against another stream. A credit default index swap is a credit derivative used to hedge credit risk 
or to take a position on a basket or credit entities (index). It is an agreement between two parties 
whereby one party pays the other a fixed coupon for the specified term of the agreement. The other 
party makes no payment unless a specified credit event occurs.  
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AASB101(77) 

AASB7(25) 

The Fund’s derivative financial instruments at year-end are detailed below: 

 30 June 2018 Fair Values 
  Contract/ 

notional 
$’000 

Assets 
$’000 

Liabilities
$’000

 Australian share price index futures 6,300 345 705

 International share price index futures 2,200 355 -

 Foreign currency forward contracts 9,000 845 -

 International interest rate futures 1,500 55 410

  19,000 1,600 1,115

     

 30 June 2017 Fair Values 
 Contract/ 

notional 
$’000 

Assets 
$’000 

Liabilities
$’000

 Australian share price index futures 7,000 255 318

 International share price index futures 3,500 345 -

 Foreign currency forward contracts 4,000 1,000 -

 International interest rate futures 1,200 - 220

  15,700 1,600 538

     

 Risk exposures and fair value measurements 

 Information about the Fund's exposure to credit risk, foreign exchange, interest rate risk and about the 
methods and assumptions used in determining fair values is provided in note 3 and note 5 to the 
financial statements. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the 
carrying amount of each class of derivative financial instruments disclosed above. 

  

 
Derivative financial instruments  

  

 Definition 

 

AASB139(9) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract within the scope of AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (see paragraphs 2-7 of AASB 139) with all three 
of the following characteristics: 

(a) its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial 
instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit 
rating or credit index, or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that 
the variable is not specific to a party to the contract (sometimes called the ‘underlying’) 

(b) it requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be 
required for other types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to 
changes in market factors, and 

(c) it is settled at a future date. 

AASB7(31)  An entity shall disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to evaluate 
the nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments to which the entity is exposed at 
the reporting date. 
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24B10 Structured entities1-11 

AASB12(B21) A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the 
dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity, and the relevant activities are directed by means of 
contractual arrangements. 

 The Fund considers all investments in managed investment schemes (funds) to be structured entities. 
The Fund invests in unrelated managed funds for the purpose of capital appreciation and or earning 
investment income. 

The investee funds’ objectives range from achieving medium to long term capital growth and whose 
investment strategy does not include the use of leverage. The investee funds invest in a number of 
different financial instruments, including equities and debt instruments. The investee funds finance 
their operations by issuing redeemable shares which are puttable at the holder’s option and entitles the 
holder to a proportional stake in the respective fund’s net assets.  

The Fund holds redeemable shares in each of the funds it invests in. 

AASB12(29) The exposure to investments in investee funds at fair value, by strategy employed, is disclosed in the 
following table; 

AASB12(29)(a) Strategy Number of 
investee 

funds

Total net asset value 
of investee funds

$’000

Fair value  of 
investment 

$’000 

% of net assets 
attributable to 

holders of 
redeemable 

shares**
 Australian property trusts 12 383,090 10,688 3 

 Australian equity trusts 10 337,650 5,923 2 

 International equity trusts 6 111,126 5,265 5 

      21,876  

 
 

AASB12(29)(b) The fair value of financial assets ($21,876,000) is included in financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss in the balance sheet. 

 **This represents the entity’s average percentage interest in the total net assets of the investee funds. 
The Fund has no individual holdings greater than 15%. 

AASB12(29)(c)(d) The Fund’s maximum exposure to loss from its interests in investee funds is equal to the total fair value 
of its investments in the investee funds as there are no off-balance sheet exposures relating to any of 
the investee funds. Once the Fund has disposed of its shares in an investee fund, it ceases to be 
exposed to any risk from that investee fund. 

AASB12B26(b) During the year ended 30 June 2018, total losses incurred on investments in investee funds were 
$1,300,000. 

AASB12B26(c) During the year the Fund earned fair value gains and distribution income as a result of its interests in 
other funds.  

 
Structured entities 

  

 Disclosure objectives 

AASB12(1) 

 

 The objective of AASB 12 is to require an entity to disclose information that enables users of its 
financial statements to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, its interests in other 
entities and the effects of those interests on its financial position, financial performance and cash 
flows. The requirements to disclose off balance sheet exposures and maximum exposures to 
losses relating to structured entities are among the key requirements of the standard. 



Structured entities

 

PwC VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds 2018 98 

 
Structured entities 

  

AASB12(2)  To accomplish that objective, the standard requires disclosures about the entity’s interests in 
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities as well as 
non-controlling interests (for subsidiaries) and significant judgements made in determining the 
accounting for interests in other entities and the determination that the entity is an investment 
entity, if applicable.  Value Accounts Unit Trust only illustrates those disclosures relating to 
interests in structured entities. 

 Interests in unconsolidated structured entities 

AASB12(24)  AASB 12 requires entities to disclose information about unconsolidated structured entities that 
helps users of its financial statements: 

- to understand the nature and extent of the entity’s interests in unconsolidated structured 
entities; and 

- to evaluate the nature of, and changes in, the risks associated with the entity’s interests in 
unconsolidated structured entities. 

AASB12(26) 

AASB12(29-31) 

 AASB 12 then outlines a number of specific disclosure requirements relating to interests in 
structured entities to meet the objectives outlined above covering; 

- the nature, purpose, size and activities of the structured entity as well as how the structured 
entity is financed 

- the carrying amounts of any recognised assets or liabilities relating to the unconsolidated 
structured entities (i.e.only those balances which are on the investor’s balance sheet) 

- the line item in the statement of financial position this information is presented in 

- the amount that best represents the entity’s maximum exposure to loss, including how this 
is determined 

- a comparison of the carrying value outlined above to the maximum exposure to loss 

- information about situations during the reporting period where an entity has provided 
financial or other support to a structured entity without having a contractual obligation to do 
so covering types of support and reasons for providing 

- any current intentions to provide financial or other support to a structured entity. 

AASB12B25,B26 

 

AASB12(27) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AASB12B2-6 

 

 

 

 

 The appendix of the standard also lists out additional information an entity would be expected 
to disclose in relation to interests in unconsolidated structured entities to meet the disclosure 
objective in paragraph 24(b) of the standard. 

Sponsorship 

 Where an entity does not have an interest in a structured entity but has sponsored the entity 
then AASB 12 also requires a number of disclosures covering; 

- how it has been determined which structured entities are sponsored 

- amounts of income and descriptions of income earned from the structured entity during the 
reporting period 

- the carrying amount of any assets transferred to the structured entity during the reporting 
period. 

These disclosures are only required where the entity does not have an interest in the 
structured entity at the reporting date. 

Aggregation 

 An entity shall decide, in the light of its circumstances, how much detail it provides to satisfy 
the information needs of users, how much emphasis it places on different aspects of the 
requirements and how it aggregates the information. It is necessary to strike a balance 
between burdening financial statements with excessive detail that may not assist users of 
financial statements and obscuring information as a result of too much aggregation. 
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Structured entities 

  

AASB12B2-6 

 

 An entity may aggregate the disclosures required by this Standard for interests in similar 
entities if aggregation is consistent with the disclosure objective and the requirements in 
paragraph B4, and does not obscure the information provided. An entity shall disclose how it 
has aggregated its interests in similar entities. 

 An entity shall present information separately for interests in: 

- subsidiaries; 

- joint ventures; 

- joint operations; 

- associates; and 

- unconsolidated structured entities. 

 In determining whether to aggregate information, an entity shall consider quantitative and 
qualitative information about the different risk and return characteristics of each entity it is 
considering for aggregation and the significance of each such entity to the reporting entity. The 
entity shall present the disclosures in a manner that clearly explains to users of financial 
statements the nature and extent of its interests in those other entities. 

 Examples of aggregation levels within the classes of entities set out in paragraph B4 that might 
be appropriate are: 

- nature of activities (e.g. a research and development entity, a revolving credit card 
securitisation entity) 

- industry classification 

- geography (e.g. country or region). 
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3BUnitholders 
 

Not mandatory This section shows a reconciliation of the net assets attributable to unitholders, explains 
the Fund’s approach to capital risk management and provides details of distributions 
made to unitholders during the reporting period.  

 

 

11. Net assets attributable to unitholders 101

12. Distributions to unitholders 104
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AASB101(112)(c)  
 

25B11 Net assets attributable to unitholders 1-11 
 
AASB132(16E)  

 
 

 
 

AASB101(80)(A) 

New illustration 

Under AASB 132 Financial instruments: Presentation, puttable financial instruments meet the definition 
of a financial liability to be classified as equity where certain strict criteria are met. The Fund shall 
classify a financial instrument as an equity instrument from the date when the instrument has all the 
features and meets the conditions. 
 
Prior to 1 July 2017 the fund classified its net assets attributable to unitholders as liabilities in 
accordance with AASB 132. On 1 July 2017, the Fund has elected into the AMIT tax regime. The 
Fund's constitution has been amended on the same date and it no longer has a contractual obligation 
to pay distributions to unitholders. Therefore the net assets attributable to unitholders of the Fund meet 
the criteria set out under AASB 132 and are classified as equity from 1 July 2017 onwards. 
 
As a result of the reclassification of net assets attributable to unitholders from liabilities to equity, the 
Fund’s distributions are no longer classified as finance cost in the statement of comprehensive income, 
but rather as dividends paid in the statement of changes in equity. 

AASB107(44A)-(44E) 

AASB101(136A)(a) 

Movements in the number of units and net assets attributable to unitholders during the year were as 
follows:1-4 

  30 June
2018

Number

30 June
2017

Number

30 June 
2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

 Opening balance 7,866,012 6,888,200 83,149 77,187
 Applications 2,335,279 1,183,103 26,991 12,902
 Redemptions (1,024,095) (205,291) (9,670) (2,165)
 Units issued upon reinvestment of 

distributions4 - - - -
 Decrease in net assets attributable to 

unitholders  
 (4,775)

 Distributions paid and payable (50) 
 Profit/(loss) for the year - - 11,235 

 Closing balance 9,177,196 7,866,012 111,655 83,149
  

 *Net assets attributable to unitholders are classified as equity at 30 June 2018 and as a financial liability 
at 30 June 2017. Refer to note 1 for further details. 

 

As stipulated within the Fund Constitution, each unit represents a right to an individual share in the 
Fund and does not extend to a right to the underlying assets of the Fund. There are no separate 
classes of units and each unit has the same rights attaching to it as all other units of the Fund. 

Units are redeemed on demand at the unitholder’s option. However, holders of these instruments 
typically retain them for the medium to long term. As such, the amount expected to be settled within 
twelve months after the end of the reporting period cannot be reliably determined.  

AASB101(136A)(b-d) Capital risk management5-8 

 The Fund considers its net assets attributable to unitholders as capital, notwithstanding net assets 
attributable to unitholders were classified as a liability until 30 June 2017. The amount of net assets 
attributable to unitholders can change significantly on a daily basis as the Fund is subject to daily 
applications and redemptions at the discretion of unitholders. Net assets attributable to unitholders are 
representative of the expected cash outflows on redemption.   

Daily applications and redemptions are reviewed relative to the liquidity of the Fund's underlying assets 
on a daily basis by the responsible entity. Under the terms of the Fund’s constitution, the responsible 
entity has the discretion to reject an application for units and to defer or adjust a redemption of units if 
the exercise of such discretion is in the best interests of unitholders. 
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Net assets attributable to unitholders  

  

  As discussed in note 2 to the financial statements net assets attributable to unitholders are 
classified as equity in accordance with AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation for 
VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust from 1 July 2017.  

AASB101(79),(80)  For each class of units on issue at any time during the reporting period, the number and 
amount of the following shall be disclosed: 
(a) units on issue as at the beginning of the reporting period 
(b) units issued during the reporting period 
(c) units redeemed or otherwise cancelled during the reporting period, and 
(d) units on issue as at the end of each reporting period. 

  The redemption price reflects the unitholders’ right to their share of the unrealised gain, 
therefore, the presentation of net assets attributable to unitholders on an aggregated basis (i.e. 
inclusive of what might otherwise be considered as retained profits/accumulated losses or 
reserves) is consistent with the economic nature of the unitholders’ rights. 

  Some investment funds may issue units in lieu of paying cash distributions however VALUE 
ACCOUNTS Unit Trust illustrates a situation where the distributions made in respect of 2018 
were paid in cash during the year. 

 Reclassification of units occurring during the year 

AASB101(80)(A)  Where the Fund has changed its constitution and AMIT conditions were met during the year, 
units were consequently reclassified from liability to equity during the year. The statement of 
changes in equity will therefore only show applications, redemptions etc. from the date of the 
reclassification. In this case, it may be helpful for readers if the table of movements in units and 
net assets attributable to unitholders discloses separately the movements while units were 
classified as liabilities and the movements from the date they were classified as equity. 

AASB101(134),(135) Capital management strategy 

  The capital risk management disclosures represent illustrative disclosures for an investment 
fund. 

  Reporting entities are required to disclose information that enables users of the financial 
statements to evaluate the entity’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital.  

  The information in relation to capital that must be disclosed includes: 
(a) qualitative information: a description of what the entity manages as capital, information 

about any externally imposed capital requirements and how the entity is meeting its 
objectives for managing capital 

(b) summary quantitative data about what the entity manages as capital 

(c) changes in (a) or (b) from the previous period  

(d) whether the entity complied with externally imposed capital requirements and, if not, the 
consequences of the non-compliance 

 Some fund constitutions provide the responsible entity with the discretion to reject an 
application or to defer or adjust a redemption request enabling the responsible entity to manage 
the fund in the best interests of all unitholders. PwC recommends the disclosure of such 
discretion, or special terms and conditions relating to applications and redemptions, in the 
financial statements. 

AASB101(136A) Puttable instruments 
 For puttable financial instruments classified as equity the entity shall disclose: 

(a) summary quantitative data about the amount classified as equity 

(b) its objectives, policies and processes for managing its obligation to repurchase or redeem 
the instruments when required to do so by the instrument holders, including any changes 
from the previous period 

(c) the expected cash outflow on redemption or repurchase of that class of financial 
instruments, and 

(d) information about how the expected cash outflows on redemption or repurchase were 
determined. 
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Net assets attributable to unitholders 

AASB101(80A)  If an entity has reclassified a puttable financial instrument as an equity instrument or an 
instrument that imposes on the entity an obligation to deliver to another party a pro-rata share 
of the net assets of the entity only on liquidation, it shall disclose the amount reclassified into 
and out of each category and the timing and reason for that reclassification.  

AASB101(138)(d)  If the entity is a limited life entity, it shall disclose information regarding the length of its life in 
the notes to the financial statements, if not disclosed elsewhere in information published with 
the financial statements. 
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AASB101(107) 
26B12 Distributions to unitholders1-4 

 The distributions for the year were as follows: 

  Year ended 
  30 June

2018
$’000

30 June
2018
CPU

30 June 
2017 
$’000 

30 June
2017
CPU

 Distributions paid 50 0.545 1,000 12.713

 Distributions payable - - - -

  50 1,000 

  

 
Distributions to unitholders  

  

AASB101(82)(b)  Distributions were included in finance costs while the Fund's unit were classified as liabilities 
during the prior year. They are now presented in the statement of changes in equity.  

  Distributions should be disclosed for each class of units on issue at any time during the 
reporting period. 

 Dividends in the form of non-cash assets 

  If the entity has distributed assets other than cash as dividends to its owners, it shall: 

AASB-I17(15) (a) present the difference between the carrying amount of the assets distributed and the 
carrying amount of the dividend payable as a separate line item in profit or loss 

AASB-I17(16) (b) disclose the following information, if applicable: 

(i) the carrying amount of the dividend payable at the beginning and end of the period, 
and 

(ii) the increase or decrease in the carrying amount recognised in the period as a result of 
a change in the fair value of the assets to be distributed. 

AASB-I17(17)  If the entity has declared a dividend to distribute a non-cash asset after the end of the reporting 
period but before the financial statements are authorised for issue, it shall disclose: 

 (a) the nature of the asset to be distributed 

 (b) the carrying amount of the asset(s) to be distributed as of the end of the reporting period, 
and 

 (c) the estimated fair value of the asset to be distributed as of the end of the reporting period, if 
it is different from its carrying amount, and the information about the method used to 
determine that fair value required by paragraphs 93(b), (d), (g) and (i) and 99 of AASB 13. 
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4BCash flow information 
 

Not mandatory This section provides further information in relation to the Funds’ statement of cash flows. 

 

 

13. Cash and cash equivalents 106

14. Reconciliation of profit/(loss) to net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 106
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27B13 Cash and cash equivalents1-2 

  30 June 
2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

AASB107(45) Cash at bank     1,620 325
AASB107(45) Money market instruments  2,000 1,000
  3,620 1,325
    

 
Cash and cash equivalents  

  

 Definition of cash and cash equivalents 

AASB107(45) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

AASB107(48) 

 

 Cash includes cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly 
liquid (with an original maturity of 3 months or less) investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. Entities must 
disclose the components of cash and cash equivalents and present a reconciliation of the 
amounts in their statement of cash flows with the equivalent items reported in the balance 
sheet. Refer to commentary paragraphs 4-8 to the statement of cash flows for a discussion on 
what items may be classified as cash and cash equivalents.  

 An entity shall disclose, together with a commentary by management, the amount of significant 
cash and cash equivalent balances held by the entity that are not available for use. 

  

 

 

 
28B14 Reconciliation of profit/(loss) to net cash inflow/(outflow) from 

operating activities1-5 
  Year ended 
  

30 June 
2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

AASB1054(16) 
(a) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) to net cash 

inflow/(outflow) from operating activities3 
 Profit/(loss) for the year 11,235 -

 Increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to unitholders - (4,775)

 Proceeds from sale of financial instruments held at fair value through 
profit or loss 9,223 7,188

 Purchase of financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss  (28,175) (16,337)

 Net (gains)/losses on financial instruments held at fair value through 
profit or loss (8,158) 4,225

 Net change in margin accounts 803 487

 Net change in receivables and other assets (49) 665

 Net change in payables and other liabilities 170 (355)

 Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities (14,951) (8,902)

  

AASB107(43) (b) Non-cash financing and investing activities1 

 During the year, the following distribution payments were satisfied by the 
issue of units under the distribution reinvestment plan - -
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Reconciliation of profit/(loss) to net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating 
activities 

  

 Information to be disclosed 

AASB107(43)  Investing and financing transactions that do not require the use of cash or cash equivalents 
shall be disclosed in a way that provides all the relevant information about the investing and 
financing activities. 

AASB107(44)  Other examples of transactions or events that would require disclosure under paragraph 43 of 
AASB 107 include the following: 

(a) acquisitions of assets by assuming directly related liabilities or by means of a finance lease 

(b) acquisitions of entities by means of an equity issue 

(c) conversion of debt to equities 

(d) rolling of debt instruments. 

 Indirect method of presenting cash flows from operations activities 

AASB1054(16)  

 

 

 

AASB 107 (44A)-(44E) 

 Entities that present their operating cash flows using the indirect method will not need to 
disclose a reconciliation such as the one in note 14 to the financial statements, since most of 
the information provided in this note will in that case be provided on the face of the statement of 
cash flows. 

Net debt reconciliation – new disclosure requirement from 1 January 2017 

 Entities must now also disclose information that will allow users to understand changes in 
liabilities arising from financing activities.  This includes changes arising from: 

 Cash flows, such as drawdowns and repayments of borrowings, and 

 Non-cash changes, such as acquisitions, disposals and unrealised exchange 
differences. 

 As VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds does not have any liabilities for which the cash flows 
are classified as financing activities in the statement of cash flows, other than the net assets 
attributable to unitholders in the prior period, it is providing the relevant information in note 11.  
However, investment funds that do have other borrowings will need to be mindful of this new 
requirement.  For an illustration of the new disclosure requirement please refer to our VALUE 
ACCOUNTS Holdings Limited December 2017 publication. 
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5BOther information 
 

Not mandatory   This section provides information about specific expense items and related party 
transactions.  
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29B15 Remuneration of auditors1-13 

 During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the Fund:

`  Year ended 
  30 June 

2018 
$ 

30 June
2017

$
 PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm  
AASB1054(10)(a) Audit and other assurance services  
 Audit and review of financial statements12 30,893 25,625
 Audit of compliance plan13 12,523 11,604

 Total remuneration for audit and other assurance services 43,416 37,229

  

AASB1054(10)(b),(11) Taxation services 
 Tax compliance services 11,590 8,642

 Total remuneration for taxation services 11,590 8,642

    

AASB1054(10)(b),(11) Other services 
 Benchmarking services - 1,139

 Total remuneration of PricewaterhouseCoopers1 55,006 47,010

    

 It is the Fund’s policy to employ PricewaterhouseCoopers on assignments additional to their statutory 
audit duties where PricewaterhouseCoopers expertise and experience with the Fund are important. 
These assignments are principally tax advice, or where PricewaterhouseCoopers is awarded 
assignments on a competitive basis. It is the Fund’s policy to seek competitive tenders for all major 
consulting projects. 

 
 

Remuneration of auditors  

  

AASB1054(10) Audit remuneration disclosure requirements 

  Under AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures entities must disclose fees to each auditor 
or reviewer, including any network firm, separately for: 

(a) the audit or review of the financial statements, and 

(b) all other services performed during the period. 

  The sample disclosures in note 15 to the financial statements present the typical situation for 
an investment fund that pays audit and non-audit fees directly. 

 Example disclosures exceed the requirements of AASB 1054 

  Unlike under the previous rules in AASB 101, it is no longer necessary to disclose separately 
the nature and amount of fees paid for each non-audit service. Instead, it is sufficient if an entity 
provides an aggregate amount for non-audit fees by auditor, together with a narrative 
explanation about the nature of the non-audit services provided. 

  However, PwC supports enhanced disclosure and transparency of remuneration paid or 
payable to auditors for both audit and non-audit services in the financial statements of publicly 
listed entities. The sample disclosures in note 15 to the financial statements therefore exceed 
the requirements in AASB 1054 in the following respects: 

(a) we have retained the breakdown of the fees paid for non-audit services by type of service, 
and 

(b) the paragraph at the foot of the note concerning the group's policy for the employment of 
the auditors for non audit services is not required by AASB 1054. 
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PwC VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds 2018 110 

 
Remuneration of auditors  

  

  It is further not clear whether a separate disclosure fee to network forms is strictly required 
under AASB 1054. However, we believe that this information is relevant to users and therefore 
continue to provide a breakdown of fees paid directly to PwC Australia and paid to our network 
firms. 

 Network firm 

AASB1054(BC7)  The notion of a network firm is taken from APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants issued by Accounting and Professional Ethical Standards Board (APESB). The 
AASB decided not to define network firm or provide explanatory material for the purposes of 
AASB 1054 on the basis that the notion is generally understood. 

APES 110(2) 

 

 A network firm is defined in APES 110 as a firm or entity that belongs to a network. A network 
is a larger structure: 

(a) that is aimed at co-operation, and 

(b) that is clearly aimed at profit or cost sharing, or shares common ownership, control or 
management, common quality control policies and procedures, common business strategy, 
the use of a common brand name or a significant part of professional resources. 

  Further guidance on networks and network firms can be found in paragraphs 290.13 to 290.24 
of APES 110. 

 Amounts paid or payable by another entity 

  Where an amount is paid or payable by another entity (e.g. the parent entity or the responsible 
entity) the recommended approach is to disclose the amount in the individual entity’s notes to 
the financial statements, regardless of who paid it. In cases where it is not possible to make an 
allocation, the individual entity’s financial statements should include a suitable explanation. 

 Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

UIG1031(6),(7)  PwC recommends that entities that are not able to recover GST on fees for audit and other 
services and other expenses should include a policy note indicating which expense items 
disclosed in the financial statements are inclusive of non-recoverable GST. They could also 
amend the wording of specific disclosures such as auditor’s remuneration to make it clear that 
the amounts disclosed are inclusive of non-recoverable GST, e.g. by adding the words 
'including non-recoverable GST' to the relevant captions. 

 Rounding 

ASIC 2016/191  Audit remuneration must be disclosed to the nearest dollar by entities with assets (or 
consolidated assets) of less than $1,000 million, and such remuneration may only be rounded 
to the nearest $1,000 by entities with assets (or consolidated assets) of more than $1,000 
million. See Appendix A for further information.  

 Audit services 

  An entity shall omit ‘review’ from this caption where a review of the entity’s financial statements 
is not required under the Corporations Act 2001. For illustrative purposes, this fund prepares an 
interim report which is reviewed by the auditors. For further discussion of reporting 
requirements, including half-year reporting refer to Appendix A. 

  Fees for other audit work under the Corporations Act 2001 may include fees paid/payable to 
the auditor for the audit of the entity’s compliance plan. 
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30B16 Other operating expenses1 

  Year ended 
  30 June 

2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

 Overseas advisory fees 51 49
 Other fees 52 32
  103 81
    

 
Other operating expenses 

  

 Material items 

AASB101(97)  When items of income and expense are material, their nature and amount shall be disclosed 
separately either in the statement of comprehensive income or in the notes.  
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31B17 Related party transactions1-28 

 
(a) Responsible entity 

AASB124(18) The responsible entity of VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust is VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds 
Limited.  

 
(b) Directors 

AASB124(9) Key management personnel includes persons who were directors of VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment 
Funds Limited at any time during the financial year as follows:  

Not mandatory A Director (resigned 14 October 2017) 

 B Director 

 C Director 

 D Director (appointed 20 May 2018) 

 
(c) Other key management personnel 

 There were no other persons with responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of 
the Fund, directly or indirectly during the financial year. 

 
(d) Transactions with key management personnel16-21 

AASB124(17),(18A) Key management personnel services are provided by VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds Limited 
and included in the management fees disclosed in (e) below. There is no separate charge for these 
services. There was no compensation paid directly by the Fund to any of the key management 
personnel. 

AASB128(18),(19)(f) The following transactions occurred with key management personnel during the reporting period:  

  30 June 
2018 

$ 

30 June
2017

$
   
 Application for units 100,606 89,800

 Redemption of units - -

 The Fund has not made, guaranteed or secured, directly or indirectly, any loans to the key management 
personnel or their personally related entities at any time during the reporting period. 

CA300(13)(b) Key management personnel unitholdings22 

 The key management personnel of VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds Limited held units in the 
Fund as follows: 

 30 June 2018 
 

Unitholder

No. of 
units held 

opening 

No. of 
units held 

closing 

Fair value 
of 

Investment
Interest 

held

No. of 
units 

acquired 

No. of 
units 

disposed 

Distributions 
paid/payable 
by the Fund

  (Units) (Units) ($) (%) (Units) (Units) ($)
 B Director 85 132 1,606,000 .001 47 - 1

   

 30 June 2017 
 

Unitholder 

No. of 
units held 

opening 

No. of 
units held 

closing 
Fair value of 

Investment
Interest 

held

No. of 
units 

acquired 

No. of 
units 

disposed 

Distributions 
paid/payable 
by the Fund

  (Units) (Units) ($) (%) (Units) (Units) ($)
 B Director 63 85 898,000 .001 22 - 11

  

 Except as disclosed above, no key management personnel have entered into any transactions with the 
Fund during the financial year and there were no material balances involving key management 
personnel’s interests outstanding at year end. 
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AASB124(18), (18A) 

AASB124(19)(b) 

 

 

(e)  Responsible entity's/manager's fees and other transactions 
Under the terms of the Fund Constitution, the responsible entity is entitled to receive management fees, 
calculated by reference to the average daily net assets (excluding net assets attributable to unitholders) 
of the Fund as follows: 

 (i) 0.60% (2017: 0.60%) per annum charged on the first $100,000,000 of unitholders’ funds managed 

 (ii) 0.50% (2017: 0.50%) per annum charged on the next $50,000,000 of unitholders’ funds managed, 
and 

 (iii) 0.40% (2017: 0.40%) per annum charged on any unitholders’ funds thereafter. 

 Under the terms of the Fund Constitution, the responsible entity is also entitled to receive a performance 
fee if the performance of the Fund exceeds its benchmark, being the MSCI World Index, by 10%. No 
performance fee was paid in the current or previous year. 

All expenses in connection with the preparation of accounting records and the maintenance of the unit 
register are reimbursed in accordance with the Fund Constitution. 

 The transactions during the year and amounts payable at year end between the Fund and the 
responsible entity were as follows: 

  30 June 
2018 

$ 

30 June
2017

$
 Management fees for the year paid by the Fund to the responsible entity 803,136 683,624

 Fees earned by the responsible entity in respect of investments by the 
Fund in other schemes managed by the responsible entity* 80,033 59,303

 Administration expenses incurred by the responsible entity which are 
reimbursed in accordance with the Fund Constitution 12,091 19,211

 Aggregate amounts payable to the responsible entity at the end of the 
reporting period 65,356 58,108

  

 

* Where the Fund invests into other schemes managed by the responsible entity, the responsible 
entity's fee is calculated after rebating fees charged in the underlying schemes. 

  



Related party transactions

 

PwC VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds 2018 114 

AASB124(19)(a)(b) 

AASB124(19)(g) 
(f) Related party unitholdings25 

 The only related party to the fund as defined by AASB 124 is VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds 
Limited which has no unit holdings in the fund. Other schemes (managed by VALUE ACCOUNTS 
Investment Funds Limited), held units in the Fund as follows: 

 30 June 2018        
 

Unitholder 

No. of 
units held 

opening

No. of 
units held 

closing 

Fair value 
of 

investment
Interest 

held

No. of 
units 

acquired 

No. of 
units 

disposed 

Distribu-
tions paid/ 
payable by 

the Fund
  (Units) (Units) ($) (%) (Units) (Units) ($)
 VALUE 

Superannuation 
Fund 1,732,439 1,193,144 14,514,597 13 266,705 806,000 6,503

 VALUE Life 
Limited - 276,273 3,360,861 3 276,273 - 1,506

 VALUE Master 
Fund 1,101,974 1,744,493 21,221,757 19 892,519 250,000 9,508

         

 30 June 2017        
 

Unitholder

No. of 
units held 

opening
No. of units 
held closing 

Fair value 
of 

investment
Interest 

held

No. of 
units 

acquired 

No. of 
units 

disposed 

Distribu-
tions paid/ 
payable by 

the Fund
  (Units) (Units) ($) (%) (Units) (Units) ($)
 VALUE 

Superannuation 
Fund 1,405,988 1,732,439 18,292,823 22% 326,451 - 220,245

 VALUE Master 
Fund 906,742 1,101,974 11,635,743 14% 195,332 100 140,094

AASB124(18)(b) 

AASB124(19)(g) 
(g) Investments 

 The Fund held investments in the following schemes which are also managed by VALUE ACCOUNTS 
Investment Funds Limited or its related parties:  

  

  Fair value of investment Interest held 

Distributions 
received/ 
receivable 

Units  
acquired 

during the year 

Units 
disposed  
during the 

year 

 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018  2018 2017 

  $ $ % % $ $ No. No. No. No. 

 VALUE Australian 
Share Fund 

4,923,002 6,811,099 8 5 30,113 30,022 - - - 15,000

 VALUE International 
Fund 

4,265,133 184,291 16 12 - 21,187 50,000 - - -

 VALUE Property 
Securities Fund 

9,688,027 7,247,122 12 13 45,301 - 30,000 - - 10,000

  18,876,162 14,242,512 75,414 51,209 80,000 - - 25,000

  

AASB124(18)(a)(b) Distributions received/receivable includes an amount of $30,113 (2017: $30,022) in respect of VALUE 
Australian Share Fund which remains unpaid at the end of the reporting period. 

The Fund did not hold any investments in VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds Limited or its related 
parties during the year. 
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Related party transactions  

  

 Accounting standards and other guidance for related party disclosures 

AASB124(Aus28.1) 

(Aus28.2) 

 Accounting standards for related party disclosures are set out in AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures.  

While not all of the disclosure requirements of AASB 124 are set out in this note, those normally 
relevant to registered schemes have been illustrated. More detailed disclosures and 
commentary are provided in the financial statements of VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings Annual 
financial reporting December 2017. 

For purposes of this illustrative, VALUE ACCOUNTS UNIT Trust has disclosed other funds 
managed by the fund manager as related entities. However, the only disclosure which is 
mandatory under AASB 124 is the holdings of the fund manager itself in the fund (not the funds 
also managed by the same fund manager) which is not applicable for this illustrative.  

FSC Guidance  

Note No.8.00 

 FSC Guidance Note No.8.00 Related Party Transactions also requires compliance with 
AASB 124, as well as setting out additional guidance for related party disclosures. 

FSC Guidance  

Note 
No.8.00(9.4.1) 

 FSC Guidance Note No.8.00 suggests that the categories of related parties for a scheme could 
include: 

(a) the scheme operator, the trustee or their agents 

(b) a related body corporate of the responsible entity or trustee  

(c) an associate (director or secretary) of the operator or trustee 

(d) a parent, spouse, child or other close relative of a director or secretary of the operator or 
trustee (or of their related bodies corporate) 

(e) an entity over which any person mentioned above exerts significant control or significant 
influence. 

 Presentation 

  All of the related party information required by AASB 124 that is relevant to the Fund has been 
presented, or referred to, in one note. This is considered to be a convenient and desirable 
method of presentation, but there is no requirement to present the information in this manner. 
Compliance with the standard could also be achieved by disclosing the information in relevant 
notes throughout the financial statements. 

 Materiality 

AASB124(aus1.8) 

 

AASB101(7) 

 

 The disclosures required by AASB 124 apply to the financial statements when the information is 
material. According to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, materiality depends on 
the size and nature of an item. It may be necessary to treat an item or a group of items as 
material because of their nature, even if they would not be judged material on the basis of the 
amounts involved. This may apply when transactions occur between an entity and parties who 
have a fiduciary responsibility in relation to that entity, such as those transactions between the 
entity and its key management personnel. 

  It is particularly important to consider the nature of related party transactions. For example, 
services may be provided free of charge to a related party and a conclusion on whether the 
services provided are material can only be made by considering their nature. 

 Relationships between parents and subsidiaries 

AASB124(13)  Relationships between parents and subsidiaries shall be disclosed irrespective of whether there 
have been transactions between those related parties. An entity shall disclose the name of the 
entity’s parent and, if different, the ultimate controlling party. If neither the entity’s parent nor the 
ultimate controlling party produces financial statements available for public use, the name of the 
next most senior parent that does so shall also be disclosed. 

AASB124(13)  The ultimate controlling party may be an individual or a group of individuals (e.g. a family). 

AASB124(Aus13.1)  If any of the parent entities or the ultimate controlling parties disclosed as per paragraph 7 
above is incorporated or otherwise constituted outside Australia, the disclosure must identify 
which of the entities is incorporated overseas and where, and disclose the name of the ultimate 
controlling entity that is incorporated within Australia. 
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Related party transactions  

  

 Transactions with related parties 

AASB124(18)  If there have been transactions between the reporting entity and a related party, the reporting 
entity must disclose: 

 (a) the nature of the related party transactions, and 

 (b) information about the transactions and outstanding balances necessary for an 
understanding of the potential effect of the relationship on the financial statements: 

AASB124(18)(a) (i) the amount of the transactions 

AASB124(18)(b) (ii) the amount of outstanding balances (including commitments) and their terms and 
conditions, whether they are secured, the nature of the consideration to be provided in 
settlement and details of any guarantees given 

AASB124(18)(c) (iii) provisions for doubtful debts related to the amount of outstanding balances, and 

AASB124(18)(d) (iv) the expense recognised during the period in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from 
related parties. 

AASB124(19)  As the numbers of units held by related parties are classified as a liability rather than equity, 
these are deemed to be an outstanding balance as at the reporting date. Accordingly, the fair 
value of the outstanding units is disclosed in accordance with AASB 124(18). 

AASB124(9),(21)  Related party transactions are transfers of resources, services or obligations between the 
reporting entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged. They include 
commitments to do something if a particular event occurs (or does not occur) in the future and 
executory contracts (recognised or unrecognised). 

 Related party definition 

AASB124(9),(IE4)-(IE26 )  The definition of a related party includes the following persons and entities: 

(a) A person (or a close member of that person’s family) is related to the reporting entity if the 
person: 

(i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity 

(ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity, or 

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity, or of a parent of 
the reporting entity 

(b) An entity (B) is related to a reporting entity (A) if: 

(i) A and B are members of the same group (that is all entities within a group are related 
to each other) 

(ii) A is an associate or joint venture of B. In this case A is related to all members of the 
group that B belongs to 

(iii) A and B are joint ventures of the same third party, C 

(iv) A is a joint venture of C and B is an associate of C (or vice versa) 

(v) B is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of A or an entity 
related to A. If A is itself a post-employment benefit plan, any sponsoring employers 
are also related to A 

(vi) B is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a) above 

(vii) A person who has control or joint control over A has significant influence over B or is a 
member of the key management personnel of B. 

(viii) B, or any member of a group of which B is a part, provides key management 
personnel services to A or to A’s parent.  

AASB124(12)  In the above definition, an associate includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture 
includes subsidiaries of the joint venture. 

AASB124(9)  Close family members are defined as those family members who may be expected to influence, 
or be influenced by, the key management person. They include a person’s children and spouse 
or domestic partner, children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner and dependants of 
that person’s spouse or domestic partner. 
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Related party transactions  

  

 Key management personnel disclosures
 Disclosures for all reporting entities 
AASB124(17)  All reporting entities must disclose key management personnel compensation in total and for 

each of the following categories: 
AASB124(17)(a) (a) Short-term employee benefits 
AASB124(17)(b) (b) Post-employment benefits 
AASB124(17)(c) (c) other long-term benefits 
AASB124(17)(d) (d) termination benefits 
AASB124(17)(e) (e) share-based payments 
 Key management personnel 

AASB124(9)  For the purposes of AASB 124, key management personnel are defined as persons having 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, 
directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity. 

AASB124(Aus9.1)  A director is a person who is a director under the Corporations Act 2001 or, in the case of 
entities governed by bodies not called a board of directors, a person who, regardless of the 
name that is given to the position, is appointed to the position of member of the governing body, 
council, commission or authority. Individuals who are directors of subsidiaries within an 
economic entity but not directors of the parent entity are not directors of the group. 

  For a typical MIS, the key management personnel would include the directors of the 
responsible entity and possibly other non-director personnel of either the responsible entity or 
the Fund itself (for example a full-time CEO of the responsible entity). 

AASB124 (17A),(18A)  If an entity hires key management personnel services from another entity (e.g. a responsible 
entity or management entity), the entity does not need to disclose any compensation paid by 
the management entity to its employees or directors. Instead, the management entity (and any 
member of the group of which the management entity is a part) is specifically identified in 
paragraph 9(b)(viii) as a related party and amounts payable to the management entity for the 
provision of key management personnel services must be separately disclosed. 

AASB124(18)  In addition, if there are any transaction entered into directly between the reporting entity (i.e. the 
fund) and the key management personnel these would need to be disclosed in aggregate. 
VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust has not entered into any such transactions.  

 Individual KMP disclosures no longer required 

AASB2011-4 
CA300A 
CR2M.3.03 

 The Australian-specific disclosure requirements in AASB 124 which required detailed 
disclosures of compensation received by each KMP, equity holdings, loans and other 
transactions with individual KMPs (paragraphs Aus29.1 to Aus29.9.3) were removed from 
AASB 124 effective for financial years commencing on or after 1 July 2013. Listed disclosing 
entities that are companies must now make these disclosures in their remuneration report 
under Section 300A of the Corporations Act and Corporations Regulations 2M.3.03. However, 
as section 300A does not apply to disclosing entities that are not companies, entities such as 
VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust are no longer required to provide the detailed disclosures in 
their notes to the financial statements. Nevertheless, we have retained the disclosure of the 
names of the individual KMPs and the units held by each of them, as many preparers consider 
this information relevant and of interest to investors and other stakeholders.    

 Transactions with related parties of the responsible entity 

AASB124(18)  The objective of AASB 124 is to ensure that the entity’s financial statements contain the 
disclosures necessary to draw attention to the possibility that its financial position and profit or 
loss may have been affected by the existence of related parties and by transactions and 
outstanding balances with such parties. On that basis, if there are significant transactions with 
entities that are a related party of the responsible entity, then these should also be disclosed. 
The amendments in AASB 124 confirm this, by specifically identifying a management entity and 
any members of the group of which the management entity is a part as related parties. 
Examples of such transactions may be deposits held with, or custodian fees paid to a parent 
entity or a sister entity of the responsible entity. VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust has not entered 
into any such transactions and therefore has not made any disclosures in this regard.  

  Examples of such transactions may be deposits held with, or custodian fees paid to a parent 
entity or a sister entity of the responsible entity. VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust has not entered 
into any such transactions and therefore has not made any disclosures in this regard. 
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Related party transactions  

  

 Related party schemes’ unitholders 

Non Mandatory  The disclosure of units held in the Fund by other schemes that are managed by the same entity 
and vice versa was previously recommended by the FSC. While the relevant guidance note has 
since been repealed, PwC believes disclosure of such information is best practice and will 
further help users understand the full extent of related party relationships and transactions. 

 Terms and conditions 

AASB124(18)(b)(i), (23)  The terms and conditions of outstanding balances shall be disclosed, including whether they 
are secured, and the nature of the consideration to be provided in settlement. Disclosures that 
related party transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length 
transactions are made only if such terms can be substantiated. 

 Categories 

AASB124(19)  The disclosures of related party transactions required by paragraph 18 of AASB 124 shall be 
made separately for each of the following categories: 

 (a) the parent 

 (b) entities with joint control or significant influence over the entity 

 (c) subsidiaries 

 (d) associates 

 (e) joint ventures in which the entity is a venture 

 (f) key management personnel of the entity or its parent, and 

 (g) other related parties. 

 Rounding 

ASIC 2016/191  Any amounts required to be disclosed by AASB 124 in relation to transactions with related 
parties, key management personnel compensation and other key management personnel 
information shall be shown to the nearest dollar by entities with assets (or consolidated assets) 
of less than $1,000 million, and may only be rounded to the nearest $1,000 by entities with 
assets (or consolidated assets) of more than $1,000 million. Refer to Appendix A for further 
commentary. 
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6BUnrecognised items 
 

Not mandatory This section of the notes provides information about items that are not recognised in the 
financial statements as they do not (yet) satisfy the recognition criteria.  
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32B18 Events occurring after the reporting period1-5 

 No significant events have occurred since the end of the reporting period which would impact on the 
financial position of the Fund disclosed in the balance sheet as at 30 June 2018 or on the results and 
cash flows of the Fund for the year ended on that date. 

  

 
Events occurring after the reporting period  

  

 Non-adjusting events after the reporting period 

AASB110(21)(a)(b)  The above disclosure indicates that there have been no reportable subsequent events. In the 
event that an event occurred that is indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period 
(i.e. a non-adjusting event), disclosure should be made of the nature of the event and an 
estimate of its financial effect (or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made). 

 Updating disclosure about conditions at the end of the reporting period 

AASB110(19),(20)  If an entity receives information after the reporting period about conditions that existed at the 
end of the reporting period, it shall update disclosures that relate to these conditions, in the light 
of the new information.  

 Business combinations effected after the reporting period 

AASB3(59)(b) 
AASB3(B64),(B66) 

 AASB 3 Business Combinations requires disclosures relating to business combinations effected 
after the reporting period but before the financial statements are authorised for issue. The 
acquirer shall disclose the information required by paragraph B64 of AASB 3 for each business 
combination, unless the initial accounting for the business combination is incomplete at the time 
the financial statements are authorised for issue. In that situation, the acquirer shall describe 
which disclosures could not be made and the reasons why they cannot be made. 

 More detailed disclosures and commentary are provided in the financial statements of VALUE 
ACCOUNTS Holding Limited Annual financial reporting December 2017 publication.  

 Using pro forma balance sheets to disclose post reporting period acquisitions and disposals 

ASIC 2015/842  To illustrate the financial effect of material acquisitions and disposals of entities or operations 
after the reporting period, an entity may wish to present a pro-forma balance sheet in the notes 
to the financial statements. While the Corporations Act 2001 does not generally permit pro-
forma financial statements to be included in a financial report, ASIC has given relief in these 
particular circumstances, provided certain conditions set out in ASIC Corporations (Post 
Balance Date Reporting) Instrument 2015/842 (formerly class order 05/644) are satisfied. 

 

 
33B19 Contingent assets and liabilities and commitments 

AASB137(86)(89)(91) 

AASB101(114)(c)(iv) 
CA295(1)(c) 

There are no outstanding contingent assets, liabilities or commitments as at 30 June 2018 and 
30 June 2017. 
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CA295(1)(c) 
34BDirectors' declaration1-9 

 In the opinion of the directors of the responsible entity: 

CA295(4)(d)  the financial statements and notes set out on pages 25-121 are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 

 (i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other 
mandatory professional reporting requirements;3 

 (iii) giving a true and fair view of the Fund’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its 
performance for the financial year ended on that date, 

CA295(4)(c) 

 

 
CA295(4)(ca) 

 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Fund will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable4, and 

 Note 2(a) confirms that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.5 

CA295(5)(a) 

 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.6-7 

CA295(5)(c) 

 

 

 

 

B Director8 

Disclosure of location not 
mandatory 

CA295(5)(b) 

Sydney 

14 September 20188 
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Directors' declaration  

  

 Format of directors’ declaration 

  The directors’ declaration illustrated is included by way of example. Other formats can be used 
as long as they comply with all relevant requirements. 

  This document does not illustrate the directors’ declaration for consolidated financial 
statements. Please refer to VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings Limited Annual financial reporting 
December 2017 publication for details. 

 Reference to other mandatory professional reporting requirements 

AASB1054(16)  Reference to other mandatory professional reporting requirements is not required, but is 
recommended. 

 Solvency declaration 

ASIC RG22  In Regulatory Guide 22, ASIC provides guidance to directors and auditors of companies in 
relation to the solvency declaration required by CA 295(4)(c). The Guide discusses the 
obligations on directors in making the declaration, and the implications for auditors, under the 
following headings: 

 (a) debts to be taken into account by directors in making the solvency statement 

 (b) matters to be considered by directors 

 (c) qualified statements by directors, and 

 (d) implications for auditors. 

CA295(4)(c) IFRS compliance statement  

  The directors’ declaration must mention if the notes to the financial statements include an 
explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). However, there is no need to explain why such a statement has been 
omitted, where this is the case. 

 Declarations by CEO and CFO - listed entities only 

CA295(4)(c)  The directors’ declaration of a listed entity must state that the directors have been given the 
declarations by the chief executive officer (CEO) and chief financial officer (CFO) required by 
CA 295A in relation to the entity’s financial statements. 

CA295A(1),(2)  The declarations must state whether, in the CEO’s and CFO’s opinion: 

 (a) the financial records of the entity for the financial year have been properly maintained in 
accordance with CA 286 

 (b) the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with accounting standards 

 (c) the financial statement and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view 

 (d) any other matters that are prescribed by regulations in relation to the financial statements 
and notes for the financial year are satisfied. 

 Dating and signing of declaration 

CA295(5)(a)-(c)  The directors’ declaration shall be made in accordance with a resolution of the directors, specify 
the date on which it was made and be signed by a director. 

  The deadlines for various kinds of entities for signing the directors’ declaration are set out in 
Appendix B. 
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ASA700 

CA307,CA308 

 
35BIndependent audit report to the unitholders of VALUE ACCOUNTS 
Unit Trust1-5 

  The audit report will be provided by the entity’s auditor upon completion of the audit of the financial report. 
As the wording of the report may differ in certain aspects from fund to fund, we have not included an 
illustrative report in this publication. 

 

 
Independent audit report 

  

 Form and content of audit report 

CA307A 

APES410 

 Standards and guidance on the preparation of audit reports on general purpose financial reports 
are given in Auditing Standard ASA 700 The Auditor’s Report on a General Purpose Financial 
Report. Compliance with ASA 700 is mandatory for all audits carried out under the Corporations 
Act 2001 and for all other audits carried out by members of the Accounting Bodies. 

 Other matters on which the auditor may be required to report 

CA308(2)  If the auditor is of the opinion that the financial report does not comply with an accounting 
standard, the audit report must, to the extent it is practicable to do so, quantify the effect of the 
non-compliance. If it is not practicable to quantify the effect fully, the report must say why. 

CA308(3)  The audit report must describe (on an exception basis): 

 (a) any defect or irregularity in the financial report 

 (b) any deficiency, failure shortcoming in respect of the following or matters: 

 (i) whether the auditor has been given all information, explanation and assistance 
necessary for the conduct of the audit 

 (ii) whether the entity has kept financial records sufficient to enable a financial report to be 
prepared and audited 

 (iii) whether the entity has kept other records and registers as required by the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

CA308(3A)  The audit report must include any statements or disclosures required by auditing standards. 

CA308(3B)  If the financial report includes additional information under CA 295(3)(c) (information included to 
give a true and fair view of financial position and performance), the audit report must include a 
statement of the auditor’s opinion on whether the inclusion of that additional information was 
necessary to give the true and fair view required by CA 297. 
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VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust 
Financial statements – 30 June 2018 

Introduction 
This section of the publication presents extracts from illustrative general purpose financial statements for a fictitious pooled 
superannuation trust (PST), VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust (the Trust), which is a PST in accordance 
with the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 1993 (SIS Act) and Superannuation Industry Regulations 1994 (SIS 
Regulations). 

The annual financial statements consist of: 

 a statement of comprehensive income 

 a balance sheet 

 a statement of changes in equity 

 a statement of cash flows 

 extracts from the notes to the financial statements 

 a trustee’s statement, and  

 an independent report of the approved auditor. 

The PST invests in listed equities, unlisted unit trusts, equity and index derivatives, fixed interest securities and currency 
contracts. 

The purpose of these illustrative financial statements is to highlight the differences between the disclosure requirements of a 
unit trust, as provided in the VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust illustrative financial statements, and the disclosure 
requirements for a PST. Therefore, the illustrative disclosures provided should be read in conjunction with the full 
disclosures provided in VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust’s financial statements. The disclosure requirements should be 
adapted to particular situations as required, or alternative preferred disclosures, wordings and forms of presentation which 
may be equally acceptable can be adopted where they include the specific disclosures prescribed in the reporting 
pronouncements. 

Source of disclosure requirements 

A column has been provided in the reports and statements for direct reference to the source of disclosure requirements. 

Abbreviations 

Abbreviations used in this publication are set out in Appendix F. 
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7BVALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust
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 These financial statements cover VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust as an 
individual entity. 

The Trustee of VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust is Trustee Ltd (ABN 11 
222 333 444).  

 The Trustee’s registered office is: 

350 Harbour Street 

Sydney, NSW, 2000 
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Financial reporting of pooled superannuation trusts 
A summary of main differences between the annual financial statements of a pooled superannuation trust and the financial 
statements of a registered scheme are set out below. 

Applicable law and accounting standards 

Pooled superannuation trusts (PSTs) are required to prepare financial statements in accordance with the SIS Act and SIS 
Regulations.  

Section 35A of the SIS Act requires that each trustee of a superannuation entity must ensure that accounting records which 
correctly record and explain the transactions and financial position of the entity are kept. 

It does not specify the format of these accounting records. However, the audit report is required to be prepared in the 
approved form under SIS and refers to Accounting Standards. This means that the financial statements must be prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards unless they are prepared as special purpose financial statements. AASB 
101 Presentation of Financial Statements requires the preparation of a statement of comprehensive income, balance sheet, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows. This will also meet the SIS financial statement requirements. 

The requirements of Parts 2M.2 and 2M.3 of the Corporations Act 2001, which relate to financial records and financial 
reporting, do not apply to PSTs because they are not registered schemes (by virtue of the definition of a managed 
investment scheme in Section 9 of the Corporations Act 2001). 

Trustee’s report 

A Trustee’s report has not been included within the annual financial statements as the information which would be included 
in such a report is included in the PST annual report distributed to unitholders in accordance with Subdivision 5.7 (7.9.41) 
of the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Taxation 

A PST (like all complying superannuation entities) is a taxable entity and is taxed at the concessional tax rate of 15%. For 
certain assets, the concessional tax rate reduces to 10% after allowing for a one third discount on capital gains. Accordingly, 
a PST should adopt tax-effect accounting in accordance with AASB 112 Income Taxes. 

Non-distributing entity 

It is market practice that PSTs do not make distributions although there is no legislation that prevents distributions from 
being made. It has been assumed that VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust is a non-distributing trust.  

Classification of unitholders’ funds 

VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust has applied AASB 132 which deals with puttable instruments and 
obligations arising on liquidation. Unitholders’ funds are classified as equity.  

To qualify for equity classification, the instrument must comply with all of the following: 

 It must be in the most subordinated class of instruments, and all instruments in that class must have identical features. 
In the event of liquidation, the holder must receive a pro rata share of the entity’s remaining assets once the liabilities 
are repaid. 

 Total cash flows of the instrument over its life must be substantially based on the performance of the entity, either with 
reference to its profits or losses, or its net assets. 

 No other instrument should share in the performance of the entity in a similar way, and the puttable instrument’s 
return should not be fixed or restricted by another instrument. 

 A puttable instrument should not (apart from the put feature) have any contractual obligation to deliver cash or another 
financial asset, or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under potentially unfavourable conditions, or that 
will or may be settled in a variable number of the entities own equity instruments (relates puttable instruments only). 

As VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust has only one class of units and no contractual obligation to pay 
distributions, the units are equity in accordance with the criteria outlined above. 

APRA Prudential Standards 

VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust has an operational risk reserve. 

Reporting deadlines 

The annual reporting deadlines for PSTs are summarised Appendix B.
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8BStatement of comprehensive income1-4 
  

   Year ended 
  

Notes

30 June 
2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

 Investment income 

AASB7(20),  
AASB101(82)(a) 

Interest income on financial assets not held at fair value 
through profit or loss 4,813 2,132

AASB118(30), 
AASB101(82)(a) 

Dividend income 2,849 2,826

AASB118(30), 
AASB101(82)(a) 

Distributions from unit trusts 131 -

AASB7(20),  
AASB101(35) 

Net gains/(losses) on financial instruments held at fair value 
through profit or loss 6 44,858 54,353

 Other operating income 75 1
AASB101(85) Total net investment income 52,726 59,312
     

AASB101(99) Expenses 
 Trustee’s fees 16 1,247 1,426

 Auditor's remuneration 14 13 13

AASB139(43) Transaction costs 9 15

AASB101(82)(d) 

AASB112(77) 

Withholding taxes on foreign dividends and interest 
10 12

 Other operating expenses 15 90 295
 Total operating expenses 1,369 1,761
     

 Operating profit before income tax  51,357 57,551
  

AASB101(82)(d) 

AASB112(77) 

Income tax expense 
bb (6,922) (8,027)

  

AASB101(81A)(a) Profit for the year 44,435 49,524
     

 Other comprehensive income4 - -
AASB101(82)(i) Total comprehensive income 44,435 49,524
     

 The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 

  

 
Statement of comprehensive income  

  

SIS35A  The SIS legislation requires that each trustee of a superannuation entity must ensure that 
accounting records which correctly record and explain the transactions and financial position of 
the entity are kept. 

  Note references, other than that for income tax, refer to the notes in VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit 
Trust’s financial statements. These should be used for reference purposes only as the figures 
they contain may not agree to the statement of comprehensive income of VALUE ACCOUNTS 
Pooled Superannuation Fund. 

  For further commentary, refer to VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust commentary for the Statement 
of comprehensive income. 

AASB101(82A)  The Trust has no components of other comprehensive income and an additional line item has 
been included for illustrative purposes, however the line ‘Total comprehensive income’ is 
mandatory. 
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36BBalance sheet1-5  

   As at 
  

Notes 

30 June 
2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

 Assets   
AASB101(54(i) Cash and cash equivalents 12 5,801 1,612

AASB101(54)(h) Receivables  2,021 679

 Due from brokers – receivable for securities sold  12,742 10,723

AASB101(54)(d) Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss 7 187,163 260,767
 Total assets  207,727 273,781
     

 Liabilities  

 Due to brokers – payable for securities purchased  1,277 3,625

AASB101(54)(k) Payables  40 360

AASB101(54)(n) Income tax payable  5,020 2,402

AASB101(54)(o) Deferred tax liability cc 2,875 3,346
 Total liabilities   9,212 9,733
     

 Equity5 
Unitholders' funds  

Operational risk reserve 
aa

dd

 
198,525 

525 
264,048

400
   198,000 263,648
   
 The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
  

 
Balance sheet 

  

SIS35A  The SIS legislation requires that each trustee of a superannuation entity must ensure that 
accounting records which correctly record and explain the transactions and financial position of 
the entity are kept. 

  Note references, other than for income tax, unitholders’ funds and the operational risk reserve, 
refer to the notes in VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust’s financial statements. These should be 
used for reference purposes only as the figures they contain may not agree to the balance 
sheet of VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust. 

  For further commentary, refer to VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust commentary on the Balance 
sheet. 

AASB101(54)(n,)(o)  Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities shall be presented separately from each other 
and from other assets and liabilities. 

AASB132(16)(A-F)  As VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust has only one class of units and no 
contractual obligation to pay distributions, its units are classified as equity. 
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 Statement of changes in equity1-4 

 

Unitholders’ 
Funds 
$'000

Operational 
Risk Reserve 

$'000 
Total Equity 

$'000
  

 Balance at 1 July 2016 215,260  -   215,260 

  
  -  

 Profit for the year 
 

49,524 - 49,524

 Other comprehensive income 
 

- - -

 Total comprehensive income for the year
 

49,524 - 49,524

   

 Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:  

 Applications (aa) 156,764 -  156,764 

 Redemptions (aa) (157,500) - (157,500) 

  (736) - (736)

 Transfers to the operational risk reserve (dd) (400)  400   -  

   

 Balance at 30 June 2017  263,648 400 264,048

  
    

 Profit for the year 44,435 - 44,435

 Other comprehensive income - - -

 Total comprehensive income for the year 44,435 - 44,435

   

 Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners: 

 

 Applications (aa)  218,665  -   218,665 

 Redemptions (aa) (328,623)  -  (328,623) 

  (109,958) - (109,958)

 Transfers to the operational risk reserve (dd) (125)  125   -  

 Balance at 30 June 2018 198,000 525 198,525

     

  

 



Statement of changes in equity
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 Statement of changes in equity  

  

AASB101(Aus1.1)  While the SIS legislation does not mandate the statement of changes in equity as a primary 
financial statement, the financial statements must also comply with AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements which does require inclusion of a statement of changes in equity in a 
complete set of financial statements. 

  For further commentary, refer to VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust commentary on the Statement 
of changes in equity. 

AASB101(106)(d) 
AASB101(108) 

 The reconciliation in the statement of changes in equity must be presented separately for each 
component of equity. Where an entity has more than one component of equity, separate 
columns must be presented in the statement of changes in equity for each component. 
Components of equity include, for example, each class of contributed equity, the accumulated 
balance of each class of other comprehensive income and retained earnings. Refer to VALUE 
ACCOUNTS Holdings December 2017 publication page 61 for further guidance. 

AASB101(107)  AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements requires an entity to disclosure the amount of 
distributions to owners during the period, as well as the related amount per unit. This 
information can be presented either on the face of the statement of changes in equity or in the 
notes. As VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust does not pay distributions this 
disclosure has not been presented in these illustrative financial statements. 
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 37BStatement of cash flows1-3   
   Year ended 
  

Notes 

30 June 
2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

AASB107(10),(21) Cash flows from operating activities   
AASB107(15) Proceeds from sale of financial instruments held at fair value 

through profit or loss  345,508 233,534

AASB107(15) Purchase of financial instruments held at fair value through 
profit or loss  (236,346) (287,991)

 Transaction costs   (9) (15)

AASB107(31) Dividends received  1,897 2,841

AASB107(31) Interest received  4,447 2,077

AASB107(31) Trust distributions received  107 -

 Other income received  75 1

 Trustee’s fees paid  (1,549) (1,393)

 Payment of other expenses  (121) (335)

 Income tax paid  (4,785) (3,717)

 Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 13(a) 109,224 (54,988)

     

AASB107(10),(21) Cash flows from financing activities   

AASB107(17) Proceeds from applications by unitholders  218,665 156,764

AASB107(17) Payments for redemptions by unitholders  (324,748) (153,900)

 Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities  (106,083) 2,864

     

 Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  3,141 (52,124)

     

 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  1,612 50,162

     

AASB107(28) Effects of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash and 
cash equivalents  1,048 3,574

     

 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 12 5,801 1,612

     

 The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
  

 Statement of cash flows  

  

  The note references refer to the notes in VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust’s financial statements. 
These should be used for reference purposes only as the figures they contain may not agree to 
the statement of cash flows of VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust. 

  For further commentary, refer to VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust commentary on the Statement 
of cash flows. 

AASB107(35)  Cash flows arising from income taxes shall be separately disclosed and shall be classified as 
cash flows from operating activities unless they can be specifically identified with financing and 
investing activities. 
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 2 Summary of significant accounting policies(extracts)1-3 

 (a) Redeemable units 
AASB132(16A)(a) The Trust issues redeemable units, which are redeemable at the holder’s option and are classified as 

equity in accordance with AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation.  

Should the terms or conditions of the redeemable units change such that they no longer comply with the 
criteria for classification as equity in AASB 132, the redeemable units would be reclassified to a financial 
liability from the date the instrument ceases to meet the criteria. The financial liability would be 
measured at the instrument’s fair value at the date of reclassification. Any difference between the 
carrying amount of the equity instrument and the fair value of the liability at the date of reclassification 
would be recognised in equity. 

Redeemable units can be put back to the Trust at any time for cash equal to a proportionate share of 
the Trust’s net asset value. 

Where the Trust re-purchases its redeemable units, the consideration paid, including any directly 
attributable incremental costs are deducted from equity attributable to the Trust’s unitholders until the 
units are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where such units are subsequently sold or re-issued, any 
consideration received, net of any incremental transaction costs directly attributable are included in 
equity attributable to the Trust unitholders. 

The consideration received or paid for units is based on the value of the Trust’s net assets value per 
redeemable unit at the date of the transaction. In accordance with the provisions of the Trust 
Constitution, investment positions are valued based on the last traded market price, net of transaction 
costs, for the purpose of determining the Trust’s net asset value for unit pricing purposes. The Trust’s 
net asset value per unit is calculated by dividing the Trust’s net assets by the total number of 
outstanding units. 

 (b)     Operational Risk Reserve 
AASB101(117) 

AASB101(79)(b) 

Superannuation Prudential Standard 114: Operational Risk Financial Requirement, (SPS114), requires 
Registered Superannuation Entity (RSE) licensees to maintain adequate financial resources to address 
losses arising from operational risks that may affect such entities within their business operations. The 
Fund’s operational risk reserve has been established for this purpose. 

As a minimum the fund aims to have a target amount equal to 25 basis points of assets under 
management subject to a predetermined tolerance limit. The tolerance limit is set by the Trustee to 
reduce the need for small transfers to the operational risk reserve for immaterial fluctuations in the 
reserve’s value. The reserve is fully funded at 30 June 2018.  

The operational risk reserve may only be used to make a payment to address an operational risk event 
as defined by SPS 114. 

When the amount falls below the tolerance limit additional funds are transferred into the operational risk 
reserve. Any transfers to the operational risk reserve must be approved by the board. 

 (c) Income tax 
AASB112(46) The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 

income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred 
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and unused tax losses. 

AASB112(12),(46) 

 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Trust generates taxable income. 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the 
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

AASB112(15),(24),(47) Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. 
However, deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and 
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax 
liability is settled. 

AASB112(24),(34) Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to 
utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

 



Summary of significant accounting policies
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AASB112(39),(44) Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying 
amount and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future. 

AASB112(71),(74) 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current 
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and 
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

AASB112(58) 
AASB112(61A) 

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 

The Trust currently incurs withholding tax on investment income imposed by certain countries. Such 
income is recorded gross of withholding tax in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 

 
Summary of significant accounting policies 

  

  Units are classified as equity and the accounting policy note for redeemable units reflects 
this classification. 

 PSTs are tax paying entities. Therefore, the accounting policy for income tax has been 
disclosed in accordance with the requirements of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements to enable an understanding of the financial statements. 

 For further details of other accounting policies that should be included within the summary 
of significant accounting policies refer to note 2 of VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust, and its 
associated commentary. 
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 (aa) Unitholders’ funds1-4 
 Movements in the number of units and unitholders’ funds during the year were as follows: 

  30 June
2018

Number

30 June 
2017 

Number 

30 June 
2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

AASB101(136A)(a) Opening balance 241,107,603 190,207,020 264,048 215,260

 Applications 267,104,092 158,578,695 218,665 156,764

 Redemptions (307,526,919) (107,678,112) (328,623) (157,500)

 Transfers to operational risk 
reserve (note dd)  (125) (400)

 Net profit - - 44,435 49,524
 Closing balance 200,684,776 241,107,603 198,400 263,648
  

 Applications 267,104,092 158,578,695 218,665 156,764

 Redemptions (307,526,919) (107,678,112) (328,623) (153,900)

 Unitholders’ funds - - 44,435 49,524
 Closing balance 200,684,776 241,107,603 198,525 264,048
  

 As stipulated within the Trust Deed, each unit represents a right to an individual share in the Trust and 
does not extend to a right to the underlying assets of the Trust. There are no separate classes of units 
and each unit has the same rights attaching to it as all other units of the Trust. The Trust is not obliged 
to make distributions. 

  

 Capital risk management 

AASB101(134-136) The Trust considers its unitholders’ funds as capital. The amount of unitholders’ funds can change 
significantly on a daily basis as the Trust is subject to daily applications and redemptions at the 
discretion of unitholders. Daily applications and redemptions are reviewed relative to the liquidity of the 
Trust's underlying assets on a daily basis by the Trustee. Under the terms of the Trust Deed, the 
Trustee has the discretion to reject an application for units and to defer or adjust a redemption of units if 
the exercise of such discretion is in the best interests of unitholders.  

  

 
Unitholders’ funds  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

AASB132(16A-F) 

 VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust’s units can be redeemed by holders for 
cash at any point in time. As a result, it meets the definition of a financial liability. However, 
AASB 132 provides an exception for puttable financial instruments.  

 If an entity meets certain criteria outlined in AASB 132, the units can be presented as equity 
within the balance sheet. 

 To qualify for equity classification as a puttable financial instrument, the instrument must 
comply with all of the following: 

 (a) It must be in the most subordinated class of instruments, and all instruments in that class 
must have identical features. Preference shares do not meet this requirement and 
therefore continue to be classified as liabilities. In the event of liquidation, the holder must 
receive a pro rata share of the entity’s remaining assets once the liabilities are repaid. 

 (b) Total cash flows of the instrument over its life must be substantially based on the 
performance of the entity, either with reference to its profits or losses, or its net assets. 

(c) No other instrument should share in the performance of the entity in a similar way, and the 
puttable instrument’s return should not be fixed or restricted by another instrument. 

(d) A puttable instrument should not (apart from the put feature) have any contractual 
obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset, or to exchange financial assets or 
financial liabilities under potentially unfavourable conditions, or that will or may be 
settled in a variable number of the entities own equity instruments (relates puttable 
instruments only). 

As VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust has only one class of units and no 
contractual obligation to pay distributions the units are equity in accordance with the criteria 
outlined above. 



Unitholder’s funds
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Unitholders’ funds 
  
AASB101(136A)  For puttable financial instruments classified as equity the entity shall disclose: 
 (a) summary quantitative data about the amount classified as equity 

(b) its objectives, policies and processes for managing its obligation to repurchase or redeem 
the instruments when required to do so by the instrument holders, including any changes 
from the previous period 

(c) the expected cash outflow on redemption or repurchase of that class of financial 
instruments, and 

(d) information about how the expected cash outflows on redemption or repurchase were 
determined. 
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 (bb) Income tax expense1-4 
 The Trust has received certification from the Australia Prudential Authority (APRA) confirming that it is a 

complying superannuation entity and this has not since been revoked. Income tax is assessable at 
15%, except for capital gains on certain assets held for at least twelve months where an effective tax 
rate of 10% applies. 

 Year ended
\  30 June 

2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

AASB112(79) 
(81)(g)(ii) 

(a) Income tax expense   
AASB112(80)(a) Current tax 7,301 4,470
AASB112(80)(c) Deferred tax (471) 3,266
AASB112(80)(b)  Adjustments for current tax of prior periods 92 291
  6,922 8,027
    
AASB112(81)(g)(ii) Deferred income tax (income)/expense included in income tax  

expense comprises: 
 

 Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets - -
 (Decrease)/increase in deferred tax liabilities (471) 3,266
  (471) 3,266
    
AASB112(81)(c)(i), 
(84),(85) 

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie 
tax payable 

 

 Profit before income tax 51,357 57,551
AASB112(81)(d) Tax at the applicable Australian tax rate of 15% (2017 - 15%) 7,704 8,633
 Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating 

taxable income: 
 

 Imputation credits (25) (107)
 Foreign tax credits (26) (344)
 Non assessable capital gains (692) (143)
 Difference in overseas tax rates (56) (62)
 Other (75) (21)

  6,830 7,956
 Adjustments for current tax of prior periods 92 71
 Income tax expense  6,922 8,027
 

 

Income tax expense  

  

 General requirement 
AASB112(80)  AASB 112 Income Taxes requires separate disclosure of the major components of tax expense 

(income). These may include: 
 (a) current tax expense (income) 
 (b) any adjustments recognised in the period for current tax of prior periods 
 (c) the amount of deferred tax expense (income) relating to the origination and reversal of 

temporary differences 
 (d) the amount of deferred tax expense (income) relating to changes in tax rates or the 

imposition of new taxes 
 (e) the amount of the benefit arising from a previously unrecognised tax loss, tax credit or 

temporary difference of a prior period that is used to reduce current tax expense 
 (f) the amount of the benefit from a previously unrecognised tax loss, tax credit or temporary 

difference of a prior period that is used to reduce deferred tax expense 
 (g) deferred tax expense arising from the write-down, or reversal of a previous write-down, of a 

deferred tax asset in accordance with AASB 112(56) 
 (h) the amount of tax expense (income) relating to those changes in accounting policies and 

errors that are included in profit or loss accounted for retrospectively. 
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Income tax expense 

  
 Disclosures not illustrated: not applicable to VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation 

Trust. 

General 
  The following disclosures are not illustrated because they are not applicable to VALUE 

ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust: 
AASB112(81)(d)  (a) an explanation of changes in the applicable tax rate(s) compared to the previous reporting 

period 
AASB112(81)(e) (b) the amount (and expiry date, if any) of deductible temporary differences, unused tax 

losses, and unused tax credits for which no deferred tax asset is recognised in the balance 
sheet 

AASB112(81)(i) (c) the amount of income tax consequences of dividends to shareholders of the entity that 
were proposed or declared before the financial statements were authorised for issue, but 
are not recognised as a liability in the financial statements 

AASB112(82) (d) where utilisation of a deferred tax asset is dependent on future taxable profits in excess of 
profits arising from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences and the entity has 
suffered a loss in either the current or preceding period in the tax jurisdiction to which the 
deferred tax asset relates, it must disclose the amount of the deferred tax asset and the 
nature of evidence supporting its recognition 

AASB112(82A)(87A)-(87C) (e) where the amount of income tax payable varies depending on the amount of profit or 
retained earnings that is paid as dividends to shareholders of the entity, an entity must 
disclose the nature of the potential income tax consequences that would result from the 
payment of dividends to its shareholders. In addition, the entity must disclose the amounts 
of the potential income tax consequences practicably determinable and whether there are 
potential income tax consequences not practicably determinable 

AASB112(81)(e) (f) if the entity had unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset had been recognised, 
this must be disclosed along with the potential tax benefit. 

 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
AASB112(88)  Contingent liabilities and contingent assets may arise, for example, from unresolved disputes 

with the taxation authorities. An entity discloses any such tax-related contingent liabilities and 
assets in accordance with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 
Similarly, where changes in tax rates or tax laws are enacted or announced after the reporting 
period, an entity discloses any significant effect of those changes on its current and deferred 
tax assets and liabilities in accordance with AASB 110 Events after the Reporting Period. 

 Alternative reconciliation of tax expense 
AASB112(81)(c)(ii)  Entities can also provide a reconciliation between the average effective tax rate and the 

applicable tax rate. This would replace the reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie 
tax payable. 
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 (cc) Deferred tax liability1 
  Year ended 
  30 June 

2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

 The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:  
 Amounts recognised in profit or loss  

 Net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets held at fair value through 
profit or loss 2,875 3,346

 Net deferred tax liabilities 2,875 3,346

  

 Movements:  
 Opening balance at 1 July 3,346 2,455

 Charged/(credited) to the statement of comprehensive income (471) 891

 Closing balance at 30 June 2,875 3,346

  

  

 
Deferred tax liability  

  

 Setting off of deferred tax assets and liabilities 

AASB112(74)  Deferred tax assets and liabilities shall be set off if, and only if: 

 (a) there is a legally recognised right to set off current tax assets and liabilities, and 

 (b) the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on either: 

 (i) the same taxable entity, or 

 (ii) different taxable entities which intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net 
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future 
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to 
be settled or recovered. 

  



 
 

PwC VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds 2018 139 

 (dd) Operational risk reserve1-8 
  Year ended 
  30 June 

2018 
$’000 

30 June
2017
$’000

  
Opening Balance 400 100

 Plus: Transfer to/(from) unitholders’ funds 125 300

 Closing balance 525 400

SPS114 14(a),15(a) 

AASB101(79)(b) 

In accordance with Superannuation Prudential Standard 114: Operational Risk Financial Requirement 
(ORFR), financial resources to meet the ORFR target amount may be held as an operational risk 
reserve within the Trust. The standard requires the operational risk reserve to be separately identifiable 
from member accounts and provide an unrestricted commitment of financial resources to address 
losses arising from operational risks in a timely manner. Refer to accounting policy 2(b) for more 
information.  

  

 
Operational Risk Reserve  

  

SPS114 14(a),15(a)  The disclosure above does not illustrate the allocation of any investment earnings to the 
reserve or payments from the reserve required to remediate an operational risk event.   

 As mentioned in the introduction to this publication Superannuation Prudential Standard 114: 
Operational Risk Financial Requirement which became effective 1 July 2013, requires 
Registered Superannuation Entity (RSE) licensees to determine a target amount of financial 
resources to address the operational risks of the RSE licensee’s business operations.  

 This amount must reflect the size, business mix and complexity of the RSE licensee’s business 
operations and, at a minimum, include the cost of addressing the operational risks identified in 
the Trustee’s risk management framework.  Additionally, the target amount must be approved 
by the Board. 

 The key requirements of this Prudential Standard include that an RSE licensee must: 

(a) have a documented strategy that sets out the RSE licensee’s approach to determining, 
implementing, managing and maintaining the ORFR target amount; 

(b) have suitable policies and procedures to manage the financial resources held to meet the 
ORFR target amount; 

(c) determine a tolerance limit below the ORFR target amount that, if financial resources held 
to meet the ORFR target amount were to breach this limit, would require the RSE licensee 
to notify APRA and implement a replenishment plan; and 

(d) ensure that the financial resources held to meet the ORFR target amount are only used to 
address an operational risk event or to ensure that the ORFR target amount remains at an 
appropriate level. 

 The financial resources held to meet the ORFR target amount must be held either as: 

(a) an operational risk reserve held within an RSE; 

(b) operational risk trustee capital held by the RSE licensee; or 

(c) a combination of both an operational risk reserve held within an RSE and operational risk 
trustee capital held by the RSE licensee. 

 In SPS 114 APRA recommend a minimum of 25 basis points of assets under management to 
be held in the reserve.  

 An RSE licensee must build the financial resources to meet the ORFR within three years of 1 
July 2013 on a basis that is fair with regard to the interests of beneficiaries. 

 The reserve may then only be used to make a payment to address an operational risk event. 
For the purposes of this Prudential Standard, an ‘operational risk event’ is an operational risk 
that has: 

(a) materialised; and 

(b) caused one or more beneficiaries in an RSE to sustain a loss, or to be deprived of a gain to 
which they otherwise would have been entitled, in relation to their benefits in that RSE. 
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38BTrustee’s statement1-3 

 In the opinion of the Trustee: 

 (a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 25 to 121 are drawn up so as to present 
fairly the financial position of VALUE ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust as at 30 June 
2018, the results of its operations, changes in equity and its cash flows for the financial year 
ended on that date in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements, 

 (b) the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Trust Deed 
dated 15 June 2001, as amended, and the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 1993 and 
Regulations, and 

(c) Note 2(a) confirms that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

 This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors of the trustee company,  
Trustee Ltd. 

 A director 3 

B director 3 

Sydney 

14 September 2018 

  

 
Trustee’s statement  

  

 Format of Trustee’s statement 

  There is no prescribed format for the Trustee’s statement unless prescribed by the PST’s 
governing rules. The Trustee’s statement illustrated above is included by way of example. 

 Requirements of trust deed 

  The Trust Deed may contain specific requirements for the preparation of financial statements. If 
the Trust Deed has no such requirement, the reference to the Trust Deed in paragraph (b) of 
the statement may be omitted. 

 Signing 

  It is common industry practice for the declaration to be signed by two directors of the trustee 
company. 
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39BIndependent auditor's report to the members of VALUE 
ACCOUNTS Pooled Superannuation Trust 

  

 The audit report will be provided by the entity’s auditor upon completion of the audit of the financial report. 
As the wording of the report may differ in certain aspects from firm to firm, we have not included an 
illustrative report in this publication. 

 

 
Independent audit report  

  

 Form and content of audit report 

  Further guidance on the preparation of audit reports on general purpose financial reports is given 
in Auditing Standard AUS702 The Audit Report on a General Purpose Financial Report. 
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Appendix A Financial reporting framework 
   

This Appendix summarises the requirements relevant to the preparation of financial reports in Australia. 
It covers the following topics: 

(a) Financial reporting requirements under the Corporations Act 2001 

(b) Accounting standards, interpretations and conceptual framework 

(c) Differential reporting framework 

(d) The reporting entity concept 

(e) Disclosing entities 

(f) Companies limited by guarantee 

(g) Registered charities 

(h) Entity-specific disclosures 

(i) Pro-forma financial information in the financial report 

(j) Consolidated financial statements 

(k) Stapled securities and dual listed company arrangements 

(l) Reporting requirements for non-reporting entities 

(m) Financial years 

(n) Rounding of financial information 

(o) Disclosure of indemnities and insurance of officers and auditors 

  (a) Financial reporting requirements under the Corporations Act 2001 
CA296,297  1. The Corporations Act 2001 (the Act) requirements for the preparation and audit of annual financial 

reports by various kinds of entities are summarised in the flowchart in Appendix B. Financial 
reports required under the Act must comply with the accounting standards and give a true and fair 
view of the entity’s financial position and performance. The annual reporting deadlines for 
disclosing entities, other public and proprietary companies and registered schemes are 
summarised in Appendix C. 

CA295(1)  2. A financial report consists of: 

 financial statements for the year that are required by accounting standards, being a: 

AASB101(10)  (i) statement of financial position (balance sheet) 

(ii) statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (or separate statement of 
profit or loss and statement of comprehensive income) 

(iii) statement of changes in equity, and 

(ii) statement of cash flows 

 notes to the financial statements, and 

 directors’ declaration. 

CA295(2)  3. Following changes made to the Act in June 2010 companies have to prepare either of the following 
– but no longer both together: 

 financial statements in relation to a single entity (if there are no subsidiaries), or 

 if required under the accounting standards, consolidated financial statements. 

Instead of a complete set of financial statements for the parent entity, the consolidated financial 
statements have to include key financial information for the parent entity, as illustrated in note 27 of 
the VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings Limited annual report. 

ASIC10/654  4. As a result of these changes, the side-by-side inclusion of consolidated and parent entity financial 
statements is legally no longer required or permitted. However, if a parent entity wishes to continue 
presenting its separate financial statements together with the consolidated financial statements, it 
can do so under class order 10/654 provided by the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission (ASIC). The class order is particularly needed by entities with an Australian Financial 
Services Licence (AFSL) and entities regulated by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority, 
as they must continue presenting separate financial statements for the parent entity in addition to 
the consolidated financial statements. The class order is open ended and does not have any 
special conditions (eg there is no need to mention the application of the class order in the notes). 

ASIC2015/839  5. Similarly, ASIC has also permitted related registered schemes to include their financial statements 
in adjacent columns in a single financial report provided they have a common responsible entity or 
responsible entities that are wholly beneficially owned by the same entity. Please refer to the 
legislative instrument for further conditions that must be satisfied.  
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  6. Where the financial reports must comply with Australian accounting standards, entities may have 
up to three different options: 

   prepare general purpose financial statements (GPFS) with full disclosures 

 prepare GPFS with reduced disclosures – only available if the entity does not have public 
accountability (see paragraphs 24 – 27 below), or 

 prepare special purpose financial statements (SPFS) – only available if the entity is not a 
reporting entity (see paragraphs 37 - 42 below). 

This is further explained in the graph on the next page and in the subsequent discussion.  

  7. The following graph summarises the reporting framework for the preparation of statutory 
financial reports. 2 

  

  1. If the financial statements, as prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and accounting 
standards, would not otherwise give a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the entity, additional information must be 
provided to ensure that a true and fair view is given. 

2. If an entity prepares non-statutory GPFSs, all relevant standards and interpretations should be applied, but the entity may choose to apply the 
reduced disclosure regime as outlined in paragraphs 22 to 30 below. 

3. AASB 101, AASB 107, AASB 108, AASB 1048 and AASB 1054 apply to entities that are required to prepare financial reports under Chapter 
2M of the Act. Refer to paragraphs 69 – 83 of this Appendix for comments on the reporting requirements for non-reporting entities preparing 
special purpose financial statements, including references to the ASIC guide Reporting requirements for non-reporting entities. If small 
proprietary companies are requested to prepare financial reports by ASIC or members with at least 5% of voting rights, they do not have to be 
prepared in accordance with relevant accounting standards, including those mentioned above, where this is specified in the request (ie special 
purpose financial statements can be prepared if the request specifies the extent to which relevant accounting standards are to be applied, 
subject to comments in paragraphs 69 – 83 on non-reporting entities). 

4. Entities that prepare general purpose financial statements and that are not publicly accountable can elect to apply the reduced disclosure 
regime, see paragraph 22 to 30 below. 

5. Small companies limited by guarantee do not need to prepare or lodge any financial reports unless they are directed to do so by members or 
ASIC, see paragraph 48 below. 

6. For an explanation of the different types of entities refer to Page 162. 

  (b) Accounting standards, interpretations and conceptual framework 
CA296  8. All entities reporting under the Act must prepare their financial statements in accordance with the 

accounting standards issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). If the financial 
report, as prepared in accordance with the Act, the Corporations Regulations 2001 (the 
Regulations) and accounting standards, would not otherwise give a true and fair view of the 
financial position and performance of the entity, additional information must be provided to ensure 
that a true and fair view is given. However, most accounting standards only apply to reporting 
entities and financial statements that are, or are held out to be, general purpose financial 
statements (GPFSs). This is referred to as the ‘reporting entity concept’ and is explained further in 
paragraphs 31 and 37 to 42 below. 

AASB 101, 107, 108, 1048 and
1054 apply.  Apply other standards 
and interpretations as agreed by 
members or users. 1,3

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

• Listed entities 6

• Registered schemes 6

• Other disclosing entities 6

• Other public companies 5,6

• Large proprietary companies 6

• Small proprietary companies reporting as large proprietary 
company (eg a foreign controlled small proprietary company) 3,6

Is the entity a reporting entity?

Is the entity publicly 
accountable? 

Choice of alternatives Are GPFSs being prepared?

Apply all relevant standards and 
interpretations and provide full 
disclosures 1

Apply all relevant standards and 
interpretations with reduced 
disclosures 1,4
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  9. Subject to the reduced disclosure regime described in paragraph 22 below, the accounting 
standards for for-profit entities are consistent with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). However, there are some additional disclosure requirements in AASB 1054 Australian 
Additional Disclosures and a couple of standards and interpretations on issues that are not dealt 
with under IFRS, being, for example, general and life insurance contracts and Petroleum Resource 
Rent Tax. These will be withdrawn if a particular issue is subsequently addressed by the IASB or 
the IFRS Interpretations Committee. Australian accounting standards also have specific provisions 
added for not-for-profit and public sector entities which may not always be compliant with IFRS.  

CA334(5)  10. Individual accounting standards specify their application date. However, an entity may elect to 
apply a standard earlier than its application date unless the standard says otherwise. An entity 
required to prepare financial reports under Part 2M.3 of the Act can only adopt an AASB standard 
early where the directors make a written election in accordance with CA 334(5). 

ASIC-Act225,227  11. The AASB is responsible for accounting standard setting for all entities, including companies, 
public sector entities and not-for-profit entities. The Financial Reporting Council oversees the 
accounting standard setting process for both the private and public sectors. Some of the Council’s 
main functions in this area are: 

 to provide broad oversight of the processes for setting accounting standards in Australia 

 appointing the members of the AASB (other than the Chair) 

 approving and monitoring the AASB’s priorities, business plan, budgets and staffing 
arrangements 

 determining the AASB’s broad strategic direction and giving it directions, advice and feedback

 monitoring the development of international accounting standards and furthering the 
development of a single set of accounting standards for world wide use. 

   

  Accounting standards and materiality 
AASB101(7) 
AASB108(5) 

 12. Accounting standards apply when information resulting from their application is material. 

Information is material if its omission, misstatement or non–disclosure has the potential, 
individually or collectively, to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the 
financial statements. 

  13. In deciding whether an item or an aggregate of items is material, the size and nature of the 
omission or misstatement of the items usually need to be evaluated together. In particular 
circumstances, either the nature or the amount of an item or an aggregate of items could be the 
determining factor. Further discussion of materiality is set out in the Framework for the Preparation 
and Presentation of Financial Statements. 

  Accounting interpretations 
AASB Interpretations 
Model 

14. Accounting interpretations are issued by the AASB under the AASB Interpretations Model 
(December 2007). Issue proposals are assessed by the AASB. Issues relating to interpreting 
Australian equivalents to IFRS are in the first instance forwarded to the IFRS Interpretations 
Committee (IFRS IC) for consideration. If the IFRS IC does not add the issue to its work program, 
or if the issue proposal relates to domestic requirements that relate only to not-for-profit entities in 
the public and/or private sectors, the AASB may decide to form an advisory panel on a topic-by-
topic basis. The role of the panel is to prepare alternative views and provide recommendations for 
consideration by the AASB. However, the AASB expects that unique domestic interpretations of 
Australian Accounting Standards will only be required in rare and exceptional circumstances. 

 15. Until June 2006, guidance on urgent financial reporting issues not dealt with, or not dealt with 
specifically in accounting standards was provided by the UIG. Consensus views were 
communicated in UIG Interpretations that were prepared by the UIG and issued by the AASB. 

AASB1048(9) 16. Compliance with AASB and UIG interpretations is mandatory by virtue of paragraph 9 of AASB 
1048 Interpretation and Application of Standards.  
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 Framework 
Framework(1) 17. The Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (Framework) was 

issued by the AASB in July 2004 as part of Australia’s convergence with IFRS. The Framework 
sets out the concepts that underlie the preparation and presentation of financial statements for 
external users. The purpose of the Framework is to: 

 assist the AASB in the development of future accounting standards and in its review of 
existing accounting standards, including evaluating proposed IASB pronouncements 

 assist the AASB in promoting harmonisation of regulations, accounting standards and 
procedures relating to the presentation of financial statements by providing a basis for 
reducing the number of alternative accounting treatments permitted by accounting standards 

 assist preparers of financial statements in applying accounting standards and in dealing with 
topics that have yet to form the subject of an accounting standard 

 assist auditors in forming an opinion as to whether financial statements conform with 
accounting standards 

 assist users of financial statements in interpreting the information contained in financial 
statements prepared in conformity with accounting standards 

 provide those who are interested in the work of the AASB with information about its approach 
to the formulation of accounting standards. 

Framework(2),(3) 18. The Framework is not an accounting standard and hence does not define standards for any 
particular measurement or disclosure issue. Nothing in the Framework overrides any specific 
accounting standard. In a limited number of cases there may be a conflict between the Framework 
and an accounting standard. In those cases where there is a conflict, the requirements of the 
accounting standard prevail over those of the Framework. As, however, the AASB will be guided 
by the Framework in the development of future standards and in its review of existing standards, 
the number of cases of conflict between the Framework and accounting standards will diminish 
through time. 

AASB108(11)(b) 
 
 
 
 
AASB-CF2013-1 

19. Entities shall refer to the Framework as a source of guidance in developing and applying an 
accounting policy if there is no accounting standard or interpretation dealing with an accounting 
issue. The IASB is in the process of updating the conceptual framework and completed Phase A 
by issuing revised objectives and qualitative characteristics of financial reports in September 2010. 
The AASB has incorporated the revised objectives and qualitative characteristics into the 
Australian Framework in December 2013. The Australian material also includes specific guidance 
for not-for-profit entities.  

  Statements of Accounting Concepts 
Framework(Aus1.4) 20. Since December 2013, the Statements of Accounting Concepts are now all superseded with the 

exception of SAC 1 Definition of the Reporting Entity. SAC 1 remains in existence and forms part 
of the overall conceptual framework for general purpose financial reporting in Australia. 

APES205(4.1) 21. While compliance with SACs in the preparation, presentation or audit of general purpose financial 
statements as such is not mandatory for members of the Accounting Bodies, members must take 
all reasonable steps to apply the principles and guidance in the SAC1 and the Framework when 
assessing whether an entity is a reporting entity. 

  (c) Differential reporting framework for general purpose financial statements 
AASB1053(7),(9)  22. In June 2010, the AASB introduced a two-tier differential reporting regime which applies to all 

entities that prepare GPFSs: 

AASB1053(11)   Tier 1 is IFRS as adopted in Australia, including standards specific to Australian entities. For-
profit entities that are publicly accountable (see paragraphs 24 to 27 below) will continue to 
apply the current versions of the Australian Accounting Standards without changes. 

 Tier 2 is the new reduced disclosure regime which retains the recognition and measurement 
requirements of IFRS, but with reduced disclosure requirements for many entities. For-profit 
entities that do not have public accountability can elect to apply this tier. 

23. At this stage, the reporting entity concept (see paragraphs 31 and 37 to 42 below) has not been 
affected by the reduced disclosure regime. While the AASB tentatively decided in April 2013 to 
change the application focus of the accounting standards such that all entities that are required to 
prepare financial statements in accordance with the accounting standards would have to prepare 
GPFS, a final decision on this has not yet been made. The AASB is currently undertaking further 
research on the reporting frameworks of comparable jurisdictions and is reviewing the principles 
applied in determining the disclosure requirements for entities reporting under tier 2 of the reduced 
disclosure regime.  
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  Public accountability 
AASB1053(Appendix-A)  24. Public accountability means accountability to those existing and potential resource providers and 

others external to the entity who make economic decisions but are not in a position to demand 
reports tailored to meet their particular information needs. 

AASB1053(Appendix-A)  25. A for-profit private sector entity has public accountability if: 

 its debt or equity instruments are traded in a public market or it is in the process of issuing 
such instruments for trading in a public market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange or an 
over-the-counter market, including local and regional markets), or 

 it holds assets in a fiduciary capacity for a broad group of outsiders as one of its primary 
businesses. This is typically the case for banks, credit unions, insurance companies, securities 
brokers/dealers, mutual funds and investment banks. 

AASB1053(Appendix-B)  26. The following for-profit entities are deemed to have public accountability: 

 disclosing entities (see 43 below), even if their debt or equity instruments are not traded in a 
public market or are not in the process of being issued for trading in a public market 

 co-operatives that issue debentures 

 registered managed investment schemes 

 superannuation plans regulated by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) 
other than Small APRA Funds as defined by APRA Superannuation Circular No. II.E.1 
Regulation of Small APRA Funds, December 2000, and 

 authorised deposit-taking institutions. 

IFRS-for-SMEs(1.4) 
IFRS-for-SMEs(BC57) 

 27. Not all entities that hold assets in a fiduciary capacity for a broad group of outsiders are publicly 
accountable. If the assets are held merely for reasons incidental to the entity’s primary business, 
the definition of public accountability would not be satisfied. Examples of such entities may include 
travel or real estate agents, schools, charitable organisations, co-operative enterprises and utility 
companies. An entity only has public accountability under the second leg of the definition if the 
holding of assets in a fiduciary capacity is one of the entity’s primary businesses. 

Not-for profit and public sector entities 
AASB1053(11),(13),(15)  28. The Australian Government and all of the State, Territory and Local Governments must continue to 

apply the tier 1 requirements for their whole-of-government and general government sector 
financial reports. All other public sector entities and all not-for-profit private sector entities are 
permitted to use tier 2 and provide reduced disclosures, unless a relevant regulator requires 
compliance with tier 1. 

IFRS compliance 
AASB101(RDR15.2), 
(RDR16.1) 

 29. Because of the reduced disclosures, entities applying tier 2 reporting requirements will not be able 
to state compliance with IFRSs. Instead, entities will have to make an explicit and unreserved 
statement of compliance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements where they comply with all requirements of the reduced disclosure regime. 

  Further information 
  30. For more detailed information about the reduced disclosure regime and an illustration of the types 

of disclosures that can be removed if an entity is eligible to report under tier 2 please refer to our 
VALUE ACCOUNTS Reduced Disclosure Pty Limited publication. This publication is available from 
our web site at http://www.pwc.com.au/assurance/ifrs. 

  (d) Reporting entity concept and general purpose financial statements 
AASB101(Aus1.1) 
AASB107(Aus1.1) 
AASB108(Aus2.1) 
AASB1048(2)(a) 
AASB1054(2) 

 31. AASB accounting standards generally only apply to reporting entities and financial statements that 
are, or are held out to be, GPFSs. However, AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, 
AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows, AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors, AASB 1048 Interpretation and Application of Standards and AASB 1054 
Australian Additional Disclosures all apply to each entity that is required to prepare financial reports 
in accordance with Chapter 2M of the Act. As a result, these standards must be applied when 
preparing statutory financial reports for all: 

 public companies  
 large proprietary companies 
 small proprietary companies required to comply with the large proprietary company reporting 

requirements (eg certain foreign controlled small proprietary companies) 
 registered schemes  

 

even if they are not reporting entities. 
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  Small proprietary companies 
CA293,294  32. Small proprietary companies requested to prepare financial reports by ASIC or members holding at 

least 5% of the voting rights will not need to apply the above standards if the requests specify that 
the reports do not have to comply with them. 

CA45A(2)  33. A proprietary company is a small proprietary company for a financial year if at least two of the 
following conditions are satisfied: 

 consolidated revenue is less than $25 million 
 consolidated gross assets at the end of the year are less than $12.5 million 
 the company and the entities it controls have fewer than 50 employees at the end of the 

financial year. 
CA45A(6)  34. Consolidated revenue and consolidated assets must be calculated in accordance with accounting 

standards in force at the relevant time even if the standards do not otherwise apply, eg because 
the company is not a reporting entity. The consolidation must include the parent entity and any 
entities it controls under the principles in AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, but 
excludes any controlling entity or sister entities. 

CA45A(5)  35. Employees are to be counted on a full-time equivalent basis as at the end of the financial year. 
Part-time employees are counted as an appropriate fraction of a full-time equivalent. Seasonal or 
casual employees are only included if they were employed on the last day of the financial year. 

  36. There is no definition of ‘employees’ in the Corporations Act 2001 so the common law must be 
relied on for guidance. The most commonly applied criterion is the presence of a right of control by 
the employer over the manner in which an employee works. 

  Reporting entities 
SAC1(40) 
AASB101(Aus7.2) 
AASB1053(Appendix-A) 

 37. Reporting entities are defined in SAC 1 Definition of the Reporting Entity as ‘’all entities (including 
economic entities) in respect of which it is reasonable to expect the existence of users dependent 
on general purpose financial statements for information which will be useful to them for making and 
evaluating decisions about the allocation of scarce resources’’. 

AASB101(7)  38. General purpose financial statements are defined in AASB 101 as ‘’those intended to meet the 
needs of users who are not in a position to require an entity to prepare reports tailored to their 
particular information needs’’. 

SAC1(19)-(22)  39. Guidance on determining whether an entity is a reporting or non-reporting entity is set out in 
SAC 1. The primary factors outlined in SAC 1 include: 

 the level of separation of management and ownership 
 economic or political importance/influence; for example, dominant market position, and 
 financial characteristics such as size and indebtedness. 

ASIC-RG85  40. ASIC has issued a guide Reporting requirements for non-reporting entities in which it expresses 
concern that some companies which are required to prepare financial reports under the Act 
prepare special purpose financial statements on the basis they are not reporting entities when this 
may not be the case. 

41. ASIC will look closely at cases where entities claim to be non-reporting entities and will seek 
explanations from directors where it appears reasonable to expect that there are users dependent 
on general purpose financial statements. An entity should not be regarded as a non-reporting 
entity solely because there is little or no separation between its members and management. If the 
company has a significant number of creditors or employees, ASIC believes it would be 
reasonable to expect the existence of users dependent on general purpose financial statements. 
Directors should bear this in mind when deciding whether or not an entity is a reporting entity. 

CA296  42. Directors of an entity that identifies itself as a non-reporting entity and elects not to adopt the 
requirements of all accounting standards would be in breach of the requirement to comply with 
accounting standards contained in CA 296 if the circumstances of the entity indicate it is a 
reporting entity. 
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  (e) Disclosing entities 
CA111AC 
CA111AD 

 43. A body is a disclosing entity if it has issued ED (short for ‘enhanced disclosure’) securities. 
Disclosing entities include: 

CA111AE   entities that are listed on a prescribed financial market (limited to Australian markets) 
CA111AF   entities that issue securities (other than debentures and managed investment products) 

pursuant to a disclosure document, and after such an issue, and at all times since the issue, at 
least 100 persons held securities in the relevant class 

CA111AFA   entities that issue managed investment products under a Product Disclosure Statement, if at 
least 100 persons hold such products 

CA111AG(1)   entities that issue securities (other than debentures) as consideration for offers under an off-
market takeover bid, and after such an issue, and at all times since the issue, at least 100 
persons held securities in the relevant class 

CA111AG(2)   entities whose securities are issued under a compromise or scheme of arrangement, and after 
such an issue, and at all times since the issue, at least 100 persons held securities in the 
relevant class 

CA111AI   borrowers required to appoint a trustee under CA 283AA. 

  44. By their very nature, all disclosing entities are reporting entities and therefore have to prepare 
general purpose financial statements. 

  Modifications to disclosing entity provisions 
  45. Modifications to the disclosing entity provisions have been made as follows: 

 the following securities have been declared not to be ED securities: 

CR1.2A.01(a)  (i) listed securities of an entity classified as an exempt foreign entity under ASX Listing Rule 
1.11 (known as an ASX Foreign Exempt Listing) 

CR1.2A.01(b)  (ii) securities quoted on the Australian Bloodstock Exchange Limited 

 the following entities have been exempted from the disclosing entity provisions: 

CR1.2A.02  (i) foreign companies issuing securities under foreign takeover offers or schemes of 
arrangement (where the requirements of CR 1.2A.02 are met) 

CR1.2A.03  (ii) foreign companies offering shares for issue or sale to Australian employees under an 
employee share scheme in respect of which a disclosure document is lodged with ASIC. 

  Disclosing entities which cease to be disclosing entities before deadline 
ASIC2016/190 
ASIC-RG68(49),(50) 

 46. ASIC Corporations (Disclosing Entities) Instrument 2016/190 applies to entities which cease to be 
disclosing entities after the end of a financial year but before the earlier of: 

 3 months after the end of the financial year, and 

 if the entity is required to have an annual general meeting (AGM), 21 days before the date of 
the next AGM after the end of the financial year. 

ASIC2016/190 
ASIC-RG68(49),(50) 

 47. The instrument provides relief from the full-year financial reporting requirements of Chapter 2M of 
the Act to the extent that those requirements apply to the entity as a disclosing entity, on 
condition that: 

 the entity complies with the requirements of Chapter 2M as if it had not been a disclosing 
entity at the end of the financial year, and  

 the directors of the entity resolve before the earlier of the dates in paragraph 46 that there are 
no reasons to believe that the entity may become a disclosing entity before the end of the next 
financial year. 
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  (f) Companies limited by guarantee 
  48. Companies limited by guarantee are subject to a three-tiered differential reporting framework: 

CA45B 
CA292(3) 
CA294A 
CA294B 

  (a) Companies with revenue less than $250,000 that 
are not deductible gift recipients within the  
meaning of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 

do not need to prepare or lodge any 
financial reports, unless they are directed 
to do so by members or ASIC 

CA301(3)   (b) Companies with revenue less than $250,000 that 
are deductible gift recipients, and Companies with 
revenue more than $250,000 but less than $1 
million 

need to prepare and lodge a full 
financial report, but can choose to 
have that report reviewed rather 
than audited 

   (c) Companies with revenue of $1 million or more must lodge an audited financial report 

   

  Companies that are registered charities (see below) are exempt from complying with the financial 
reporting requirements of the Act and must instead comply with the requirements in the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-Profit Commission (ACNC) Act 2012.  

  (g) Registered charities 
ACNC(60-10),(60-20), 
(60-25),(205-25) 

 49. Charities that are registered with the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profit Commission (ACNC) 
have a similar three-tiered reporting framework: 

   (a) Small charities with annual revenue of less than 
$250,000 

do not need to prepare a financial report, 
but must lodge an annual information 
statement (AIS) 

   (b) Medium charities with annual revenue of  
$250,000 or more but less than $1 million that are 
not basic religious charities 

must prepare and lodge full financial report 
and an AIS but can choose to have 
financial report reviewed rather than 
audited.  

   (c) Large charities with annual revenue of $1 million 
or more that are not basic religious charities 

must lodge an audited financial report and 
an AIS. 

   

ACNC(60-5)  All registered charities must prepare and lodge an annual information statement (AIS). The content 
of the AIS is also depending on the size of the charity. Both AIS and financial report (where 
required) must be lodged no later than 31 December, unless the ACNC Commissioner has 
approved a substituted accounting period or has otherwise deferred lodgement. For further 
information see the ACNC web site (acnc.gov.au).  
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  (h) Entity-specific disclosures 
 50. Certain accounting standards are applicable only to specified classes of entities: 
AASB8(Aus2.1)(Aus2.2)  AASB 8 Operating Segments – applies only to listed entities and entities that file, or are in the 

process of filing, their financial statements with a regulator for the purpose of issuing financial 
instruments in a public market 

AASB133(Aus1.1)  AASB 133 Earnings per Share – applies to entities required to prepare financial reports in 
accordance with Part 2M.3 of the Act that: 
(i) are reporting entities and have listed ordinary shares or are in the process of listing if they 

have ordinary shares, or 
(ii) elect to disclose earnings per share 

AASB134(Aus1.1)  AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting – applies to all general purpose interim financial 
reports, including half-year financial reports of each disclosing entity required to be prepared 
under Part 2M.3 of the Act 

AASB1038(1.1)  AASB 1038 Life Insurance Contracts – applies only to life insurers or to parent entities in 
groups that include a life insurer 

AAS25(3) 
AASB1056 

 AASB 1056 Superannuation Entities – applies to general purpose financial statements of 
superannuation entities.  

AASB1004(1)  AASB 1004 Contributions – applies to not-for-profit entities and to financial statements of 
General Government Sectors (GGS) 

AASB1049(2)  AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting – 
applies to each government’s whole of government general purpose financial statements and 
GGS financial statements 

AASB1050(2)  AASB 1050 Administered Items – applies to government departments 
AASB1051(2)  AASB 1051 Land Under Roads – applies to local governments, government departments, 

whole of governments and financial statements of GGSs  
AASB1052(3)  AASB 1052 Disaggregated Disclosures – applies to local governments and government 

departments 
AASB1055(2)  AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting – applies to each government’s whole-of government 

general purpose financial statements, GGS financial statements and general purpose financial 
statements of not-for-profit reporting entities within the GGS. 

 Corporations Act relief 
CA111AT,340,341 
ASIC-RG43 
ASIC-RG51 
ASIC-RG95 

51. ASIC may grant relief from certain of the financial reporting and audit requirements of the Act 
under CA 340 or CA 341, and disclosing entity relief may be provided under CA 111AT. Regulatory 
Guide 43 sets out ASIC’s policy on applications for relief under CA 340 and CA 341 and indicates 
how it will exercise its discretionary power in granting relief. Policy relating to the granting of relief 
under CA 111AT is set out in Regulatory Guide 95. Further discussion of ASIC’s policies and 
procedures on the processing of applications for relief is set out in Regulatory Guide 51. 

 
(i) Pro-forma financial information in the financial report 

ASIC-CP69 
ASIC-RG230 52. In July 2005, ASIC issued a consultative paper Disclosing pro forma financial information which 

explains under which circumstances an entity is permitted to include pro-forma financial 
information, being information that is not specifically required to be disclosed and/or that is not 
prepared in accordance with relevant accounting standards, in its statutory financial report. 
According to the paper, pro-forma financial information may be included in the notes to the 
financial statements if the additional information is necessary to give a true and fair view of the 
financial position and financial performance of the entity for the reporting period. Where pro-forma 
information is included, it must not be misleading and not be presented with greater prominence 
than the statutory information. Pro-forma financial statements, being financial statements that 
purport or appear to be, for example, a balance sheet, statement of profit or loss or statement of 
cash flows but have not been prepared in accordance with statutory financial reporting 
requirements, must not be included in a financial report. Similar views are expressed in ASIC’s 
Regulatory Guide RG 230 Disclosing non-IFRS financial information.  

 53. ASIC may grant special relief from these requirements, however, it is expected that this will only 
occur in rare and exceptional circumstances. One example of where relief has been granted 
relates to the disclosure of pro forma information for a business combination which occurred after 
the reporting period. See the commentary to note 19 in VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings publication 
for further information. 
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 (j) Consolidated financial statements 

CA295(2)(b) 
AASB10(Aus3.1),(4) 
(Aus4.2) 

54. A parent entity must prepare consolidated financial statements in accordance with AASB 10 
Consolidated Financial Statements if: 

- it is a reporting entity itself, or 

- the group of which it is the parent entity is a reporting entity 

AASB10(Appendix A) 55. A parent entity is an entity that controls one or more entities (subsidiaries). An investor controls 
another entity, and therefore is a parent entity, where the investor is exposed, or has rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power of the investee.  

AASB10(Appendix A), 
(B86) 

56. Consolidated financial statements are the financial statements of a group in which the assets, 
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows of the parent and its subsidiaries are presented 
as those of a single economic entity. They combine like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income, 
expenses and cash flows of the parent with those of its subsidiaries and offset the carrying amount 
of the parent’s investment in each subsidiary with the parent’s portion of equity of each subsidiary. 
Intragroup balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated in full.  

CA323 57. If an entity is required to prepare consolidated financial statements, a director or officer of a 
subsidiary must give the parent entity all information requested that is necessary to prepare the 
consolidated financial statements and the notes to those statements. 

 58. Relief from preparing consolidated financial statements is only available where: 
- the impact of consolidation is not material (see paragraphs 12 and 13 above) 

AASB10(4),(Aus4.2) - the parent is an intermediate parent and the conditions in AASB 10 paragraphs 4 and Aus4.2 
are satisfied (see paragraphs 60 and 61 below), or 

ASIC2016/785 - the parent entity is relieved from preparing financial reports under ASIC Corporations (Wholly-
owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785 because it is a wholly-owned subsidiary company 
which has entered into a deed of cross guarantee with its holding company. 

59. The preparation of consolidated financial reports by non-reporting entities is discussed in 
paragraphs 74 and 75 below. 

 Consolidated financial statements of intermediate parents 
 60. A parent entity does not need to present consolidated financial statements if (and only if): 

AASB10(4) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AASB10(Aus4.2) 

 the parent is an intermediate parent and the owners do not object to the parent not preparing 
consolidated financial statements 

 the parent’s debt or equity instruments are not publicly traded 
 the parent has not filed, or is not in the process of filing, its financial statements with a 

regulatory body for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments in a public market, and 
 the ultimate parent or an intermediate parent produces consolidated financial statements for 

public use that comply with IFRS. 
However, the ultimate Australian parent must also present consolidated financial statements if 
either the parent and/or the group are reporting entities. 

AASB10(Aus4.1), 
(AG1) 
 

61. Not-for-profit entities or entities reporting under the reduced disclosure regime can also apply this 
relief, provided the entity seeking relief is subject to the same reporting requirements as the parent 
and is not required to produce full IFRS compliant financial statements. Please refer to the table in 
the Application Guidance to AASB 10 for details. 
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 (k) Stapled securities and dual listed company arrangements 

AASB3(43)(c) 62. The following transactions are business combinations that are achieved by contract alone: 
- the stapling of equity securities of two or more legal entities, such that the securities cannot 

traded or transferred independently and those entities have the same owners, and 
- dual-listed company (DLC) arrangements between two listed legal entities in which their 

activities are managed under contractual arrangements as a single economic entity while 
retaining their separate legal identities. 

AASB3(43)(c),(44) 63. AASB 3 Business Combinations specifically includes business combinations that are achieved by 
contract alone in its scope. One of the combining entities must therefore be identified as the parent 
entity. This parent entity will prepare consolidated financial statements in accordance with the 
general principles in AASB 3 and AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. Accordingly, the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired entity (entities) must be 
recognised at their fair value. However, they will be attributed to non-controlling interest. Goodwill 
will only be recognised where the entity elects to measure the non-controlling interest at fair value. 
Where the non-controlling interest is measured at the proportionate share of the net assets, 
no goodwill arises 

 64. On transition to AASB 10 from AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, some 
expressed concern that the new control definition in AASB 10 could prevent stapled entities from 
preparing consolidated financial statements, despite them falling within the scope of AASB 3. In 
May 2014, the IFRS Interpretations Committee confirmed that this was not the case. The 
combining entity in the stapling arrangement that is identified as the acquirer for the purpose of 
AASB 3 must prepare consolidated financial statements of the combined entity in accordance with 
AASB 10.  

ASIC13/1050 
ASIC13/1644 

65. In the meantime, ASIC had issued Class Order 13/1050 Financial reporting by stapled entities 
(amended by CO 13/1644) which preserves the status quo for existing stapled groups, as 
summarised in the table below, including the transitional relief for pre-IFRS staplings. The class 
order requires some minor additional disclosures to be provided in the financial statements of 
stapled groups.  

ASIC2015/838 66. In addition to the consolidated financial statements for the stapled group as a whole, each 
individual stapled entity that is required to prepare financial reports under Chapter 2M of the 
Corporations Act 2001 must also prepare individual financial statements that cover the entity itself 
and any subsidiaries controlled by that entity. To ease the reporting burden, ASIC has issued ASIC 
Corporations (Stapled Group Reports) Instrument 2015/838 (formerly class Order 05/642 
Combining financial reports of stapled security issuers) which permits issuers of stapled securities 
to present their financial statements and the consolidated or combined financial statements of the 
stapled group in adjacent columns in one financial report. The instrument also allows directors’ 
reports and directors’ declarations to cover more than one stapled issuer provided the directors are 
the same for all of the entities. 

ASIC-RG29 67. ASIC Regulatory Guide 29 Financial reporting by Australian entities in dual listed company 
arrangements sets out the financial reporting requirements for entities in DLC arrangements, 
including what type of information must be lodged and distributed to members. 
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 68. As a result of various transitional relief and Class Order 13/1050, financial reports of stapled 
entities and DLCs are prepared on different bases, depending on when the stapling was formed or 
the DLC arrangement was entered into. The following table summarises the different methods that 
applied at different times. This explains, for example, why not all stapled groups will show non-
controlling interests for their stapled entities. 

   When stapling was formed or 
DLC arrangement entered into Requirements 

AASB3(43)(c),(44)   After AASB 3 (revised) became 
effective – 1 July 2009 

Entities are required to identify an acquirer under AASB 3 and 
prepare consolidated financial statements under AASB 10.  

Identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the 
acquired entity (entities) must be recognised at their fair value. 
However, they are attributed to non-controlling interest. Goodwill 
is only recognised where the entity elects to measure the non-
controlling interest at fair value. Where the non-controlling 
interest is measured at the proportionate share of the net assets, 
no goodwill arises. 

AASB-I1002 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
UIG1001(16),(17) 

  After adoption of IFRS (1 
January 2005) but before AASB 
3 (revised) became effective 

Business combinations that are achieved by contract alone were 
excluded from the scope of AASB 3.  

Stapled entities were required to identify an acquirer under 
AASB Interpretation 1002 Date-of-Transition Stapling 
Arrangements, and prepare consolidated financial statements.  

The principles of AASB-I 1002 were generally consistent with 
AASB 3 (revised), except that there was no choice to measure 
the non-controlling interest at its fair value and hence goodwill 
could never be recognised.  

DLC arrangements were required to apply the requirements of 
AASB 108 to determine an appropriate accounting policy. 

AASB1(18),Appendix C 
UIG1013(7)-(9) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
UIG1001(6)-(9) 

  Before transition to IFRS, where 
the entity has applied the 
exemptions for business 
combinations in AASB 1 

 

Entities with stapling arrangements had to identify one of the 
combining entities as the parent entity on the date of transition to 
IFRS. This parent entity prepares a consolidated financial report 
for the stapled entity, but is permitted to do so on the same basis 
as the combined financial report for those entities immediately 
before adopting IFRS (ie without applying purchase accounting 
principles and eliminating the equity of the controlled entities). 

The consolidated financial report of each DLC parent entity shall 
be the combined financial report of the dual listed entities 
prepared on the same basis as the combined financial report for 
those entities immediately before adopting IFRS.  

  

  (l) Reporting requirements for non-reporting entities 
CA297 69. An entity reporting under Chapter 2M of the Act that is not a reporting entity need not comply with 

accounting standards other than AASB 101, AASB 107, AASB 108, AASB 1048 and AASB 1054 
when preparing statutory financial reports which are special purpose financial statements. The Act, 
however, still requires that the financial reports give a true and fair view of the financial position 
and performance of the entity. The comments in paragraphs 70 to 79 below should be borne in 
mind, especially paragraph 72. These comments summarise ASIC’s views as expressed in 
Regulatory Guide 85 Reporting requirements for non-reporting entities, which discusses the 
application of accounting standards to non-reporting entities required to prepare financial reports 
under the Act and of the reporting entity test. 

AASB1054(6) 70. Special purpose financial statements are financial statements other than general purpose financial 
statements. For guidance on determining when an entity may be a non-reporting entity refer to 
paragraphs 39 to 42 above. 

71. Where financial statements are to be prepared for a non-reporting entity as special purpose 
financial statements, the directors (or their equivalent) must ensure that the shareholders and other 
potential users of the financial statements: 

 understand that the financial statements can only be used for the special purpose for which 
they are prepared and cannot be used for any other purpose, and 

 understand that the auditor, where applicable, will issue a special purpose audit report on the 
financial statements. 
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  Compliance with recognition and measurement requirements 
ASIC-RG85 72. ASIC believes that non-reporting entities, which are required to prepare financial reports in 

accordance with the Act, must still comply with the recognition and measurement requirements of 
all applicable accounting standards in order to give a true and fair view of their financial position 

and results of their operations. Non–compliance with the recognition and measurement 
requirements may further result in a breach of CA 1308 (giving false and misleading information) 
and CA 254T (paying dividends). 

 73. The recognition and measurement requirements of accounting standards include, but are not 

limited to, requirements relating to depreciation of non–current assets, tax effect accounting, lease 
accounting, measurement of inventories, and recognition and measurement of liabilities for 
employee entitlements. The provisions of accounting standards dealing with the classification of 
items as assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses also apply. This would include the 
provisions of AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation concerning the classification of 
financial instruments issued as debt or equity. 

Consolidated financial statements 
ASIC-RG85 
AASB10(Aus3.1), 
(4),(Aus4.1),(Aus4.2) 

74. Consolidation is prima facie also a recognition and measurement requirement. However, ASIC did 
not consider consolidation necessary for the financial report to give a true and fair view when 
Regulatory Guide 85 was issued in July 2005. As the guide has neither been withdrawn nor 
updated, it can still be applied, although in the context of AASB 10. Consolidated financial 
statements should therefore be prepared if either the parent entity or the group is a reporting entity 
unless the criteria in AASB 10 paragraph 4 are met (see paragraph 58 above). This is in contrast 
to RG 85 which states that the sole determining factor is whether the group is a reporting entity. 

  75. The financial statements of a non-reporting parent entity which does not prepare consolidated 
financial statements should include a note stating that consolidated financial statements have not 
been prepared because neither the parent nor the group is a reporting entity. An example of such 
a note is as follows: 

Consolidated financial statements have not been prepared for the company and its subsidiaries 
because neither the company nor the group is a reporting entity and the directors have decided 
not to comply with AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. These financial statements 
should be read in conjunction with the separate financial statements of the subsidiaries listed in 
note X. 

  Compliance with disclosure requirements 
CA295(3)(c) 
CA297 

76. Directors of non-reporting entities must also consider carefully the need to make disclosures which 
are not prescribed by the mandatory accounting standards, but which may be necessary in order 
for the financial statements to give a true and fair view. If knowledge of the matters is necessary for 
the financial statements to give a true and fair view, the directors should include the appropriate 
disclosures in the financial statements. Such disclosures could include significant related party 
transactions or contingent liabilities. 

 77. Non-reporting entities that hold out their financial statements to be general purpose financial 
statements must comply with all relevant requirements of accounting standards and 
interpretations. 

APES205(6) 78. Members of the Accounting Bodies who are involved in, or are responsible for, the preparation, 
presentation, audit, review or compilation of an entity’s special purpose financial statements are 
required, except where the statements will be used solely for internal purposes, to take all 
reasonable steps to ensure that the special purpose financial statements, and any associated 
audit, review or compilation report clearly states: 

 that the financial statements are special purpose financial statements 
 the purpose for which the financial statements have been prepared, and 
 the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation and presentation of the special 

purpose financial statements. 
79. Illustrative special purpose financial statements for a proprietary company that is required to 

prepare financial reports under the Act, but is not a reporting entity, are included in the VALUE 
ACCOUNTS Special Purpose publication covering the reporting obligations of non-reporting 
proprietary companies. This publication is available in electronic form from your usual PwC 
contacts. 
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 Reduced disclosure regime and special purpose financial statements 
80. Tier 2 of the reduced disclosure regime in AASB 1053 can only be applied by entities that prepare 

general purpose financial statements. Non-reporting entities that prepare special purpose financial 
statements will therefore have to comply with all disclosures requirements in AASB 101, AASB 
107, AASB 108 and AASB 1054 even if there are some disclosures in these standards that could 
be omitted by entities reporting under tier 2 of the reduced disclosure regime (eg auditor’s 
remuneration and reconciliation of operating cash flows). 

 Non-statutory financial reports 
81. A small proprietary company that is not a reporting entity and is not required by the Act or ASIC to 

prepare a financial report has more scope to adopt accounting policies which do not comply with 
specific recognition or measurement requirements than entities which are required to prepare 
financial statements which give a ‘true and fair view’. Provided such an entity is not subject to 
some other legislation, agreement or constituent document which requires the preparation of 
financial statements which give a true and fair view it will not normally need to comply with the Act, 
AASB or AAS accounting standards or AASB and UIG interpretations if the financial statements 
are prepared as special purpose financial statements. However, it may choose to do so voluntarily, 
particularly with the recognition and measurement rules if they are relevant for the specific purpose 
for which the statements are being prepared. If special purpose financial statements are prepared, 
the requirements of APES 205 Conformity with Accounting Standards described in paragraph 78 
above are applicable. 

CA293,294 82. Small proprietary companies that prepare financial statements at the request of shareholders or 
ASIC will need to comply with accounting standards to the extent required by the request. 

SAC1 
APES205 

83. The reporting entity and general purpose financial reporting concepts discussed above in the 
context of companies are also generally applicable to non-corporate entities in the private and 
public sectors by virtue of the requirements of SAC 1 and APES 205. The financial statements of 
many unincorporated joint ventures may be special purpose financial statements. 

  
(m) Financial years 

CA323D(1),(2) 84. The first financial year of entities reporting under the Act starts on the day on which the entity is 
registered or incorporated and lasts for 12 months, or a period not longer than 18 months 
determined by the directors. Subsequent financial years must be 12 months long plus/minus 
seven days. 

CA323D(2A) 85. Having said that, entities can change their financial year-end at any time, provided the change: 
 is made in good faith 
 is in the best interest of the entity, and 
 the entity has not already changed its financial year in the previous five years. 

CA323D(2A) 86. However, a word of caution. If an entity changes its year-end under the new rules, this cannot 
result in a financial year that is longer than 12 months. For example, if a company intends to move 
from a June year-end to a December year-end, it will need to do this by having a six month 
financial year from July 2017 to December 2017 as opposed to an 18 month financial year. 

CA323D(4) 
ASIC2016/189 
ASIC-RG58(45)-(52) 

87. Entities are also permitted to change their year-end in order to synchronise it with the year-end of 
an Australian controlling entity, provided the accounting standards require the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements and the change is made within 12 months after the change of 
control occurred. Controlled entities of a foreign parent can apply ASIC Corporations 
(Synchronisation of Financial Years) Instrument 2016/189 to change their year-end provided there 
is a synchronisation requirement in the parent’s place of origin. 

CA323D(4) 
ASIC2016/189 
CA250P 

88. Entities that change their year-end to synchronise it with the year-end of a controlling entity may 
still do this by having a financial year up to 18 months in length. Public companies need to keep in 
mind, though, that they are required to lay the annual report for the financial year before an AGM 
and to hold an AGM at least once in each calendar year. They may need to apply to ASIC for an 
extension of time to hold their AGM. 

ASIC-INFO17 89. Where an entity has changed its financial year as permitted under the Act or ASIC instrument 
2016/189, it needs to notify ASIC of the change in writing. The notification should include the start 
and end dates of the old and new financial year and the exception under which the entity is 
changing its financial year. 

CA340,342 
ASIC-INFO17 

90. If everything else fails, entities can also apply to ASIC under section 340 of the Act for individual 
relief to change their financial year (see paragraph 51 above). However, ASIC can only grant relief 
if the entity can demonstrate that not changing the year-end, or having to do this by having a 
shorter financial year would impose unreasonable burdens. 
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(n) Rounding of financial information 

  
AASB 101 disclosure requirements 

AASB101(51)(e) 91. The level of rounding used in presenting amounts in the financial report shall be displayed 
prominently, and repeated when it is necessary for a proper understanding of the 
information presented. 

  
Rounding of amounts 

ASIC2016/191 92. Financial reports and directors’ reports that are prepared and lodged with ASIC under parts 2.M.3 
and Part 7.8 of the Act must disclose amounts as they are recorded in the entity’s financial 
records, which will be to the nearest dollars and cents. However, ASIC Corporations (Rounding in 
Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191 permits amounts to be rounded at least to the 
nearest dollar, and under certain conditions even further. Subject to certain exclusions and 
conditions, amounts may be rounded off to the following prescribed amounts (‘rounding factors’):  

  Assets: Round off to nearest:
  Less than $10 million $1

  Greater than $10 million (but less than $1,000m) $1,000

  Greater than  $1,000 million (but less than $10,000m) $100,000

  Greater than $10,000 million $1 million

   

  Alternative rounding factors 
ASIC2016/191.5(2)(b) 93. An entity may use alternative rounding factors provided that the alternative factors are: 

  (a) one-tenth of one cent, one cent, $1, $1,000 or $100,000 

(b) less than the permitted rounding factor, and 

(c) consistently applied for all amounts in the financial report or directors’ report to which the 
permitted rounding factor otherwise applied. 

 94. An example of the application of the above paragraph, is a company with assets in excess of 
$10,000 million which decides to round off to the nearest $100,000, rather than the also permitted 
$1 million. In such a case the company must round-off all amounts to the nearest $100,000 (except 
as stated in paragraphs 95 and 97–99 below). It cannot choose to round some amounts to 
$100,000 and others to $1 million. 

  Exclusions 
ASIC2016/191.5(2)(b) 95. The ASIC instrument does not permit any amount to be rounded if the rounding has the potential to 

adversely affect: 
  (a) decisions about the allocation of scarce resources made by users of the financial report and 

the directors’ report, or 

(b) the discharge of accountability by management or the directors of the entity or in relation to 
the auditors. 

  Conditions 
ASIC2016/191.5,6 96. The following conditions apply: 

  (a) if the amount is half or less than half the permitted rounding factor it must be shown as ‘nil’ or 
the equivalent thereof – except that if the amounts in the financial report (including the 
consolidated financial statements) and the comparative figures are half or less than half the 
prescribed amount, the item and the amount may be omitted 

(b) comparative amounts must also be rounded 

(c) the financial report or directors’ report must state that the entity is an entity to which the ASIC 
instrument applies and that amounts have been rounded off in accordance with the instrument

(d) each page where rounding has occurred must clearly disclose the extent of rounding, and 

(e) where amounts are rounded to the nearest $100,000, they must be presented in the form of 
millions of dollars and one decimal place representing hundreds of thousands of dollars, with a 
clear indication that the amounts are presented in millions of dollars. 
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  Items not subject to full rounding 
ASIC2016/191 97. The following disclosures must be shown to the nearest dollar by entities with assets (or 

consolidated assets) of more than $10 million but not more than $1,000 million, and may only be 
rounded to the nearest $1,000 by entities with assets (or consolidated assets) of more than 
$1,000 million: 

  Financial statement disclosures 
  AASB 2(50) Share-based payments 

  AASB 1054(10) Remuneration of auditors 

  AASB 124(17) Compensation of key management personnel 

  AASB 124(18),(19) Related party transactions 

   

  Directors’ report disclosures 
  CA 300(1)(g),(8),(9) Indemnification/insurance of officers or auditors 

  CA 300(11B),(11C)  Non-audit services 

  CA 300(13)(a) Fees paid to responsible entity and associates 

  CA 300A(1)(c),(1)(e) Remuneration of directors and executives 

   

 98. The following directors’ report disclosures may only be rounded to the nearest cent: 

  CA 300(6)(c) Issue price of unissued shares or interests under 
option 

  CA 300(7)(d),(e)  Amounts unpaid, paid, or agreed to be 
considered as paid, on shares or interests issued 
as a result of the exercise of an option. 

  Earnings per share 
ASIC2016/191.4 99. Basic and diluted earnings per share to be disclosed under AASB 133(66)–(69) may only be 

rounded to the nearest one-tenth of a cent. 
  Illustrative wording 
ASIC2016/191.5(2)(f) 
AASB101(51)(e) 

 

100. Suggested wording for the directors’ report and financial report where amounts are rounded off to 
the nearest tenth of a million dollars or million dollars is set out below: 

  Rounding of amounts 

The company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Legislative Instrument 2016/191, relating to the 
‘rounding off’ of amounts in the directors’ report (or financial report). Amounts in the directors’ 
report (or financial report) have been rounded off in accordance with the instrument to the nearest 
tenth of a million dollars (or million dollars), or in certain cases, to the nearest thousand dollars. 

  Application to other financial reports and financial statements 
ASIC2016/191 
 

101. The instrument applies to all financial reports prepared and lodged under chapter 2M.3 of the Act, 
including half-year and concise reports. In addition, the instrument also permits rounding in profit 
and loss statements and balance sheets lodged with ASIC by the holder of an AFSL under section 
989B of the Act. The same conditions must be satisfied, including the requirement for a clear 
disclosure of the extent of rounding, and a reference to ASIC Corporations (Rounding in 
Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191. 
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(o) Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors 

CA9,199A,199B, 

300(1)(g),(8),(9) 
102. The directors’ report must disclose information about any indemnification or insurance 

arrangements that are permitted under CA 199A and 199B of the Corporations Act 2001. The 
provisions cover past and present officers or auditors. An officer is defined in CA 9 to mean: 

  (a) a director or secretary of the corporation, or 

(b) a person: 

(i) who makes, or participates in making, decisions that affect the whole, or a substantial 
part, of the business of the corporation, or 

(ii) who has the capacity to affect significantly the corporation’s financial standing, or 

(iii) in accordance with whose instructions or wishes the directors of the corporation are 
accustomed to act (excluding advice given by the person in the proper performance of 
functions attaching to the person’s professional capacity or their business relationship 
with the directors or the corporation), or 

(c) a receiver, or receiver and manager, of the property of the corporation, or 

(d) an administrator of the corporation, or 

(e) an administrator of a deed of company arrangement executed by the corporation, or 

(f) a liquidator of the corporation, or 

(g) a trustee or other person administering a compromise or arrangement made between the 
corporation and someone else. 

  Insurance 
CA199B 103. The disclosure in the VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings Limited directors’ report relates to an 

insurance arrangement. CA 199B prohibits a company or a related body corporate from insuring 
an officer or an auditor (whether the premium is paid directly or through an interposed entity) 
against liabilities (other than for legal costs) arising out of: 

CA199B(1)(a)  (a) conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the company, or 

CA199B(1)(b)  (b) a contravention of CA 182 or 183 (improper use of position or information by individual to gain 
advantage for self or some other person, or to cause detriment to company). 

CA300(1)(g),(8)(b) 104. For insurance arrangements that are not prohibited under CA199B, CA 300(8) requires disclosure 
of details of any premium paid, or agreed to be paid, for insurance against a current or former 
officer’s or auditor’s liability for legal costs. 

CA300(9)(a)–(c),(f) 105. Specific disclosures required in relation to insurance arrangements are: 

  (a) for officers – their name or the class of officer to which they belong or belonged 

(b) for auditors – their name 

(c) except where prohibited by the insurance contract: 

(i) the nature of the liability, and 

(ii) the amount of the insurance premium. 

  Indemnities for officers and auditors 
CA300(1)(g),(8)(a) 106. The directors’ report must disclose details of any indemnity given to a current or former officer or 

auditor against a liability that is permitted under CA 199A(2) or (3), or any relevant agreement 
under which an officer or auditor may be given an indemnity of that kind. Generally, the disclosure 
of an indemnity will mirror the wording of the relevant indemnity in the contract or auditor’s 
engagement letter. 

 107. CA 199A(2) prohibits a company or a related body corporate from indemnifying an officer or an 
auditor (whether by agreement or by making a payment and whether directly or through an 
interposed entity) against any of the following liabilities: 

CA199A(2)(a)  (a) owed to the company or a related body corporate 

CA199A(2)(b)  (b) for a pecuniary penalty order under CA 1317G or a compensation order under CA 1317H or 
CA 1317HA, and 

CA199A(2)(c)  (c) owed to a third party and which did not arise out of conduct in good faith. 

CA199A(2)  CA 199A(2) does not apply to a liability for legal costs. 
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 108. CA 199A(3) prohibits a company or a related body corporate from indemnifying an officer or an 
auditor (whether by agreement or by making a payment and whether directly or through an 
interposed entity) against legal costs incurred in defending an action if the costs are incurred: 

CA199A(3)(a)  (a) in defending or resisting proceedings in which the person is found to have a liability for which 
they could not be indemnified under CA 199A(2) 

CA199A(3)(b)  (b) in defending or resisting criminal proceedings in which the person is found guilty 

CA199A(3)(c)  (c) in defending or resisting proceedings brought by ASIC or a liquidator for a court order if the 
grounds for making the order are found by the court to have been established, or 

CA199A(3)(d)  (d) in connection with proceedings for relief to the person under the Corporations Act 2001 in 
which the court denies the relief. 

CA199A(3) 109. CA 199A(3)(c) (paragraph 108(c) above) does not apply to costs incurred in responding to actions 
taken by ASIC or a liquidator as part of an investigation before commencing proceedings for the 
court order. 

CA300(9)(a)–(e) 110. Specific disclosures required where an indemnity has been given or agreed to be given are: 

  (a) for officers – their name or the class of officer to which they belong or belonged 

(b) for auditors – their name 

(c) the nature of the liability 

(d) for an indemnity given – the amount the company paid and any other action the company took 
to indemnify the officer or auditor, and 

(e) for an agreement to indemnify – the amount that the agreement requires the company to pay 
and any other action the relevant agreement requires the company to take to indemnify the 
officer or auditor. 

 
Other illustrative disclosures 

CA300(9)(a)–(e) 111. Following are illustrative examples of disclosures which might be made with respect to an 
indemnity to comply with CA 300(8). Whether an indemnity requires disclosure and the details 
required to be disclosed will need to be decided on a case by case basis. Legal advice should be 
sought if there is any doubt as to the disclosure required to comply with CA 300(8). 

  Indemnities for officers 

CA300(1)(g),(8)(a), 
(9)(a),(c),(d) 

 During the financial year, VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings Limited gave the chief executive officer, 
Mr N T Toddington and the company secretary, Ms S M Smith an indemnity against legal costs 
incurred in successfully defending proceedings brought against Mr Toddington and Ms Barker, 
in their capacity as officers of the company under the Fair Trading Act. The amount paid by the 
company was $20,000. 

Agreement to indemnify officers 

CA300(1)(g),(8)(a), 
(9)(a),(c),(e) 

 During the financial year, VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings Limited agreed to indemnify each 
director and secretary of the company and of its Australian based subsidiaries against any 
liability: 

(a) to a party other than VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings Limited or a related body corporate, but 
only to the extent that the liability arises out of conduct in good faith, and 

(b) for legal costs incurred in connection with proceedings for relief to the director or secretary 
under the Corporations Act 2001 in which the court grants the relief. 

The amount payable under the agreement is the full amount of the liability. No liability has arisen 
under these indemnities as at the date of this report. 

  Agreement to indemnify auditor 

CA300(1)(g),(8)(a), 
(9)(b),(c),(e) 

 During the financial year, VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings Limited agreed to indemnify Checker & 
Co, the former auditors of its subsidiary, VALUE IFRS Trading Limited, against: 

(a) all liabilities (other than liabilities to VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings Limited, VALUE IFRS 
Trading Limited or a related body corporate) arising out of their duties as auditor of VALUE 
IFRS Trading Limited in the period 1 January 2017 up to the date of their resignation on 29 
October 2017, but only to the extent that the liability arises out of conduct in good faith 

(b) legal costs incurred in defending an action for a liability within the scope of the indemnity 
referred to in paragraph (a). 

The amount payable under the agreement is the full amount of the liability. No liability has arisen 
under this indemnity as at the date of this report. 
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This flowchart identifies which entities must prepare audited financial reports under Chapter 2M of the Corporations Act 2001 (the Act). 
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  Corporations Act entities 
  The following table provides a brief summary of the types of entities that are regulated under the 

Corporations Act 2001. 

 Type of company Description 

CA45A,112,113,148 Proprietary company  Can have no more than 50 non-employee shareholders 

 Must have ‘Proprietary’ in its name (or Pty) 

 Normally limited by shares, but can also be unlimited 

 Name must indicate whether limited (‘Limited’ or ‘Ltd’) or unlimited 

 Financial reporting obligations depend on whether the company is 
‘large’ or ‘small’, see paragraphs 32 to 36 of Appendix A 

CA9,112 Public company  A company other than a proprietary company 

 Can be limited by shares, limited by guarantee, no liability (mining 
companies only) or unlimited 

 Name must indicate whether the company is a no liability company 
(NL) or a limited company; an exception exists for companies limited by 
guarantee which are set up for charitable purposes. 

CA9 Managed investment 
scheme 

A scheme with the following features: 

 people contribute consideration to acquire rights to benefits produced 
by the scheme 

 the contributions are pooled or used in common enterprise, and 

 the members do not have day-to-day control over the operation of the 
scheme. 

Time sharing schemes are also MIS. Other types of entities are, however, 
specifically excluded, see the definition of MIS in section 9 of the Act. 

MIS have to be registered if 

CA601ED  they have more than 20 members, 

 they were/are promoted by a person in the business of promoting 
schemes, or 

 ASIC determines that there are a number of schemes that are closely 
related and which, in aggregate, have more than 20 members. 

CA601FA 
CA601FB 

Registered MIS must have a responsible entity which is a public company 
that holds an AFS licence authorising it to operate a scheme. The 
responsible entity is liable to scheme members for all aspects of the 
scheme’s operation. It can delegate any aspect of operations to a third 
party (eg a custodian), but it cannot delegate its liability. 

CA9 
CR1.0.0.02A 

Listed entity 
(company or registered 
scheme) 

A reference to ‘listed’ means inclusion in the official list of a prescribed 
financial market operated in Australia. At present, the following markets are 
prescribed: 

 Asia Pacific Exchange Limited 

 ASX Limited 

 Chi-X Australia Pty Ltd 

 National Stock Exchange of Australia Limited 

 SIM Venture Securities Exchange Ltd. 

 Disclosing entity All listed companies & listed registered schemes are disclosing entities. 

Other public companies and unlisted registered schemes may also satisfy 
the definition of a disclosing entity in certain circumstances (see paragraph 
43 of Appendix A for details). 
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Appendix B Annual reporting deadlines 
 The annual reporting deadlines for managed investment schemes and pooled superannuation trusts are 

summarised in the following table. ‘Annual report’ refers to the financial report, directors’ declaration and 
auditor’s report. It may also refer to a concise financial report prepared under CA314(2). The deadlines 
refer to periods after the year end. 

 Action Registered Schemes Pooled Superannuation Fund 

 Sign directors’ declaration and report1 3 months  

CA319(3) Lodge annual report with ASIC 3 months2-3  

CA315(3) Send annual report to unitholders 3 months  

SRS 320-2, SRS 330-2 Sign Trustee Statement and Audit 
Report 

 3 months 

CA1017D(3) Issue Annual Trustee Report to 
Members 

 6 months 

 Lodge annual return with APRA  3 months 
    

 Directors’ declaration and directors’ report 

CA319(3) 1. There is no specific deadline for signing the directors’ declaration and report, but they will 
need to be signed by the stated deadlines to enable the annual report to be lodged with ASIC 
on time. 

 Listed entities 

ASX(4.3A) 

Listed entities only 

2. A listed entity (except a mining or oil and gas exploration entity) must lodge the information set 
out in Appendix 4E (preliminary final report) with ASX. A responsible entity must give the 
information to ASX with any necessary adaptation. The information in Appendix 4E must use 
the same accounting policies as the accounts on which it is based and must comply with all 
relevant accounting standards. Foreign entities may provide the information in accordance with 
accounting standards acceptable to the ASX (e.g. International Financial Reporting Standards). 

ASX(4.3A) 

Listed entities only 

3. The information referred to in paragraph 2 above must be given to ASX immediately all of it 
becomes available, and no later than it lodges any accounts with ASIC or the regulatory bodies 
in the jurisdiction in which it is established. In any event, Appendix 4E must be lodged with the 
ASX no later than 2 months after the end of the relevant financial year. 

ASX(4.3D),(4.5A) 

Listed entities only 

4. Once a listed entity is or becomes aware of any circumstances which are likely to affect the 
results or other information contained in the preliminary final report given to the ASX under 
Listing Rules 4.3 or 4.3A, the entity must immediately give the ASX an explanation of the 
circumstances and the effects they are expected to have on the entity’s current or future 
financial performance or financial position. There is no requirement to also include information 
about the circumstances in the financial statements, but some entities may wish to continue to 
make this disclosure, as previously required under Listing Rule 4.10.1. 

ASX(5.5) 
Listed entities only 

5. Mining and oil and gas exploration entities are not required to lodge either Appendix 4E or 
Appendix 4D (half-year reporting). However, they must lodge quarterly reports which show their 
cash flows, changes in mining tenements and in issued securities with the ASX within one 
month after the end of the relevant quarter (Appendix 5B). Listed exploration entities must also 
lodge their annual financial report with the ASX and/or ASIC within the 3 months deadline that 
applies to all listed entities. 

ASX(4.5) 
ASIC-RG28 
ASIC2016/181 
Listed entities only 

6. All listed entities that are established in Australia must give the annual report to the ASX when 
they lodge it with ASIC. They must also give the ASX a copy of any concise report at the same 
time. Under ASIC Regulatory Guide 28 and ASIC Corporations (Electronic Lodgement of 
Financial Reports) Instrument 2016/181, lodgement with the ASX can also satisfy a listed 
entity’s obligation to lodge documents with ASIC. Special rules apply to entities that are not 
established in Australia, see ASX Listing Rules 4.5.2 and 4.5.3 for details. 

ASX(4.7A) 
Listed entities only 

7. If an ASX Debt Listing is required to comply with CA 319 (disclosing entities) or CA 601CK 
(registered foreign companies), it must give ASX a copy of the documents that it lodges with 
ASIC no later than the time that it lodges them. If it is not required to comply with CA 319 or CA 
601CK, it must give to ASX, in English, a copy of any annual accounts that it lodges with the 
regulatory authorities in the jurisdiction in which it is established within 10 business days of 
lodging them 

ASX(4.7A.1) 
Listed entities only 

8. If an ASX Debt Issuer was admitted on the basis of a guarantee provided by a parent entity, 
and the parent entity is required to comply with CA 601CK, the ASX Debt Issuer must give ASX 
a copy of the documents that the parent entity lodges with ASIC no later than the time that the 
parent entity lodges them. If the parent entity is not required to comply with CA 601CK, the ASX 
Debt Issuer must give to ASX, in English, a copy of any annual accounts that the parent entity 
lodges with the regulatory authorities in the jurisdiction in which it is established, immediately 
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after the parent entity lodges them. 

ASX(4.8) 

Listed entities only 

9. If securities in, or loans or advances to, an unlisted entity are a listed entity’s main asset, the 
listed entity must give the ASX the latest accounts of the unlisted entity, together with any 
auditor’s report or statement when the listed entity gives its annual report and any concise 
report to the ASX. This is not required if the unlisted entity is included in the listed entity’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

 Sending annual reports to members 

ASX(4.7),(4.7.1) 

Listed entities only 

10. If the annual report or concise report sent to members of a listed entity under CA 314 contains 
information additional to that lodged with the ASX/ASIC under Listing Rule 4.5 within 3 months 
after the year end (e.g. information required under ASX 4.10), it must give the ASX a copy of 
the report sent to members on the earlier of the first day it sends it to members or the last day 
for it to be given to members under CA 315 (i.e. 4 months, or 3 months for schemes). If the 
annual report sent to members does not include additional information/documents to those 
already lodged, the entity must tell the ASX that this is the case. 

 Annual general meeting (AGM) 

CA250N(4) 11. Registered schemes and proprietary companies are not required to hold AGMs unless 
specifically required to do so under their Constitution. 

 Other 

 12. Unregistered schemes are not captured by the Corporations Act 2001 and hence have no 
specific deadline for reporting to unitholders; however the Fund Constitution may contain 
reporting deadlines. 

ASX(4.3B) 13. The deadlines in the table apply to unlisted registered schemes. Listed registered schemes are 
required to lodge their Appendix 4E with the ASX within 2 months and their annual financial 
report within three months. 

 14. There is no requirement for a PST to lodge its annual financial report with APRA. However, a 
copy of the approved auditor’s report is required to be attached to the annual return. 

 15. Registered schemes that are required to lodge half-year reports with the ASX should do so 
within two months after the half-year. 
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Appendix C New standards and amendments 
  This appendix provides a summary of (a) new standards and amendments that are effective for the first 

time for periods commencing on or after 1 July 2017 (i.e. years ending 30 June 2018) and (b) 
forthcoming requirements, being standards and amendments that will become effective on or after 1 
July 2018. 

(a) New standards and amendments – applicable 1 July 2017 
The following standards and interpretations apply for the first time to financial reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 July 2017: 

  
Title Key requirements Effective Date *  

  AASB 2016-1 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards –  
Recognition of Deferred Tax 
Assets for Unrealised Losses 

Amendments made to AASB 112 in February 2016 clarify the accounting 
for deferred tax where an asset is measured at fair value and that fair 
value is below the asset’s tax base. Specifically, the amendments confirm 
that: 

 A temporary difference exists whenever the carrying amount of an 
asset is less than its tax base at the end of the reporting period. 

 An entity can assume that it will recover an amount higher than the 
carrying amount of an asset to estimate its future taxable profit. 

 Where the tax law restricts the source of taxable profits against 
which particular types of deferred tax assets can be recovered, the 
recoverability of the deferred tax assets can only be assessed in 
combination with other deferred tax assets of the same type.  

 Tax deductions resulting from the reversal of deferred tax assets 
are excluded from the estimated future taxable profit that is used to 
evaluate the recoverability of those assets.  

 

 

 

1 January 2017 

  AASB 2016-2 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – 
Disclosure Initiative: Amendments 
to AASB 107 

Going forward, entities will be required to explain changes in their 
liabilities arising from financing activities. This includes changes arising 
from cash flows (eg drawdowns and repayments of borrowings) and non-
cash changes such as acquisitions, disposals, accretion of interest and 
unrealised exchange differences.  

Changes in financial assets must be included in this disclosure if the cash 
flows were, or will be, included in cash flows from financing activities. This 
could be the case, for example, for assets that hedge liabilities arising 
from financing liabilities.  

Entities may include changes in other items as part of this disclosure, for 
example by providing a ‘net debt’ reconciliation. However, in this case the 
changes in the other items must be disclosed separately from the 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities.  

The information may be disclosed in tabular format as a reconciliation 
from opening and closing balances, but a specific format is not mandated.  

1 January 2017 

  AASB 2016-4 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards - 
Recoverable Amount of Non-Cash 
Generating Specialised Assets of 
Not-for-Profit Entities ^ 

The amendments made to AASB 136 Impairment of Assets remove 
references to depreciated replacement cost as a measure of value in use 
for not-for-profit entities. They also clarify that the recoverable amount of 
specialised assets of not-for-profit entities that are held for the continuing 
use of their service capacity is expected to be materially the same as the 
fair value determined under AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement. 

1 January 2017 

  AASB 2017-2 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – 
Further Annual improvements 
2014-2016 cycle [AASB 12] 

The amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements of AASB 12 
apply to interests in entities that are classified as held for sale, except for 
the summarised financial information. 

1 January 2017 

  * applicable to reporting periods commencing on or after the given date; unless otherwise stated, early adoption is permitted. 

#       at the time of writing, the AASB had not yet issued corresponding amendments, but was expected to do so shortly. Early adoption will be permitted 
once the amendments have been approved by the AASB.  

^       applicable only to not-for-profit and/or public sector entities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Appendix C: New standards and amendments 
 

PwC VALUE ACCOUNTS Investment Funds 2018 166 
 

 (b) Forthcoming requirements 
  As at 31 January 2018, the following standards and interpretations had been issued but were not 

mandatory for annual reporting periods ending 30 June 2018. For more recent information please refer 
to our web site at www.pwc.com/ifrs.  

  
Title Key requirements Effective Date * 

  AASB 9 Financial Instruments 

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9  

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 
(December 2010) 

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – 
Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 
9 and Transition Disclosures 

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – 
Conceptual Framework, Materiality 
and Financial Instruments 

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standard: 
Part E: Financial Instruments 

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 (December 
2014) 

AASB 2014-8 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 (December 
2014) – Application of AASB 9 
(December 2009) and AASB 9 
(December 2010) 

AASB 9 replaces the multiple classification and measurement models in 
AASB 139 Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement with a 
single model that has initially only two classification categories: amortised 
cost and fair value.  

Classification of debt assets will be driven by the entity’s business model 
for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets. A debt instrument is measured at 
amortised cost if: a) the objective of the business model is to hold the 
financial asset for the collection of the contractual cash flows, and b) the 
contractual cash flows under the instrument solely represent payments of 
principal and interest. 

All other debt and equity instruments, including investments in complex 
debt instruments and equity investments, must be recognised at fair 
value.  

All fair value movements on financial assets are taken through the 
statement of profit or loss, except for equity investments that are not held 
for trading, which may be recorded in the statement of profit or loss or in 
reserves (without subsequent recycling to profit or loss). 

For financial liabilities that are measured under the fair value option 
entities will need to recognise the part of the fair value change that is due 
to changes in the their own credit risk in other comprehensive income 
rather than profit or loss. 

The new hedge accounting rules (released in December 2013) align 
hedge accounting more closely with common risk management practices. 
As a general rule, it will be easier to apply hedge accounting going 
forward. The new standard also introduces expanded disclosure 
requirements and changes in presentation.  

In December 2015, the AASB made further changes to the classification 
and measurement rules and also introduced a new impairment model. 
With these amendments, AASB 9 is now complete. The changes 
introduce: 

 a third measurement category (FVOCI) for certain financial assets 
that are debt instruments 

 a new expected credit loss (ECL) model which involves a three-
stage approach whereby financial assets move through the three 
stages as their credit quality changes. The stage dictates how an 
entity measures impairment losses and applies the effective interest 
rate method. A simplified approach is permitted for financial assets 
that do not have a significant financing component (eg trade 
receivables). On initial recognition, entities will record a day-1 loss 
equal to the 12 month ECL (or lifetime ECL for trade receivables), 
unless the assets are considered credit impaired.  

 
Entities that adopt AASB9 for the first time for a financial year 
commencing on or after 1 February 2015 must adopt the new rules in 
their entirety. Previous exceptions are no longer available.  

1 January 
2018 
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Title Key requirements 

Effective 
Date * 

  AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers 

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 15 

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – 
Effective Date of AASB 15 

AASB 2016-3 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – 
Clarifications to AASB 15 

The AASB has issued a new standard for the recognition of revenue. This 
will replace AASB 118 which covers contracts for goods and services and 
AASB 111 which covers construction contracts.  

The new standard is based on the principle that revenue is recognised 
when control of a good or service transfers to a customer – so the notion 
of control replaces the existing notion of risks and rewards. 

A new five-step process must be applied before revenue can be 
recognised: 

 identify contracts with customers 

 identify the separate performance obligation 

 determine the transaction price of the contract 

 allocate the transaction price to each of the separate performance 
obligations, and 

 recognise the revenue as each performance obligation is satisfied. 

Key changes to current practice are: 

 Any bundled goods or services that are distinct must be separately 
recognised, and any discounts or rebates on the contract price must 
generally be allocated to the separate elements. 

 Revenue may be recognised earlier than under current standards if 
the consideration varies for any reasons (such as for incentives, 
rebates, performance fees, royalties, success of an outcome etc) – 
minimum amounts must be recognised if they are not at significant 
risk of reversal. 

 The point at which revenue is able to be recognised may shift: some 
revenue which is currently recognised at a point in time at the end 
of a contract may have to be recognised over the contract term and 
vice versa. 

 There are new specific rules on licenses, warranties, non-
refundable upfront fees and, consignment arrangements, to name a 
few. 

 As with any new standard, there are also increased disclosures.  

These accounting changes may have flow-on effects on the entity’s 
business practices regarding systems, processes and controls, 
compensation and bonus plans, contracts, tax planning and investor 
communications. 

Entities will have a choice of full retrospective application, or prospective 
application with additional disclosures.  

1 January 2018   

  AASB 16 Leases AASB 16 will affect primarily the accounting by lessees and will result in 
the recognition of almost all leases on balance sheet. The standard 
removes the current distinction between operating and financing leases 
and requires recognition of an asset (the right to use the leased item) and 
a financial liability to pay rentals for virtually all lease contracts. An 
optional exemption exists for short-term and low-value leases.  

The income statement will also be affected because the total expense is 
typically higher in the earlier years of a lease and lower in later years. 
Additionally, operating expense will be replaced with interest and 
depreciation, so key metrics like EBITDA will change.  

Operating cash flows will be higher as cash payments for the principal 
portion of the lease liability are classified within financing activities. Only 
the part of the payments that reflects interest can continue to be 
presented as operating cash flows.  

The accounting by lessors will not significantly change. Some differences 
may arise as a result of the new guidance on the definition of a lease. 
Under AASB 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration. 

1 January 2019 

Early adoption is 
permitted only if 
AASB 15 is 
adopted at the 
same time.  

  AASB 2016-5 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards - 
Classification and Measurement of 
Share-based Payment 
Transactions 

The amendments made to AASB 2 in July 2016 clarify the measurement 
basis for cash-settled share-based payments and the accounting for 
modifications that change an award from cash-settled to equity-settled. 
They also introduce an exception to the classification principles in AASB 
2. Where an employer is obliged to withhold an amount for the 
employee’s tax obligation associated with a share-based payment and 
pay that amount to the tax authority, the whole award will be treated as if 
it was equity-settled provided it would have been equity-settled without 
the net settlement feature.  

Entities with the following arrangements are likely to be affected by these 
changes: 

 equity-settled awards that include net settlement features relating to 
tax obligations 

 cash-settled share-based payments that include performance 
conditions, and 

 cash-settled arrangements that are modified to equity-settled share-
based payments. 

 

1 January 2018 
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Title Key requirements 

Effective 
Date * 

  AASB 2016-5 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards - 
Classification and Measurement of 
Share-based Payment 
Transactions 

The amendments made to AASB 2 in July 2016 clarify the measurement 
basis for cash-settled share-based payments and the accounting for 
modifications that change an award from cash-settled to equity-settled. 
They also introduce an exception to the classification principles in AASB 
2. Where an employer is obliged to withhold an amount for the 
employee’s tax obligation associated with a share-based payment and 
pay that amount to the tax authority, the whole award will be treated as if 
it was equity-settled provided it would have been equity-settled without 
the net settlement feature.  

Entities with the following arrangements are likely to be affected by these 
changes: 

 equity-settled awards that include net settlement features relating to 
tax obligations 

 cash-settled share-based payments that include performance 
conditions, and 

 cash-settled arrangements that are modified to equity-settled share-
based payments. 

1 January 2018 

  AASB 2016-6 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards - 
Applying AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments with AASB 4 
Insurance Contracts 

In October 2016, the AASB published an amendment to AASB 4 which 
addresses the concerns of insurance companies about the different 
effective dates of AASB 9 Financial instruments and the forthcoming new 
insurance contracts standard. The amendment provides two different 
solutions for insurance companies: a temporary exemption from AASB 9 
for entities that meet specific requirements (applied at the reporting entity 
level), and the ‘overlay approach’. Both approaches are optional. 

AASB 4 (including the amendments) will be superseded by the 
forthcoming new insurance contracts standard. Accordingly, both the 
temporary exemption and the ‘overlay approach’ are expected to cease to 
be applicable when the new insurance standards becomes effective.  

1 January 2018 
or when the 
entity first 
applies AASB 9 

  AASB 2017-1 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards - 
Transfers of Investment Property, 
Annual Improvements 2014-2016 
Cycle and other Amendments  
[AASB 1, AASB 128 & AASB 140] 

The following improvements were finalised in February 2017: 

 AASB 1 - deleted short-term exemptions covering transition 
provisions of AASB 7, AASB 119 and AASB 10 which are no longer 
relevant. 

 AASB 128 - clarifies that the election by venture capital 
organisations, mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities to 
measure investments in associates or joint ventures at fair value 
through profit or loss should be made separately for each associate 
or joint venture at initial recognition.  

The amendments to AASB 140 clarify that transfers to, or from, 
investment property can only be made if there has been a change in use 
that is supported by evidence. A change in use occurs when the property 
meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property. A change 
in intention alone is not sufficient to support a transfer.  

The list of evidence for a change of use in the standard was re-
characterised as a non-exhaustive list of examples to help illustrate the 
principle.  

The Board provided two option for transition: 

 prospectively, with any impact from the reclassification recognised 
as adjustment to opening retained earnings as at the date of initial 
recognition, or 

 retrospectively - only permitted without the use of hindsight.  

Additional disclosures are required if an entity adopts the requirements 
prospectively. 

1 January 2018 
(1 January 2019 
for not-for-profit 
entities) 

  AASB 2017-3 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – 
Clarifications to AASB 4 

The amendments made in July 2017 confirm that entities that are 
complying with AASB 1023 General Insurance Contracts and AASB 1038 
Life Insurance Contracts will also comply with AASB 4 Insurance 
Contracts at the same time. 

They further ensure that the relief available to issuers of insurance 
contracts provided by AASB 2016-6 (see above) can also be applied by 
entities reporting under AASB 1023 and/or AASB 1038 provided the entity 
satisfies the other qualifying criteria 

1 January 2018 
(early application 
not permitted) 
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Title Key requirements 

Effective 
Date * 

  Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency 
Transactions and Advance 
Consideration  

The interpretation clarifies how to determine the date of transaction for 
the exchange rate to be used on initial recognition of a related asset, 
expense or income where an entity pays or receives consideration in 
advance for foreign currency-denominated contracts.    

For a single payment or receipt, the date of the transaction should be the 
date on which the entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset or 
liability arising from the advance consideration (the prepayment or 
deferred income/contract liability). 

If there are multiple payments or receipts for one item, a date of 
transaction should be determined as above for each payment or receipt.  

Entities can choose to apply the interpretation: 

 retrospectively for each period presented 

 prospectively to items in scope that are initially recognised on or 
after the beginning of the reporting period in which the interpretation 
is first applied, or 

 prospectively from the beginning of a prior reporting period 
presented as comparative information. 

1 January 2018 (1 
January 2019 
for not-for-profit 
entities) 

  AASB 2017-6 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – 
Prepayment Features with 
Negative Compensation [AASB 9]   

  

The narrow-scope amendments made to AASB 9 Financial Instruments in 
December 2017 enable entities to measure certain prepayable financial 
assets with negative compensation at amortised cost. These assets, 
which include some loan and debt securities, would otherwise have to be 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
To qualify for amortised cost measurement, the negative compensation 
must be ‘reasonable compensation for early termination of the contract’ 
and the asset must be held within a ‘held to collect’ business model. 

1 January 2019 

  AASB 2017-7 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – 
Long-term Interests in Associates 
and Joint Ventures 

The amendments clarify the accounting for long-term interests in an 
associate or joint venture, which in substance form part of the net 
investment in the associate or joint venture, but to which equity 
accounting is not applied. Entities must account for such interests under 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments before applying the loss allocation and 
impairment requirements in AASB 128 Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures. 

1 January 2019 

  AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-
Profit Entities, AASB 2016-7 
Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards - Deferral of 
AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit Entities 
and AASB 2016-8 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards - 
Australian Implementation 
Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities  

AASB 1058 introduces major changes to the income recognition by public 
and private sector not-for-profit (NFP) entities. Rather than accounting for 
all contribution transactions under AASB 1004 Contributions, NFPs will 
now need to determine whether a transaction is a genuine donation 
(accounted for under AASB 1058) or a contract with a customer 
(accounted for under AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers). 
Implementation guidance has been added to AASB 15 to assist with this 
determination.  

A contract is within the scope of AASB 15 if 

 the entity has an enforceable contract with a customer, and 
 the contract includes sufficiently specific promises for the NFP entity 

to transfer goods or services to the customer or third party 
beneficiaries.  

Under AASB 15 income will only be recognised as the obligations under 
the contract are satisfied, potentially resulting in a deferral of income as 
compared to the current accounting under AASB 1004. 

AASB 1058 also introduces new requirements for income recognition in 
several other types of transactions which don’t fall within the scope of 
AASB, including: 

 below-market leases 
 obligations to acquire or construct a specific asset for an entity’s 

own use, and 
 other transactions such as volunteer services, donated inventories, 

endowments and bequests. 

If NFPs account for income under AASB 15, the relevant disclosures will 
also apply. In addition, AASB 1058 includes incremental disclosures for 
NFPs such as the disaggregation of income.  

The mandatory application date of AASB 15 has been deferred to 1 
January 2019 for NFP entities. If they want to adopt the new revenue 
recognition rules before that date, they will need to apply AASB 1058 at 
the same time. 

1 January 2019 
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Title Key requirements 

Effective 
Date * 

  Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over 
Income Tax Treatments 

The interpretation explains how to recognise and measure deferred and 
current income tax assets and liabilities where there is uncertainty over a 
tax treatment. In particular, it discusses: 

 how to determine the appropriate unit of account, and that each 
uncertain tax treatment should be considered separately or 
together as a group, depending on which approach better 
predicts the resolution of the uncertainty 

 that the entity should assume a tax authority will examine the 
uncertain tax treatments and have full knowledge of all related 
information, ie that detection risk should be ignored 

 that the entity should reflect the effect of the uncertainty in its 
income tax accounting when it is not probable that the tax 
authorities will accept the treatment 

 that the impact of the uncertainty should be measured using 
either the most likely amount or the expected value method, 
depending on which method best predicts the resolution of the 
uncertainty, and 

 that the judgements and estimates made must be reassessed 
whenever circumstances have changed or there is new 
information that affects the judgements. 

While there are no new disclosure requirements, entities are reminded of 
the general requirement to provide information about judgements and 
estimates made in preparing the financial statements.

1 January 2019 

  AASB 1059 Service Concession 
Arrangements: Grantors ^ 

The standard applies to both not-for-profit and for-profit public sector 
entities that are grantors in a service concession arrangement. These are 
arrangements that involve an operator providing public services related to 
a service concession asset on behalf of a public sector entity for a 
specified period of time and managing at least some of those services.  

The standard requires the grantor to: 

 recognise a service concession asset when the grantor controls the 
asset 

 reclassify an existing asset as a service concession asset when it 
meets the criteria for recognition as such an asset 

 initially measure a service concession asset at current replacement 
cost and account for it subsequently in accordance with AASB 116 
Property Plant and Equipment or AASB 138 Intangible Assets, as 
appropriate. 

 recognise a corresponding liability initially at the fair value of the 
service concession asset, adjusted for any other consideration 
between the grantor and the operator, and account for the liability 
using either or both of the financial liability model or grant of a right 
to the operator model, and 

 disclose sufficient information to enable users of the financial 
statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and 
uncertainty of assets, liabilities, revenue and cash flows arising from 
service concession arrangements. 

1 January 2019 

  Annual Improvements to IFRS 
Standards 2015-2017 Cycle 

The following improvements were finalised in December 2017: 

 IFRS 3 - clarified that obtaining control of a business that is a joint 
operation is a business combination achieved in stages. 

 IFRS 11 - clarified that the party obtaining joint control of a business 
that is a joint operation should not remeasure its previously held 
interest in the joint operation.  

 IAS 12 - clarified that the income tax consequences of dividends on 
financial instruments classified as equity should be recognised 
according to where the past transactions or events that generated 
distributable profits were recognised.  

 IAS 23 - clarified that if a specific borrowing remains outstanding 
after the related qualifying asset is ready for its intended use or 
sale, it becomes part of general borrowings.  

1 January 2019 

  Amendments to IAS 19: Plan 
Amendment, Curtailment and 
Settlements 

The amendments to IAS 19 clarify the accounting for defined benefit plan 
amendments, curtailments and settlements. They confirm that entities 
must : 

 calculate the current service cost and net interest for the remainder 
of the reporting period after a plan amendment, curtailment or 
settlement by using the updated assumptions from the date of the 
change 

 any reduction in a surplus should be recognised immediately in 
profit or loss either as part of past service cost, or as a gain or loss 
on settlement. In other words, a reduction in a surplus must be 
recognised in profit or loss even if that surplus was not previously 
recognised because of the impact of the asset ceiling  

 separately recognise any changes in the asset ceiling through other 
comprehensive income.  

1 January 2019 
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Title Key requirements 

Effective 
Date * 

  AASB 17 Insurance Contracts  AASB 17 was issued in July 2017 as replacement for AASB 4 Insurance 
Contracts. It requires a current measurement model where estimates are 
re-measured each reporting period. Contracts are measured using the 
building blocks of: 

 discounted probability-weighted cash flows 

 an explicit risk adjustment, and 

 a contractual service margin (“CSM”) representing the unearned 
profit of the contract which is recognised as revenue over the 
coverage period.  

The standard allows a choice between recognising changes in discount 
rates either in the statement of profit or loss or directly in other 
comprehensive income. The choice is likely to reflect how insurers 
account for their financial assets under AASB 9.  

An optional, simplified premium allocation approach is permitted for the 
liability for the remaining coverage for short duration contracts, which are 
often written by non-life insurers. 

There is a modification of the general measurement model called the 
‘variable fee approach’ for certain contracts written by life insurers where 
policyholders share in the returns from underlying items. When applying 
the variable fee approach the entity’s share of the fair value changes of 
the underlying items is included in the contractual service margin. The 
results of insurers using this model are therefore likely to be less volatile 
than under the general model. 

The new rules will affect the financial statements and key performance 
indicators of all entities that issue insurance contracts or investment 
contracts with discretionary participation features. 

1 January 2021 

  AASB 2014-10 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards: 
Sale or Contribution of Assets 
Between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture 

AASB 2015-10 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – 
Effective Date of Amendments to 
AASB 10 and AASB 128 

 

AASB 2017-5 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards - 
Effective Date of Amendments to 
AASB 10 and AASB 12 and 
Editorial Corrections 

 

 

The AASB has made limited scope amendments to AASB 10 
Consolidated financial statements and AASB 128 Investments in 
associates and joint ventures.  

The amendments clarify the accounting treatment for sales or contribution 
of assets between an investor and its associates or joint ventures. They 
confirm that the accounting treatment depends on whether the non-
monetary assets sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture 
constitute a ‘business’ (as defined in AASB 3 Business Combinations). 

Where the non-monetary assets constitute a business, the investor will 
recognise the full gain or loss on the sale or contribution of assets. If the 
assets do not meet the definition of a business, the gain or loss is 
recognised by the investor only to the extent of the other investor’s 
investors in the associate or joint venture. The amendments apply 
prospectively.  

** In December 2015 the IASB decided to defer the application date of this 
amendment until such time as the IASB has finalised its research project on 
the equity method. However, the AASB cannot legally issue amendments 
without an operative date. It has therefore initially deferred the application 
date to 1 January 2018 and subsequently extended this to 1 January 2022. 

1 January 2022**  

     

  * applicable to reporting periods commencing on or after the given date; unless otherwise stated, early adoption is permitted. 

  #       at the time of writing, the AASB had not yet issued corresponding amendments, but was expected to do so shortly. Early 
adoption will be permitted once the amendments have been approved by the AASB.  

  ̂        applicable only to not-for-profit and/or public sector entities 
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Appendix D Structured Entities 
The objective of AASB 12 is to require an entity to disclose information that enables users of its 
financial statements to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, its interests in other entities 
and the effects of those interests on its financial position, financial performance and cash flows.  

An interest refers to involvement that exposes the entity to variability of returns from the performance 
of another entity and includes the means by which an entity has control, joint control or significant 
influence over another entity and could include the holding of equity or debt instruments. An interest 
may also include other items such as fee income from the structured entity, funding, liquidity support, 
credit enhancements or guarantees. (AASB 12 App. A). 

A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the 
dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity, such as when any voting rights related to 
administrative tasks only and the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual 
arrangements (AASB 12 App.A, App.B21) 

A structured entity often has some or all of the following features or attributes: 

(a) restricted activities 

(b) a narrow and well-defined objective 

(c) insufficient equity to permit the structured entity to finance its activities without subordinated 
financial support 

(d) financing in the form of multiple contractually linked instruments to investors that create 
concentrations of credit risk or other risks (tranches) (AASB 12 App. B22). 

The objective of this appendix is to provide illustrative guidance to asset management entities when 
applying the disclosure requirements under AASB 12.  

The following are the situations in which entities will need to evaluate additional AASB 12 disclosures; 

(a) Funds which invest in other funds – Investment entities 
If a fund qualifies for the investment entity exception there are different disclosure requirements in the 
following situations: 

 where an investment entity controls an unconsolidated structured entity (AASB 12 19A-19G) 
 where an investment entity  has significant influence over a structured entity (AASB 12.21a,22-31) 

(see comment below re associate disclosures) 
 where an investment entity has an interest in but neither controls nor has significant influence over 

a structured entity (AASB 12.24-31). 

(b) Associate disclosures – Investment Managers 
If an investment manager manages a fund over which it has significant influence, in which it has an 
equity investment and if the investment manager currently equity accounts for its investment we would 
expect them to comply with all of the related associate disclosures in relation to these funds. 

For each material associate the disclosures include (but are not limited to): 

 name of associate, nature of relationship with associate, the principal place of business of the 
associate, % ownership interest 

 related commitments and contingent liabilities; and 
 summarised financial information of the associate. 

 
Illustrative examples 
For the purpose of this illustrative we have included the disclosure applicable to VALUE ACCOUNTS 
Unit Trust within the notes to the financial statements. This appendix provides three additional 
disclosure examples, covering three distinct situations, which we believe will cover the majority of 
circumstances in the Australian marketplace.  Below we have outlined the key facts and assumptions. 

 
Illustrative example 1 – Investment manager 
In this example the investment manager has an interest in its own managed funds by virtue of the 
following two relationships; 

 it has an ownership interest of less than 5% in some of the funds it manages; and 
 it earns management fees from the funds. 

Both of the above factors individually give rise to an “interest” in the funds. Where an investment 
manager has an interest in a structured entity the disclosure requirements of AASB 12 relating to 
structured entities are triggered. 
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Does the investment manager control the fund? 

While the investment manager has the ability to direct the relevant activities of the fund (power) by 
virtue of an investment management agreement between the investment manager and the fund the 
investment manager does not have sufficient exposure to variable returns to conclude it controls the 
fund. 

Sponsorship 

Due to the fact that the investment manager has established the funds the investment manager 
“sponsors” the funds. Where the investment manager sponsors a fund in which it does not have an 
interest there are specific disclosure requirements (AASB 12.27). 
In most scenarios an investment manager will have an interest and therefore these disclosures will not 
be necessary. 

 
Illustrative example 2 – Feeder Fund 

 
Our second example covers a fund (Fund B) which invests directly into Fund C through a Master 
Feeder Fund structure. The key features in this example are the following: 

 Fund B controls Fund C (it owns 100% of Fund C) and has applied the investment entity exception 
to consolidation 

 Fund B only invests into Fund C and does not hold any other investments 
 both Fund B and Fund C have been determined to be structured entities. 

It is worth noting where a fund is an investment entity which controls all structured entities in which it 
has an interest, disclosure requirements are greatly reduced which is illustrated by this example.  
 
Illustrative example 3 – Complex Fund 
 
In this example the fund invests in a number of different financial instruments and the key features are 
the following; 

 Fund E meets the definition of an investment entity and has adopted the investment entity 
exception to consolidation where applicable 

 Fund E invests in a number of different financial instruments including structured debt products, 
credit default swaps as well as related (through common management) and unrelated funds 

 Fund E controls some structured entities 
 Fund E has significant influence over some structured entities 
 Fund E has interests in some structured entities over which it does not have control or significant 

influence. 

It is worth noting that the last three points will all trigger different reporting requirements under 
AASB 12. 

  Illustrative example 1  

  XX Disclosure of interests in other entities (Extract) 

  (xx) Unconsolidated structured entities 

  A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the 
dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity and the relevant activities are directed by means of 
contractual arrangements.  

AASB12(9)(e) 

 
 The company has significant influence over the funds it manages due its power to participate in the 

financial and operating policy decisions of the investee through its investment management agreements. 

AASB12(26)  The company considers all funds to be structured entities. The company invests in its own managed 
funds for the purpose of capital appreciation and / or to seed the funds to develop a performance track 
record prior to external investment being received. The company also receives management and 
performance fees for its role as investment manager. 

The funds’ objectives range from achieving medium to long term capital growth and whose investment 
strategy does not include the use of leverage. The funds invest in a number of different financial 
instruments including equities and debt instruments. The funds’ finance their operations by issuing 
redeemable units which are puttable at the holder’s option and entitle the holder to a proportional stake 
in the respective fund’s net assets.  

The company holds redeemable units in each of its managed funds. 
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AASB12(29)  The nature and extent of the company’s interests in funds is summarised below: 

AASB12(29)(a),(b)  

At 30 June 2018 

Australian 
Equity 
Funds 

$’000 

Global 
Equity 
Funds 

$’000 

Global 
Bond 

Funds 

$’000 

Total 
 

       $’000 

  Current Assets      

  Financial assets 101 76 65 242 

  Accrued revenue 2,500 1,300 1,200 5,000 

  Total Assets 2,601 1,376 1,265 5,242 

  
AASB12(29)(c),(d)  Maximum exposure to loss 2,601 1,376 1,265 5,242 

AASB12(26)  Net Asset Value of Funds 2,101,567 978,354 675,365 3,754,921 

AASB12(26)  Fund’s investment portfolio 2,123,495 989,097 696,596 3,809,188 

  At 30 June 2017 
    

  Current Assets      

  Financial assets xx xx xx xx 

  Accrued revenue xx xx xx xx 

  Total Assets xx xx xx xx 

   xx xx xx xx 

  Maximum exposure to loss xx xx xx xx 

  Net Asset Value of Funds xx xx xx xx 

  Fund’s investment portfolio xx xx xx xx 

AASB12(29)(c)  Unless specified otherwise, the company’s maximum exposure to loss is the total of its on-balance 
sheet positions as at reporting date. There are no additional off balance sheet arrangements which 
would expose the company to potential loss. 

AASB12B26(c)  During the year the company earned both management and performance fee income from structured 
entities. Refer to note x for further information. 

  
AASB12(30)  Financial support provided or to be provided to funds 

AASB12(30)(a)  The company provides financial support to the funds it manages in the form of administrative expenses 
which it incurs and absorbs relating to the funds’ activities. In the current year expenses incurred by 
the company which were directly attributable to activities of the funds it manages were $90,465 
(2017:$ x). 

AASB12(30(b)  Providing support to the funds is a commercial consideration of the company which the company 
believes to be in its best interests. 
 

 

 
 Illustrative example 2  

  XX Disclosure of interests in other entities (Extract) 

  (xx) Unconsolidated structured entities 

  A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant 
factor in deciding who controls the entity and the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual 
arrangements. 

AASB12(19A)  The fund controls Fund C but does not consolidate Fund C. Fund C is carried at fair value through profit 
or loss in accordance with the investment entity exception to consolidation. Please see note xx for further 
detail. 

AASB12(25A) 

AASB12(19B) 
 The following table provides information in relation to unconsolidated structured entities which we control: 

  Name Principal place of 
business 

Ownership interest Fair value 

000’s 

  Fund C Sydney, Australia 100% (2017:100%) 242 (2017:x) 

  [Note if Fund C controls another structured entity Fund B (the parent) will also need to provide the 
disclosures noted in the table above for those entities which Fund C controls.] 
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  Illustrative example 3 

 
  XX Disclosure of interests in other entities (Extract) 
  (xx) Structured entities 
  A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the 

dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity, and the relevant activities are directed by means of 
contractual arrangements. 

  Structured entity disclosures -  unconsolidated subsidiaries 

AASB12(19A)  The fund controls two structured entities, both of which are related funds.  Both these funds are 
carried at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with the investment entity exception to 
consolidation. Please see note X for further detail. 

AASB12(25A) 

AASB12(19B) 
 The following table provides information in relation to unconsolidated structured entities which we 

control: 

  Name Principal place of 
business 

Ownership 
interest 

Fair value 
000’s 

  Fund E Sydney, Australia 100% 
(2017:100%) 

65,607 
(2017:x) 

  Fund F Sydney, Australia 100% 
(2017:100%) 

76,708 
(2017:x) 

      

  Structured entity disclosures – associates 

AASB12(21)(a)(ii)  The fund invests in associates for the purpose of capital appreciation and to earn investment income. 
The fund is related to associates through common investment managements. They are considered 
strategic to the funds activities. 

All associates are carried at fair value through profit or loss. 

AASB12(21)(a)(i),(a)
(iii), (a)(iv) 

 The following table provides information in relation to the funds two associates; 

  Name Principal place of 
business 

Ownership 
interest 

Fair value
000’s 

  Associate A Sydney, Australia 24% 
(2017:24%) 

30,495 
(2017:x) 

  Associate B Sydney, Australia 21% 
(2017:21%) 

34,905 
(2017:x) 

      

  Structured entity disclosures – other investments 

AASB12(26)  Related and unrelated fund investments 

The fund invests in other funds for the purpose of capital appreciation.  

The investee funds’ objectives range from achieving medium to long term capital growth and whose 
investment strategy does not include the use of leverage. The investee funds invest in a number of 
different financial instruments, including equities and debt instruments. The investee funds’ finance 
their operations by issuing redeemable shares which are puttable at the holder’s option and entitles 
the holder to a proportional stake in the respective fund’s net assets.  

The fund holds redeemable shares in each of the investee funds. 

The size of a related investee fund is indicated by the net asset value of the fund per the investee 
funds’ balance sheet. For unrelated funds size is indicated by the carrying value of the fund’s 
investment as recognised on the fund’s balance sheet as at the reporting date as there is no other 
exposure to the fund other than the carrying value of its investment. 

AASB12(26)  Structured debt investments 

The fund invests in structured debt issued by investment grade corporate trusts for the purpose of 
capital appreciation. 

The objectives of the funds which issue the debt are to use the proceeds of the debt issuance to 
purchase debt instruments which it believes are undervalued in the hope of capital appreciation and 
earning investment income. The issuing fund finances its operations through issuing debt and 
redeemable shares which are puttable at the holder’s option and entitles the holder to a proportional 
stake in the Trust’s net assets.  

When referring to the size of the issuer the fund is referring to the carrying value of the investment as 
recognised on the fund’s balance sheet as at the reporting date. 
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  XX Disclosure of interests in other entities (Extract) continued 

AASB12B26(d)  Of the debt instruments which the fund invests in $1.234m (2017:$1.234m) (carrying value) relates to a 
fund which has issued $10.000m in secured and unsecured notes. Of that $100.000m, $40.000m 
(2017:$40.000m) ranks above the funds $1.234m investment while the remaining balance ranks 
below. 

All other structured debt investments held by the fund rank pari passu with all other debt issued by the 
issuer and above the interests of the unitholders in the issuing fund. 

AASB12(26)  Credit default swaps 

The fund invests in credit default swaps (CDS), A CDS is a derivative financial instrument. The entity 
receives premiums from other entities by effectively providing insurance over a portfolio of reference 
entities and related potential credit events. Where a credit event occurs the fund may be required to 
compensate one or more of the entities it receives premiums from. For the funds maximum exposure 
see table below. 

The objective of the CDS is to provide the fund with a financial return in return for accepting the risk 
associated with the potential credit events related potential payments that the fund may be required to 
make. 

Size is indicated by the notional exposure to underlying credit risk. 

AASB12(29)  The nature and extent of the company’s interests in unconsolidated structured entities is summarised 
below: 

AASB12(29)(a),(b)  At 30 June 2018 Unit Trusts 

$’000 

Related Equity 
Funds 

$’000 

Unrelated Equity 
Funds 

$’000 

  Assets    

  Associate investments    

   Managed investment 
schemes 

- 65,400 - 

  Derivative financial instruments    

   CDS 3,000 - - 

  Financial assets held at fair 
value through profit or loss 

   

   Debt securities 6,706 - - 

   Equity securities - 33,450 10,254 

      
  Total on balance sheet 

exposures 
9,706 98,850 10,254 

   

AASB12(29)(c),(d)  Maximum exposure to loss 12,394 98,850 10,254 

AASB12(26)  Indicative size 12,394 6,506,050 10,254 

      

  At 30 June 2017    

  Assets    

  Associate investments    

   Managed investment 
schemes 

- xx - 

  Derivative financial instruments    

   CDS xx - - 

  Financial assets held at fair 
value through profit or loss 

   

   Debt securities xx - - 

   Equity securities - xx xx 
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  Total on balance sheet 

exposures 
xx xx xx 

   

  Maximum exposure to loss xx xx xx 

  Indicative size xx xx xx 

AASB12(29)(c)  Unless specified otherwise, the company’s maximum exposure to loss is the total of its on-balance 
sheet positions and its exposure due to off-balance sheet arrangements (e.g. CDS credit event 
payments).  There are no additional off balance sheet arrangements which would expose the fund to 
potential loss. 

AASB12B26(b)  During the year the fund incurred fair value losses relating to structured entities totalling $4.6xxm 
(2017:$xx.xxxm) 

AASB12B26(c)  During the year the fund earned fair value gains and distribution income as a result of its interests in 
structured entities. Refer to note X for further information. 
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Appendix E   AASB 9 Financial Instruments  
 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments amends the previous requirements in three main areas: (a) classification and measurement 
of financial assets, (b) impairment of financial assets, mainly by introducing a forward looking expected loss impairment 
model and (c) hedge accounting including removing some of the restrictions on applying hedge accounting in AASB 139.  
 
The mandatory date of application is annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard can be 
applied early.  
 
This appendix explains the changes to the classification and measurement rules and how these could affect a managed 
investment fund. It also illustrates the changes to the disclosures that will be required if AASB 9 were to be early adopted by 
VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust for its reporting period commencing 1 July 2017. 
 
Classification and measurement of financial assets 
 
Under the guidance of AASB 139, VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust classified all financial assets as held for trading or as 
designated at fair value through profit and loss as of the acquisition date of the asset. Following the adoption of AASB 9, 
investments in financial assets can now be classified in one of three categories: amortised cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). The classification of investments in debt 
instruments will be driven by the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets. Derivative and investments in equity instruments are measured at fair value through 
profit or loss, unless for equity instruments an irrevocable option is taken to measure them at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. 
 
The following decision tree summarises the model described in AASB 9 which determines the relevant category for a 
financial asset that is a debt instrument. 
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Application of the Business model assessment to VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust 

The objective of the Value Accounts Unit Trust is to achieve long-term capital appreciation and its portfolio is managed on a 
fair value basis. The Fund therefore applies the business model allowed by AASB 9 paragraph 4.1.4 which requires its 
portfolio to be classified at fair value through profit or loss. The Fund does not apply hedge accounting. 

As the financial assets of the Fund are managed and evaluated on a fair value basis, they have remained classified at fair 
value through profit or loss (‘FVPL’) upon adoption of AASB 9. The adoption of AASB 9 therefore has not resulted in any 
changes to the classification or measurement of financial assets in either the current or prior period.  

Alternative outcomes to the business model assessment 

VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust and the illustrative disclosures below reflect the particular circumstances and business 
model of this fund. Although there has been no change to the classification and measurement of financial assets in this 
scenario, each fund must consider its own business model prior to concluding that AASB 9 has no impact on the 
classification and measurement of financial assets. Investment funds manage their investments in different ways and with 
different objectives, so there is no uniform answer to the question of whether a fund is required to measures its financial 
assets at amortised cost, at fair value through other comprehensive income or at fair value through profit or loss. 

An example where the classification and measurement of a financial asset may change on adoption of AASB 9 is where a 
fund is holding a debt instrument purchased on a ‘buy to hold’ strategy with the sole purpose of collecting the contractual 
cashflows.  The fund is closed to redemptions until maturity and fund performance is measured and reported to investors on 
a yield basis.  In this scenario it is likely that the debt instrument would be measured at amortised cost, provided that it 
meets the solely payments of principal and interest criterion in paragraph 4.1.2(b) of AASB 9.  

Additional examples where the classification of financial assets has changed from FVTPL as a result of adopting AASB 9 
can be found in our publication A look at current financial reporting issues.

Where an entity must reclassify assets as a result of adopting AASB 9, it will need to include additional disclosures in the 
change of accounting policy note. These are illustrated in Appendix H of our VALUE ACCOUNTS Holdings Limited 
December 2017 publication.   

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities 
The treatment of financial liabilities is carried forward essentially unchanged from AASB 39 to AASB 9. Most financial 
liabilities will continue to be measured at amortised cost. However, AASB 9 also includes the fair value option known from 
AASB 39, which permits entities to elect to measure financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss if particular criteria 
are met.  

https://www.pwc.com.au/assurance/ifrs/value-accounts/VALUE-ACCOUNTS_December-2017.pdf
https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/audit-services/ifrs/publications/financial-instruments-accounting-for-asset-management.pdf
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Illustrative disclosures of the early adoption of AASB9 by VALUE ACCOUNTS Unit Trust 

Notes to the financial statements (extracts) 

AASB101(117 2      Summary of significant accounting policies (extracts) 

AASB101(119)  (a)      Basis of preparation1  

 (ii)       New and amended standards adopted by the Fund 7-15  

 

The Fund has elected to early adopt AASB 9 Financial Instruments as issued in December 2014.  As 
the investments of the Fund are evaluated on a fair value basis, they have remained classified as fair 
value through profit or loss upon adoption of AASB 9.  Therefore, the adoption of AASB 9 did not result 
in a change to the classification or measurement of financial instruments, in either the current or prior 
period. As explained in note 3(c), there was also no impact from the application of new impairment 
rules as the instruments held have a low risk of default and the counterparties have a strong capacity to 
meet their contractual obligations in the near term.   

AASB7(21)  (b) Financial instruments 26-28 

AASB9(4.1) (i) Classification 

    Assets 

AASB9(4.1.1) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AASB9(4.1.4) 

 The Fund classifies its investments based on its business model for managing those 
financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The 
Fund’s portfolio of financial assets is managed and performance is evaluated on a fair value 
basis in accordance with the Fund’s documented investment strategy. The Fund’s policy is 
for the responsible entity to evaluate the information about these financial instruments 
primarily on a fair value basis, with the supporting use of other related financial information. 

 
For equity securities and derivatives, the contractual cash flows held by the fund are not 
solely principal and interest. Consequently, these investments are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss; For debt securities, the contractual cash flows are solely principal and 
interest, however they are neither held for collecting contractual cash flows nor held both for 
collecting contractual cash flows and for sale. The collection of contractual cash flows is only 
incidental to achieving the Fund’s business model’s objective. Consequently, the debt 
securities are also measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

AASB9(4.2.1) Liabilities 

  The Fund makes short sales in which a borrowed security is sold in anticipation of a decline 
in the market value of that security, or it may use short sales for various arbitrage 
transactions. Short sales are held for trading and are consequently classified as financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. The nature of derivative contracts may also 
mean that these instruments are liabilities. The classification of all other financial liabilities is 
unchanged.  

 (ii) Recognition/derecognition 

AASB9(3.1.1) 

 

 

AASB9(3.2) 

 

The Fund recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes party to the 
contractual agreement and recognises changes in the fair value of the financial assets or financial 
liabilities from this date. 

Investments are derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the investments 
have expired or have been transferred and the Fund has transferred substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership. 

AASB9(5.1.1) (iii) Measurement 

AASB7(21) Financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss30 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

At initial recognition, the Fund measures financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value. 
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial 
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’ category are presented in the statement 
of comprehensive income within net gains/(losses) on financial instruments held at fair value through 
profit or loss in the period in which they arise. This also includes dividend expense on short sales of 
securities, which have been classified at fair value through profit or loss. 

AASB7(21) 
For further details on how the fair values of financial instruments are determined please see note 5 to 
the financial statements. 

  
 
AASB101(119) (l) Due from/to brokers 
AASB7(21) Amounts due from/to brokers represent receivables for securities sold and payables for securities 
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AASB139(59) purchased that have been contracted for but not yet delivered by the end of the year.  

 

These amounts are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. At 
each reporting date, the Fund shall measure the loss allowance on amounts due from broker at an 
amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk has increased significantly since 
initial recognition. If, at the reporting date, the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Fund shall measure the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month expected 
credit losses. Significant financial difficulties of the broker, probability that the broker will enter 
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default in payments are all considered indicators that a loss 
allowance may be required. If the credit risk increases to the point that it is considered to be credit 
impaired, interest income will be calculated based on the gross carrying amount adjusted for the loss 
allowance. 

 
 

 
3 Financial risk management 

 
(c) Credit risk 

AASB7(36)(c) 

AASB7(34)(c) 

The Fund is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in 
full when they fall due, causing a financial loss to the Fund. 

The main concentration of credit risk, to which the Fund is exposed, arises from the Fund’s investment 
in debt securities. The Fund is also exposed to counterparty credit risk on derivative financial 
instruments, cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from brokers and other receivables. 

In accordance with the Fund’s policy, the investment manager monitors the Fund’s credit position on a 
daily basis and the Board of Directors reviews it on a quarterly basis. 

The Fund measures credit risk and expected credit losses using probability of default, exposure at 
default and loss given default. Management consider both historical analysis and forward looking 
information in determining any expected credit loss.  At 31 December 2017, all amounts due from 
brokers, cash and short-term deposits are held with counterparties with a credit rating of AA/Aa or 
higher. Management consider the probability of default to be close to zero as these instruments have a 
low risk of default and the counterparties have a strong capacity to meet their contractual obligations in 
the near term. As such, no loss allowance is deemed to be necessary based on 12-month expected 
credit losses. 
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Appendix F  Abbreviations 
 

  Abbreviations used in this publication are set out below. 

  AAS Australian Accounting Standards issued jointly by CPA Australia and The 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia 

  AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board 

  AASB (Number) Accounting Standards issued by the AASB 

  AASB (Number)R Revised accounting standard – not yet operative 

  AASB-I (Number) Interpretations issued by the AASB 

  ABN Australian Business Number 

  ACN Australian Company Number 

  ACNC (Number) Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 

  ADI Authorised Deposit-taking Institution 

  AfS Available-for-sale (financial assets) 

  AFSL Australian Financial Services Licence 

  AGM Annual General Meeting 

  AGS Auditing Guidance Statements 

  AIFRS Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 

  AMIT Attribution Managed Investment Trust 

  APES Standards issued by the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards 
Board (APESB) 

  APS Miscellaneous Professional Statements 

  ASA Auditing Standards issued by the AUASB under the Corporations Act 
2001 

  ASIC Australian Securities and Investments Commission 

  ASIC Act Australian Securities and Investments Commission Act 2001 

  ASIC CP ASIC Consultation Paper 

  ASIC IR ASIC Information Releases 

  ASIC RG ASIC Regulatory Guide 

  ASIC (Number) ASIC Class Orders and Legislative Instruments (since 2015) 

  ASX ASX Limited, trading as Australian Securities Exchange 

  ASX (Number) ASX Listing Rules 

  AUASB Auditing and Assurance Standards Board 

  bps basis points 

  CA Corporations Act 2001 

  CAANZ Chartered Accountants in Australia and New Zealand 

  CGC (Number) ASX Corporate Governance Council - Principles of Good Corporate 
Governance and Best Practice Recommendations 

  CGS Corporate Governance Statement 

  CGPR (ASX) Corporate Governance Best Practice Recommendations  

  CGU Cash-Generating Unit 

  CODM Chief operating decision maker 

  CPA CPA Australia 

  CR Corporations Regulations 2001 

  DP Discussion Papers 

  ED Accounting Exposure Drafts 

  ED securities 

ESMA 

Enhanced Disclosure securities 

European Securities and Markets Authority 
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  FRC Financial Reporting Council 

  FRS Financial Reporting Standard (UK) 

  FVLCOD Fair value less cost of disposal 

  FVOCI (Financial assets/liabilities at) fair value through other comprehensive 
income 

  FVPL (Financial assets/liabilities at) fair value through profit or loss 

  GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

  GGS General Government Sectors 

  GPFS General Purpose Financial Statements 

  GS Guidance Statements issued by the AUASB 

  IAS International Accounting Standards 

  IASB International Accounting Standards Board 

  IFRIC Interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee of the IASB 

  IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards 

  KPI Key Performance Indicator 

  LTI Long-term Incentive 

  MEC group Multiple Entry Consolidated group 

  MIS Managed Investment Scheme 

  MIT Managed Investment Trust 

  NFP Not-for-Profit 

  NCI Non-controlling interest 

  OCI Other comprehensive income 

  PSASB Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (former) 

  RDR Reduced Disclosure Regime 

  SAC Statements of Accounting Concepts 

  STI Short-term Incentive 

  TSR Total shareholder return 

  UIG Urgent Issues Group 

  UIG (Number) UIG Interpretations 
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PwC offices and contact details 
 

Adelaide 

Level 11, 70 Franklin Street, Adelaide 

GPO Box 418, Adelaide, SA 5001 

Telephone: (08) 8218 7000 

Fax: (08) 8218 7999 

Newcastle 

Level 3, 45 Watt Street, Newcastle, NSW 

PO Box 798, Newcastle, NSW 2300 

Telephone: (02) 4925 1100 

Fax: (02) 4925 1199 

  

Brisbane 

Level 23, 480 Queen Street, Brisbane 

GPO Box 150, Brisbane, QLD 4001 

Telephone: (07) 3257 5000 

Fax: (07) 3257 5999 

Perth 

Level 15, Brookfield Place 

125 St Georges Terrace, Perth 

GPO Box D198, Perth, WA 6840 

Telephone: (08) 9238 3000 

Fax: (08) 9238 3999 

  

Gold Coast  

Ground Floor, Suite 4, The Point @ Varsity 

47 Watts Drive, Varsity Lakes, QLD 4227 

GPO Box 150, Brisbane, QLD 4001 

Telephone: (07) 5689 1942 

Fax: (07) 3257 5999 

Sydney 

One International Towers Sydney  

Watermans Quay, Barangaroo  

GPO Box 2650, Sydney, NSW 2001 

Telephone: (2) 8266 0000  

Fax: (2) 8266 9999 

  

Canberra 

28 Sydney Avenue, Forrest 

GPO Box 447, Canberra, ACT 2601 

Telephone: (02) 6271 3000 

Fax: (02) 6271 3999 

Greater Western Sydney 

Level 11, 1 PSQ 

169 Macquarie Street 

Parramatta, NSW 2150 

Telephone: (02) 9659 2476 

Fax: (02) 8286 9999 

  

Melbourne 

2 Riverside Quay, Southbank 

GPO Box 1331, Melbourne, VIC 3001 

Telephone: (03) 8603 1000 

Fax: (03) 8603 1999 

Internet website 

www.pwc.com.au 
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